UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

MECHANISMS OF T CELL-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY

by



ALISON J. DARMON

## A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

DEPARTMENT OF BIOCHEMISTRY

EDMONTON, ALBERTA FALL, 1996



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Untario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file Votre référence

Our lile Notre rélérence

The author has granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque Canada de nationale du reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette disposition des thèse à la personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission. L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-612-18029-8

# Canadä

#### UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

#### LIBRARY RELEASE FORM

Name of Author:	Alison J. Darmon
Title of Thesis:	Mechanisms of T Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity
Degree:	Doctor of Philosophy
Year This Degree Granted:	1996

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form what wer without the author's prior written permission.

Alidon Carmon

Permanent Address: 16 Maple Grove Road Box 373 Caledon, ON LON 1C0

Date: 11. grad 14 196

#### THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

#### FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled "MECHANISMS OF T CELL-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY" submitted by Alison J. Darmon in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

R. Chris Bleackley

Ø

Colin Rasmussen

hade As Hohney

Charles Holmes

Kevin Kane

Susan Lees-Miller

Date: duquat 12/96



Department of Biochemistry University of Alberta

R. Chris Bleackley, Ph.D. 4-63 Medical Sciences Building Tel: 492-3968 / Fax: 492-0886

To: Alison Darmon

Date: August 14, 1996

From: Dr. R. Chris Bleackley

Subject: JBC Accepted Manuscripts

The two manuscripts entitled "An ICE-like protease is a key component of fasmediated apoptosis" and "Cleavage of CPP32 by granzyme B represents a critical role for granzyme B in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation" have both been accepted for publication in the *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. As senior and corresponding author on both of these papers, I give you permission to include them as chapters in your Ph.D. thesis.

Charles Pliender

R. Chris Bleackley, Ph.D. Professor of Biochemistry.

RCB/mw



University of Alberta – Edmonton Department of Biochemistry

Canada 46G 2017

474 Medical Sciences Building, Telephone (403) Fax (403) 492-0886

APR 26 1996

Editor, Journal of Biological Chemistry 9650 Rockville Pike Bethesda, MD 20814 USA

April 18, 1996

Dear Editor of JBC:

I have recently published the following article in your journal. Since I am currently preparing my PhD thesis and wish to use this material, I hereby request permission from you to use the data presented in this paper in my thesis.

Yours sincerely,

idiua Darmer

Alison Darmon

Article reference:

Darmon, A.J., Ehrman, N., Caputo, A., Fujinaga, J., and Bleackley, R.C. (1994). The cytotoxic T cell proteinase granzyme B does not activate interleukin-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 32043-32046

CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR STRATED mitte lillert

The second s Second second



Manage I dimension

Canada T6G 2117

474 Medical Sciences Building, Telephone (403) Fax (403) 492-0886

## 2.9 APR 1996

Editor, Nature 4 Little Essex Street London WC2R 3LF UK

April 18, 1996

Dear Editor of Nature:

I have recently published the following article in your journal. Since I am currently preparing my PhD thesis and wish to use this material, I hereby request permission from you to use the data presented in this paper in my thesis.

Yours sincerely,

Alless Ramer

Alison Darmon

Article reference:

Darmon, A.J., Nicholson, D.W., and Bleackley, R.C. (1995). Activation of the apoptotic protease CPP32 by cytotoxic T-cell-derived granzyme B. *Nature* **377**, 446-448

-----NATURE Permission to reprint is granted by Macmillan Magazines Limited, Porters South, Cunan Street, London N1 9X COPYRIGHT CREDIT LINE REQUIRED. Please follow this sample Reprinted with permission from <u>Nature</u> (reference citation) Copyright (year) Macmillan Magazines Limited. Margen DATE 30/4/96 mission is altherequired.

To my parents

Without your constant support and encouragement, none of this would have been possible.

#### ABSTRACT

Cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) are the body's primary defense against viralinfected and tumourigenic cells, and are involved in autoimmune disease and transplant rejection. CTLs possess two main effector mechanisms through which they induce target cell death. In granule-based killing, lytic granules are vectorally exocytosed towards a target cell bearing a foreign antigen. Perforin then forms a pore in the target cell membrane which allows entry of the granzymes, a family of serine proteases, into the target where they induce cell death. In contrast, Fas-based cytotoxicity involves ligation of a cell surface receptor (Fas) on the target cell by its ligand on the CTL. Fas then transduces an apoptotic signal to the target cell through a number of associated proteins.

Granzyme B has been shown to play a key role in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation, although at the start of this work, its mechanism of action was undefined. Here, an intracellular substrate for granzyme B is identified as the precursor of a cysteine protease related to Interleukin-1 $\beta$  Converting Enzyme (ICE). This protease, called CPP32, is shown to be involved in initiating the nuclear events of apoptosis and failure to activate this protease (and related proteases) can account for the inefficiency of DNA fragmentation induced by granzyme B-deficient CTLs.

The final part of the work presented here examines the role of CPP32, and other proteases related to ICE, in Fas-mediated killing. In contrast to granulemediated cytotoxicity, CPP32 does not appear to play a central role in Fas-induced apoptosis in all cell types. Rather, there exists a central ICE-like protease which is responsible for initiating both the nuclear and cytoplasmic events of apoptosis.

These studies were the first to demonstrate that a CTL initiates target cell death by utilizing a cell's endogenous death pathway, and have vastly expanded our understanding of CTL-mediated cytotoxicity.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would first like to express my appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Chris Bleackley, for his advice, support and encouragement during the course of my studies and during preparation of this thesis. Chris was always willing to listen when needed and has been a great motivator throughout my time here.

The technicians in the Bleackley lab - Nancy, Brenda, Scott, Rosemary and Irene - are thanked for their advice and assistance. Particular thanks are expressed to Rosemary and Irene for their help with tissue culture and chromium and tritium release assays.

Roger Bradley is recognized for his assistance in preparation of figures used in this thesis, as well as of figures used in papers and posters along the way.

Many thanks are expressed to our collaborators:

Nancy Thornberry of Merck Research Labs in Rahway, New Jersey, for her generous gift of human recombinant purified ICE, and for reading manuscripts.

William Hagmann, Malcolm MacCoss and Matthew Kostura of Merck in Rahway for their ICE inhibitors, permeability studies and for reading manuscripts.

Mike Tocci of Merck Rahway for his gift of the cDNA encoding pro-IL-1 $\beta$ .

Don Nicholson of Merck Frosst Canada Inc. in Montréal, PQ, for allowing me to spend two weeks in his lab in Montréal getting the preliminary data for our Nature paper, for the gifts of the CPP32 cDNA, for the anti-CPP32 antisera and for purified human CPP32, as well as for reading manuscripts.

Tim Ley at Washington University Medical School in St Louis, Missouri, provided the granzyme B knockout and control mice and is gratefully acknowledged.

Pierre Golstein of Centre d'Immunologie INSERM-CNRS de Marseille-Luminy, Marseille, France provided the L1210-Fas cell line and is also thanked.

Mark Smulson of Georgetown University School of Medicine, Washington, DC, for the generous gift of the cDNA encoding PARP.

The other members of the Bleackley lab - Tony Caputo, Eric Atkinson, Michael Pinkoski and Charolyn Babichuk are thanked for making the lab a fun place to be, and for their willingness to "go for beer" when times got tough or something needed to be celebrated!

Financial assistance for this research was provided by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council and the Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER I - INTRODUCTION 1
I. T LYMPHOCYTES
A. T CELL DEVELOPMENT
B. ANTIGEN PRESENTATION 4
1. Association with MHC Class I Molecules
2. Association with MHC Class II Molecules
C. ANTIGEN RECOGNITION AND T CELL ACTIVATION
1. Structure of the TCR/CD3 Complex
2. T Cell Accessory Molecules 7
3. Signaling During Activation
II. MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY 14
A. GRANULE EXOCYTOSIS MODEL OF KILLING 14
1. Nature of the Lytic Granule and Degranulation 14
2. Granule Proteins 18
Perforin 18
Granzymes 19
Other Granule Proteins
B. FAS-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY 26
1. Characteristics of Fas and FasL
2. Potential Signal Transducers
3. Downstream Signaling
4. Role of Fas-FasL Interactions
5. Specificity in Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity
C. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS
1. CTL Protection from Lysis
2. The Role of Target Cell DNA Fragmentation
III. APOPTOSIS
A. THE ICE/CED-3 PROTEASES
1. ICE and a Possible Role in Apoptosis
2. Other ICE/Ced-3 Proteases
3. ICE/Ced-3 Proteases and Autoimmunity
4. ICE/Ced-3 Proteases and CTL-Mediated Cytotoxicity

B. BCL-2-RELATED PROTEINS	
1. The Bcl-2 Family	
2. Role of Bcl-2 Proteins in CTL-Mediated Cytotoxicity.	
C. A CELL CYCLE LINK	49
IV. AIMS OF THE THESIS	51
CHAPTER II - MATERIALS AND METHODS	52
CELL CULTURE	53
Effector Cells	
"Target Cells"	53
Other Cells	54
TRANSFECTION OF COS CELLS	54
Granzyme B Expression Vector	54
Preparation of DNA for Transfections	54
Transfection of COS Cells	55
Generation of COS Cell Lysates	55
SOLATION OF PRO-mICE cDNA	56
Designing Primers for PCR of pro-mICE	56
cDNA Synthesis	56
PCR of pro-mICE cDNA	56
Subcloning of pro-mICE cDNA	57
IN VITRO TRANSCRIPTION AND TRANSLATION	57
Plasmid Vectors	57
In Vitro Transcription and Translation	57
GENERATION OF MTL 2.8.2 LYSATES	58
FPLC SEPARATION OF GRANZYMES	58
FPLC	
Concentration of FPLC Fractions	59
ENZYMATIC ASSAYS	59
Granzyme Activity	
COS Cell Lysates	59
FPLC Fractions	59
ICE Activity	
TREATMENT OF CELLS WITH ANTI-FAS ANTIBODY	
Treatment of Cells with Anti-Fas	60

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       71         Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA       71         Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE       71         Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         INTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87         Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells During Granule-Mediated       94         Killing       94	Generation of Cell Lysates	60
FPLC Fractions and pro-CPP32       61         COS Cell Lysates and pro-CPP32       61         COS Cell Lysates and PARP       61         Anti-Fas Treated Cell Lysates and pro-IL-1β       62 <i>IN VIVO</i> CLEAVAGE OF CPP32       62         COS Cell Lysates       62         CUS Cell Lysates       62         COS Cell Lysates       62         CTL21.9 and Target Cells       63         PMM-1 and Target Cells       63         Western Blotting       63         Western Blotting       63         CHROMIUM RELEASE (CYTOLYSIS) ASSAYS       63         TRITIUM RELEASE (DNA FRAGMENTATION) ASSAYS       64         INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITY BY PEPTIDE INHIBITORS       65         CHAPTER III - ICE IS NOT A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       66         INTRODUCTION       67         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       71         Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA       71         Granzyme B boes Not Cleave pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         INTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Sepa	CLEAVAGE ASSAYS	61
COS Cell Lysates and pro-CPP32       61         COS Cell lysates and PARP       61         Anti-Fas Treated Cell Lysates and pro-IL-IB       62         IN VIVO CLEAVAGE OF CPP32       62         COS Cell Lysates       62         CTL21.9 and Target Cells       63         PMM-1 and Target Cells       63         Western Blotting       63         Western Blotting       63         CHROMIUM RELEASE (CYTOLYSIS) ASSAYS       63         CHROMIUM RELEASE (DNA FRAGMENTATION) ASSAYS       64         INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITY BY PEPTIDE INHIBITORS       65         CHAPTER III - ICE IS NOT A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       66         INTRODUCTION       67         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       71         Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA       71         Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         INTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       71         Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81	COS Cell Lysates and pro-mICE	61
COS Cell lysates and PARP       61         Anti-Fas Treated Cell Lysates and pro-IL-1β.       62 <i>IN VIVO</i> CLEAVAGE OF CPP32       62         COS Cell Lysates       62         CTL21.9 and Target Cells       63         PMM-1 and Target Cells       63         Western Blotting       63         CHROMIUM RELEASE (CYTOLYSIS) ASSAYS       63         CHROMIUM RELEASE (DNA FRAGMENTATION) ASSAYS       64         INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITY BY PEPTIDE INHIBITORS       65         CHAPTER III - ICE IS NOT A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       66         INTRODUCTION       67         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       71         Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA       71         Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE       71         Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         INTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Clee*age of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87<	FPLC Fractions and pro-CPP32	61
Anti-Fas Treated Cell Lysates and pro-IL-1β	COS Cell Lysates and pro-CPP32	61
IN VIVO CLEAVAGE OF CPP32       62         COS Cell Lysates       62         CTL21.9 and Target Cells       63         GB KO/WT and Target Cells       63         PMM-1 and Target Cells       63         Western Blotting       63         CHROMIUM RELEASE (CYTOLYSIS) ASSAYS       63         CHROMIUM RELEASE (DNA FRAGMENTATION) ASSAYS       64         INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITY BY PEPTIDE INHIBITORS       65         CHAPTER III - ICE IS NOT A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       66         INTRODUCTION       67         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       71         Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA       71         Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         INTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87         Cleavage of CPP32 in Target Cells During Granule-Mediated       81         Killing       94 <td>COS Cell lysates and PARP</td> <td> 61</td>	COS Cell lysates and PARP	61
COS Cell Lysates       62         CTL21.9 and Target Cells       63         GB KO/WT and Target Cells       63         PMM-1 and Target Cells       63         Western Blotting       63         Western Blotting       63         CHROMIUM RELEASE (CYTOLYSIS) ASSAYS       63         CHROMIUM RELEASE (DNA FRAGMENTATION) ASSAYS       64         INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITY BY PEPTIDE INHIBITORS       65         CHAPTER III - ICE IS NOT A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       66         INTRODUCTION       67         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       71         Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA       71         Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE       71         Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         INTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87         Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87 <td>Anti-Fas Treated Cell Lysates and pro-1L-1β</td> <td> 62</td>	Anti-Fas Treated Cell Lysates and pro-1L-1β	62
CTL21.9 and Target Cells	IN VIVO CLEAVAGE OF CPP32	62
GB KO/WT and Target Cells       63         PMM-1 and Target Cells       63         Western Blotting       63         CHROMIUM RELEASE (CYTOLYSIS) ASSAYS       63         TRITIUM RELEASE (DNA FRAGMENTATION) ASSAYS       64         INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITY BY PEPTIDE INHIBITORS       65         CHAPTER III - ICE IS NOT A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       66         INTRODUCTION       67         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       71         Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA       71         Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE       71         Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         NTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Clea <sup>**</sup> age of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87         Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells       94         Cleavage of CPP32 in Target Cells During Granule-Mediated       81	COS Cell Lysates	62
PMM-1 and Target Cells       63         Western Blotting       63         CHROMIUM RELEASE (CYTOLYSIS) ASSAYS       63         TRITIUM RELEASE (DNA FRAGMENTATION) ASSAYS       64         INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITY BY PEPTIDE INHIBITORS       65         CHAPTER III - ICE IS NOT A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       66         INTRODUCTION       67         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       71         Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA       71         Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         NTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87         Cleavage of CPP32 in Target Cells During Granule-Mediated       84	CTL21.9 and Target Cells	62
Western Blotting       63         CHROMIUM RELEASE (CYTOLYSIS) ASSAYS       63         TRITIUM RELEASE (DNA FRAGMENTATION) ASSAYS       64         INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITY BY PEPTIDE INHIBITORS       65         CHAPTER III - ICE IS NOT A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       66         INTRODUCTION       67         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       71         Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA       71         Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE       71         Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         INTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87         Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells During Granulc-Mediated       94         Killing       94	GB KO/WT and Target Cells	63
CHROMIUM RELEASE (CYTOLYSIS) ASSAYS	PMM-1 and Target Cells	63
TRITIUM RELEASE (DNA FRAGMENTATION) ASSAYS       64         INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITY BY PEPTIDE INHIBITORS       65         CHAPTER III - ICE IS NOT A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       66         INTRODUCTION       67         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       71         Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA       71         Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE       71         Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         INTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87         Cleavage of CPP32 in Target Cells During Granule-Mediated       94	Western Blotting	63
INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITY BY PEPTIDE INHIBITORS	CHROMIUM RELEASE (CYTOLYSIS) ASSAYS	63
CHAPTER III - ICE IS NOT A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE	TRITIUM RELEASE (DNA FRAGMENTATION) ASSAYS	64
INTRODUCTION       67         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION.       71         Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA       71         Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE       71         Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         INTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87         Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells       94         Killing       94	INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITY BY PEPTIDE INHIBITORS	65
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       71         Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA       71         Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE       71         Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         NTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87         Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells During Granule-Mediated       94         Killing       94	CHAPTER III - ICE IS NOT A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE	66
Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA71Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE71Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE72Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate73Addendum80CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE81INTRODUCTION82RESULTS AND DISCUSSION86FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP3286Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates87PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B87Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells94Cleavage of CPP32 in Target Cells During Granule-Mediated94	INTRODUCTION	67
Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE       71         Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         INTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87         Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells During Granule-Mediated       94         Killing       94	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	71
Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE       72         Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate       73         Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         INTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87         Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells During Granule-Mediated       94         Killing       94	Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA	71
Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate	Granzyme B Does Not Cleave pro-mICE	71
Addendum       80         CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE       81         NTRODUCTION       82         RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       86         FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87         Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells       94         Cleavage of CPP32 in Target Cells During Granule-Mediated       94	Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE	72
CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE	Granzyme B can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate	73
INTRODUCTION 82 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION 86 FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32 86 Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates 87 PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B 87 Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells 94 Cleavage of CPP32 in Target Cells During Granule-Mediated Killing 94	Addendum	80
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE	81
FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32       86         Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates       87         PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B       87         Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells       94         Cleavage of CPP32 in Target Cells During Granule-Mediated       94         Killing       94	INTRODUCTION	82
Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	86
PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B	FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32	86 -
Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells	Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates	87
Cleavage of CPP32 in Target Cells During Granule-Mediated Killing	PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B	87
Killing	Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells	94
	Cleavage of CPP32 in Target Cells During Granule-Mediated	
Addandum 08	Killing	94
Aduchdum	Addendum	98

CHAPTER V - CPP32	CLEAVAGE REPRESENTS A CRITICAL
ROLE FOR G	84NZYME B 99
INTRODUCTION	
RESULTS	
Generation of C	Cytolytic Cells Lacking Granzyme B 102
CPP32 is Not C	Ileaved in the Absence of Granzyme B 103
Inhibition of Cl	PP32 Suppresses DNA Fragmentation 104
DISCUSSION	
	ED-3 PROTEASES IN FAS-MEDIATED
	ТҮ
	Iways Cleaved During Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity 121
	le Inhibitors on Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity 122
	vated During Fas-Mediated Apoptosis 131
Addendum	
CHAPTER VIL- SUM	MARY, DISCUSSION AND
	ECTIONS 139
	MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY 140
	ATED CYTOTOXICITY 140
	PROTEASES AND CTL-MEDIATED
	OXICITY
	FOR CTL-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY 144
	ONS OF ACTIVATION OF
	LIKE PROTEASES 148
	P
	-PK 151
	0kDa
	3Ps
	IONS 154
THE FORD DIRECT	

IV. CONCLUSIONS		157
CHAPTER VIII - BIB	LIOGRAPHY	158

## LIST OF TABLES

TABLE I-1: T CELL ACCESSORY MOLECULES	11
TABLE I-2: SUMMARY OF GRANULE CONTENTS	17
TABLE I-3: SUMMARY OF GRANZYMES	23
TABLE I-4: THE ICE/CED-3 PROTEASES	39
TABLE I-5: THE BCL-2 FAMILY PROTEINS	48
TABLE VI-1: SUMMARY OF STRUCTURES AND PROPERTIES OF	
PEPTIDE INHIBITORS USED TO STUDY FAS-MEDIATED	
CYTOTOXICITY	126
TABLE VI-2: INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITY BY PEPTIDE	
INHIBITORS	127

,

,

## LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE I-1: Structure of the TCR/CD3 Complex
FIGURE I-2: Signals Generated During T Cell Activation 13
FIGURE I-3: The Granule Exocytosis Model of Cytotoxicity 15
FIGURE I-4: Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity
FIGURE III-1: The Structure of pro-Interleukin-1 $\beta$ and pro-ICE
FIGURE III-2: In vitro Translation of pro-mICE
FIGURE III-3: Cleavage of pro-mICE by ICE or Granzyme B 77
FIGURE III-4: Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of pro-mICE
FIGURE III-5: Hydrolysis of ICE Synthetic Substrate by Granzyme B
FIGURE IV-1: Structure of poly(ADP-ribose) Polymerase (PARP)
and pro-CPP32
FIGURE IV-2: Enzymatic Activity and Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by FPLC Fractions
from MTL 2.8.2 Lysate
FIGURE IV-3: Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by Granzyme B-expressing
COS Lysates
FIGURE IV-4: PARP Cleaving Activity of Granzyme B-expressing
COS Cell Lysates
FIGURE IV-5: In vivo Cleavage of CPP32
FIGURE V-1: Cytolytic Activity of Cell Lines derived from Granzyme B
Deficient Mice and Control Mice 107
FIGURE V-2: Calcium-Dependency of Cytolytic Activity of GB KO
and GB WT Cells 109
FIGURE V-3: CPP32 is not Cleaved in the Absence of Granzyme B 111
FIGURE V-4: CPP32 is Involved in the Induction of Target Cell DNA
Fragmentation 113
FIGURE V-5: Inhibition of [ <sup>3</sup> H]thymidine Release During
Granule-Mediated Cytotoxicity by Ac-DEVD-CHO but
not Ac-YVAD-CHO114
FIGURE VI-1: Cleavage of CPP32 and [ <sup>3</sup> H]thymidine Release During
Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity 125
FIGURE VI-2: Effect of ICE Peptide Inhibitors on <sup>51</sup> Cr Release During
Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity 128

FIGURE VI-3: Effect of Four Peptide Inhibitors on <sup>51</sup> Cr and
[ <sup>3</sup> H]thymidine Release from L1210-Fas Cells During Fas-Mediated
Cytotoxicity
FIGURE VI-4: Effect of Four Peptide Inhibitors on <sup>51</sup> Cr and
[ <sup>3</sup> H]thymidine Release from YAC-1 Cells During Fas-Mediated
Cytotoxicity
FIGURE VI-5: ICE is Not Activated During Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity 135
FIGURE VII-1: Model for CTL-Mediated Cytotoxicity 147

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

## abbreviations

2,6-BTBz	2,6-bis-(triflouromethyl)benzoyl
2,6-DMBz	2,6-dimethylbenzoyl
2,4,6-TMB	2,4,6-trimethylbenzoyl
APC	antigen presenting cell
ARAM	antigen recognition activation motif
aSMase	acidic sphingomyelinase
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BCA	bicinchoninic acid
CAP	cytotoxicity-dependent APO-1-associated protein
cDNA	complementary DNA
CHAPS	3-[(3-cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propane-sulfonate
ConA	concanavalin A
CrmA	cytokine response modifier A
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
DAG	diacylglycerol
DEAE	diethylaminoethyl
DISC	death-inducing signaling complex
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA-PK <sub>(CS)</sub>	DNA-dependent protein kinase (catalytic subunit)
dNTPs	deoxynucleotide triphosphates (dATP, dCTP, dGTP, dTTP)
DPPI	dipeptidyl peptidase I
DSB	double strand break
DTNB	5,5'-dithio-bis (2-nitrobenzoic acid)
DTT	dithiothreitol
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGTA	ethylene glycol-bis(β-aminoethyl) ether
EM	electron microscopy
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
FAP	Fas-associated phosphatase
FasL	Fas ligand
FAST	Fas-activated serine/threonine kinase
FPLC	fast protein liquid chromatography
GB KO	granzyme B-/- cells

GB WT	granzyme B+/+ cells
gld	generalized lymphoproliferative disorder
НСР	hematopoietic cell protein tyrosine phosphatase
HEL	hen egg-white lysozyme
HEPES	N-[2-hydroxyethyl]piperazine-N'-[2-ethanesulfonic acid]
ICAM	intercellular adhesion molecule
ICE	Interleukin-1 $\beta$ converting enzyme
Ig(E/G/M)	immunoglobulin (E/G/M)
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 B
IP <sub>3</sub>	inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate
Ku7()	70-kDa subunit of Ku protein
Ku80	8()-kDa subunit of Ku protein
L1210-Fas	L1210 cells stably transfected with murine Fas cDNA
LAK	lymphokine-activated killer
LFA	lymphocyte function-associated
lpr	lymphoproliferation
MES	2-(N-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
mICE	murine Interleukin-1 $\beta$ converting enzyme
NAD	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NGF	nerve growth factor
NK	natural killer
nSMase	neutral sphingomyelinase
NuMA	nuclear-mitotic apparatus
PARP	poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PC-PLC	phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PI-PLCγl	phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C γl isoform
PIP <sub>2</sub>	phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate
PIPES	piperazine-N,N'-bis[2-ethanesulfonic acid]
PKC	protein kinase C
PLA <sub>2</sub>	phospholipase A <sub>2</sub>
PMA	phorbol myristate acetate
pro-CPP32	CPP32 precursor
pro-mICE	murine ICE precursor

. .

РТК	protein tyrosine kinase
RBL	rat basophilic leukemia (cell line)
ROS	reactive oxygen species
S183A	serine-alanine mutant of murine granzyme B
SCID	severe combined immunodeficiency
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SH2	src homology 2
SR	serine/arginine rich
SREBP	sterol regulatory element binding protein
TAP	transporter in antigen processing
TBS	tris-buffered saline
TCR	T Cell receptor
Th	T Helper
$TNF(\alpha)$	tumour necrosis factor ( $\alpha$ )
TNFRI	TNF receptor type I
TNFRI	tumour necrosis factor receptor type I
U1-70kDa	70-kDa protein component of small nuclear ribonucleoprotein
UV	ultraviolet
VCAM	vascular cell adhesion molecule

## peptides

amino acids		single letter
three letter	amino acid	single letter
code	name	code
Ala	alanine	А
Arg	arginine	R
Asn	asparagine	N
Asp	aspartic acid	D
Cys	cysteine	С
Gln	glutamine	Q
Glu	glutamic acid	Е
Gly	glycine	G
His	histidine	Н
Ile	isoleucine	I
Leu	leucine	L
Lys	lysine	К
Met	methionine	Μ
Phe	phenylalanine	F
Pro	proline	Р
Ser	serine	S
Thr	threonine	Т
Trp	tryptophan	W
Tyr	tyrosine	Y
Val	valine	V

.....

## Greek letters

α	alpha
β	beta
γ	gamma
δ	delta
ε	epsilon
ζ	zeta
η	eta
	lanna

к kappa

## **CHAPTER I - INTRODUCTION**

#### **CHAPTER I - INTRODUCTION**

An organism's immune system is essential for protection against diseasecausing microorganisms, viruses, parasites, and fungi, as well as against self cells which have become tumourigenic (for a basic review see Abbas *et al.*, 1994). This vital function has been spectacularly underlined by the advent of AIDS, in which the host's immune system is disabled rendering an individual susceptible to a wideranging number of opportunistic infections and cancers.

Immunity itself can be divided into two types: natural and acquired. Natural immunity involves defense mechanisms which are consistently present within the hody prior to exposure to foreign matter, such as physical barriers, the phagocytic cells, and various molecules found in the blood, such as the complement proteins. Acquired immunity is induced in response to a specific stimulus, such as an infection. While natural immunity is non-discriminatory, acquired immunity is exquisitely specific.

Acquired immunity is mediated primarily by the lymphocytes and can itself be further subdivided into two categories. Humoral immunity is mediated by antibodies produced by the B lymphocytes (so-called because they mature in the bone marrow) and is most effective against extracellular bacterial infections. The antibodies generally recognize structural determinants in their cognate antigens and can therefore recognize antigen on the surface of cells or in solution. In contrast, cellular immunity is mediated primarily by the cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs, T because they mature in the thymus) and the natural killer (NK) cells, which lyse intracellularly infected cells and tumourigenic cells. CTLs are also responsible for autoimmune disease and transplant rejection. Another subset of T cells, the T helper (Th) lymphocytes, produce cytokines which regulate the immune response. Both types of T cells recognize linear determinants in their cognate antigens, through the T cell receptor (TCR), and are only able to recognize antigen presented on the surface of another cell (the antigen presenting cell or APC) along with the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) proteins.

#### I. T LYMPHOCYTES

Although exceptions do exist, the two T cell subsets, CTLs and Th cells, can be generally distinguished at a number of levels. Firstly, function - CTLs are

effectors of a cytolytic response while Th cells produce cytokines to regulate the functions of other immune system cells, including the CTLs.

These cells can also be distinguished on the basis of cell surface markers. Th cells express the CD4 protein while CTLs generally possess CD8, although CD4<sup>+</sup> CTLs have been found. The CD4 and CD8 proteins are both involved in antigen recognition and are therefore called coreceptors.

As mentioned above, the TCR recognizes peptides derived from intracellular proteins presented on the surface of the APC in the context of the MHC proteins. The MHC proteins are highly polymorphic and contain both constant and variant regions. Two classes of MHC proteins have been identified: Class I, a 44-kDa transmembrane protein which is found on nearly every nucleated vertebrate cell in association with  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin, although expression levels vary; and Class II, consisting of a 33kDa  $\alpha$  and a 28-kDa  $\beta$  subunit, which is found on only a limited number of cells including B cells, macrophages, monocytes, dendritic cells and the endothelium. Each T cell recognizes only one class of MHC proteins and this specificity is determined by the coreceptors - the CD4 protein recognizes constant regions of the MHC Class II molecule (and Th cells are therefore MHC Class II-restricted) while the CD8 protein recognizes invariant regions of the MHC Class I molecule. Therefore, T cell specificity for the MHC proteins is not determined by the TCR itself, but rather by the coreceptor molecules. Interestingly, T cells can only recognize peptide antigens presented in the context of self MHC molecules so are therefore selfrestricted as well as class-restricted.

#### A. T CELL DEVELOPMENT

Both T cell subsets originate in the bone marrow (or fetal liver) from hematopoietic stem cells (reviewed by Shortman and Wu, 1996; Weissman, 1994). These T cell precursors lack functional TCRs and are therefore unresponsive to antigen. Once released from the bone marrow, the precursors migrate to the thymic cortex to undergo further maturation. Selection of the final T cell repertoire begins as the thymocytes rearrange the genes encoding the TCR subunits from the nonfunctional germline configuration. Following rearrangement, via a mechanism termed V(D)J recombination, the TCR contains randomly rearranged and junctionally modified TCR component chains. Most T cells utilize a TCR consisting of a heterodimer of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits, although TCRs utilizing a  $\gamma\delta$  heterodimer also exist. The function of these T cells is unknown although a role in antimicrobial immunity has been established (Kaufmann, 1996). Prior to TCR expression, other cell surface proteins which act in conjunction with the TCR are expressed. These include the CD3 proteins ( $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ , and  $\epsilon$  chains) as well as the  $\zeta$  and/or  $\eta$  chains. As described below, the expression of all of these proteins is required for expression of a functional TCR. In addition, the T cell coreceptors CD4 and CD8 are expressed. As a result of this process, the TCR-CD4-CD8<sup>-</sup> (double negative) cells that entered the thymic cortex are now TCR $\alpha\beta$ lowCD4+CD8+ (double positive).

Because of the random nature of TCR generation, these cells are capable of recognizing both self and foreign MHC presenting both self and foreign peptides. These cells must therefore undergo processes of both positive and negative selection to select T cells which are self MHC-restricted and recognize only foreign peptides. Positive selection is the process whereby T cells expressing a TCR which recognizes self MHC are stimulated to survive while T cells expressing no TCR, or a TCR which does not recognize self MHC are eliminated (reviewed by Jameson *et al.*, 1995; Robey and Fowlkes, 1994; von Boehmer, 1994). This selected set of T cells must then undergo negative selection where cells expressing TCR recognizing self antigenself MHC complexes are eliminated (clonal deletion) or inactivated (clonal anergy). Other cells (which recognize foreign antigen-self MHC) are allowed to survive (reviewed by Nossal, 1994). Following these selection processes, the TCR repertoire has been determined.

During the selection process the T cells also become committed to one of the T cell lineages, with the end result that T cells which are either  $TCR\alpha\beta+CD4+CD8^{-}$  or  $TCR\alpha\beta+CD4-CD8+$  are released into the peripheral blood.

#### **B. ANTIGEN PRESENTATION**

As outlined briefly above, antigenic peptides are presented to the T cell through association with an MHC molecule on the surface of an APC. The class of MHC that presents the peptide and the mechanism by which a peptide associates with the MHC molecules is determined by the origin of the peptide - MHC Class I molecules present peptides derived from endogenously synthesized proteins while MHC Class II molecules present extracellula 'y synthesized sequences (reviewed by Germain, 1994; Germain and Margulies, 1993).

#### 1. Association With MHC Class I Molecules

For presentation in association with the MHC Class I, endogenously synthesized proteins must be proteolytically processed in the cell's cytoplasm. This is part of the normal cellular protein turnover and is carried out by the proteasome, a large molecular weight (650-kDa) complex of up to 24 subunits. The peptides generated by protein degradation in the cell's cytoplasm are then transported in an ATP-dependent manner into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) by the protein products of the transporter in antigen processing *TAP1* and *TAP2* genes. In the ER, the peptides associate with the newly-synthesized MHC class I proteins and the complexes are then transported through the Golgi to the cell surface for presentation. Any cytoplasmically synthesized protein is therefore presented on a cell's surface for immune surveillance. If a cell becomes intracellularly infected or transformed, non-self peptides are presented on the cell's surface resulting in recognition of the cell as foreign. In this manner the immune system constantly monitors the body's cells. Since MHC Class I molecules are expressed on the surface of nearly every cell in the body, this enables the CTLs to recognize and lyse any cell which becomes infected or transformed or tumourigenic, regardless of cell type:

#### 2. Association with MHC Class II Molecules

The mechanism of association of peptides with MHC class II is quite different because these peptides are derived from extracellularly-synthesized proteins. These peptides are the breakdown products of matter which has been taken up into the APC, probably by receptor-mediated endocytosis or phagocytosis, and has been degraded in the APC's lysosomes (reviewed by Wolf and Ploegh, 1995). At some point, an endocytic vesicle containing MHC class II  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits fuses with the endosome containing the breakdown products, allowing the peptides and MHC molecules to come together. This newly-formed vesicle then travels to the plasma membrane where it fuses, resulting in expression of MHC Class II-peptide complexes on the cell surface.

The peptides which associate with the MHC proteins in both of the above mechanisms are determined by the sequence of the MHC molecule itself (reviewed by Barber and Parham, 1993). Peptides bind a groove in the MHC proteins which requires the presence of critical anchor residues within the target peptide. Most of the polymorphic residues of the MHC proteins are found within this peptide-binding region so that MHC molecules from different individuals bind different peptides derived from the same protein. In addition, not all portions of a protein are presented equally to T cells. Cibotti *et al.* (1992) have demonstrated using transgenic mice expressing hen egg-white lysozyme (HEL) that these mice are tolerant to the immunodominant peptides of HEL, but not to subdominant peptides, and tolerance

levels depend upon the serum levels of HEL. Thus, when proteins are degraded for presentation, not all the peptides generated are presented to T cells.

These findings also have relevance to studies of autoimmunity. When the TCR repertoire is being shaped in the thymus, the developing T cells are generally only exposed to immunodominant peptides presented to them by the thymic APCs. It has now been shown that some T cells escape tolerance induction (that is, are not deleted because they recognize self antigen) if they recognize a subdominant or cryptic determinant of a self protein (Gammon and Sercarz, 1989; Lipham *et al.*, 1991; Cibotti *et al.*, 1992). Generally this has no consequence to an individual since the target of the TCR is not efficiently presented by the body's APCs. However, under certain circumstances, the cryptic determinant may become more easily presented due to protein modification events. In this situation, T cells which escaped deletion in the thymus may become activated and initiate an immune response. As the immune response develops, it can spread from the initial cryptic determinant to any determinant of the self protein (Mamula, 1993; Mamula *et al.*, 1994) thereby initiating autoimmune disease. This point will be returned to later in the discussion of ICE/Ced-3 proteases.

## C. ANTIGEN RECOGNITION AND T CELL ACTIVATION

#### 1. Structure of the TCR/CD3 Complex

As mentioned briefly above, the TCR consists of a covalently linked heterodimer of an acidic glycoprotein  $\alpha$  chain and a basic or uncharged glycoprotein  $\beta$  chain (reviewed by Bentley and Mariuzza, 1996). At the cell surface, the TCR is noncovalently associated with the CD3 proteins ( $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ , and  $\epsilon$  chains) as well as a  $\zeta \zeta$ homodimer or  $\zeta\eta$  heterodimer (Figure I-1). A typical TCR/CD3 complex has the stoichiometry TCR $\alpha\beta$ :CD3 $\gamma\delta\epsilon_2$ : $\zeta_2$ . Interestingly, the TCR complex requires all of its members for expression - during T cell development, the CD3  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ , and  $\epsilon$  chains and the  $\zeta$  and  $\eta$  genes are expressed prior to the TCR  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  genes. Once the TCR  $\alpha$ and  $\beta$  genes are rearranged and expressed, the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  proteins associate with the CD3 proteins in the ER. TCR assembly proceeds via association of the  $\alpha$  subunit with CD3 $\delta\epsilon$  proteins and the  $\beta$  subunit with CD3 $\gamma\epsilon$  proteins to form  $\alpha\delta\epsilon$  and  $\beta\gamma\epsilon$ trimers (Kearse et al., 1995). These trimers then associate to form  $\alpha \delta \epsilon - \beta \gamma \epsilon$ complexes, at which point the  $\alpha$ - $\beta$  disulfide bond is formed. In this process, assembly of the  $\alpha \delta \epsilon$  trimer is rate-limiting. Finally, the  $\zeta$  chains associate with the  $\alpha\beta\gamma\delta\epsilon_2$  complexes and the completed TCR/CD3 structure is transported through the Golgi where it is further modified. Any incomplete complexes are not transported to

the cell membrane. Although the  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ , and  $\varepsilon$  chains are all synthesized in excess of the levels of cell surface expression, the rate-limiting step in expression of the TCR/CD3 complex on the cell surface is the synthesis and association of the  $\zeta$  chains.

The cytoplasmic domains of the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  chains are quite small and are not believed to transduce signals following antigen recognition. Instead, signal transduction is mediated by the CD3 proteins and the  $\zeta$  chains. This idea is supported by the fact that anti-CD3 antibodies can stimulate a functional response from T cells which is identical to the antigen-induced response. Additionally, chimeric receptors containing the cytoplasmic domains of the CD3 proteins can induce a response which is identical to that induced by TCR cross-linking when transfected into T cell tumour lines. However, none of the CD3 or  $\zeta$  proteins contain any intrinsic signaling capacity. Rather, the cytoplasmic domains of the  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\varepsilon$ , and  $\zeta$  chains contain at least one copy of a conserved antigen recognition activation motif (ARAM) having the consensus sequence (D/E)XXYXXL(X)<sub>6-8</sub>YXXL (reviewed by Weiss and Littman, 1994; Howe and Weiss, 1995). This region is sufficient to couple these receptors to protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs) in the cell's cytoplasm which mediate signal transduction following antigen recognition.

#### 2. T Cell Accessory Molecules

Although T cells recognize antigen through their TCR complex, other cell surface molecules are also involved in T cell activation, the so-called accessory molecules (summarized in Table I-1). These molecules include the T cell coreceptors CD4 and CD8, which also recognize the MHC molecules, as well as other cell surface proteins which recognize ligands on the APC surface. These accessory molecules not only strengthen the interaction between T cell and APC, but may also play a role in signal transduction (reviewed by Janeway and Bottomly, 1994). For example, CD4 and CD8 are associated with the PTK Lck in their cytoplasmic domains and Lck is rapidly activated following T cell antigen recognition. Interestingly, this association is not mediated through an ARAM motif, as are the other associations of PTKs with the CD3 proteins, but rather through a noncovalent cysteine-mediated interaction (Turner *et al.*, 1990).



#### FIGURE I-1: Structure of the TCR/CD3 Complex.

The  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits of the TCR recognize antigen in the context of the MHC class I protein (for CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells), which is found in association with  $\beta$ 2-micoglobulin ( $\beta$ 2m). The TCR is found in association with the CD3 proteins ( $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\epsilon$ , and  $\zeta$  chains), which contain the ARAM motifs involved in signal transduction. CD8 is also involved in antigen recognition and recognizes invariant regions of the MHC protein.

#### 3. Signaling During Activation

The response of a T cell to antigen recognition depends on the T cell type and its stage of maturity. Naive T cells are quiescent (in the  $G_0$  phase of the cell cycle) and appear as small cells with a thin rim of cytoplasm containing a few mitochondria and ribosomes. Upon antigen recognition, the T cell re-enters the cell cycle and begins to proliferate (clonal expansion) and grow so that the activated T cell is larger than the unstimulated cell. Subsequent to or during the proliferation stage the T cell also proceeds from the cognitive phase (antigen recognition) to the effector stage. For Th cells this means the T cell begins to secrete cytokines. For CTLs, the differentiation results in the acquisition of the cytolytic machinery and the activated CTL contains electron dense cytoplasmic granules which contain this machinery. Further interaction with the antigen results in the exocytosis of these granule contents (see below). However, despite these final differences in differentiation, the initial sequence of events following TCR cross-linking is the same regardless of cell type (reviewed by Cantrell, 1996; Zenner *et al.*, 1995; Weiss and Littman, 1994).

The earliest biochemical change detectable following TCR cross-linking is tyrosine phosphorylation of cellular proteins. These phosphorylations are carried out by the PTKs associated with the ARAM motifs of the  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\varepsilon$ , and  $\zeta$  chains as well as Lck associated with CD4/CD8. Two families of PTKs have been implicated in TCR/CD3 signaling - those related to Src and members of the Syk/ZAP-70 family (Cooke et al., 1991; Howe and Weiss, 1995; Rudd, 1990; Weiss and Littman, 1994). These classes of PTKs differ in ways which are likely to be function-related. The Src kinases (Lck and Fyn) contain a unique amino terminal domain containing a myristylated glycine, thought to be involved in membrane localization. Syk/ZAP-70 kinases are not myristylated and therefore likely to be cytoplasmically localized. The association between these kinases and the ARAM motifs is mediated by conserved domains within the PTKs called Src homology 2 (SH2) domains which recognize phosphorylated tyrosine residues (Gauen et al., 1992). In the unactivated T cell the  $\zeta$ chain is constitutively phosphorylated and a fraction of the cellular ZAP-70 is associated with it through its SH2 domain (van Oers et al., 1994). Following TCR/CD3 activation, a Src kinase (Lck or Fyn) phosphorylates the tyrosine residues of the ARAM sequences in the  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\epsilon$ , and  $\zeta$  chains as well as ZAP-70 associated with the  $\zeta$  chain. Additional ZAP-70 is then recruited to the membrane where it is docked by interacting with the phosphotyrosine residues in the ARAM sequences through its SH2 domain (Chan et al., 1991; 1992; Irving et al., 1993). ZAP-70 is activated, again by tyrosine phosphorylation, and goes on to transduce the signal further downstream.

Multiple proteins become phosphorylated following TCR cross-linking and while some are yet to be identified, it is known that the CD3 proteins and the  $\zeta$  chains are themselves phosphorylated (Straus and Weiss, 1993) as are the PTKs Lck, Fyn and Syk/ZAP-70. Other substrates include the cell surface proteins CD5 and CD6, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, and the  $\gamma$ l isoform of phosphatidylinositolphospholipase C (PI-PLC $\gamma$ l) (Secrist *et al.*, 1991). Significantly, tyrosine phosphorylation precedes activation of PI-PLC $\gamma$ l activity and inhibitors of tyrosine phosphorylation prevent both TCR-induced phosphorylation of PI-PLC $\gamma$ l and induction of phospholipase activity (Graber *et al.*, 1992; June *et al.*, 1990a, 1990b) placing the PTKs upstream of PI-PLC $\gamma$ l.

The phosphorylation of PI-PLCyl leads to its activation, and it proceeds to hydrolyze the membrane phospholipid phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>) to produce the second messengers inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) and diacylglycerol (DAG). IP<sub>3</sub> mediates the release of calcium from intracellular stores (the ER) resulting in a sustained increase in intracellular calcium levels. One of the roles of calcium is to act in conjunction with DAG to activate protein kinase C (PKC), a serine/threonine kinase which goes on to phosphorylate other proteins. The sustained increase in calcium also favours the formation of calcium-calmodulin complexes which activate several enzymes including the phosphatase calcineurin, a key regulatory molecule in T cell activation (Clipstone and Crabtree, 1992). Calcincurin dephosphorylates the cytoplasmic phosphoprotein NF-AT which then translocates to the nucleus where it activates transcription. The importance of calcium release and PKC activation to T cell activation can be demonstrated in vitro the PKC activator phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) and the calcium ionophore ionomycin act synergistically to duplicate some of the differentiation and mitotic events seen during T cell activation.

In addition to the calcium-dependent activation of kinases, a calciumindependent pathway exists. Activation of the Src kinases leads to phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic protein Vav (Bustelo *et al.*, 1992). The tyrosine phosphorylated form of Vav has increased guanine nucleotide exchange activity for Ras *in vitro* (Gulbins *et al.*, 1993) thereby promoting the formation of Ras-GTP complexes. The Ras-GTP complex interacts with and activates Raf-1 (Siegel *et al.*, 1990), a serine/threonine kinase which regulates the activity of a kinase cascade including the Mek and MAP kinases (Crews and Erikson, 1993) resulting in activation of the Fos and Jun transcription factors (Jain *et al.*, 1993a, 1993b). In T cells, MAP kinase activation has also been associated with PKC activity (Nel *et al.*, 1990; Siegel *et al.*, 1990).

The final stage in signaling following T cell activation is the induction of transcription of function-related genes. In Th cells, these genes encode cytokines. In CTLs, transcription of the mRNA for the IL-2 receptor is induced. Following subsequent exposure to both IL-2 and antigen, the genes encoding the cytolytic proteins, including perforin and the granzymes (see below), are transcriptionally induced. These cytolytic proteins are stored in the cytoplasmic granules of the activated CTL. The sequence of events during T cell activation is summarized in Figure I-2.

T cell protein	distribution	ligand on target	function in T cells	
Protein			adhesion	signaling
CD4	TCRαβ <sup>+</sup> class II MHC restricted T cells, macrophages	class II MHC	+	+
CD8	TCRαβ+ class I MHC restricted T cells	class I MHC	+	+
CD11aCD18 (LFA-1 <sup>2</sup> )	all bone marrow-derived cells	ICAM-1 <sup>3</sup> ICAM-2	+	+
CD49CD29	leukocytes, other cells	matrix molecules, VCAM-14	+	+
CD28	all CD4+ T cells; 50% CD8+ T cells	B7	?	+
CD2	>90% mature human T cells; >70% human thymocytes	LFA-3	+	+
CD45R	all immature and mature leukocytes	?	+	+
CD5	all T cells and thymocytes	?	+	+
Lуб	immature and mature T and B cells, various other cells	?	?	+
CD43	leukocytes, except circulating B cells	?	?	+
CD44	thymocytes, T cells, granulocytes, macrophages, erythrocytes, fibroblasts	collagen, fibronectin, hyaluronate	+	?

## TABLE I-1: T CELL ACCESSORY MOLECULES<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Adapted from Abbas *et al.*, 1994
 <sup>2</sup> LFA - lymphocyte function-associated
 <sup>3</sup> ICAM - intercellular adhesion molecule
 <sup>4</sup> VCAM - vascular cell adhesion molecule

ŧ

#### FIGURE I-2: Signals Generated During T Cell Activation.

The CD8+ T cell recognizes foreign antigen presented in the context of the MHC Class I molecule (which is associated with  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin [ $\beta$ 2m]) through its TCR/CD3 complex. CD8 recognizes invariant portions of the MHC molecule. Together, activation of these proteins results in activation of protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs), which are associated with the ARAM motifs found in the cytoplasmic domains of the CD3 proteins or associated with the  $\alpha$  chain of CD8. The PTKs phosphorylate themselves and surrounding proteins, including PLCyl. PLCyl hydrolyzes PIP<sub>2</sub> to produce the second messengers IP<sub>3</sub> and DAG. IP<sub>3</sub> induces the release of intracellular calcium from the ER. DAG and calcium together activate protein kinase C (PKC) which phosphorylates cellular proteins and leads to the activation of the Ras/Raf/MAP kinase cascade, culminating in induction of transcription. This cascade can also be activated by Vav, which is phosphorylated during T cell activation. Calcium also leads to the activation of calcineurin, a phosphatase, which can dephosphorylate the transcription factor NF-AT. The end result of these activations is the induction of transcription of genes required for the T cell to carry out its effector functions.

Adapted from Abbas et al., 1994



#### **II MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY**

Activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells following antigen recognition results in the acquisition of cytolytic machinery by the CTL. Two major mechanisms can account for the ability of CTLs to lyse target cells: granule-mediated and Fas-mediated cytotoxicity (reviewed in Kägi *et al.*, 1996; Atkinson and Bleackley, 1995; Berke, 1995; Smyth, 1995). Granule-mediated cytotoxicity involves the proteins found in a CTL's lytic granules, while Fas-mediated cytotoxicity involves the binding of a cell surface receptor on the target cell by a complementary cell surface protein on the CTL. The use of knock-out mice have confirmed that these two pathways can account for the majority of CTL-mediated cytotoxicity (Kägi *et al.*, 1994a, 1994b; Lowin *et al.*, 1994).

#### A. GRANULE EXOCYTOSIS MODEL OF KILLING

Although the mechanisms used to recognize target cells clearly differ between CTLs and NK cells, abundant evidence indicates that the "lethal hit" inflicted by these cells on their targets involves the contents of their electron dense granules. The granule exocytosis model of cytotoxicity states that, following conjugate formation with a target cell bearing a foreign antigen, the lytic granule is vectorally secreted in a calcium-dependent manner into the intercellular space between target cell and effector cell. The granule contents then cause target cell death by inflicting a "lethal hit". Often the lethal hit involves the formation of membrane lesions on the target cell which are visible by electron microscopy (Dourmashkin *et al.*, 1980; Dennert and Podack, 1983). The granule exocytosis model of killing is summarized in Figure I-3.

#### 1. Nature of the Lytic Granule and Degranulation

The lytic granule is a "secretory lysosome" having characteristics of both regulated secretory granules and lysosomes (reviewed by Griffiths, 1995). In most cells, lysosomal and secretory granule components are separated in the *trans*-Golgi and packaged into distinct organelles (Kelly, 1985; Burgoyne and Morgan, 1993). In contrast, in the CTL lysosomal and secretory proteins are sorted and packaged into the same organelle (Burkhardt *et al.*, 1989, 1990; Peters *et al.*, 1991). This is perfectly demonstrated by a summary of proteins found in the lytic granule, presented in Table I-2. While the granule contains function-related proteins such as the granzymes and perforin, it also contains lysosomal enzymes such as  $\beta$ -glucoronidase. Some proteins, such as granzymes A and B and the lysosomal proteins, are targeted to the lytic granule through the mannose-6-phosphate receptor (Griffiths and Isaaz,
1993) which was originally defined as a lysosomal trafficking molecule. However, at least one other mechanism mediates this trafficking since perforin is correctly targeted in CTLs from patients with I-cell disease, in which the mannose-6-phosphate modification cannot be made (Griffiths, 1995).



FIGURE I-3: The Granule Exocytosis Model of Cytotoxicity

Following TCR recognition of the target cell, lytic granules within the TCR are mobilized towards the target cell. Exocytosis results in the release of the granule contents, including the pore-forming protein perforin and other lytic proteins (including the granzymes) into the intercellular space. Perforin forms a pore in the target cell membrane, thereby allowing other lytic mediators to enter the target cell where they induce death by a poorly-defined mechanism.

Like lysosomes, the lytic granule is an acidic vesicle with an internal pH of 5.5 (Henkart *et al.*, 1987; Masson *et al.*, 1990). This acidity is maintained by the presence of a proton pump in granule membranes, and is an essential part of the granule - inhibition of its activity with concanamycin A results in granule breakdown

and loss of cytotoxicity of the CTL (Kataoka *et al.*, 1994). The acidic pH may also play a role in protecting the CTL from lysis due to its own granule contents (see below).

Following target cell recognition by the CTL the granules, microtubuleorganizing centers and the Golgi apparatus of the CTL all reorient towards the point of contact with the target cell (Yannelli *et al.*, 1986; Geiger *et al.*, 1982; Kupfer and Dennert, 1984; Kupfer *et al.*, 1985). This reorientation helps to ensure that the exocytosed granule contents are directed toward the target cell, and that bystander killing (that is, killing of cells which have not been specifically recognized by the CTL) is minimized. The granules move along the CTL's microtubules in a kinesindependent manner (Burkhardt *et al.*, 1993). Kinesin activity in turn can be regulated by phosphorylation of kinesin-associated proteins (McIlvain *et al.*, 1994), thus the phosphorylation events initiated by TCR/CD3 activation are directly linked to the exocytosis of granule contents, consistent with a requirement for phosphorylation for degranulation (Anel *et al.*, 1994a).

The cytoskeletal rearrangements involved in granule exocytosis may be mediated by a family of small GTPases. Two GTPases, Rac and Rho, have been shown to regulate mast cell secretion (Price *et al.*, 1994) and have been identified in CTLs (Lang *et al.*, 1992), along with the hematopoietic cell-specific GTPase Rac2 which is upregulated following T cell activation (Reibel *et al.*, 1991). Rac and Rho mediate the cytoskeletal rearrangements which precede degranulation (Norman *et al.*, 1994), .suggesting that CTL degranulation may be regulated by the same GTPases involved in mast cell secretion.

CTLs are known to be serial killers, that is, each CTL is capable of detaching from a target, recognizing a new target cell, and then lysing that cell. Recently, Isaaz *et al.* (1995) have demonstrated that following TCR triggering of degranulation, new lytic proteins are synthesized in the CTL. While some of these proteins are correctly sorted to the lytic granule, almost one third of the lytic proteins are constitutively secreted. Granule killing remains directed toward the target cell, however, this constitutive secret ry pathway is nondirectional and results in bystander lysis. Recent evidence suggests that this constitutive secretion may represent a means by which the CTL can regulate an immune response, by modifying cytokine secretion (see below).

Protein	Function	Reference	
perforin (cytolysin)	pore-former	Groscurth et al., 1987 Podack et al., 1985 Young et al., 1986a	
granzymes	proteolysis	see Table I-3	
dipeptidyl peptidase I (cathepsin C)	granzyme activation	Smyth <i>et al.</i> , 1995 McGuire <i>et al.</i> , 1993	
chondroitin sulfate	complexes with perforin and the granzymes	Tschopp and Masson, 1987 Masson <i>et al.</i> , 1990 Peters <i>et al.</i> , 1991	
calreticulin	binds perforin Ca++ binding	Dupuis <i>et al.</i> , 1993 Burns <i>et al.</i> , 1992	
TIA-1	RNA binding	Anderson <i>et al.</i> , 1990) Tian <i>et al.</i> , 1991	
leukalexin	TNF-like cytokine	Liu et al., 1987	
leukophysin	granule mobility	Abdelhaleem <i>et al.</i> , 1991, 1996	
mannose-6-phosphate receptor	protein targeting	Burkhardt <i>et al.</i> , 1990 Peters <i>et al.</i> , 1991 Griffiths and Isaaz, 1993	
H+-ATPase	acidification	Kataoka <i>et al.</i> , 1994	
cathepsin D	lysosomal enzyme	Tschopp and Nabholz, 1990	
arylsulfatase	lysosomal enzyme	Tschopp and Nabholz, 1990	
β-glucoronidase	lysosomal enzyme	Tschopp and Nabholz, 1990	
β-hexosamidase	ly osomal enzyme	Tschopp and Nabholz, 1990	
lamp-1	lysosomal protein	Peters et al., 1991	
lamp-2	lysosomal protein	Peters et al., 1991	
CD63	lysosomal protein	Peters et al., 1991	

## TABLE I - 2: SUMMARY OF GRANULE CONTENTS

#### 2. Granule Proteins

A summary of known granule proteins is shown in Table I-2. The roles that many of these proteins play within the granule and/or during CTL-mediated cytotoxicity is unknown. Some of these proteins are lysosomal proteins and likely play no role in CTL-mediated cytotoxicity, however, others clearly have functional roles in target cell killing.

#### Perforin

Perforin (cytolysin, pore-forming protein, C9-related protein) is the granule protein responsible for the calcium-dependent lytic activity of the CTL. Perforin was originally isolated from the lytic granules of NK and CTL cells, and was subsequently shown to be capable of inducing target cell lysis in the presence of calcium (Masson and Tschopp, 1985; Liu et al., 1986; Podack et al., 1985; Zalman et al., 1987). In the lytic granules, perforin is in monomeric form and is found in association with proteoglycans (in a pH-dependent manner) and calreticulin (see below). Granule exocytosis releases perforin into the extracellular space where it is exposed to calcium and neutral pH. This neutral pH causes perforin to be released from the proteoglycans (Persechini et al., 1989) and the perforin monomers bind the target cell, possibly by recognizing phosphorylcholine molecules on the cell surface (Tschopp et al., 1989), and insert into the target cell lipid bilayer in a calcium-dependent manner (Yue et al., 1987; Blumenthal et al., 1984; Tschopp et al., 1989; Young et al., 1987; Ishiura et al., 1990). The perforin monomers then aggregate in the target cell membrane to form pores which can be visualized by electron microscopy (EM) (Dourmashkin et al., 1980; Dennert and Podack, 1983). Recently, Young has reported that while only 3-4 perforin monomers are required to form a functional channel, it takes 10-20 monomers to form an EM-visible channel. It is likely that these smaller pores which retain activity are actually more physiologically relevant than the larger ones which could perturb membrane permeability and result in cell death by osmosis (Liu et al., 1995).

Perforin itself is able to induce lysis in a number of cell types, a finding which led to the suggestion that perforin alone accounts for CTL-induced cytolysis. However, perforin cannot induce target cell DNA fragmentation (Duke *et al.*, 1989), an event which precedes membrane damage during CTL attack (Duke *et al.*, 1983; Cohen *et al.*, 1985; Cohen, 1991; Golstein *et al.*, 1991), suggesting that perforin alone cannot mediate all of the events involved in CTL-mediated cytotoxicity and that other proteins, probably contained in the lytic granules, are involved (Munger *et al.*, 1988). It is now believed that the prime role of perform is not in cytolysis but rather to allow other cytotoxic mediators to enter the target cell and deliver the lethal hit (Liu *et al.*, 1995).

Two models have been proposed whereby perforin can mediate the entry of CTL lytic proteins into the target cell. In the first, perforin pores may disrupt intracellular homeostasis and initiate a repair process whereby the target cell attempts to repair the membrane damage caused by perforin insertion by endocytosing the affected area. During the repair process, lytic granule contents which were released with the perforin may be taken up by endocytosis. This model has been supported by the finding that reagents which block endocytosis affect CTL-mediated cytotoxicity (Shi *et al.*, 1992a).

In the second model, perforin pores simply act as channels through which the lytic mediators pass freely into the target cell. This model awaits confirmation. In either of these models, perforin plays a critical, yet indirect, role in granule-mediated killing. Of course, *in vivo* both mechanisms could occur simultaneously to ensure lytic protein uptake by the target cell.

### Granzymes

The granzymes are a family of CTL-specific serine proteases (reviewed by Smyth and Trapani, 1995) which colocalize with perforin to the cytolytic granules (Redmond *et al.*, 1987; Ojcius *et al.*, 1991). Table I-3 shows a summary of the known murine granzymes and their properties. These proteases are synthesized as inactive precursors with an activation dipeptide at the amino terminus and require removal of this dipeptide for enzyme activation (Caputo *et al.*, 1993), a process believed to be involved in protecting the CTL from its own lytic proteins (see below).

Although evidence is only just beginning to accumulate regarding the biological role of the granzymes in CTL-mediated killing it has been known for some time that protease inhibitors can protect cells from cell-mediated lysis (Helgason *et al.*, 1995; Kaiser and Hoskin, 1992; Hudig *et al.*, 1991; Brogan and Targan, 1986). However, it was not known whether the granzymes or intracellular protease(s) were a target for these inhibitors. Loading of cells with chymotrypsin, proteinase K or trypsin has been found to cause cell lysis accompanied in most cases by DNA fragmentation and nuclear damage (Williams and Henkart, 1994) suggesting that proteases are involved in the induction of target cell death and that the granzymes likely exert their effect inside the cell. Multiple mechanisms have been proposed by

which the granzymes may induce target cell death, including the activation of endogenous endonucleases (Smyth *et al.*, 1994).

The first two granzymes to be identified were granzyme A and granzyme B. These proteases have received the most attention thus far, probably because human homologues for these proteins have been isolated while human homologues of the other murine granzymes have not been found. Additionally, in murine CTL stimulated *ex-vivo* only granzymes A and B, and maybe minor amounts of C, are expressed (Garcia-Sanz *et al.*, 1990; Ebnet *et al.*, 1991) suggesting that these granzymes are key mediators of CTL-mediated cytotoxicity. Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (PCR) of granzyme transcript levels in CTLs activated by mitogen, allogeneic cells or anti-CD3 revealed that only granzyme B transcripts correlated with cytotoxicity for all modes of stimulation (Prendergast *et al.*, 1992) suggesting that granzyme B may be a direct effector in the lytic process. Unfortunately, granzyme A levels were not examined in this study and it is not known whether granzyme A expression also correlates with cytotoxicity in response to these different activators.

While granzyme A has substrate specificity resembling trypsin (cleavage after Arg or Lys), granzyme B has a substrate specificity which is unique among eukaryotic serine proteases. Molecular modeling of the murine homologue revealed that the side chain of the murine granzyme B residue  $Arg^{208}$  partially fills the specificity pocket of the protease, predicting a requirement for acidic residues (Asp or Glu) at the P<sub>1</sub> site (Murphy *et al.*, 1988). Subsite mapping and inhibitor studies confirmed that granzyme B cleaves following aspartic acid residues (Odake *et al.*, 1991; Poe *et al.*, 1991). Finally, replacement of  $Arg^{208}$  with a glycine residue converted the substrate specificity of granzyme B from cleavage after Asp residues to cleavage following hydrophobic residues, demonstrating that  $Arg^{208}$  is indeed responsible for determining substrate specificity (Caputo *et al.*, 1994).

Interestingly, granzyme A exists as a homodimer, whereas granzyme B is monomeric. When combined with their differing substrate specificities, it seems likely that granzyme A and granzyme B have separate cellular substrates, a fact supported by the findings of Irmler *et al.* (1995) who found that granzyme A cleaves and activates pro-Interleukin-1 $\beta$  (pro-IL-1 $\beta$ ) while granzyme B does not. Granzyme A has also been shown to cleave various intracellular and extracellular proteins, including nucleolin (Pasternack *et al.*, 1991), collagen type IV (Simon *et al.*, 1991), and the thrombin receptor (Suidan *et al.*, 1994) although these studies were performed using *in vitro* systems.

Both granzymes are thought to play a role in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation. Two groups (Shi et al., 1992b; Hayes et al., 1989) have shown that granzyme A can induce target cell DNA fragmentation in a perforin-dependent manner. Similar studies using granzyme B purified from rat NK cells (called fragmentin-2 but having homology to granzyme B) showed a similar result with this protease (Shi et al., 1992a, 1992b). Other groups have confirmed these results using a complementary technique. The noncytotoxic rat mast cell tumour line RBL, which can be triggered to degranulate by the immunoglobulin E (IgE)-specific Fc receptor, was transfected with perforin or the granzymes either alone or in combination and then transfectants were tested for their ability to lyse IgE-coated target cells. Cells expressing granzyme A alone were found to be noncytolytic and cells expressing perforin alone were cytolytic but failed to induce target cell DNA fragmentation. However, the combination of granzyme A and perforin could induce both target cell lysis and DNA fragmentation (Shiver and Henkart, 1991; Shiver et al., 1992). Similar studies using granzyme B yielded similar results. Again, coexpression of granzyme B with perforin could enhance cytolytic and nucleolytic activity of these cells compared to cells expressing perforin alone (Nakajima et al., 1995a). Interestingly, perforin/granzyme A- or perforin/granzyme B-expressing RBL were not as effective against tumour cell targets as RBL expressing all three cytolytic proteins, suggesting that there is a synergism between the two granzymes (Nakajima et al., 1995a).

Besides DNA fragmentation, granzyme A may also play a role in other aspects of target cell killing. Talento *et al.* (1992) found that expression of an antisense granzyme A construct in a cloned CTL line interfered not only with target cell DNA fragmentation but also with release of <sup>51</sup>Cr-labeled proteins (as a measure of cytolytic activity), suggesting granzyme A plays either a direct or indirect role in the induction of target cell membrane damage. These results were confirmed by Nakajima and Henkart (1994) who showed that pre-loading of target cells with aprotinin (a granzyme A inhibitor) suppressed both cytolysis and DNA fragmentation in target cells exposed to RBL expressing both granzyme A and perforin. In contrast to this, Ebnet *et al.* (1995) have shown that both the CTL and NK cells derived from granzyme A-deficient mice are indistinguishable from wild type cells in causing target cell membrane damage, death (through a process called apoptosis), and DNA fragmentation, seeming to suggest that granzyme A is not essential for cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Therefore the role of granzyme A during CTL-mediated killing is still unresolved.

Similar studies have been more successful at determining the role of granzyme B. Besides the above-mentioned work, other experiments have accumulated data to suggest that granzyme B is involved in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation, and may play a secondary role in regulating membrane damage. Bochan et al. (1995) have demonstrated that stable transfection of an NK cell which contains no granzyme A (Su et al., 1994) with an antisense granzyme B construct inhibits the lytic ability of these cells (measured as <sup>51</sup>Cr release) by >95%. However, their results may be a consequence of looking at NK cell-mediated killing. Using CTL, NK and lymphokine-activated killers (LAKs) isolated from mice homologous for a null mutation in the granzyme B gene, other workers have shown that granzyme B plays a critical and nonredundant role in the rapid induction of target cell DNA fragmentation and apoptosis (Heusel et al., 1994; Shresta et al., 1995) and in NK cells (but not in CTL or LAK cells) granzyme B may also play a role in inducing membrane damage (Shresta et al., 1995). The reduced DNA fragmentation in target cells treated with these effectors is due to reduced kinetics since longer incubation times resulted in target cell DNA fragmentation. Therefore, other granzymes, possibly granzyme A, may be able to induce DNA fragmentation but granzyme B is involved in its rapid induction. Consistent with a role for granzyme B in inducing DNA damage, two groups (Trapani et al., 1996; Pinkoski et al., 1996) have recently shown that granzyme B localizes to the nucleus of a target cell.

Although the evidence is confusing and contradictory at times, there definitely seems to be a role for both granzymes A and B in the induction of target cell death. The requirement for multiple proteases during CTL-mediated killing, each with different substrate specificities, is not surprising in light of the fact that CTLs are primarily involved in the removal of viral-infected and tumourigenic cells - both of these mutant cell types being potentially lethal. Therefore, the CTL has developed multiple mechanisms to ensure the death of these cells.

Besides their roles in the elimination of tumourigenic and virus-infected cells, granzymes may also mediate immunomodulatory functions by interacting with cell surface receptors. Sower *et al.* (1996) have recently shown that catalytically active, but not inactive, granzyme A can stimulate IL-6, IL-8 and tumour necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) production by human peripheral blood monocytes and purified monocytes. Interestingly, although these cells possess a cell surface receptor for the serine protease thrombin, and granzyme A has previously been shown to be capable of cleaving and activating the thrombin receptor (Suidan *et al.*, 1994), this activity of granzyme A against monocytes was found to be separate from that mediated by

Protease	Synonym	Specificity (residue at P <sub>1</sub> )	References
Granzyme A	HF SE1 CTLA-3 TSP-1	Arg/Lys	Gershenfeld and Weissman, 1986 Pasternack and Eisen, 1985 Masson <i>et al.</i> , 1986a, 1986b Young <i>et al.</i> , 1986b Brunet <i>et al.</i> , 1986 Simon <i>et al.</i> , 1986
Granzyme B	CCP1 SE2 CTLA-1	Asp/Glu	Lobe <i>et al.</i> , 1986a, 1986b, 1988 Masson and Tschopp, 1987 Young <i>et al.</i> , 1986b Brunet <i>et al.</i> , 1986
Granzyme C	CCP2	Asn/Ser	Lobe <i>et al.</i> , 1986a, 1986b, 1988 Jenne <i>et al.</i> , 1988a
Granzyme D	CCP5	Phe/Leu	Bleackley <i>et al.</i> , 1988a, 1988b Jenne <i>et al.</i> , 1988b Prendergast <i>et al.</i> , 1991
Granzyme E	CCP3 MCSP-2	Phe/Leu	Bleackley <i>et al.</i> , 1988a, 1988b Jenne <i>et al.</i> , 1988b Prendergast <i>et al.</i> , 1991 Kwon <i>et al.</i> , 1988
Granzyme F	CCP4	Phc/Leu	Bleackley <i>et al.</i> , 1988a, 1988b Jenne <i>et al.</i> , 1988b, 1991 Prendergast <i>et al.</i> , 1991
Granzyme G	MCSP-3 CCP6	Phe/Leu	Kwon <i>et al.</i> , 1988 Masson and Tschopp, 1987 Jenne <i>et al.</i> , 1989

### TABLE I - 3: SUMMARY OF GRANZYMES<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Only mouse granzymes are shown here. In addition, fragmentin-1 and fragmentin-2 have been isolated from rat NK cells and have homology to granzyme A and granzyme B respectively (Shi *et al.*, 1992a, 1992b). Human homologues of granzymes A and B have been identified (Gershenfeld *et al.*, 1988; Caputo *et al.*, 1990, Schmid and Weissman, 1987; Caputo *et al.*, 1988; Trapani *et al.*, 1988) as well as granzyme H (HuCCPX)(Meier *et al.*, 1990; Haddad *et al.*, 1991) and granzyme 3 (Hameed *et al.*, 1988).

.

thrombin. This implies the existence of a separate cell surface receptor for granzyme A and further suggests that once activated, CTLs may modulate the immune response by constitutive secretion of their granule contents (as demonstrated by Isaaz *et al.*, 1995; Sower *et al.*, 1996).

Granzyme B has also been shown to have an extracellular substrate, although not a beneficial one in this instance. Froelich *et al.* (1993) have found that granzyme B secreted from CTLs in a rheumatoid joint may contribute to cartilage loss during rheumatoid arthritis by degrading the aggreean proteoglycan matrix synthesized by chondrocytes. Thus, in addition to their roles in the deletion of target cells during an immune response, the granzymes may be responsible for other events within the body, both beneficial and pathologic.

### **Other Granule Proteins**

Besides perforin and the granzymes, additional granule proteins have been identified, although in many cases the roles of these proteins are unknown.

Dipeptidyl peptidase I (DPPI, cathepsin C), a cysteine protease with specificity for cleaving dipeptides from the amino terminus of proteins, has been found in cytolytic granules. DPPI has recently been shown to activate both granzyme A (Kummer *et al.*, 1996) and granzyme B (McGuire *et al.*, 1993; Smyth *et al.*, 1995) from their zymogen forms, suggesting a role for DPPI in granzyme activation once the zymogens have reached the granules, thereby ensuring protection of the CTL from its own lytic proteins.

A second mechanism for protecting CTLs is due to the presence of proteoglycans in the lytic granule (Schmidt *et al.*, 1985; Stevens *et al.*, 1987, 1989; Serafin *et al.*, 1986). The granule, as a secretory vesicle, has an acidic pH of 5.5 (Henkart *et al.*, 1987; Masson and Tschopp, 1990). At this pH both perforin (Tschopp and Masson, 1987) and the granzymes (Peters *et al.*, 1991) are bound to chondroitin sulfate and are maintained in an inactive state ensuring CTL protection from the action of these proteins. Following granule exocytosis, these complexes are exposed to neutral pH which releases the chondroitin sulfate from the lytic proteins, allowing them to act on the target cell.

It has long been known that perforin polymerizes in the presence of calcium and it seems that the lytic granules may possess a mechanism, besides association with proteoglycans, which prevents perforin polymerization within the cell. Lytic granules have been reported to contain the calcium-binding protein calreticulin (Dupuis *et al.*, 1993), a protein whose expression is induced following T cell activation (Burns *et al.*, 1992). When first isolated, this protein was believed to be localized only to the ER since it possesses the carboxy terminal ER retention signal KDEL (single letter amino acid code [Michalak *et al.*, 1992]). Although it is not known how calreticulin escapes the ER, one possibility is that calreticulin "escorts" perforin out of the ER and to the granules (Dupuis *et al.*, 1993; Burns *et al.*, 1994). While bound to perforin, the KDEL retention signal of calreticulin may be masked, allowing it to exit the ER. It has been shown that although granzymes A and B are targeted to the granules by the mannose-6-phosphate receptor (Griffiths and Isaaz, 1993) another mechanism must account for perforin targeting (Griffiths, 1995), a mechanism which may involve calreticulin. Calreticulin may also serve to sequester calcium away from perforin and maintain it in a monomeric state. Alternatively, if calreticulin enters the target cell it could contribute to the calcium flux seen in target cells following CTL attack (Allbritton *et al.*, 1988a).

The use of monoclonal antibodies directed against lytic granule contents allowed Anderson *et al.* (1990) to identify TIA-1, a 15-kDa RNA-binding protein whose expression is restricted to NK cells and CTLs, and is upregulated following CTL activation (Anderson *et al.*, 1990; Cesano *et al.*, 1993). Interestingly, TIA-1 has been found to induce DNA fragmentation in digitonin-permeabilized cells (Tian *et al.*, 1991), suggesting that this protein may play a role in inducing target cell DNA fragmentation during CTL attack.

Leukalexin is a TNF-like molecule with an undetermined role in CTLmediated cytotoxicity (Liu *et al.*, 1987). One possibility is that it binds an as yet unidentified target cell surface receptor and may be able to transduce a death signal in much the same way as TNF and the ligand of Fas (see below).

Leukophysin was identified as a 28-kDa membrane glycoprotein found in the granules of leukocytes (Abdelhaleem *et al.*, 1991). Using monoclonal antibodies to leukophysin to isolate a full length cDNA clone, Abdelhaleem *et al.* (1996) found that the nucleotide sequence encoding this protein is highly homologous to the 3' end of RNA helicase A. Interestingly, the cDNA contains a repetitive motif similar to synaptophysin I, a protein involved in synaptic vesicle exocytosis, suggesting that leukophysin may be involved in granule exocytosis. Intriguingly, this protein was found associated with granzyme A-negative granules and vesicles in CD8+ CTLs, thereby defining a subset of granules which are distinct from the classical granzyme-containing granules. The role of this subset remains unidentified, but they may function to transport either granzymes (besides granzyme A and B) or other granule proteins to the cell surface.

Other granule proteins have been less well-studied and their roles, if any, in CTL-mediated cytotoxicity are unknown.

### **B. FAS-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY**

The granule exocytosis model to explain CTL-mediated cytotoxicity has a strict requirement for calcium - the degranulation process is calcium-dependent, and the binding, insertion and polymerization of perforin in target cell membranes requires the presence of calcium. However, some target cells can be lysed in the absence of calcium or detectable levels of perforin or the granzymes, a fact which casts doubt on the granule exocytosis model of CTL killing (Helgason *et al.*, 1988b; Berke and Rosen, 1988; Ostergaard *et al.*, 1987; Trenn *et al.*, 1987).

Further studies into this apparent discrepancy using cells in which the perforin-mediated pathway had been "knocked out" revealed some insights (Kägi *et al.*, 1994a, 1994b; Kojima *et al.*, 1994; Lowin *et al.*, 1994; Walsh *et al.*, 1994a, 1994b). These studies demonstrated considerable lytic activity in CTLs lacking perforin, and therefore the granule-mediated pathway of killing - evidence supporting the existence of a perforin-independent cytolytic pathway. This pathway is now known to be mediated by cell surface proteins.

### 1. Characteristics of Fas and FasL

In 1989, two groups reported the isolation of mouse-derived antibodies which could induce apoptotic death in human cells (Yonehara *et al.*, 1989; Trauth *et al.*, 1989). The cell surface markers recognized by these antibodies were designated either Fas or APO-1 (now also known as CD95). Expression cloning resulted in the isolation of the Fas cDNA (Oehm *et al.*, 1992; Watanabe-Fukunaga *et al.*, 1992a; Itoh *et al.*, 1991) and identified this protein as a type I transmembrane protein belonging to the tumour necrosis factor/nerve growth factor (TNF/NGF) superfamily of receptors. It has been proposed that all members of this family function as trimers (Banner *et al.*, 1993; Peitsch and Tschopp, 1995; reviewed by Smith *et al.*, 1994) a result supported by the finding that receptor oligomerization is required to transduce the death signal (Dhein *et al.*, 1992).

Transfection of the cDNA encoding the Fas antigen confirmed that this protein could transduce an apoptotic signal (Oehm *et al.*, 1992; Rouvier *et al.*, 1993). Mutation analysis of the cytoplasmic domain of Fas showed that a region of this domain was both necessary and sufficient for transducing the death signal (Itoh and

Nagata, 1993). This domain was subsequently dubbed the "death domain" and is conserved in the 55-kDa TNF receptor TNFRI (Tartaglia *et al.*, 1993), which also transduces a death signal following receptor ligation, as well as in the *Drosophila* protein REAPER, which plays a central role in programmed cell death during development (White *et al.*, 1994; Golstein *et al.*, 1995). The ability of the death domain to aggregate accounts for its ability to transduce a death signal. Boldin *et al.* (1995a) have shown that these death domains spontaneously aggregate when transfected into HeLa cells and transduce an apoptotic signal, suggesting that a mechanism must exist which maintains Fas in an unaggregated (inactive) form. Peter *et al.* (1995) have recently shown that sensitivity to Fas killing is modulated by surface sialylation, suggesting that the negative charges on Fas due to this sialylation could maintain the molecule in a monomeric state. Additionally, cytoplasmic proteins may associate with Fas and be displaced by signal transducers following activation (see below).

The structure of Fas and its homology to the TNF/NGF receptors suggested that Fas may be a receptor for a novel cytokine. The cDNA encoding the ligand for Fas (FasL) was subsequently cloned (Suda *et al.*, 1993) and found to code for a type II transmembrane protein belonging to the TNF family of cytokines. Expression of FasL in COS cells renders these cells cytotoxic towards target cells bearing Fas, confirming that Fas is a death-inducing receptor and FasL is its ligand (Suda *et al.*, 1993).

Fas was originally found at low levels on many cell types within the body, but high levels are found in mouse thymus, liver, heart, lung, kidney, ovary, testis and eye (Watanabe-Fukunaga *et al.*, 1992a). In addition, functional, soluble forms of Fas have been identified (Cascino *et al.*, 1995; Hughes and Crispe, 1995). Although resting T cells express low levels of Fas, T cell activation results in upregulation of surface Fas levels on these cells (Trauth *et al.*, 1989), a fact that may hint at the function of Fas (see below). FasL has been detected in testis, small intestine, kidney, lung, spleen, thymus, and eye (Griffith *et al.*, 1995; Suda *et al.*, 1993) as well as on activated T cells (Stalder *et al.*, 1994; Nagata and Golstein, 1995; Suda *et al.*, 1995) and in soluble form (Tanaka *et al.*, 1995). This presence of FasL on cytolytic T cells suggested that FasL could be a cytolytic mediator.

It is now believed that T cell activation results in FasL expression and that FasL then engages Fas on the target cell surface, resulting in activation of the target cell's death program (Figure I-4). Interestingly, both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> cells may express FasL following activation, so this mechanism may account for the occurrence of CD4<sup>+</sup> killer cells. (Stalder *et al.*, 1994). Since no other mechanisms have been found to account for CTL-mediated cytotoxicity, granule-mediated and Fas-mediated killing are believe to constitute the two major mechanisms used, although interactions between TNF and the TNF "death receptor" may also play a role. In addition, a novel member of the TNF family has recently been identified, called Apo-2 ligand (Apo2L)/TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL), which can induce apoptosis in both lymphoid and non-lymphoid targets. Since neither soluble Fas nor soluble TNFRI suppresses the death-inducing activity of Apo2L, this novel cytokine is believed to act through a third, yet unidentified receptor. This Apo2-Apo2L system may also contribute to the cytotoxicity of CTLs (Pitti *et al.*, 1996; Wiley *et al.*, 1995).

#### 2. Potential Signal Transducers

In the past year a number of groups have used the yeast two-hybrid system to identify proteins associated with the cytoplasmic domain of Fas, which may play a role in signal transduction. In this regard, Fas-associated death domain protein (FADD, also known as MORT1 [Chinnaiyan et al., 1995; Boldin et al., 1995b]) and RIP (Stanger et al., 1995) have been identified and contain regions similar to the Fas death domain (reviewed by Cleveland and Ihle, 1995). Indeed, overexpression of FADD/MORT1 or RIP has been shown to induce apoptosis. FADD/MORT1 and RIP are also involved in transducing the death signal from TNFRI by associating with another death domain-containing protein, TRADD (Chinnaiyan et al., 1996a; Hsu et al., 1996a; Varfolomeev et al., 1996; Hsu et al., 1995), suggesting that there may be "cross-talk" between the TNF and Fas death receptors (Varfolomeev et al., 1996). These results may explain the findings of Glass et al. (1996) who showed that FasL expression is necessary but not sufficient for Fas-mediated apoptosis. That is, transduction of a death signal may require both Fas and TNFRI to be ligated, and involve the concerted effects of TRADD, FADD/MORT1 and RIP activation. Additional support for this hypothesis comes from the work of Zhou et al. (1996) who demonstrated that autoimmune and lymphadenopathy are accelerated in mice with a Fas deficiency and no TNFRI, compared to mice deficient in Fas only, suggesting that these two cell surface receptors play similar roles. Catalytic activity of FADD/MORT1, if any, is unknown, however, in studies demonstrating that RIP is recruited to the TNFRI signaling complex in a TNF-dependent manner, RIP was shown to possess serine/threonine kinase activity (Hsu et al., 1996b).



#### FIGURE I-4: Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity

The TCR recognizes foreign peptide presented by the target cell's MHC proteins. Cross-linking of the TCR results in the generation of signals within the CTL which eventually lead to upregulation of Fas ligand (FasL) levels on the CTL surface. FasL binds to Fas on the target cell, resulting in trimerization of the receptor. A number of proteins within the target cell associate with the death domain of Fas to form the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC), which initiates a signal resulting in target cell death.

It now seems that FADD/MORT1 actually acts as an adaptor molecule rather than possessing catalytic activity itself. Two groups have recently identified a protein which interact- with FADD/MORT1 and contains a region with homology to a family of cysteine proteases related to Interleukin-1 $\beta$  Converting Enzyme (ICE). These proteases appear to be key mediators of apoptosis (see below). This novel protein, named FLICE/MACH, is activated upon Fas ligation by an unknown mechanism. It is thought that this allows FLICE/MACH to initiate a series of events culminating in apoptotic cell death. Since this protein associates with Fas, this is believed to represent the "top" of the cascade of events activated by Fas ligation (Boldin *et al.*, 1996; Muzio *et al.*, 1996; reviewed by Fraser and Evan, 1996).

A third protein identified using this approach was FAP-1 (Fas-associated phosphatase [Sato *et al.*, 1995]). Although no association with Fas under physiological conditions was shown, FAP-1 seems to associate with the carboxy terminus of Fas (Sato *et al.*, 1995), a region previously identified as containing a negative regulatory domain (Itoh and Nagata, 1993). In addition, gene transfer of FAP-1 to Jurkat cells yielded a cell line which was more resistant to Fas-mediated apoptosis (Sato *et al.*, 1995) suggesting that Fas could transduce the death signal through the use of kinases and the signal could be modulated by phosphatases. Interestingly, our lab has recently determined that there is an association between Fas and the Src PTK Fyn (Atkinson *et al.*, 1996), again suggesting the involvement of kinases in transducing the signal. The role of kinases in Fas-mediated apoptosis is somewhat controversial however, and will be discussed in detail below.

Finally, FAF-1 (Fas-associated protein factor 1) has also been identified through two-hybrid studies (Chu *et al.*, 1995). Although FAF-1 contains no significant homology to any known proteins, it has an interesting ability to interact only with wild type Fas and not with Fas containing a point mutation in the cytoplasmic domain. The further finding that FAF-1 associates with Fas in mammalian cells suggests that FAF-1 may play a role in the transduction of the death signal following Fas ligation.

Using co-immunoprecipitation as a means of identifying associated proteins, Kischkel *et al.* (1995) identified four proteins associated with Fas. These proteins were designated CAP 1 through 4, for cytotoxicity-dependent APO-1-associated protein. The CAPs were found only to co-immunoprecipitate with the cross-linked (active) form of Fas, and not the monomeric form, suggesting a role for these proteins in signal transduction. CAP1 and CAP2 were identified as phosphorylated versions of FADD/MORT1 while CAP3 and CAP4 have since been identified as alternate versions of the FADD/MORT1-associated cysteine protease FLICE/MACH (Muzio *et al.*, 1996). This complex of signaling molecules associated with Fas has been designated the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC [Kischkel *et al.*, 1995]).

#### 3. Downstream Signaling

The reports on downstream signaling events which transduce the apoptotic signal from Fas are somewhat confusing. While one group has shown that calcium flux is an important factor (Oshimi and Miyazaki, 1995), others have not found this to

be the case (Vignaux *et al.*, 1995). Similar studies on the role of tyrosine phosphorylation have produced similarly conflicting reports - Eischen *et al.* (1994) have reported that tyrosine phosphorylation is an early and requisite event for Fas signaling, a result which has been contradicted (Schraven and Peter, 1995). The discovery of both a kinase and a phosphatase associated with Fas (see above) would seem to suggest that phosphorylation is a downstream signaling event. In addition, yet another group has shown that a number of proteins are tyrosine phosphorylated following Fas ligation (Cifone *et al.*, 1993). Finally, Su *et al.* (1995) have recently demonstrated that sensitivity to Fas-mediated apoptosis correlates with expression of hematopoietic cell protein tyrosine phosphatase (HCP) in eleven human and murine Fas-bearing lymphoma cell lines, again suggesting that tyrosine phosphorylation and dephosphorylation may play a role in modulating the death signal.

Other signaling pathways during Fas-mediated apoptosis are more defined. Fas ligation results in the activation of at least four different phospholipases: acidic sphingomyelinase (aSMase) (Cifone *et al.*, 1993, 1995); neutral sphingomyelinase (nSMase), phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C (PC-PLC) and phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> (PLA<sub>2</sub>) (Cifone *et al.*, 1995). Activation of aSMase, nSMase, and PC-PLC results in the release of the second messenger ceramide which can activate ERK-2 which, in turn, activates PLA<sub>2</sub>. These activities belong to at least two independent pathways: activation of nSMase and PLA<sub>2</sub> are insufficient to induce apoptosis, however, activation of PC-PLC results in activation of aSMase and ceramide production, leading to the induction of apoptosis (Cifone *et al.*, 1995).

Involvement of ceramide as a second messenger during apoptosis has been confirmed in a number of ways - cell-permeable synthetic ceramides can induce apoptosis (Dressler *et al.*, 1992; reviewed by Hannun and Obeid, 1995; Pushkareva *et al.*, 1995) and, in an *in vitro* system, ceramide can induce apoptotic activity in cytoplasmic extracts isolated from normal (i.e., nonapoptotic) cells (Martin *et al.*, 1995a).

The GTP-binding protein p21<sup>ras</sup> is also activated during Fas-mediated killing (Gulbins *et al.*, 1995) and inhibition of this activity by a neutralizing antibody or a dominant negative Ras mutant can interfere with Fas-induced apoptosis. Ceramides, which are released during Fas killing, are capable of activating Ras, suggesting that Fas ligation results in the release of ceramides which go on to activate Ras and a kinase cascade similar to that involved in TCR/CD3 signaling.

Interestingly, Taupin *et al.* (1995) have found that an RNA-binding protein called TIAR translocates from the nucleus to the cytoplasm during Fas-mediated

cytotoxicity. This is intriguing since it suggests a mechanism conserved with the granule-mediated pathway to cell death. Granules have been shown to contain the 15kDa isofomr of the RNA binding protein TIA-1 (Anderson *et al.*, 1990; Cesano *et al.*, 1993) which is structurally related to the carboxy terminus of TIAR and can induce DNA fragmentation in permeabilized cells (Tian *et al.*, 1991). Interestingly, Tian *et al.* (1995) recently reported the characterization of a serine/threonine kinase which is rapidly dephosphorylated and activated following Fas ligation. Activation of this FAST (Fas-activated serine/threonine) kinase leads to the phosphorylation of the 40- and 53-kDa isoforms of TIA-1, an event which precedes the onset of DNA fragmentation. Not only does this provide a common feature with granule-mediated cytotoxicity (that is, the possible involvement of RNA binding proteins in DNA fragmentation), but it also represents another example of the involvement of both phosphatases and kinases in Fas-mediated cytotoxicity.

Finally, Um *et al.* (1996) have shown that reactive oxygen intermediates are key mediators of Fas-induced monocyte apoptosis, demonstrated by the fact that antioxidants such as glutathione and *N*-acetylcysteine can abolish the apoptotic action of anti-Fas antibody on activated human peripheral blood monocytes. Other studies have also suggested this involvement of reactive oxygen species in apoptosis suggesting that they may constitute universal mediators (reviewed by Slater *et al.*, 1995; Korsmeyer *et al.*, 1995).

#### 4. Role of Fas-FasL Interactions

One question which arises is the role of the Fas pathway in celi-mediated cytotoxicity. Is this merely a second mode of cell death or does it have a more significant role in immune responses? The use of mice with natural mutations in the Fas death pathway seem to be providing the answer. Mice containing the *lpr* (lymphoproliferation, a mutation in the Fas antigen [Watanabe-Fukunaga *et al.*, 1992b]) or *gld* (generalized lymphoproliferative disorder, a mutation in FasL [Lynch *et al.*, 1994; Ramsdell *et al.*, 1994; Takahashi *et al.*, 1994]) mutation exhibit similar phenotypes of lymphadenopathy and splenomegaly (reviewed in Nagata and Suda, 1995). In these mutant mice, elimination of mature activated T cells is defective, suggesting that Fas and FasL are involved in down-regulating the immune response. Interestingly, mutations in Fas have recently been associated with a human autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome (Fisher *et al.*, 1995; Rieux-Laucat *et al.*, 1995).

Mature unactivated T cells express low levels of Fas but are not sensitive to FasL (Owen-Schaub et al., 1992). During activation, Fas and FasL levels are upregulated and the cell becomes FasL-sensitive. Therefore, in the process of activation, T cells gain the ability both to kill and be killed through the Fas pathway. There is now accumulating evidence to suggest that Fas-FasL interactions are responsible for activation-induced T cell death. A number of groups have shown that activation-induced death of T cell hybridomas, preactivated T cells and T cell lines occurs through a Fas-dependent pathway (Ju et al., 1995; Brunner et al., 1995; Alderson et al., 1995; Dhein et al., 1995). Interestingly, in single-cell cultures these cells undergo Fas-mediated apoptosis, indicating a cis interaction can induce death, as well as a trans interaction. It is now thought that, in an area of high density of T cells, such as an infection, the activated T cells are likely to be colliding with each other as well as potential target cells. This would result in Fas-FasL interactions resulting in death of the T cell. Thus, while the immune response is in progress it is also being inactivated (reviewed by Lenardo, 1996; Lynch et al., 1995). Interestingly, recent work has demonstrated that NK cells stimulated through the Fc receptor (Eischen et al., 1996) or by phorbol myristate acetate/ionomycin (Montel et al., 1995) have increased expression of FasL compared to unstimulated cells, suggesting that NK cells may also kill through the Fas-FasL pathway. Similar to CTLs, during activation the NK cell Fas receptors also become competent to deliver the death signal suggesting that cell-cell interactions may also be involved in downregulating the levels of activated NK cells (Eischen et al., 1996). This proposal has come under close scrutiny recently, however, with the demonstration that in vivo activated CTLs are not susceptible to FasL-induced cell death (Ehl et al., 1996; Tucek-Szabo et al., 1996), implying the existence of a Fas-independent pathway of elimination. Additionally, Mollereau et al. (1996) have recently shown that CD2- (but not CD3-) induced apoptosis proceeds through a Fas-independent pathway which requires protein tyrosine phosphorylation, suggesting that this Fas-independent death pathway may contribute to the elimination of T cells expanding during an immune response. Finally, Zheng et al. (1995) have shown that autoregulatory apoptosis of mature T cells can also occur through the TNF-TNFRI system, suggesting that two distinct mechanisms - Fas-FasL and TNF-TNFRI - can account for T cell deletion following an immune response.

In addition to a role in cytotoxicity and activation-induced T cell apoptosis, recent evidence has suggested a role for Fas in apoptosis of nonlymphoid cell types. Fas and FasL are known to be co-expressed in tissues such as the small intestine,

prostate and uterus in which apoptosis is implicated in control of cell turnover and tissue homeostasis (Kyprianou and Isaacs, 1988; Rotello *et al.*, 1992), suggesting a role for Fas-FasL interactions during physiological cell turnover (French *et al.*, 1996).

Additionally, expression of FasL in nonlymphoid tissues may represent a way of maintaining immune privilege. FasL expression in the testis and eye confers immune privileged status on these tissues, probably by allowing FasL-bearing cells within these tissues to eliminate any Fas positive T cells which enter the tissue (Griffith *et al.*, 1995; Bellgrau *et al.*, 1995), thereby preventing any lymphocyte-mediated damage. Recent work has demonstrated expression of FasL at other immune-privileged sites such as the brain, adrenal gland, uterus, ovary, and prostate (French *et al.*, 1996) implicating a role for FasL in maintaining immune privilege.

### 5. Specificity in Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity

If Fas-FasL interactions are involved in CTL-mediated cytotoxicity, and since FasL is a membrane bound protein, how does the T cell ensure that only the recognized target cell is lysed? One possibility is that FasL expression is directed towards the point of interaction with the target cell.

Another intriguing hypothesis is that FasL may reside in the lytic granule membranes rather than on the cell surface (Griffiths, 1995). Following T cell activation, FasL would then be directionally expressed as a result of the fusion between the granule membrane and the plasma membrane during degranulation. Support for this model is the fact that although Fas-mediated killing is calciumindependent, expression of FasL on the CTL surface has been found to require calcium (Vignaux and Golstein, 1994; Anel et al., 1994b; Kojima et al., 1994). This calcium could be required for the calcium-dependent granule exocytosis that would bring FasL to the cell surface. Once activated, the T cell is known to constitutively secrete a portion of its granule contents (Isaaz et al., 1995) in a nondirectional manner, meaning that FasL expression would eventually spread to the entire T cell surface, and the T cell would become capable of initiating the death signal in another cell, or initiating its own suicide program by cis ligation of Fas. In this manner, only after T cells had lysed a number of target cells would they be likely to be eliminated, ensuring that the immune response is not terminated prior to eradication of the initial antigen.

### C. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

### 1. CTL Protection from Lysis

One of the questions arising in the study of CTL-mediated cytotoxicity is how the T cell is able to induce target cell lysis but remain intact itself. Studies have shown that CTLs and NK cells are much more resistant to lytic granule contents than other cells (Kranz and Eisen, 1987; Nagler-Anderson *et al.*, 1988; Golstein, 1974) and that this resistance correlates with cytotoxicity (Liu *et al.*, 1989). Certain mechanisms during T cell activation are in place to protect the CTL from its granule contents, such as the fact that granzymes are not activated from the zymogen form until they reach the granules, and the binding of proteoglycans to perforin and the granzymes to maintain them in an inactive state. However, it has been proposed that the CTL possesses certain membrane features which protects it from its lytic proteins once they are exocytosed (Jiang *et al.*, 1990; Müller and Tschopp, 1994; Blakely *et al.*, 1987; McFarland *et al.*, 1995; Martin *et al.*, 1988; Zalman *et al.*, 1988). Another possibility is that degranulation results in the exposure of a protective layer of proteoglycan on the CTL surface, which was on the inside surface of the lytic granule and is exposed by exocytosis, and protects the CTL from its lytic proteins.

Perforin is also inhibited by lipoproteins found in the serum, a mechanism believed to limit bystander lysis once perforin has been released from CTLs, and which may protect the CTL from its lytic proteins (Tschopp *et al.*, 1986).

### 2. The Role of Target Cell DNA Fragmentation

Although both granzyme A, and particularly granzyme B, have been shown to induce target cell DNA fragmentation (Shi *et al.*, 1992a, 1992b), and DNA fragmentation is seen in Fas-mediated cytotoxicity (Oshimi and Miyazaki, 1995; Enari *et al.*, 1995a; Owen-Schaub *et al.*, 1992), recent reports have shown that the target cell nucleus is not required for either mode of killing following CTL attack (Nakajima *et al.*, 1995b; Ucker *et al.*, 1992; Schulze-Osthoff *et al.*, 1994). Indeed, enucleated cytoplasts have been found to be as sensitive to CTL attack as the parental cell line (Nakajima *et al.*, 1995b). However, given the nature of the target cells recognized by CTLs, the role of CTL-induced DNA fragmentation may not be to promote apoptosis, but rather to degrade any viral or mutated DNA that may be present in the cell.

### III. APOPTOSIS

When a CTL lyses a target cell, the target dies by undergoing a series of events termed apoptosis. Apoptosis was originally described as a morphological phenomenon occurring in two distinct phases (Kerr *et al.*, 1972). In phase I, the cytoplasm of the cell condenses but the morphology of the mitochondria and the ribosomes is maintained. The chromatin condenses and forms crescent-shaped aggregates lining the nuclear membrane and the nucleolus fragments. During this phase the cell's DNA is fragmented into oligonucleosomal-sized pieces, a process mediated by a Ca<sup>++</sup>/Mg<sup>++</sup>-dependent endonuclease. The nucleus eventually breaks up into several fragments. The plasma membrane also invaginates and the cell separates into membrane-bound fragments containing morphologically normal mitochondria and other organelles. These "apoptotic bodies" are rapidly phagocytosed during phase II either by surrounding cells or by macrophages (Schwartzman and Cidlowski, 1993; Savill *et al.*, 1993).

It has only been recently that some of the biochemical events involved in the induction of this form of cell death have been elucidated. Only mediators with some relevance to CTL-mediated cytotoxicity will be discussed, the reader is referred elsewhere for more in-depth reviews (Kroemer *et al.*, 1995; Schwartzman and Cidlowski, 1993).

## A. THE ICE/CED-3 PROTEASES

### 1. ICE and a Possible Role in Apoptosis

In recent years, interest has focused on a family of cysteine proteases related to Interleukin-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme (ICE) as putative apoptotic mediators. ICE was originally identified as the proteolytic activity responsible for cleaving the inactive 33-kDa pro-IL-1 $\beta$  precursor to produce the active 17.5-kDa cytokine (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Cerretti *et al.*, 1992; Molineaux *et al.*, 1993; Miller *et al.*, 1993; Nett *et al.*, 1992). ICE itself is generated as an inactive precursor of 45-kDa. Proteolytic activation, involving cleavage after Asp residues, results in the production of the active form of the enzyme - a heterodimer consisting of p20 and p10 subunits (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992).

Early studies on IL-1 $\beta$  activation revealed that ICE has substrate specificity requiring Asp at P<sub>1</sub> (Sleath *et al.*, 1990), a finding confirmed by the discovery that IL-1 $\beta$  is activated by cleavage at two sites, each after an Asp residue (Howard *et al.*, 1991). Since this coincides with the cleavages occurring during ICE activation, it has been proposed that ICE may be autocatalytic (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Wang *et al.*, 1994a; Howard *et al.*, 1995). The crystal structure of active ICE seems to suggest a mechanism by which autoactivation can proceed. In the active form of ICE, two p10/p20 heterodimers form a homodimer which contains two active sites. If the homodimer is formed from two p45 precursors such that the p10 subunit of one precursor interacts with the p20 subunit of the opposing precursor, the cleavage sites required for activation are positioned correctly such that one precursor, once activated, can cleave and activate the other p45 (Walker *et al.*, 1994; Wilson *et al.*, 1994). Subsequent studies in baculovirus-infected *Sf*9 cells have confirmed that many family members (see below) are autocatalytic (Fernandes-Alnemri *et al.*, 1995a, 1995b).

Interest in ICE as an apoptotic mediator began when it was discovered that the protein product of the *Caenorhabditis elegans* gene *ced-3*, which had previously been shown to be essential for the induction of apoptosis during nematode development (Ellis and Horvitz, 1986; Yuan and Horvitz, 1990; Hedgecock *et al.*, 1983), shared 29% sequence identity with ICE (Yuan *et al.*, 1993). Overexpression of either ICE or Ced-3 in Rat-1 fibroblasts induced apoptosis, a property dependent upon the catalytic activity of ICE (Miura *et al.*, 1993). In addition, apoptosis of dorsal root ganglion neurons following growth factor withdrawal could be prevented by expression of the poxvirus-encoded serine protease inhibitor CrmA (cytokine response modifier A [Gagliardini *et al.*, 1994]), a serpin identified as an ICE inhibitor (Komiyama *et al.*, 1994; Ray *et al.*, 1992), further suggesting that ICE is involved in the induction of apoptosis.

Finally, use of the ICE inhibitors acetyl-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-aldehyde (Ac-YVAD-CHO) and acetyl-YVAD-chloromethylketone (AC-YVAD-cmk) arrested apoptosis of motoneurons *in vitro* as a result of neurotrophic factor withdrawal (Milligan *et al.*, 1995). Additionally, cell death of both motoneurons and interdigital cells was prevented *in vivo* using Ac-YVAD-cmk, further suggesting involvement of ICE (or a related protease, see below) during developmental cell death of both motoneurons and other cells.

Studies of mice lacking ICE have demonstrated that ICE does not play a unique role in apoptosis induced by dexamethasone or UV-radiation (Li *et al.*, 1995; Kuida *et al.*, 1995) but may play a role in Fas-mediated apoptosis (Kuida *et al.*, 1995). These results suggest that other members of the ICE/Ced-3 family (see below) play a more crucial role in the induction of apoptosis than ICE itself.

#### 2. Other ICE/Ced-3 Proteases

•

Subsequent studies resulted in the isolation of a number of ICE/Ced-3 proteases. Each of these proteases is generated as an inactive precursor requiring cleavage after Asp residues for activation, and has substrate specificity requiring an Asp at  $P_1$ . Phylogenetic analysis has revealed that these proteases fall into three subfamilies (Duan *et al.*, 1996) - the ICE family (ICE, TX/Ich-2/ICE<sub>rel</sub>II, ICE<sub>rel</sub>III); the NEDD2 family (Ich-1 and Nedd-2); and the CPP32 family (consisting of Ced-3, CPP32/Apopain/Yama, Mch3 $\alpha$ /CMH-1/ICE-LAP3, FLICE/MACH, and Mch2 $\alpha$ ). These families are summarized in Table I-4.

Some of these proteases occur in both active and alternately spliced, inactive forms, specifically ICE (Alnemri et al., 1995); Ich1 (Wang et al., 1994), Mch2 (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995a), Mch3 (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995b) and MACH (Boldin et al., 1996). It has been postulated that these inactive isoforms may act as regulators of ICE/Ced-3 activity by sequestering active p10/p20 heterodimers in an inactive homodimer, since these inactive forms are still able to interact with an active isoform (Alnemri et al., 1995) Therefore, a competition between cell deathprotective and cell death-inducing subunits exists, and the result of this competition determines whether a cell lives or dies (Shaham and Horvitz, 1996). Indeed, Gu et al. (1995a) have recently shown that the ICE/Ced-3 precursors can form different quaternary structures in vivo and that there is hetero-oligomerization between family members, suggesting that the induction of apoptosis by mammalian proteases is a very complex process and depends upon the interactions of many proteins. Additionally, active heterodimers may contain subunits derived from different family members - it has recently been shown that the large subunit from Mch3 $\alpha$  can interact with the small subunit from CPP32, and vice versa, to form an active complex in vivo. (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995b). In this regard, the ICE/Ced-3 family is similar to the Bcl-2 family of apoptotic regulators (see below) in that some members induce apoptosis while others protect against it and there is hetero-oligomerization between family members, suggesting that a cell's propensity to undergo apoptosis depends on the levels of each of the ICE/Ced-3 proteins within the cell.

As mentioned above, studies of ICE-deficient mice suggested that ICE does not play a unique role in the induction of apoptosis, and that other ICE/Ced-3 proteases play a more critical role. However, studies involving overexpression or "knockout" of a single family member should be treated with caution since different family members with the same target substrates are present within the same cell implying that no protease plays a unique role. Evidence is also accumulating to

protease	species	effect on apoptosis	substrates	References	
The ICE Fo	The ICE Family:				
ICE	murine human	induction	pro-IL-1β PARP <sup>1,2</sup> CPP32 actin	Nett <i>et al.</i> , 1992 Thornberry <i>et al.</i> , 1992 Cerretti <i>et al.</i> , 1992 Gu <i>et al.</i> , 1995b Tewari <i>et al.</i> , 1995a Mashima <i>et al.</i> , 1995 Kayalar <i>et al.</i> , 1996	
ΙСΕβ	hurnan	induction	?	Alnemri et al., 1995	
ΙϹΕγ	human	induction	?	Alnemri et al., 1995	
ΙСΕδ	human	protection	NA <sup>3</sup>	Alnemri et al., 1995	
ICEε	human	protection	NA	Alnemri et al., 1995	
TX/Ich-2/ ICE <sub>rel</sub> II	human	induction	PARP	Faucheu <i>et al.</i> , 1995 Kamens <i>et al.</i> , 1995 Munday <i>et al.</i> , 1995 Gu <i>et al.</i> , 1995b	
ICE <sub>rel</sub> III	human	induction	?	Munday <i>et al.</i> , 1995	
The NEDD2 Family:					
Nedd-2	murine	induction	PARP	Kumar <i>et al.</i> , 1992, 1994 Gu <i>et al.</i> , 1995b	
Ich-1L	human	induction	?	Wang et al., 1994b	
Ich-1S	human	protection	NA	Wang <i>et al.</i> , 1994b	

## TABLE I-4: THE ICE/CED-3 PROTEASES

<sup>1</sup>PARP - poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase

<sup>2</sup> at 50-100 times the concentration required for IL-1 $\beta$  activation

<sup>3</sup>NA - the alternately spliced, protective forms are inactive as proteases and therefore have no substrates

## CONTINUED OVERLEAF

Protease	Species	effect on apoptosis	substrates	References	
The CPP.	The CPP32 Family:				
Ced-3	C.elegans	induction	?	Yuan et al., 1995	
CPP32	human hamster	induction	PARP <sup>1</sup> pro-Mch3α U1-70kDa <sup>2</sup> DNA-PK <sup>3</sup> SREBPs <sup>4</sup> D4-GDI <sup>5</sup>	Fernandes-Alnemri <i>et al.</i> , 1994, 1995b Tewari <i>et al.</i> , 1995a Nicholson <i>et al.</i> , 1995 Lazebnik <i>et al.</i> , 1994 Casciola-Rosen <i>et al.</i> , 1996 Song <i>et al.</i> , 1996 Wang <i>et al.</i> , 1995a, 1996 Na <i>et al.</i> , 1996	
Mch2a	human	induction	lamin A	Fernandes-Alnemri <i>et al.</i> , 1995a Orth <i>et al.</i> , 1996	
Mch2β	human	protection	NA <sup>6</sup>	Fernandes-Alnemri <i>et al.</i> , 1995a	
Mch3a/ CMH-1/ ICE- LAP3	human	induction	PARP SREBPs	Fernandes-Alnemri <i>et al.</i> , 1995b Lippke <i>et al.</i> , 1996 Duan <i>et al.</i> , 1996 Pai <i>et al.</i> , 1996	
Mch3β	human	protection	NA	Fernandes-Alnemri <i>et al.</i> , 1995b	
FLICE/ MACH	human	induction	PARP	Boldin <i>et al.</i> , 1996 Muzio <i>et al.</i> , 1996	

### TABLE I-4: THE ICE/CED-3 PROTEASES (CONTINUED)

<sup>1</sup>PARP - poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase <sup>2</sup>U1-70kDa - 70-kDa protein component of the U1 small nuclear ribonucleoprotein <sup>3</sup>DNA-PK - DNA-dependent protein kinase (catalytic subunit)

<sup>4</sup>SREBP - sterol regulatory element binding protein <sup>5</sup>D4-GDI - hematopoietic cell GDP dissociation inhibitor of Rho family GTPases <sup>6</sup>NA - the alternately spliced, protective forms are inactive as proteases and therefore have no substrates

suggest a proteolytic cascade during apoptosis, as some of the ICE/Ced-3 proteases are able to activate other family members. For example, ICE may be autocatalytic (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Quan *et al.*, 1996) and can activate CPP32 (Tewari *et al.*, 1995a) while CPP32 can activate Mch3 $\alpha$  but not vice versa (Fernandes-Alnemri *et al.*, 1995b) suggesting sequential activation of ICE, CPP32 and Mch3 $\alpha$  during apoptosis. To this end, Enari *et al.* (1996) have recently demonstrated sequential activation of ICE-like and CPP32-like proteases in Fas-mediated apoptosis. This may constitute a central death pathway with the cell being able to enter the pathway at different points, depending on the apoptotic stimulus.

Besides the previously identified substrates of ICE/Ced-3 proteases - pro-IL-1 $\beta$ , sterol regulatory element binding proteins (SREBPs), poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP), the 70-kDa protein component of the small nuclear ribonucleoprotein (U1-70kDa), DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK), D4-GDI, actin and lamin A - a number of other proteins which are proteolytically cleaved during apoptosis may also serve as substrates including the protein kinase C  $\delta$  isoform (Emoto *et al.*, 1995), the cytoskeletal proteins Gas2 and fodrin (Brancolini *et al.*, 1995; Martin *et al.*, 1995b), other nuclear tamins (Lazebnik *et al.*, 1995; Weaver *et al.*, 1996) and possibly the larger isoforms of the PITSLRE family of cdc2-related kinases (Lahti *et al.*, 1995). In addition, the nuclear-mitotic apparatus (NuMA) is cleaved during apoptosis at levels comparable to the degree of oligonucleosomal DNA laddering (Hsu and Yeh, 1996; Weaver *et al.*, 1996). These results suggest that the nuclear degradation seen during apoptosis may be a result of site-specific proteolysis of key structural proteins.

## 3. ICE/Ced-3 Proteases and Autoimmunity

Interestingly, three of the proteins identified as ICE/Ced-3 substrates (U1-70kDa, DNA-PK, PARP) have been identified as autoantigens involved in autoimmune disease. These autoantigens, along with others targeted in the human autoimmune disease systemic lupus erythrematosus, are found clustered in two discrete populations of surface structures on apoptotic cells: apoptotic bodies arising from the condensed, fragmented nucleus, and surface blebs arising from the fragmented rough ER (Casciola-Rosen *et al.*, 1994a). This clustered targeting of antigens is thought to reflect the susceptibility of these molecules to a common biochemical modification occurring in apoptotic cells. Since these proteins are now known to be proteolytically processed during apoptosis to distinct fragments by the ICE/Ced-3 proteases (Casciola-Rosen *et al.*, 1994b, 1995, 1996; Lazebnik *et al.*, 1994; Kaufmann et al., 1993), this implies a link between these proteases and autoimmunity.

During the selection of the TCR repertoire in the thymus T cells are exposed to self peptides in the context of self MHC presented by thymic APCs. Any T cell which recognizes and responds to these complexes is deleted such that the final TCR repertoire should recognize only foreign antigen-self MHC complexes. In this manner, self-tolerance is induced. However, tolerance is only induced to self peptides displayed at sufficiently high levels. Some T cells are able to escape tolerance induction, even though they recognize self antigen, because their cognate peptides are not efficiently presented in the thymus, tolerance being induced only to efficiently presented (immunodominant) determinants. Although such T cells are potentially autoreactive, under normal circumstances these cells do not participate in immune responses because the body's APCs do not efficiently present their cryptic (subdominant) determinants (Gammon and Sercarz, 1989; Sercarz et al., 1993; Lipham et al., 1991; Cibotti et al., 1992). However, if their cryptic determinant is subsequently revealed, these autoreactive cells may become pathogenic and initiate an As the immune response develops, the tolerance to immune response. immunodominant determinants may also be broken (Mamula et al., 1992; Mamula, 1993) resulting in the initiation of autoimmune disease.

It has been suggested that the specific proteolysis occurring during apoptosis, which results in the appearance of novel peptide fragments, may also result in unveiling of a cryptic determinant. Interestingly, Casciola-Rosen *et al.* (1995) have found that autoimmune antisera from several different individuals specifically recognizes proteolytic fragments generated during apoptosis. These workers propose a model for autoimmunity whereby apoptosis results in the cleavage of U1-70kDa, PARP, DNA-PK and other autoantigens within a cell by ICE/Ced-3 proteases. When the apoptotic bodies of the cell are phagocytosed, peptides derived from proteins found in these bodies are presented in the context of MHC Class II molecules on the surface of the phagocytic cell. If a protein fragment generated during proteolysis by the ICE/Ced-3 proteases contains a cryptic determinant which is efficiently presented, this may trigger an autoimmune response mediated by T cells which escaped tolerance induction. If tolerance to the self protein is thus broken, this autoreactive T cell response may subsequently diversify to other areas of the molecule which were previously tolerated and autoimmune disease ensues.

In this manner, apoptosis may result in induction of an autoimmune response to proteins which were previously tolerated, by the activity of the ICE/Ced-3 proteases and generation of specific protein fragments. One important consideration in this model, however, is the mechanisms of apoptosis by thymocytes. When thymocytes are eliminated during selection, they die by apoptosis (Surh and Sprent, 1994). It is therefore necessary to determine whether the specific proteolytic events occurring in "general" apoptosis also occur in apoptosis during thymocyte selection. If the thymocytes do not utilize similar proteolytic events, this could explain the persistence of potentially autoreactive T cells. That is, that they were not exposed to the necessary peptide antigens (generated by apoptosis of neighbouring cells) during selection. It remains to be seen whether the ICE/Ced-3 proteases play a significant role in apoptosis during selection of the TCR repertoire.

### 4. ICE/Ced-3 Proteases and CTL-Mediated Cytotoxicity

ICE/Ced-3 proteases have also been implicated as playing a role in target cell death following CTL attack. The finding that ICE is activated by cleavage after Asp residues, which coincides with the substrate specificity of granzyme B, led to the hypothesis that the ICE precursor could act as a granzyme B substrate (Vaux et al., 1994). In this proposal, CTL-mediated killing would involve a cascade of proteolytic events, in much the same manner as the blood clotting pathway. Although we have found no evidence that the ICE precursor acts as a granzyme B substrate (Chapter III, Darmon et al., 1994) this did not preclude another ICE/Ced-3 protease from being a granzyme B target. Indeed we (and others) have recently shown that the precursor of CPP32 acts as an intracellular substrate for granzyme B (Chapter IV, Darmon et al., 1995; Ouan et al., 1996; Martin et al., 1996). In addition, other workers have demonstrated that granzyme B can activate the related proteases CMH-1/Mch3α/ICE-LAP3 (Gu et al., 1996; Chinnaiyan et al., 1996b) and FLICE/MACH (Muzio et al., 1996). Since CPP32 has been shown to cleave a number of nuclear proteins such as PARP (Tewari et al., 1995a; Nicholson et al., 1995), SREBPs (Wang et al., 1996, 1995a), U1-70kDa (Casciola-Rosen et al., 1996) and DNA-PK (Casciola-Rosen et al., 1996; Song et al., 1996), it is believed that CPP32 is involved primarily in the induction of the nuclear events of apoptosis, and that granzyme B induces target cell DNA fragmentation Ly cleaving and activating CPP32 (and other CPP32-related proteases). We have recently obtained evidence to support this finding (Chapter V; Darmon et al., 1996). It is not known how granzyme B induces membrane blebbing, if at all, but presumably this occurs by cleavage of another substrate, possibly another ICE/Ced-3 protease.

Accumulating evidence suggests that ICE/Ced-3 proteases are also involved in Fas-mediated cytotoxicity. Both CrmA, and another virus-encoded antiapoptotic protein which inhibits ICE/Ced-3 proteases, p35 (Clem et al., 1991; Bump et al., 1995; Xue and Horvitz, 1995; Clem and Miller, 1994) can inhibit Fas-mediated apoptosis when expressed in cells exposed to anti-Fas antibody (Beidler et al., 1995; Tewari and Dixit, 1995) and in particular could inhibit cleavage of U1-70kDa (Tewari et al., 1995b) or PARP (Beidler et al., 1995). Although both U1-70kDa and PARP are substrates of CPP32 (and related proteases), CrmA reportedly cannot inhibit CPP32 (Nicholson et al., 1995; Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995b), although this is somewhat controversial (Tewari et al., 1995a), suggesting that CrmA acts at a point other than CPP32. Using CTLs derived from human peripheral blood as effectors, Tewari et al. (1995c) showed that CrmA could inhibit CTL-mediated cytotoxicity and that, despite the fact that CrmA had previously been shown to inhibit granzyme B (Quan et al., 1995), the inhibitory effect of CrmA expression was on the calciumindependent (Fas-mediated) pathway of cytolysis. Although this is convincing evidence of the involvement of an ICE/Ced-3 protease, the specific protease involved cannot be identified since each of these proteins (CrmA and p35) can inhibit multiple family members.

Other groups have reported the inhibitory effect of a tetrapeptide aldehyde containing the sequence YVAD (single letter amino acid code) on Fas-mediated apoptosis (Enari *et al.*, 1995a; Los *et al.*, 1995). This YVAD sequence was originally identified as an ICE inhibitor although it may also inhibit other family members, again leaving the exact nature of the protease involved unclear. Using an *in vitro* system, several groups have shown that lysates from anti-Fas treated cells can induce apoptotic changes in the nuclei of normal cells, and that this can be inhibited by the YVAD aldehyde (Enari *et al.*, 1995b; Chow *et al.*, 1995; Schlegel *et al.*, 1995), again suggesting the involvement of an ICE/Ced-3 protease.

Although this evidence seems to suggest the involvement of a protease closely related to ICE in Fas-mediated killing, Schlegel *et al.* (1996) have found no evidence of IL-1 $\beta$  processing activity in lysates from cells treated with anti-Fas antibody, a result which we have confirmed (Chapter VI; Darmon and Bleackley, 1996) indicating that this ICE-like activity is not due to ICE itself. In fact, Schlegel *et al.* determined that CPP32 is a key mediator in Fas-induced apoptosis, however, we believe that this is a consequence of their model system - in our hands CPP32 is not activated in all cells in response to Fas ligation and is therefore not essential (Chapter VI; Darmon and Bleackley, 1996).

Interestingly, apoptosis mediated by the *Drosophila* protein REAPER, which contains a death domain similar to that found in Fas, has been shown to require an ICE-like protease for the induction of both apoptosis and ceramide release, which seems to place an ICE-like protease very early in the signaling pathway initiated by Fas ligation (Pronk *et al.*, 1996). Significantly, the identification of FLICE/MACH as an ICE/Ced-3 protease which interacts with FADD/MORT1 seems to link Fas ligation with the activation of ICE/Ced-3 proteases (Boldin *et al.*, 1996; Muzio *et al.*, 1996). Presumably, activation of FLICE/MACH following Fas ligation results in the activation of downstream proteases such as those related to CPP32, although this is yet to be demonstrated. The recent demonstration of sequential activation of ICE-like and CPP32-like proteases during Fas-mediated apoptosis (Enari *et al.*, 1996) may support this role for FLICE/MACH in the induction of cell death.

#### **B. BCL-2-RELATED PROTEINS**

### 1. The Bcl-2 family

Another family of proteins implicated in the control of apoptosis correspond to the members of the Bcl-2 family and the proteins with which they interact. Bcl-2 was first identified as the gene involved in the development of human follicular lymphoma (Tsujimoto *et al.*, 1984). The chromosomal 14:18 translocation associated with these cancers brings the *bcl-2* gene under control of the immunoglobulin heavy chain enhancer, resulting in constitutively high expression of Bcl-2 in B cells containing the translocation (Graninger *et al.*, 1987). Since the translocation usually occurs within the 3' untranslated region of *bcl-2* the resulting protein is not altered. Because of its association with cancer, Bcl-2 was believed to represent an oncogene, however, studies of transfections revealed that Bcl-2 actually functions by inhibiting apoptosis rather than by promoting cell growth (reviewed by Hawkins and Vaux, 1994). Since its first discovery Bcl-2 has been found to be capable of protecting cells against a wide variety of insults, including growth factor withdrawal, hypoxia, heat shock and drugs.

Further evidence suggesting a role for Bcl-2 in controlling apoptosis came from studies of the nematode *C. elegans*. The *C. elegans* cell death gene *ced-9*, which protects cells against cell death (and is therefore antagonistic to Ced-3), encodes a member of the Bcl-2 family of proteins (Hengartner *et al.*, 1992; Hengartner and Horvitz, 1994). Ced-9 and Bcl-2 are functionally related and Bcl-2 can substitute for Ced-9 *in vivo* (Vaux *et al.*, 1992a), further suggesting a role for Bcl-2 in inhibiting apoptosis.

Other proteins related to Bcl-2 have since been identified and are summarized in Table I-5 (reviewed by Farrow and Brown, 1996; White, 1996). These proteins form homo- and heterodimers in vivo with other members of the family, much like the ICE/Ced-3 proteins. Bax was the first related protein to be identified and although it was originally believed that Bax may work in concert with Bcl-2 to prevent cell death, it is now known that Bax actually opposes Bcl-2 function and induces cell death. The current model for Bcl-2 and Bax control of cell death proposes that they act as a "rheostat" - when Bcl-2 is in excess, Bcl-2 homodimers predominate and the cell is protected against apoptosis. When Bax is in excess, Bax homodimers predominate and the cell is susceptible to apoptosis in response to an external signal. Since the other family members can also dimerize a cell's propensity to die in response to an apoptotic signal may depend upon the total number of apoptotic inducers versus the total number of apoptotic protectors. Similar interactions may occur within the ICE/Ced-3 family, as mentioned above, since some members are protectors and some are inducers. Therefore, for the same reasons outlined for the ICE/Ced-3 proteases, studies of overexpression or "knockout" of only one family member must be approached with caution.

### 2. Role of Bcl-2 Proteins in CTL-Mediated Cytotoxicity

The mechanism of action of the Bcl-2 family proteins is currently unknown. These proteins possess no known catalytic activity making elucidation of their roles more difficult. As a result, cellular localization was used in an attempt to generate hints as to their function. Localization of Bcl-2 to mitochondrial, rough ER and nuclear membranes (Hockenberry et al., 1990; Krajewski et al., 1993; Lithgow et al., 1994) led to the suggestion that Bcl-2 and related proteins may be involved in regulating the levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in cells (reviewed by Slater et al., 1995; Korsmeyer et al., 1995; Hockenberry et al., 1993). In this model of apoptosis, ROS are generated early during the apoptotic process, possibly as a result of mitochondrial oxidative metabolism or through the arachidonic acid pathway of signaling, and are critical to the completion of cell death. Mitochondrial respiration is an unlikely source of ROS however, since apoptosis still occurs in cells lacking mitochondrial DNA (Jacobson et al., 1993) suggesting that the arachidonic acid pathway, initiated by phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> (PLA<sub>2</sub>), is the primary source of ROS during apoptosis. In normal cells, Bcl-2 proteins may control the levels of ROS and maintain the cell in its usual oxidation state. During apoptosis the levels of ROS generated may surpass the "buffering" capacity of the Bcl-2 proteins and may have a

number of effects in the apoptotic cell - direct oxidative damage to DNA and oxidation of intracellular proteins (which may modify their function or ability to be recognized by other proteins). Interestingly, this may also represent a means of "tagging" proteins for degradation by cellular proteases, particularly the ICE/Ced-3 proteins. Two studies have recently shown that Bcl-2 (Chinnaiyan et al., 1996c; Boulakia et al., 1996) and BclxL (Chinnaiyan et al., 1996c), which repress a common cell death pathway (Chao et al., 1995), act upstream of the ICE/Ced-3 proteases CPP32 and Mch3a/CMH-1/ICE-LAP3. In the ROS-mediated model of apoptosis, Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL block the production of excess ROS which thereby halts oxidative modification of cellular proteins. Since cellular proteins would not be tagged for degradation, the ICE/Ced-3 proteases would not recognize their target proteins and apoptosis would not proceed. However, under hypoxic conditions, under which production of ROS is expected to be minimal, Bcl-2 can still protect against apoptosis suggesting that ROS are not required for apoptosis and that Bel-2 functions independently of ROS (Jacobson and Raff, 1995; Shimizu et al., 1995). Therefore, the exact roles of ROS and the Bcl-2 proteins in apoptosis remain to be determined.

The implication of Bcl-2 in regulating ROS-induced apoptosis is intriguing in light of the fact that PLA<sub>2</sub> has been shown to be activated during Fas-mediated apoptosis (Cifone et al., 1995). In addition, thiol reductants and antioxidants have been shown to have a protective effect against both TNF- and Fas-mediated killing, further implicating ROS as playing a role in cell death in response to Fas ligation (Um et al., 1996; Talley et al., 1995; Albrecht et al., 1994; Chang et al., 1992; Mayer and Noble, 1994; Schulze-Osthoff et al., 1992). It would therefore be expected that Bcl-2 proteins would be able to "buffer" the levels of ROS generated by PLA<sub>2</sub> in response to Fas ligation, and therefore protect against Fas-induced apoptosis. However, this result has not been consistently produced - some groups have reported that Bcl-2 can protect against Fas-induced death (Schröter et al., 1995; Torigoe et al., 1994; Itoh et al., 1993) while others have found no effect (Chiu et al., 1995; Memon et al., 1995; Vaux et al., 1992b). Jaattela et al. (1995) have suggested that Bcl-2 and Bcl-x1. inhibit activation of PLA<sub>2</sub> following Fas ligation, suggesting that the Bel-2 proteins act upstream of arachidonic acid metabolism. Strasser et al. (1995) have recently shown that Bel-2 and Fas regulate distinct pathways to cell death so the exact role of Bcl-2 proteins in this mode of killing remains to be determined.

Protein	Effect on Apoptosis	Reference
Bcl-2	protection	Vaux et al., 1988 Hockenberry et al., 1990
Ced-9	protection	Hengartner <i>et al.</i> , 1992 Hengartner and Horvitz, 1994
Bax	induction	Oltvai et al., 1993
BelxL	protection	Boise et al., 1993
BclxS	induction	Boise et al., 1993
Bak	induction	Farrow et al., 1995 Chittenden <i>et al.</i> , 1995 Kiefer <i>et al.</i> , 1995
BAG-1 <sup>1</sup>	protection	Takayama <i>et al.</i> , 1995
BAD	induction	Yang et al., 1995
Mel-1	protection	Kozopas <i>et al.</i> , 1993 Reynolds <i>et al.</i> , 1994
A1	protection <sup>2</sup>	Lin et al., 1993
Nbk/Bik1 <sup>1</sup>	induction	Boyd et al., 1995
African Swine Fever Virus HMW5-HL	protection <sup>2</sup>	Neilan et al., 1993
Epstein Barr Virus BHRF1	protection	Cleary et al., 1986 Henderson et al., 1993
Adenovirus E1B 19K	protection	White et al., 1992 Chiou et al., 1994 Farrow et al., 1995

# TABLE 1-5: THE BCL-2 FAMILY PROTEINS

<sup>1</sup> these proteins share no homology to Bcl-2 but act as binding partners <sup>2</sup> based on sequence homology to Bcl-2

In contrast, there is no evidence to suggest the involvement of  $PLA_2$  in granule-mediated killing so Bcl-2 family members would not be expected to protect against granule-mediated cytotoxicity. Indeed, some workers have found this to be the case (Chiu *et al.*, 1995) although again this has not been consistently produced, with other workers reporting that Bcl-2 protects target cells during granule-mediated killing (Schröter *et al.*, 1995). One group has reported that Bcl-2 protects against neither Fas nor granule-mediated killing (Vaux *et al.*, 1992b) so the exact role of Bcl-2 proteins in CTL-mediated cytotoxicity remains unknown. Interestingly, Takayama *et al.* (1995) have shown that co-expression of BAG-1 and Bcl-2 protects cells against several stimuli, including CTL attack, whereas Bcl-2 alone does not, suggesting that expression of both BAG-1 and Bcl-2 may be required to see an effect.

#### C. A CELL CYCLE LINK

Interestingly, some of the events of apoptosis, such as chromatin condensation and nuclear membrane dissolution, are mirrored in mitosis, leading to a possible cell cycle link between apoptosis and cellular proliferation. Indeed, Nishioka and Welsh (1994) have found that quiescent cells (in the  $G_0$  stage of the cell cycle) are more resistant to CTL-induced DNA fragmentation than  $G_1$  cells, suggesting that susceptibility to apoptosis may be linked to cell cycle stage.

Progression through the cell cycle is regulated by kinases, and kinase activity is dependent upon association with cyclin molecules. Thus, these kinases are termed cyclin-dependent kinases or cdks. The G<sub>2</sub>/M transition during the cell cycle is dependent upon the serine/threonine kinase Cdc2 (also known as cdk1) (Nurse, 1990). During the S and G<sub>2</sub> stages, Cdc2 is found in association with cyclin B, and is maintained in a catalytically inactive state by phosphorylation of Tyr<sup>15</sup>, located within the ATP-binding region of Cdc2. This phosphorylation is carried out by the kinase Wee1 or Mik1 (Parker and Piwnica-Worms, 1992; McGowan and Russell, 1993; Heald *et al.*, 1993; Lundgren *et al.*, 1991). Wee1 in turn is regulated by the kinase Nim1/Cdr1 (Wu and Russell, 1993; Parker *et al.*, 1993; Coleman *et al.*, 1993). At the onset of mitosis, Cdc2 is activated by dephosphorylation, a function carried out by Cdc25 (Gould *et al.*, 1990). In addition to Cdc25, Wee1, Mik1, and Nim1/Cdr1, Cdc2 activity is also regulated by Cdk2 which plays an essential role in regulating G<sub>1</sub>/S transition (Guadagno and Newport, 1996).

Inappropriate activation of Cdc2 or Cdc25 (which activates Cdc2) causes cells to undergo mitotic catastrophe (Heald *et al.*, 1993; Krek and Nigg, 1991), a process which morphologically resembles apoptosis. Interestingly, premature activation of

Cdc2 has been observed in some forms of apoptosis, for example, Cdc2 is activated during taxol-induced apoptosis (Donaldson *et al.*, 1994); Cdc2 and Cdk2 kinase activity, associated with cyclin A, increases following TNF $\alpha$  or drug-induced death of HeLa cells (Meikrantz *et al.*, 1994); and activity of the Cdc2/cyclin B complex increases during activation-induced T cell death, a process requiring cyclin B expression (Fotedar *et al.*, 1995). Interestingly, Schröter *et al.* (1996) have recently suggested that activation of Cdc2 may be linked to DNase I activity, implying a connection between cell cycle proteins and DNA fragmentation.

Cdc2 has also been implicated in CTL-mediated cytotoxicity. In 1994, Shi *et al.* found that Cdc2 activation, through dephosphorylation, occurred during apoptosis of YAC-1 cells treated with perforin and granzyme B, and that this activation was necessary since blocking Cdc2 activity could prevent granzyme B-induced death. Further studies revealed that Wee1, the kinase which negatively regulates Cdc2 activity, rescues target cells from granzyme B/perforin-induced apoptosis (Chen *et al.*, 1995), thereby strengthening the link between CTL-mcdiated cytotoxicity and cell cycle regulation. It is not known how granzyme B can result in Cdc2 activation, since Cdc2 is not cleaved during granzyme B-induced death.

Cdc2 is not involved in all forms of apoptosis however. As mentioned above, Meikrantz *et al.* (1994) have found that levels of Cdk2/cyclin A kinase activity increase during TNF $\alpha$  or drug-induced apoptosis in HeLa cells. Apoptosis in this system can be inhibited by expression of dominant negative mutants of Cdc2, Cdk2, and Cdk3, but not by dominant negative mutants of Cdk5. It was also found that Cdc2, Cdk2, and Cdk3 formed complexes with cyclin A *in vivo*, while Cdk5 did not, suggesting a role for cyclin A-associated kinases in apoptosis (Meikrantz and Schlegel, 1996). In addition, a kinase distantly related to Cdc2 called p58PITSLRE induces apoptosis when overexpressed (Lahti *et al.*, 1995). Intriguingly, larger isoforms of the PITSLRE family are proteolytically cleaved to a novel, catalytically active 50-kDa form during Fas-mediated killing. Although some results suggest that a serine protease is involved, it is quite possible that this cleavage is mediated by an ICE/Ced-3 protease.

In other systems, apoptosis is able to proceed in the absence of Cdc2/cyclin B activity. Neurons, which are fully differentiated and postmitotic, are still able to undergo apoptosis even though Cdc2 is not expressed, although cyclin D1 is induced during cell death (Freeman *et al.*, 1994) and is an essential mediator (Kranenburg *et al.*, 1996). Thymocytes treated with etoposide or dexamethasone do not contain increased Cdc2 activity (Norbury *et al.*, 1994), a result which is consistent with the
findings of Fotedar *et al.* (1995), who showed that dexamethasone-induced thymocyte apoptosis was not inhibited by the expression of antisense cyclin B. Thus, it seems that the involvement of Cdc2 and/or other cell cycle proteins is determined by the stimulus which induces apoptosis, and, within the same cell, the pathway culminating in apoptosis may or may not involve Cdc2/cyclin B.

## **IV. AIMS OF THE THESIS**

Although 10 years had elapsed since the first discovery of the granzymes, the exact mechanism of their action was still unresolved at the beginning of this work. Both granzyme A and granzyme B had been shown to play a role in inducing target cell DNA fragmentation, but the exact events involved were unclear, and it had been widely assumed that this was achieved through the activation of an endonuclease, yet to be identified.

Therefore, it was of prime interest to identify intracellular substrates for the granzymes. The first half of the work presented here outlines studies resulting in the identification of an intracellular substrate for granzyme B, which turns out to be an ICE/Ced-3 protease. The second part of this work examines the role of this substrate, and other ICE/Ced-3 proteases, in both granule- and Fas-mediated cytotoxicity.

# **CHAPTER II - MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **CHAPTER II - MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### CELL CULTURE

## **Effector Cells**

CTL21.9 is a cloned cytotoxic T cell line using the granular exocytosis mechanism of killing (Garner *et al.*, 1994) that requires antigenic stimulation and is IL-2-dependent. These cells were stimulated on a 7-day cycle with irradiated splenocytes from Balb/c (H-2<sup>d</sup>) mice as stimulators for 3 days at a stimulator:responder ratio of 20:1. Following the three day incubation, dead cells were removed by sedimentation through a Ficoll/metrizoate gradient. Cells were maintained in RHFM (RPMI 640 media [Gibco] supplemented with 5% (v/v) fetal calf serum (Gibco) and 100  $\mu$ M  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol) and containing 60 units/ml recombinant IL-2.

C57BL/6J (H-2<sup>b</sup>) mice homozygous for a null mutation in the granzyme B gene, and wild type control mice, were a generous gift of Dr. Tim Ley (Washington University Medical School, St. Louis, MO) and have been previously described (Heusel *et al.*, 1994). Cytotoxic cells lacking granzyme B (GB KO) or wild type control cells (GB WT) were generated as follows: Splenocytes from these mice were activated in primary mixed lymphocyte cultures in the presence of IL-2 using irradiated splenocytes from Balb/c mice as stimulators for three days. Dead cells were removed by sedimentation through a Ficoll/metrizoate gradient. The initial stimulation used a stimulator:responder ratio of 1:1; all subsequent stimulations used a ratio of 20:1. The resulting cells were maintained in RHFM plus IL-2, and stimulated on a 7-day cycle as outlined for CTL21.9 cells (above).

All of the above cells were activated with anti-CD3 antibody (2C11, 1:500) dilution) for 24 hours prior to use as cytotoxic effectors.

PMM-1 is a cytolytic hybridoma previously derived from primary peritoneal exudate lymphocytes (Kaufmann *et al.*, 1981) and is grown by continuous culture in RHFM in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C. Activation for use as cytotoxic cells was achieved by stimulation for 3 hours with phorbol-12-myristate-13-acctate (PMA, 10 ng/ml) and ionomycin ( $3 \mu g/ml$ ).

#### "Target" Cells

The L1210 (H-2<sup>d</sup>) variant transfected with mouse Fas cDNA (L1210-Fas) was kindly provided by Dr. Pierre Golstein (Centre d'Immunologie INSERM-CNRS de Marseille-Luminy, Marseille, France; Rouvier *et al.*, 1993) and is maintained by

continuous culture in RHFM. EL4 (H-2<sup>b</sup>) and YAC-1 (H-2<sup>a</sup>) mouse lymphomas, P815 (H-2<sup>d</sup>) mouse mastocytoma cells, and the human T cell leukemia line Jurkat were maintained by continuous culture in RHFM.

#### **Other Cells**

COS-M5 cells were grown at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium supplemented with 10% (v/v) fetal calf serum, penicillin and streptomycin.

The cytotoxic T cell line MTL 2.8.2 was previously generated from CBA/Balb/c mice (Bleackley *et al.*, 1982) and is an IL-2-dependent cell line that can proliferate in the absence of antigen. These cells were cultured in RHFM containing 30 units/ml recombinant human IL-2.

# TRANSFECTION OF COS CELLS

#### **Granzyme B Expression Vector**

An *Eco*RI fragment containing the cDNA encoding enzymatically active murine granzyme B (CCP1a; Caputo *et al.*, 1993) was subcloned into the mammalian expression vector pAX142 which contains the EF1 $\alpha$  promoter, enhancer and introns (a generous gift of Dr. Robert Kay), a derivative of the vector pAX114 (Kay and Humphries, 1991). This vector was used in preference to other expression systems since we have previously found that murine granzyme B contains a cryptic splice site which results in truncated transcripts if vectors containing the SV40 small t-antigen intron are used (Fujinaga and Bleackley, unpublished data). The cDNA encoding the zymogen form of murine granzyme B (CCP1) and an active site Ser-Ala mutant (S183A; Caputo *et al.*, 1994) were also subcloned into this expression plasmid.

# **Preparation of DNA for Transfections**

DNA for COS cell transfections was prepared by CsCl density gradient centrifugation as follows: overnight cultures of bacteria were grown in LB media plus antibiotics. Bacteria were collected by centrifugation at 6000 rpm for 10 minutes, and resuspended in 10 ml GTE (0.9% glucose; 25 mM Tris-Cl, pH 8.0; 10 mM EDTA). Lysozyme was then added to the bacteria (10 ml of a 10 mg/ml solution in GTE) and the cell suspension was incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Bacteria were lysed by the addition of 40 ml of 0.2 M NaOH, 1% SDS followed by incubation on ice for 10 minutes, and then cellular debris was precipitated by the addition of 30 ml 3 M potassium acetate (pH ~5.5). Following incubation on ice for 10 minutes.

The supernatant was decanted and DNA was precipitated by the addition of 90 ml of isopropanol, and pelleted (following incubation at room temperature for 10 minutes) by centrifugation at 15,000g for 30 minutes. The pellet was washed with 70% ethanol, and dried in a desiccator. The DNA pellet was resuspended in 4 ml TE, to which was added 4.4 g CsCl, 0.4 ml 10 mg/ml ethidium bromide. Any precipitate formed was removed by centrifugation at 15,000g for 10 minutes. The supernatant at this point was transferred to a polyallomer ultracentrifuge tube (Seton Scientific) and spun in a VTi65 rotor at 58,000 rpm at 20°C overnight (16 hours minimum).

The following day the plasmid band was removed from the ultracentrifuge tube using a syringe and needle, and then extracted three times with an equal volume of NaCl-saturated isopropanol in order to remove the ethidium bromide. The DNA was then precipitated by addition of two volumes of TE, NaCl to a final concentration of 0.1 M, and finally ethanol (two volumes). The sample was then incubated at -20°C for 30 minutes. DNA was isolated by centrifugation at 15,000g for 30 minutes, the pellet was washed with 70% ethanol, and then resuspended in TE. Quantitation was by ethidium bromide fluorescence using calf thymus DNA as a standard.

# **Transfection of COS Cells**

Transient transfections of COS cells were performed by the DEAE-dextran method as follows: cells were seeded at a density of  $10^6$  cells per 90-mm plate and allowed to grow overnight. Transfection was by addition of 5 ml Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium containing 10 mM Hepes, pH 7.15; 200 µg/ml DEAE-dextran; 0.8 µg/ml plasmid DNA; and 500 µM chloroquine for 6 hours at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Transfection medium was removed following this incubation and cells were shocked for one minute by addition of 3 ml of 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing 0.5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 1.0 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>. Cells were rinsed with PBS and then culture continued by addition of 10 ml of fully-supplemented Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> until 48 hours following addition of the DNA.

# **Generation of COS Cell Lysates**

Suspensions of COS cells were prepared 48 hours following addition of the DNA by treatment with trypsin followed by suspension in 10 ml fully-supplemented cell culture medium. Cells were washed with 10 ml PBS, and lysed by suspension in COS cell lysis buffer containing 1% Triton X-100; 50 mM Tris, pH 8.0; and 1 M NaCl ( $200 \mu l/2x 10^6$  cells), followed by incubation on ice for 30 minutes. Nuclei were

removed by centrifugation at 10,000g, for 10 minutes at 4°C. Supernatants were stored at -70°C until use. Protein concentrations were determined by the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay kit (Pierce) using bovine serum albumin as a standard.

# **ISOLATION OF PRO-mICE cDNA**

# Designing Primers for PCR of pro-mICE

Oligonucleotide primers for PCR amplification of the murine ICE cDNA were based on the published sequence of mICE (Nett *et al.*, 1992, Genbank accession number L03799) and had the following sequences:

pICE1: 5'-GGAAGGATCCGCATGGCTGACAAGATCCTG-3' (forward primer containing *Bam*HI site (bold) and initiation codon (underlined) ); and

pICE2: 5'-GGAACTGCAGTCATCTAAGGAAGTATTGG-3' (reverse primer containing *Pst*I site (bold)).

Primers were synthesized on a model 392 DNA/RNA Synthesizer (Applied Biosystems Inc.).

### cDNA Synthesis

RNA was isolated from the cytotoxic T cell line MTL 2.8.2 using guanidinium thiocyanate (Chirgwin *et al.*, 1979). RNA samples were denatured by incubating 5  $\mu$ g of total RNA with 250 ng oligo dT primer (Promega) in a total volume of 14  $\mu$ l at 96°C for 3 min. Samples were chilled on ice and reagents added in the following order (final concentrations given): 50 mM Tris, pH 8.3; 75 mM KCl; 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>; 10 mM dithiothreitol; 50 units RNasin (Promega) and 1 mM dNTPs in a final volume of 25  $\mu$ l. The reaction mix was preincubated at 37°C prior to addition of 100 units Moloney murine leukemia virus reverse transcriptase (Bethesda Research Laboratories). Reactions were incubated at 37°C for 30 min followed by 99°C for 5 min. 5  $\mu$ l of the reverse transcriptase reaction was used directly in the PCR reaction.

#### PCR of pro-mICE cDNA

Each 50  $\mu$ l PCR reaction contained 10 mM Tris, pH 8.3; 50 mM KCl; 0.01% gelatin; 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>; 200  $\mu$ M dNTPs; 2 units Taq polymerase (Boehringer Mannheim); 400 nM of each primer pICE1/pICE2 and 5  $\mu$ l template cDNA. Samples were denatured at 94°C for 3 min then subjected to 35 amplification cycles in a Hybaid thermocycler (Bio/Can Scientific). Each PCR cycle consisted of a 1 min denaturation step (94°C), a 1 min annealing step (48°C) and a 1 min extension step

(72°C). Finally, products were extended for 5 min at 72°C. Resulting products were analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis.

### Subcloning of pro-mICE cDNA

The pro-mICE PCR product generated above was subcloned into the pGEM-3Z plasmid (Promega) as a 1200 bp *Bam*HI/*Pst*I fragment following purification from a 1% low melting point agarose gel. One clone (mICE-3) was selected for further analysis and the sequence was verified using terminator cycle sequencing (based on the method of Sanger *et al.*, 1977) on an Applied Biosystems Model 373A DNA Sequencer.

# IN VITRO TRANSCRIPTION AND TRANSLATION Plasmid Vectors

Plasmid vectors

The cDNA encoding pro-CPP32 (Genbank accession number U13738) was a generous gift of Dr. Don Nicholson (Merck Frosst Centre for Therapeutic Research, Montreal, PQ) and contains a silent mutation ( $G^{234}$  to A). This cDNA was cloned as an *Xba*I fragment in the *Xba*I site of the vector pBluescript II SK+ (Stratagene) in the T7 orientation.

The cDNA encoding PARP (Genbank accession number M32721) was a generous gift of Dr. Mark Smulson (Georgetown University School of Medicine, Washington, DC) and is cloned as an *XhoI* fragment in the T7 orientation in the vector pBluescript II SK+ (Stratagene).

The cDNA encoding pro-IL-1 $\beta$  (Genbank accession number X02532) was a gift of Dr. Mike Tocci (Merck Research Laboratories, Rahway, NJ) and is cloned as an *Eco*RI/*Pst*I fragment in the vector pGEM-3Z (Promega).

Plasmid DNA for *in vitro* transcription was prepared using a commercially available plasmid preparation kit (Qiagen).

## In Vitro Transcription and Translation

The construct mICE-3 was linearized by digestion with *PstI*. The vector containing pro-CPP32 was linearized by digestion with *NotI*. The pGEM-3Z-pro-IL-1 $\beta$  DNA was linearized by digestion with *PstI*. Following linearization, DNA was isolated by phenol:chloroform extractions followed by ethanol precipitation. Pelleted and dried DNA was resuspended in sterile water. RNA transcripts were produced by using T7 RNA polymerase (Bethesda Research Laboratories) and a Promega *in vitro* transcription kit. Template DNA was destroyed after the transcription reaction by

treatment with *E. coli* DNaseI (Promega). The size and purity of the RNA transcript was confirmed by electrophoresis on a denaturing agarose gel. *In vitro* translation was performed in a total volume of 50  $\mu$ l using a rabbit reticulocyte lysate kit from Promega. Each reaction included 40  $\mu$ Ci of TRAN<sup>35</sup>S-LABEL (ICN Biomedicals Inc.) or 40  $\mu$ Ci of [<sup>35</sup>S]Met (Dupont-NEN). Resulting translation products were analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by autoradiography. Synthesis of the resulting proteins was shown to be RNA-dependent by performing the *in vitro* translation in the absence of RNA.

In other instances the CPP32 or PARP plasmids were used to drive the synthesis of [<sup>35</sup>S]Met-labeled pro-CPP32 or [<sup>35</sup>S]Met-labeled PARP by coupled transcription/translation using a TNT kit from Promega. These translation mixes were purified by gel permeation fast protein liquid chromatography (FPLC) to remove unincorporated [<sup>35</sup>S]Met and constituents of the reticulocyte lysate.

### **GENERATION OF MTL 2.8.2 LYSATES**

MTL 2.8.2 cells were washed with PBS and removed from monolayers by treatment with PBS containing 20 mM EDTA, followed by suspension in 10 ml cell culture medium. Cells were washed with 10 ml PBS, and lysed by suspension in COS cell lysis buffer ( $200 \mu l/2x10^6$  cells), followed by incubation on ice for 30 minutes. Nuclei were removed by centrifugation at 10,000g, for 10 minutes at 4°C. Supernatants were stored at -70°C until use. Protein concentrations were determined by the BCA assay kit (Pierce) using bovine serum albumin as a standard.

# FPLC SEPARATION OF GRANZYMES

## **FPLC**

FPLC separation was through a modification of the method of Hanna *et al.* (1993). Cell lysate from 3.45x10<sup>7</sup> MTL 2.8.2 cells was generated as above, and 15 µg of total cell protein was checked for enzymatic activity (see below) prior to separation by FPLC. NaCl was added to the cell lysate to a final concentration of 390 mM. FPLC over a Mono-S HR 5/5 column (Pharmacia) was as follows: the column was first equilibrated in buffer A (50 mM MES, pH 6.1; 25 mM NaCl; 2 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>). Lysate was filtered and then applied to the column and the flow through was collected. Elution was by a 30 ml linear gradient from buffer A to buffer B (50 mM MES, pH 6.1; 1 M NaCl; 2 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>). Fractions of 1 ml were collected throughout the elution period and a 10 ml wash with buffer B immediately following elution.

Throughout the elution a plot of  $OD_{280}$  (protein content) was generated. Based on this plot, 10 µl of fractions 13 to 39 were assayed for enzymatic activity (see below).

## **Concentration of FPLC Fractions**

500  $\mu$ l of FPLC fractions 20 (granzyme B) and 24 (granzyme A) from the granzyme separation were concentrated to a volume of 25  $\mu$ l using Millipore Ultrafree-MC 10,000 NMWL filter units by centrifugation at 6400 rpm for ~45 minutes. The fractions were then made up to a total volume of 100  $\mu$ l in COS cell lysis buffer, and then assayed for enzymatic activity as outlined below.

# ENZYMATIC ASSAYS Granzyme Activity

# COS Cell Lysates

For Asp-ase activity due to granzyme B, COS cell lysates containing 50  $\mu$ g of total protein were made to 50  $\mu$ l with COS cell lysis buffer and added to 450  $\mu$ l of assay buffer containing 0.1M Hepes, pH 7.0; 0.3 M NaCl; 1 mM EDTA; 0.1 mM *tert*-butyloxycarbonyl-Ala-Ala-Asp-thiobenzyl ester (Enzyme Systems Products) and 0.11 mM dithiobis(2-nitrobenzoic acid) (DTNB) and incubated at 23°C for 20 min before reading the optical density at 405 nm. Colour development due to nonspecific indicator reduction was determined by performing identical assays without substrate. Negative controls were prepared by the addition of 10  $\mu$ l of COS cell lysis buffer to the same reactions including substrate and indicator. Positive controls were prepared by performing the same assay with 15  $\mu$ g MTL 2.8.2 total protein.

To determine the effect of the *in vitro* translated proteins on enzymatic activity,  $1 \mu l$  of translation mix per reaction was combined with the lysate and then the assay proceeded as usual.

#### FPLC Fractions

FPLC fractions 13 to 39 were assayed for Asp-ase (granzyme B), BLTesterase (granzyme A) and Chym-ase (other granzymes) activity as follows: 10  $\mu$ l of each fraction was combined with the following (final concentrations given) in a 96well plate to a final volume of 202  $\mu$ l: 0.1 M Hepes, pH 7.0; 0.3 M NaCl; 1 mM EDTA and 0.11 mM DTNB. For Asp-ase assays, 0.1 mM *tert*-butyloxycarbonyl-Ala-Ala-Asp-thiobenzyl ester was added. For BLT esterase activity, 0.1 mM N $\alpha$ carbobenzoxy-L-Lys-thiobenzyl ester (Sigma) was added. For chymotrypsin-like activity, 0.1 mM N-succinyl-Ala-Ala-Pro-Phe-thiobenzyl ester (Sigma) was added. Reactions were incubated at 23°C for 20 minutes prior to reading the optical density at 410 nm. Colour development due to nonspecific indicator reduction was determined by performing the identical assays without substrate. Negative controls were prepared by the addition of 10  $\mu$ l of FPLC buffer B to the same reactions including substrate and indicator. Positive controls were prepared by performing the same assay with 15  $\mu$ g MTL 2.8.2 total protein.

Following concentration of the FPLC fractions, similar assays were performed to ensure that enzymatic activity had been maintained.

#### **ICE Activity**

Aliquots of COS cell lysates containing 75  $\mu$ g of protein were diluted to 50  $\mu$ l with COS cell lysis buffer and thence made to a total volume of 0.5 ml with assay buffer (20 mM Hepes, pH 7.5; 10% glycerol; 2 mM DTT) containing 0.2 mM benzyloxycarbonyl-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-7-amino-4-trifluoromethyl coumarin (Enzyme Systems Products). At indicated intervals 2.5 ml assay buffer was added to each reaction and fluorescence was detected by a Perkin Elmer LS 50 Luminescence Spectrometer, with excitation at 400 nm and emission at 505 nm. Spontaneous substrate hydrolysis was detected by substituting COS cell lysis buffer for cell lysates.

# TREATMENT OF CELLS WITH ANTI-FAS ANTIBODY Treatment of Cells With Anti-Fas

L1210-Fas or YAC-1 cells were suspended in AIM-V serum-free media (Life Technologies) and treated with 1  $\mu$ g/ml hamster anti-mouse Fas IgG (PharMingen) on ice for 30 minutes. Cells were then pelleted and resuspended in AIM-V containing 20  $\mu$ g/ml goat anti-hamster IgG antibody, (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories) in order to cross-link ligated receptors. Incubation proceeded at 37°C for the time points indicated. Jurkat cells were incubated with 100 ng/ml mouse anti-human Fas IgM (Upstate Biotechnology Inc.) in AIM-V serum free medium.

#### **Generation of Cell Lysates**

Cells were pelleted and washed with PBS, and then lysed in NP-40 lysis buffer (10 mM Tris, pH 7.4; 10 mM NaCl; 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>; 0.5% (v/v) NP-40). Debris was pelleted by centrifugation at 10,000g, 4°C, for 10 minutes, the supernatant was transferred to a new tube and assayed for protein content using a BCA Protein Assay kit from Pierce using bovine serum albumin as a standard. All lysates were stored at -70°C prior to use.

# CLEAVAGE ASSAYS COS Cell Lysates and pro-mICE

500 µg of total COS cell protein (from cells transfected with pAX142-CCP1a or from mock-transfected cells) was combined with COS cell lysis buffer to a total volume of 110 µl. Control reactions contained 45 ng of human recombinant ICE (a generous gift of Nancy Thornberry, Merck Research Labs, Rahway, NJ) in a total volume of 110 µl. To each of these were added 30 µl of assay buffer containing 0.1 M Hepes, pH 7.0; 0.3 M NaCl; 1 mM EDTA and 10 µl of *in vitro* translated [<sup>35</sup>S]promICE. Samples were incubated at 37°C and at specific time points (0, 2, 4, 8, and 16h) a 30 µl aliquot was removed and analyzed by 12% SDS-PAGE and visualized by autoradiography.

## **FPLC Fractions and pro-CPP32**

5  $\mu$ l of concentrated FPLC fraction containing granzyme A (fraction 24) or granzyme B (fraction 20) or 5  $\mu$ l of MTL 2.8.2 lysate (~10  $\mu$ g total protein) was combined with 5  $\mu$ l of [<sup>35</sup>S]pro-CPP32 and incubated at 37°C for 4 hours. Samples were resolved by 12% SDS-PAGE and visualized by autoradiography.

#### COS Cell Lysates and pro-CPP32

COS cell lysate (50  $\mu$ g total protein) was made to a total volume of 15  $\mu$ l with COS cell lysis buffer to which was added 5  $\mu$ l of 5X BAADT assay buffer (0.5 M Hepes, pH 7.5; 1.5 M NaCl; 5 mM EDTA; 0.25% Triton X-100). This mixture was then combined with 5  $\mu$ l of *in vitro* translated [<sup>35</sup>S]pro-CPP32 at 37°C for 4 hours. Samples were resolved by 12% SDS-PAGE and visualized by autoradiography.

## COS Cell Lysates and PARP

COS cell lysate (50  $\mu$ g total protein) was combined with [<sup>35</sup>S]PARP (3  $\mu$ l) and 4  $\mu$ l 5X BAADT buffer at 37°C for 60 minutes. Samples were resolved by 14% SDS-PAGE and cleavage products were visualized by fluorography.

For the inhibitor study, COS cell lysates expressing enzymatically active recombinant granzyme B (50  $\mu$ g total protein) were preincubated at 37°C for 20 minutes with the following: aprotinin (Calbiochem; 2 $\mu$ g/ml), phosphoramidon (Calbiochem; 8.5  $\mu$ M), chymostatin (Calbiochem; 100  $\mu$ M), leupeptin (Boehringer Mannheim; 100  $\mu$ M), E-64 (Calbiochem; 10  $\mu$ M), iodoacetamide (Sigma; 5 mM), *N*-ethylmaleimide (Sigma; 5 mM), or Ac-DEVD-CHO (a generous gift of Dr. Don

Nicholson; 100 nM) prior to addition of 3  $\mu$ l of [<sup>35</sup>S]PARP and further incubation at 37°C for 60 minutes. Samples were analyzed as above.

# Anti-Fas-Treated Cell Lysates and pro-IL-1β

Lysates of cells treated with anti-Fas antibody (50  $\mu$ g total protein in a final volume of 27  $\mu$ l) were incubated with 3  $\mu$ l of *in vitro* translated [<sup>35</sup>S]pro-IL-1 $\beta$  in a total volume of 30  $\mu$ l at 37°C overnight. Samples were analyzed by 12% SDS-PAGE followed by autoradiography. In some cases, 45 ng of purified human recombinant ICE was added to the reaction to check for the presence of an ICE inhibitor.

## IN VIVO CLEAVAGE OF CPP32

## **COS Cell Lysates**

COS cent tysates expressing recombinant active granzyme B, inactive zymogen or the active site mutant were generated and 50  $\mu$ g total cell protein was then incubated at 37°C for 1 hour. Samples were then resolved by 12% SDS-PAGE followed by electroblotting (see below)

## CTL21.9 and Target Cells

CTL21.9 effector cells (stimulated with anti-CD3 for 24 hours) were combined with target cells (EL4 or YAC-1) at an effector-to-target ratio of 1:1. At time zero and following incubation at 37°C for 4 hours, CTLs were ...moved from the target cells using Dynabeads (Dynal) as follows: all cells were pelleted and resuspended at 2x107 cells/ml in coating medium (Hanks buffered saline solution plus 10% (v/v) fetal calf serum, 20 mM Hepes) to which rat anti-mouse CD8a (Serotec) was then added (1:200 dilution). Cells were incubated for 30 minutes at 4°C with mixing. After washing the cells twice with coating medium and resuspending at 2x107 cells/ml, Dynabeads were then added to the suspension (4 beads per CTL21.9 cell). Incubation proceeded at 4°C for 1 hour with mixing. CTL21.9 cells were then removed by magnetic separation. Target cells were pelleted, washed with PBS, and then lysed in Nicholson lysis buffer (10 mM Hepes/KOH, pH 7.4; 2 mM EDTA; 0.1% (v/v) CHAPS; 5 mM DTT) at 10<sup>8</sup> cells/ml. Cellular debris was pelleted by centrifugation at 10,000g for 10 minutes at 4°C and then the supernatant was stored at -70°C prior to further use. Protein concentration was determined using a Biorad Protein Assay kit (based on the Bradford dye-binding procedure) using bovine serum albumin as a standard. Target cell lysate (50 µg total protein) was then separated by 12% SDS-PAGE followed by electroblotting (see below).

#### **GB KO/WT Cells and Target Cells**

GB KO and GB WT effector cells (stimulated with anti-CD3 for 24 hours) were combined with EL4 or YAC-1 target cells ( $10^6$  targets per sample) at an effector-to-target ratio of 1:1 and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 0, 4 or 24 hours. All cells were then pelleted, washed with PBS, and lysed in 40 µl Nicholson lysis buffer. Cellular debris was removed by centrifugation and then the supernatant was stored at -70°C until further use. The entire sample was subsequently separated by 12% SDS-PAGE followed by electroblotting (see below).

#### **PMM-1 and Target Cells**

PMM-1 effectors (stimulated with PMA and ionomycin for 3 hours) were combined with EL4 or YAC-1 cells ( $10^6$  targets per sample) at an effector-to-target ratio of 5:1 and incubated at 37°C for 4 hours. All cells were then pelleted, washed with PBS, and then lysed in 40 µl Nicholson cell lysis buffer. Cellular debris was removed by centrifugation, and then the supernatant was stored at -70°C. The entire sample was subsequently separated by 12% SDS-PAGE followed by electroblotting (see below).

### Western Blotting

Electroblotting to PVDF was performed using a semi-dry transfer system from Tyler Research Instruments. Blots were blocked for 1 hour at room temperature in 5% skim milk in tris-buffered saline (TBS). Primary antibody (rabbit anti-CPP32, 1:2000 dilution, generously provided by Dr. Don Nicholson) was added in 5% skim milk and allowed to bind at 4°C overnight. The blots were then washed three times for 15 minutes each in TBS at room temperature. The secondary antibody (donkey anti-rabbit, 1:5000 dilution, from Amersham) was then added in 5% skim milk for 1 hour at room temperature. Blots were again washed as above and then developed using the ECL detection kit from Amersham.

# CHROMIUM RELEASE (CYTOLYSIS) ASSAYS

Target cells were labeled with  ${}^{51}$ Cr (Dupont-NEN, 100  $\mu$ Ci/10<sup>6</sup> cells) for 60 to 90 minutes at 37°C. Cells were then pelleted and the supernatant removed. Labeled cells were resuspended in 10 ml cell culture media, followed by incubation at 37°C for an additional 30 minutes. Cells were then washed twice with PBS and resuspended in culture media at 10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml.

100  $\mu$ l of labeled target cells were combined with 100  $\mu$ l of activated effector cells (at the appropriate concentration) in a 96-well V-bottom plate. Some assays contained concanavalin A (ConA) at a final concentration of 2  $\mu$ g/ml, peptide inhibitors (diluted from stock solutions of 20 mM in DMSO) at the final concentrations indicated, or EGTA and MgCl<sub>2</sub> at final concentrations of 2 mM and 4 mM respectively. Spontaneous release was determined by incubating targets in the absence of effectors. Incubation proceeded at 37°C for the time shown. Total counts were obtained by counting 50  $\mu$ l of the cell suspension. All samples were set up in triplicate.

Following incubation, cells were pelleted by centrifugation and 100  $\mu$ l of supernatant was transferred to borosilicate glass tubes for counting. Samples were counted in a LKB Wallac 1270 Rackgamma II gamma counter.

CTL cytolytic activity was calculated using the following formula:

% lysis = 100 x (sample-spontaneous release)/(total-spontaneous release).

# TRITIUM RELEASE (DNA FRAGMENTATION) ASSAYS

Target cells were labeled with [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine (Dupont-NEN) for 24 hours prior to the assay. On the day of the assay, cells were pelleted and resuspended in cell culture media for 60 minutes at 37°C to allow clearance of unincorporated tritium. Following this incubation, cells were washed twice with PBS and then resuspended in cell culture medium at 10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml.

100  $\mu$ l of labeled target cells were combined with 100  $\mu$ l of activated effector cells (at an appropriate concentration) in microcentrifuge tubes. Total and spontaneous counts were obtained by incubating labeled targets in the absence of effectors. Incubation proceeded at 37°C for the time shown. Some assays contained ConA at a final concentration of 2  $\mu$ g/ml or peptide inhibitors (diluted from stock solutions of 20 mM in DMSO) at the final concentrations indicated. All samples were set up in triplicate.

Following the incubation period, total counts were obtained by addition of 200  $\mu$ l of 2% SDS in 0.2 M NaOH to the cells followed by vortexing for 30 seconds. The entire 400  $\mu$ l was transferred to scintillation vials for counting, but only half the total number of counts was used in the calculations.

The remaining samples were harvested by addition of 200  $\mu$ l of 1% Triton X-100 in TE followed by vortexing for 30 seconds. Nuclei were pelleted by centrifugation at 10,000g for 10 minutes at 4°C, then 200  $\mu$ l of supernatant was transferred to scintillation vials for counting. The scintillant ACS (5 ml, Amersham) was added to each vial and samples were counted in a Beckman LS 7800 scintillation counter. CTL activity was calculated using the following formula:

% lysis = 100 x (sample-spontaneous release)/(total/2-spontaneous release).

# **INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITY BY PEPTIDE INHIBITORS**

Purified human CPP32 was a generous gift of Dr. Don Nicholson of Merck Frosst, Montréal, and was provided at a concentration of 6 units/ $\mu$ l. This stock solution was diluted 1:50 in ICE II buffer (50 mM PIPES/KOH, pH 6.5; 2 mM EDTA; 0.1% (w/v) CHAPS; 5 mM DTT) for the inhibitor study. The diluted CPP32 (1  $\mu$ l) was combined with 1  $\mu$ l of inhibitor stock (diluted in DMSO) in a final volume of 20  $\mu$ l and incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes to allow binding of the inhibitor to CPP32. Following the preincubation, 5  $\mu$ l of *in vitro* translated, FPLC-purified [<sup>35</sup>S]PARP was added to each reaction and incubation proceeded at 37°C for an additional 60 minutes. Reactions were separated by 12% SDS-PAGE and cleavage was assessed by autoradiography. CHAPTER III - ICE IS NOT A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE

## CHAPTER III - ICE IS NOT A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE

### INTRODUCTION

Cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) destroy target cells bearing foreign antigens by one of two mechanisms: Mechanism one involves membrane permeabilization and the induction of apoptotic cell death through the exocytosis of cytolytic granules within the CTL towards the target cell. Mechanism two requires the ligation of a cell surface receptor (Fas/APO-1/CD95) on the target cell by Fas ligand (FasL) on the CTL. Fas then transduces a death signal which results in apoptotic cell death of the target (reviewed by Berke, 1995; Atkinson and Bleackley, 1995; Smyth, 1995). This CTL-mediated cytotoxicity is important for the destruction of viral-infected and tumourigenic cells, and is responsible for organ transplant rejection and autoimmune disease (reviewed by Berke, 1995). Additionally, the Fas-FasL system may be responsible for the down-regulation of immune responses, as well as the maintenance of immune privilege. The currently accepted model for granule-mediated cytotoxicity (Henkart, 1985) postulates that there are three main steps involved in target cell lysis: recognition by CTL of a target cell; delivery of a "lethal hit" to the target cell by exocytosis of CTL granule contents; and detachment of the CTL from the target allowing the CTL to seek and destroy new targets. The CTL cytoplasmic granules have been found to contain a family of seven serine proteases (granzymes A to G) as well as the pore-forming protein perforin. Perforin may facilitate the entry of the proteases into the target cell (reviewed by Liu et al., 1995) where they trigger apoptosis by a poorly understood mechanism.

Murine granzyme B (Cytotoxic Cell Proteinase-1/CCP1) represents a prototype of six of these serine proteases (granzymes B to G). Originally identified as a CTL-specific gene (Lobe *et al.*, 1986a, 1986b) whose expression correlated with the induction of cytotoxicity (Lobe *et al.*, 1986b), it was subsequently localized to the cytoplasmic granules of CTLs (Redmond *et al.*, 1987; Ojcius *et al.*, 1991). Quantitative PCR of granzymes B to G was used to analyze granzyme expression in response to various modes of T cell activation. The results revealed that only granzyme B expression correlates with the development of cytotoxicity in T cells in response to stimulation by mitogen, allogeneic cells or anti-CD3 (Prendergast *et al.*, 1992), suggesting that it may be a direct effector in the lytic process. Recent evidence

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A version of this chapter has been published: Darmon, A.J., Ehrman, N., Caputo, A., Fujinaga, J., and Bleackley, R.C. (1994) J. Biol. Chem. 269, 32042-32046

suggests a role for granzyme B in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation, a hallmark of apoptosis. Shi et al. (1992a, 1992b) have shown that a serine protease (fragmentin-2) purified from rat natural killer (NK) cell granules, and having homology to granzyme B, is able to rapidly induce DNA fragmentation and apoptosis in YAC-1 target cells in the presence of perforin. In complementary studies, Nakajima et al. (1995a) expressed both granzyme B and perforin in a noncytotoxic rat mast cell line which can be triggered to degranulate by the IgE-specific Fc receptor. Their results show that cells expressing both granzyme B and perforin have enhanced cytolytic and nucleolytic activity compared to cells expressing perforin alone, again suggesting a role for granzyme B in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation. Finally, using CTL, NK and lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) cells isolated from mice homozygous for a null mutation in the granzyme B gene, other workers have shown that granzyme B plays a critical role in the early induction of target cell DNA fragmentation and apoptosis in allogeneic target cells (Heusel et al., 1994; Shresta et al., 1995). In addition, in NK cells, but not in CTL or LAK cells, granzyme B may play a critical role in inducing membrane damage (Shresta et al., 1995).

Using comparative molecular modeling of granzyme B, Murphy *et al.* (1988) predicted a requirement for aspartic or glutamic acid residues at P<sub>1</sub> based on the presence of an arginine side chain which partially fills the specificity pocket of granzyme B. Use of thioester substrates containing various amino acids at P<sub>1</sub> showed that granzyme B has Asp-ase activity (Odake *et al.*, 1991). Final confirmation of this specificity was obtained through mutagenesis analysis (Caputo *et al.*, 1994). The specificity of granzyme B is unique among eukaryotic serine proteases and there is only one other known eukaryotic protease with this substrate specificity, Interleukin-1 $\beta$  Converting Enzyme (ICE) (Howard *et al.*, 1991; Sleath *et al.*, 1990). At the time of these studies, no intracellular substrates for granzyme B had been identified but it was assumed that granzyme B cleaves a protein within the target cell which leads to DNA fragmentation.

ICE was identified as a cysteine protease responsible for proteolytically processing the 33-kDa pro-IL-1 $\beta$  to produce the 17.5-kDa biologically active IL-1 $\beta$  (Cerretti *et al.*, 1992; Thornberry *et al.*, 1992) by cleaving the precursor at two distinct sites: FEAD-G<sup>28</sup> and YVHD-A<sup>117</sup> in the human pro-cytokine (Figure III-1A). Active ICE consists of a p10/p20 heterodimer and is generated by proteolytic processing of a p45 precursor (pro-ICE; [Thornberry *et al.*, 1992]). The structure of pro-ICE is shown in Figure III-1B. Activation of ICE requires proteolysis at four different sites, each involving cleavage after Asp residues. Two of the cleavages

release an amino terminal pro-domain, while the remaining sites bracket an intervening sequence between the two subunits of the active enzyme. Since the cleavages required during ICE activation coincide with ICE substrate specificity this led to the proposal that ICE may be autocatalytic. Subsequent studies have shown that ICE is autocatalytic both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, confirming this hypothesis (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Wang *et al.*, 1994a; Howard *et al.*, 1995). Interestingly, the cleavages which occur during ICE activation are at Asp-X bonds, which coincides with the substrate specificity of granzyme B.

A role for ICE in programmed cell death was suggested by the results of Miura *et al.* (1993). They showed that overexpression of murine ICE (mICE) in rodent fibroblasts caused the cells to undergo apoptosis, a result dependent upon the cysteine protease activity of mICE. One model by which ICE could mediate apoptosis is by cleavage of a protein required for cell viability, leading to cellular disintegration. The possible existence of ICE substrates other than pro-IL-1 $\beta$  is supported by the fact that mICE mRNA is found in tissues that have not been shown to express IL-1 $\beta$  (Cerretti *et al.*, 1992; Nett *et al.*, 1992).

These results led to the proposal of a model for CTL-mediated cytotoxicity in which granzyme B activates ICE in the target cell by proteolytically processing the precursor molecule. The active ICE heterodimer then goes on to induce apoptosis in the target cell by the same mechanism used during development (Vaux *et al.*, 1994). This intriguing hypothesis is very appealing as it unites the mechanisms of apoptosis involved in cell-mediated cytotoxicity with that observed during programmed cell death. Alternatively, granzyme B may cleave the same cellular protein(s) as ICE, and induce apoptotic cell death in an ICE-independent manner.

The key question then is whether the ICE precursor is a substrate for granzyme B. This lab was in a unique position to address this as we have developed a heterologous expression system that allows expression of enzymatically active murine granzyme B from a modified granzyme B cDNA in the absence of other granzymes (Caputo *et al.*, 1993). This chapter reports that the ICE precursor is not a substrate for granzyme B, and proposes an alternate mechanism of CTL-mediated killing.



# FIGURE III-1: The structure of pro-Interleukin-1 $\beta$ and pro-ICE.

A. Structure of human and murine pro-Interleukin-1 $\beta$ . Sequence of cleavage sites during proteolytic activation are shown above (human) and below (murine) the schematic. The scissile bond is indicated by a hyphen.

**B. Structure of human and murine pro-ICE**. Sequence at cleavage sites during proteolytic activation are shown above (human) or below (murine) the schematic. Note that murine pro-ICE lacks an Asp at a position equivalent to Asp<sup>119</sup> in the human homologue, the presumed amino terminus of the active enzyme is shown by the dotted line at murine Asp<sup>122</sup>. The conserved pentapeptide QACRG containing the catalytic cysteine (\*) is highlighted. Scissile bonds are indicated by hyphens.

References: Howard et al., 1992; Thornberry et al., 1992; Cerretti et al., 1992; Nett et al., 1992; Molineaux et al., 1993

# **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION** Isolation of pro-mICE cDNA

In order to determine if precursor murine Interleukin-1β Converting Enzyme (pro-mICE) is a substrate of granzyme B, the cDNA encoding pro-mICE was first isolated from MTL 2.8.2 RNA (a cytotoxic T cell line) and subcloned using a reverse transcriptase-PCR protocol (see Chapter II). The resulting cDNA was subcloned into a vector such that its transcription was under the control of the T7 RNA Polymerase promoter. This construct was sequenced to ensure there were no mutations introduced during the PCR reactions. The construct was used as a template for *in vitro* transcription using T7 RNA polymerase and the resulting RNA was *in vitro* translated in the presence of [<sup>35</sup>S]Met and [<sup>35</sup>S]Cys using rabbit reticulocyte lysates. Upon examination by SDS-PAGE, the primary translation product was ~45-kDa (p45, Figure III-2), representing the mICE precursor. Multiple secondary bands appeared at ~30-kDa, probably due to premature translation termination. The *in vitro* translation reaction was shown to be RNA-dependent since no bands were present on the gel when RNA was not included in the reaction (Figure III-2).

#### **Granzyme B Does Not Cleave Pro-mICE**

To determine whether granzyme B could activate mICE by processing the precursor, the radioactively-labeled pro-mICE was incubated with lysates from COS cells expressing granzyme B or with lysates from mock-transfected COS cells. This system has the advantage of facilitating the study of granzyme B in the absence of other granzymes, which may contaminate other granzyme B preparations made from CTLs. As a control, the pro-mICE translation product was incubated with human recombinant ICE. Each incubation was carried out at 37°C and aliquots were removed at various time points and boiled with SDS-PAGE sample buffer to inactivate the proteases in the aliquot. Samples were then analyzed by SDS-PAGE. The results clearly show that pro-mICE was not cleaved by granzyme B, but was cleaved to a certain extent by human recombinant ICE (Figure III-3).

The primary translation product of pro-mICE mRNA, p45, was apparently not autocatalytic since it was not able to process itself. When pro-mICE was incubated with human recombinant ICE a new band appeared at ~34-kDa (p34) after 2 hours (Figure III-3A) representing an intermediate produced by cleavage of the proenzyme. This is consistent with the results of Thornberry *et al.* (1992) who showed limited cleavage of the ICE precursor by active ICE. Importantly, this cleavage served as confirmation that our *in vitro* translated product was the mICE precursor. As with

their experiments, we did not see complete processing of the precursor to produce active heterodimer. This suggests that autocatalysis is unlikely to be a mechanism of activation for ICE. However, perhaps active ICE, once generated in a cell by an unknown mechanism, is able to activate inactive precursors. The crystal structure of ICE indicates that ICE acts as a tetramer consisting of two heterodimers. Furthermore, if an active heterodimer interacts with an inactive precursor, the cleavage sites in the precursor are juxtaposed with the catalytic site, suggesting that this mechanism of activation is entirely plausible (Walker *et al.*, 1994; Wilson *et al.*, 1995). In the system used here, perhaps the pro-mICE does not attain the correct conformation to allow this mechanism of activation to occur. This would explain the limited cleavage seen when pro-mICE is incubated with active ICE.

In contrast to the limited cleavage seen when pro-mICE was incubated with active ICE, when lysates of COS cells expressing granzyme B were used in the cleavage assay, no cleavage product was seen. Even after a 16 hour incubation, granzyme B did not cleave pro-mICE (Figure JII-3B). It was estimated that the amount of granzyme B used in the attempted cleavage of pro-mICE was equivalent to that contained in 500,000 cytotoxic cells. The finding that granzyme B cannot cleave pro-mICE is not that surprising in light of molecular modeling done with granzyme B (Murphy *et al.*, 1988). In these studies it was proposed that granzyme B had substrate specificity requiring an Asp at P<sub>1</sub> and a second acidic residue at P<sub>3</sub>. Only one of the ICE cleavage sites meets this requirement (FEDD-G<sup>315</sup> in the murine homologue) and cleavage at only this site would not produce active enzyme, since the intervening sequence between the subunits would not be removed.

#### Granzyme B is Active in the Presence of Pro-mICE

These results suggest that pro-mICE is not a substrate for granzyme B. It is, however, possible that the presence of pro-mICE inhibited granzyme B in the cleavage assay or, alternatively, that there was a granzyme B inhibitor present in the reticulocyte lysate. To ensure that granzyme B was active in the presence of pro-mICE, an assay of Asp-ase activity was performed using the chromogenic substrate *tert*-butyloxycarbonyl-Ala-Ala-Asp-thiobenzyl ester (BAADT), as previously described (Caputo *et al.*, 1993). This assay was performed with the same lysates that were used in the cleavage assay, and the ratio of pro-mICE to granzyme B in these assays was the same as that used in the attempted cleavage of pro-mICE. As a positive control, lysates from the cytotoxic T cell line MTL 2.8.2, which expresses high levels of granzyme B, were used. The results, shown in Figure III-4, clearly

indicate that granzyme B was active in the presence of pro-mICE. Nonspecific colour development was found to be consistent between all samples, indicating that the reticulocyte lysate did not interfere with the assay (data not shown). When BAADT was included in the reactions, specific hydrolysis was observed in the presence of granzyme B (columns 4 and 6) but no specific hydrolysis was mediated by lysates from mock-transfected COS cells (columns 3 and 5). Importantly, the addition of reticulocyte lysate containing pro-mICE to the reaction containing granzyme B-expressing COS lysates had no effect on granzyme B activity (column 6 compared to column 4). Together, these results show that granzyme B was active in the presence of pro-mICE, and that the failure of granzyme B to cleave pro-mICE was not due to inhibition of granzyme B in the cleavage assay.

### Granzyme B Can Cleave a Synthetic ICE Substrate

The results thus far support a model for granule-based cytotoxicity which does not involve activation of ICE by granzyme B. Therefore, it was desirable to test an alternative model for granule-mediated killing. That is, that granzyme B and ICE may share similar cellular substrates. The ability of lysates from COS cells expressing granzyme B to hydrolyze the synthetic ICE substrate benzyloxycarbonyl-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-7-amino-4-trifluoromethyl coumarin was assessed in a fluorogenic assay. The results, shown in Figure III-5, clearly show that COS lysates expressing granzyme B hydrolyzed this substrate more efficiently than lysates from mocktransfected cells. The efficiency of hydrolysis of this substrate by granzyme B in comparison to ICE could not be determined as the amount of granzyme B in the COS cell lysates was unknown. This result does, however, suggest that natural substrates of ICE may serve as substrates for granzyme B.

### FIGURE III-2: In vitro translation of pro-mICE.

Translation using rabbit reticulocyte lysates in the absence (lane 1) or presence (lane 2) of mRNA generated by *in vitro* transcription using murine ICE precursor cDNA as a template. Each reaction contained 40  $\mu$ Ci of [<sup>35</sup>S]Met and [<sup>35</sup>S]Cys. 2  $\mu$ l of the total of 50  $\mu$ l was analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by autoradiography. p45 - murine ICE precursor (pro-mICE)



# FIGURE III-3: Cleavage of pro-mICE by ICE or Granzyme B.

10  $\mu$ l of *in vitro* translated, radiolabeled mICE precursor was incubated at 37°C with 45 ng human recombinant ICE (A) or 500  $\mu$ g total COS cell protein from cells transfected with a granzyme B expression vector (B). At various time points, a 30  $\mu$ l aliquot was removed, boiled with SDS loading buffer then analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by autoradiography. Lanes: mICE - translation product alone; 1 time zero; 2 - 2 hour incubation; 3 - 4 hour incubation; 4 - 8 hour incubation; 5 - 16 hour incubation. p45 - murine ICE precursor; p34 - intermediate produced by partial cleavage of precursor.







FIGURE III-4: Granzyme B is active in the presence of pro-mICE.

Assay of Asp-ase activity of COS cell lysates in the presence or absence of *in vitro* translated mICE precursor. The ratio of pro-mICE to lysate was the same as for the cleavage assay shown in Figure III-3. Mean and standard deviation of triplicate samples is shown. Assays contained the following amounts of protein: COS, 50  $\mu$ g; MTL, 25  $\mu$ g. MTL lysate acts as a positive control since this cell line (MTL 2.8.2, a cytotoxic T cell line) expresses high levels of granzyme B. mock - mock ransfected COS cell lysate; grB - lysate of COS cells transfected with granzyme B expression vector.



# FIGURE III-5: Hydrolysis of ICE synthetic substrate by granzyme B.

Ability of COS cell lysates from cells expressing active murine granzyme B (diamonds) or from mock-transfected cells (squares) to hydrolyze the synthetic ICE substrate YVAD-AFC was determined. Mean and standard deviation of triplicate samples is shown.

The accepted model for granule-based CTL-mediated cytotoxicity proposes that CTLs recognize and bind target cells resulting in CTL activation and the release of granule contents into the intercellular space (Berke, 1995). Polymerization of perform in the target cell membrane allows entry of the granzymes into the cell where they cleave their intracellular substrates, leading to DNA fragmentation and apoptosis. ICE has been implicated as playing a role here based on the fact that overexpression of ICE in rodent fibroblasts leads to apoptosis (Miura et al., 1993). Vaux et al. (1994) recently proposed a model for CTL-mediated cytotoxicity which unites the two mechanisms of apoptosis involved in programmed cell death and CTLmediated cytotoxicity. In this hypothesis, granzyme B enters the target cell and activates ICE by processing the precursor molecule to produce the active heterodimer. ICE then goes on to induce apoptosis in the target cell by the same mechanism used during programmed cell death. However, data presented here suggests that granzyme B does not function in target cells by cleaving and activating pro-mICE. Rather, the data here suggest that granzyme B and ICE may share a cellular substrate(s) which, when proteolytically processed, induces apoptotic cell death. The identity of this substrate remains to be determined.

## Addendum

Subsequent to the publication of this work (Darmon *et al.*, 1994), an intracellular substrate for granzyme B was identified (Chapter IV; Darmon *et al.*, 1995). This substrate is the precursor of a protease related to, but distinct from, ICE. This protease (CPP32) is indeed a putative substrate for ICE (Tewari *et al.*, 1995a), confirming the hypothesis, presented here, that granzyme B replaces the function of ICE *in vivo* by cleaving cellular substrates of ICE (and ICE-like proteases). Further studies, presented later in this thesis (Chapter V), confirmed that ICE (and ICE-related) proteases play no role in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation during granule-based CTL-mediated cytotoxicity, and that granzyme B functions primarily be cleaving and activating the precursors of CPP32 and CPP32-related proteases. Thus, in retrospect, this lack of cleavage of pro-mICE is not surprising, in light of the current model for granule-mediated killing. This point will be returned to later.

# CHAPTER IV - CPP32 IS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE

#### CHAPTER IV - CPP32 AS A GRANZYME B SUBSTRATE<sup>2</sup>

## **ENTRODUCTION**

Cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL)-mediated cytotoxicity represents the body's major defense against virus-infected and tumourigenic cells, and contributes to transplant rejection and autoimmune disease. Two mechanisms of killing are available to the CTL: granule- and Fas-mediated. During granule-mediated killing, CTL granules are exocytosed, releasing their contents into the intercellular space between the target cell and the effector. Perforin facilitates the entry of cytotoxic cell serine proteases, the granzymes, into the target cell, where they induce apoptotic death by an enigmatic pathway (reviewed by Berke, 1995; Atkinson and Bleackley, 1995; Smyth, 1995). Granzyme B plays a critical role in the induction of DNA fragmentation and apoptosis in target cells (Shi *et al.*, 1992a, 1992b; Su *et al.*, 1994; Heusel *et al.*, 1995; Shresta *et al.*, 1995) yet its substrate is unknown. Identification of the intracellular substrate for granzyme B is therefore the key to understanding the mechanism of granule-based CTL-mediated killing. This chapter outlines the identification of such an intracellular substrate, an ICE/Ced-3 protease precursor.

Recent work on apoptosis has focused on the involvement of members of the ICE/Ced-3 family of cysteine proteases (reviewed by Henkart, 1996; Martin and Green, 1995). Each of the ICE/Ced-3 proteases is synthesized as an inactive precursor requiring cleavage at specific Asp residues to produce two subunits of ~20-kDa and  $\sim$ 10-kDa, which together form the active protease. Since the cleavages that occur during ICE/Ced-3 protease activation are at Asp-X bonds, they are excellent potential substrates for granzyme B (Vaux et al., 1994), which has substrate specificity requiring an Asp at  $P_1$  (Murphy et al., 1988; Odake et al., 1991; Caputo et al., 1994). Although it has previously been shown that ICE itself is not a granzyme B substrate (Chapter III; Darmon et al., 1994), evidence has suggested that other ICE/Ccd-3 proteases may be more critical for the induction of apoptosis than ICE itself. In particular, studies of mice deficient in ICE have revealed that ICE does not play a unique role in apoptosis induced by dexamethasone or UV-radiation (Li et al., 1995; Kuida et al., 1995) but may play a role in Fas-induced apoptosis (Kuida et al., 1995). These results suggest that other ICE/Ced-3 proteases may play more critical roles in the induction of apoptotic cell death than ICE itself. While most of the proteases in this family have no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>A version of this chapter has been published: Darmon, A.J., Nicholson, D.W., and Bleackley, R.C. (1995) *Nature* **377**, 446-448

known substrates and have been identified by sequence homology, one ICE/Ced-3 protease with known substrates is CPP32/Apopain/Yama. This protease was originally identified by searching sequence databases (Fernandes-Alnemri *et al.*, 1994) but was subsequently isolated as the protease responsible for cleavage of the nuclear protein poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) during the induction of apoptosis (Nicholson *et al.*, 1995). Simultaneously, Tewari *et al.* (1995a) identified CPP32 as a PARP-cleaving activity using an *in vitro* system.

PARP is a 113-kDa nuclear protein which transfers the ADP-ribose moiety from nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) in a DNA-dependent manner to a selected number of protein acceptors involved in chromatin architecture and DNA metabolism (heteromodification) as well as to itself (automodification) (reviewed by de Murcia and Ménissier de Murcia, 1994; Lindahl *et al.*, 1995). In this capacity, PARP is involved in the maintenance of genome integrity and chromatin structure (Ding *et al.*, 1992; Smulson *et al.*, 1994; Ding and Smulson, 1994) as well as in DNA repair (Satoh and Lindahl, 1992).

The structure of PARP is shown in Figure IV-1A. This protein is multifunctional and has been divided into three domains based on partial proteolysis (Kameshita *et al.*, 1984): a 46-kDa amino terminal DNA binding domain which contains two independently folded zinc-finger-like motifs of sequence  $CX_2CX_{28/30}HX_2C$  (Ménissier de Murcia *et al.*, 1989; Gradwohl *et al.*, 1990) and a bipartite nuclear localization sequence (Schreiber *et al.*, 1992); a 22-kDa central automodification domain containing the glutamic acid residues which act as acceptors for poly(ADP-ribose); and a 54-kDa carboxy terminal NAD-binding domain which contains the sequences required for PARP catalytic activity (amino acids 859-908).

Cleavage of PARP during apoptosis is believed to lead to inhibition of DNA repair processes as well as the release of negative regulation of the Ca<sup>++</sup>/Mg<sup>++-</sup> dependent endonuclease involved in DNA fragmentation, a hallmark of apoptosis (Tanaka *et al.*, 1984). Additionally, it may contribute to cell death via depletion of NAD and ATP in the cell, which occurs during apoptosis (Kaufmann *et al.*, 1993). Recent evidence has shown that PARP is not essential as PARP knockout mice develop normally but are more susceptible to environmental stress (Wang *et al.*, 1995b). Thus, while PARP cleavage may act as a marker for CPP32 activity, it seems likely that CPP32 induces apoptosis by cleaving several proteins. Indeed, subsequent studies have revealed that CPP32 cleaves a number of nuclear proteins, including the 70-kDa protein component of the U1 small nuclear ribonucleoprotein particle (Casciola-Rosen *et al.*, 1996), the catalytic subunit of DNA-dependent protein kinase

(Casciola-Rosen *et al.*, 1996; Song *et al.*, 1996), and sterol regulatory element binding proteins (Wang *et al.*, 1995a; 1996). It is now thought that CPP32 plays a role in the induction of the nuclear events of apoptosis by cleaving a number of nuclear proteins.

The structure of CPP32 is shown in Figure IV-1B. Like ICE, CPP32 is synthesized as an inactive precursor, although pro-CPP32 is only 32-kDa in size, compared to 45-kDa for pro-ICE. The majority of the size difference is in the amino terminal pro-domain - the pro-domain of ICE is ~11-kDa while for CPP32 the pro-domain is only 3-kDa. Additionally, while the p10 and p20 subunits are separated by an intervening sequence of ~3-kDa in pro-ICE, there is no sequence between p17 and p12 (the subunits of the active form) in pro-CPP32. Although the cleavages occurring during CPP32 activation are at Asp residues, the surrounding sequences are not conserved between CPP32 and ICE, suggesting that granzyme B could activate CPP32 and not recognize ICE.

Although ICE and CPP32 are members of the same family there are several differences between these two proteases. Firstly, CPP32 is more closely related to Ced-3 than ICE, which suggests that CPP32 may be the mammalian Ced-3 homologue. In addition, these proteases have different substrate specificity - while CPP32 is able to cleave PARP, it cannot cleave pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and the reverse is true for ICE. This difference in substrate specificity is illustrated by the inhibitors which specifically target these proteins: CPP32 is inhibited by the peptide aldehyde Ac-DEVD-CHO ( $K_{i,CPP32} < 1 \text{ nM}$ ; [Nicholson *et al.*, 1995]) but not by Ac-YVAD-CHO ( $K_{i,CPP32} = 12 \text{ }\mu\text{M}$  [Nicholson *et al.*, 1995]). The reverse is true for ICE - inhibition by Ac-YVAD-CHO ( $K_{i,ICE} = 0.76 \text{ nM}$ , [Thornberry *et al.*, 1992]) but not by Ac-DEVD-CHO ( $K_{i,ICE} = 10 \text{ }\mu\text{M}$  [Nicholson *et al.*, 1995]).

The discovery of CPP32 as a protease primarily involved in the proteolysis of a nuclear enzyme was intriguing since granzyme B has also been implicated in the induction of nuclear events during granule-based CTL-mediated cytotoxicity. Shi *et al.* (1992a, 1992b) have previously shown that fragmentin-2 (a serine protease purified from rat natural killer cells and having homology to granzyme B) is able to induce rapid DNA fragmentation in YAC-1 cells in the presence of perforin. Additionally, granzyme B is necessary for the early induction of DNA fragmentation and apoptosis in allogeneic target cells lysed by CTL (Heusel *et al.*, 1994), natural killer or lymphokine-activated killer cells (Shresta *et al.*, 1994) from mice homozygous for a null mutation in the granzyme B gene. It was therefore possible that the link between granzyme B and target cell DNA fragmentation could be mediated by CPP32. The experiments outlined

in this chapter were designed to determine whether pro-CPP32 can act as a granzyme B substrate.



Figure IV-1: The Structure of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) and pro-CPP32.

A. The structure of PARP showing location of dominant features. Numbers along the bottom represent amino acid numbers and delineate the domains. DEVD represents the cleavage site of PARP during apoptosis. The scissile bond is designated by a hyphen.

**B.** The structure of pro-CPP32. Cleavage sites during activation are shown above the schematic. The scissile bond is indicated by the hyphen. The location of the conserved pentapeptide containing the catalytic cysteine (\*) is highlighted.

References: Lazebnik et al., 1994; Nicholson et al., 1995

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

### FPLC Separation of Granzymes and Cleavage of pro-CPP32

In order to determine whether pro-CPP32 could act as a granzyme B substrate, granzymes A and B were first separated from each other. Beginning with lysate from the cytotoxic T cell line MTL 2.8.2, which expresses high levels of granzyme B, FPLC using a Mono-S column was carried out as outlined in Chapter II. Fractions showing the most protein content, as determined by a UV scan during chromatography, were further analyzed for enzymatic activity due to granzyme A (BLT esterase), granzyme B (Asp-ase), or other proteases related to chymotrypsin (Chym-ase). The results of these enzymatic assays are shown in Figure IV-2A. Granzyme B appears to elute as a doublet during FPLC. One possible explanation for this is alternate glycosylation. Granzyme B contains two. N-linked glycosylation sites, and either one or both can be linked to complex carbohydrates (Griffiths and Isaaz, 1993). The relevant fractions showed little, if any, contamination by each other or any other granzymes. The fractions containing predominantly granzyme B activity (fraction 20) and granzyme A activity (fraction 24) were concentrated as outlined in Chapter II and then checked for enzymatic activity. These fractions were then tested for their ability to cleave in vitro translated, radiolabeled pro-CPP32. Results of this study are shown in Figure 1V-2B. It was found that granzyme B was able to cleave pro-CPP32 to a band of correct size to represent active protein, while granzyme A could not. The size of the band generated by granzyme B, ~20-kDa, corresponds to cleavage between the p17 and p12 subunits of pro-CPP32 at a site with sequence IETD-S. This site conforms with the proposed substrate specificity of granzyme B based on molecular modeling requiring Asp at  $P_1$ and a second acidic residue at P<sub>3</sub> (Murphy et al., 1988). Interestingly, the analogous site in pro-ICE also conforms to the substrate specificity for granzyme B, although it has previously been shown that granzyme B does not cleave pro-ICE (Chapter III; Darmon et al., 1994), suggesting that conformational aspects of the substrate likely play an important role in determining accessibility to proteases.

Although a band does become visible following treatment of pro-CPP32 by granzyme A, this is thought to be due to cleavage at an inappropriate site since it is not the correct size to produce active enzyme. Incubation of pro-CPP32 with whole MTL lysate resulted in disappearance of full length CPP32 precursor and a band at ~20 kDa. In other experiments this band was not always present (data not shown) due to extensive degradation in the presence of multiple granzymes. In contrast, incubation with granzyme B always gave the 20-kDa cleavage product.
### Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by COS Cell Lysates

In order to establish that cleavage of pro-CPP32 was dependent on granzyme B proteolytic activity the heterologous expression system that was developed in the lab (Caputo *et al.*, 1993), which allows analysis of granzyme B in the absence of other granzymes, was used. This is the same system previously used to study ICE activation by granzyme B (Chapter III, Darmon *et al.* 1994). Enzymatically active murine granzyme B, as well as the inactive zymogen and an active site Ser-Ala mutant (S183A [Caputo *et al.*, 1994]), were expressed in COS cells and the ability of lysates of these cells to cleave *in vitro* translated, radiolabeled pro-CPP32 was assessed. It was found that COS cell lysates expressing enzymatically active granzyme B were able to cleave pro-CPP32 while those that produced inactive zymogen or the active site mutant S183A were not (Figure IV-3). The band seen in the lysates mediating cleavage was the same size as that generated when pro-CPP32 was incubated with granzyme B isolated from MTL (Figure IV-2B).

### PARP-Cleaving Activity of COS Cells Expressing Granzyme B

Similar COS cell lysates were used to show that the cleavage mediated by granzyme B produced active, PARP-cleaving, endogenous CPP32. Incubation of in vitro translated [35S]PARP with COS cell lysates expressing active granzyme B resulted in PARP cleavage to produce the 89-kDa and 24-kDa fragments found in apoptotic cells (Lazebnik et al., 1994) (Figure IV-4A ), suggesting that CPP32 is indeed active in these cells. In contrast, lysates containing the inactive zymogen form of granzyme B, or the active site Ser-Ala mutant (S183A) did not result in cleavage of PARP. An inhibitor study, shown in Figure IV-4B, revealed that the PARP-cleaving activity was sensitive to the cysteine protease inhibitors iodoacetamide and Nethylmaleimide, but not to E-64 (another cysteine protease inhibitor), and not to any serine protease inhibitors, an inhibitor profile characteristic of the ICE/Ced-3 family of proteases (Nicholson et al., 1995). Significantly, the PARP-cleaving activity was not sensitive to aprotinin, phosphoramidon or chymostatin, all inhibitors which have previously been shown to inhibit granzyme B (Poc et al., 1991). The activity of these lysates was shown to be related to CPP32 since a potent, specific inhibitor of CPP32, Ac-DEVD-CHO ( $K_{i,CPP32} < 1$  nM [Nicholson et al., 1995]), was able to inhibit the PARP-cleaving activity of these COS cell lysates (Figure IV-4B).

# FIGURE IV-2: Enzymatic Activity and Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by FPLC Fractions from MTL 2.8.2 Cell Lysate

**A. Enzymatic activity of FPLC fractions from MTL 2.8.2 cell lysate.** Results of separation of granzymes from MTL 2.8.2 cell lysate by FPLC. MTL - MTL 2.8.2 lysate before purification; FT - flow through fraction from purification. diamonds - BLT esterase assay of granzyme A activity; circles - Asp-ase assay of granzyme B activity, squares - assay of chymotrypsin-like activity.

### B. Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by FPLC-separated Granzyme B.

[<sup>35</sup>S]pro-CPP32 was incubated with whole MTL 2.8.2 lysate (MTL), FPLC fraction 20 (granzyme B) or FPLC fraction 24 (granzyme A) for 4 hours at 37°C and then separated by SDS-PAGE. [<sup>35</sup>S]pro-CPP32 alone was used as a negative control.



**FIGURE IV-3:** Cleavage of pro-CPP32 by granzyme B-expressing COS lysates. [<sup>35</sup>S]pro-CPP32 was combined with cytosolic lysates from COS cells expressing active granzyme B, the inactive zymogen of granzyme B or an active site Ser-Ala mutant of granzyme B (S183A) for 4 hours at 37°C followed by separation by SDS-PAGE. Visualization was by autoradiography. [<sup>35</sup>S]pro-CPP32 alone was used as a negative control.



FIGURE IV-4: PARP cleaving activity of granzyme B-expressing COS cell lysates.

A - Cleavage of PARP by lysates expressing active recombinant murine granzyme B. [<sup>35</sup>S]PARP was combined with cytosolic lysates from COS cells expressing active granzyme B, the inactive zymogen of granzyme B or an active site Ser-Ala mutant of granzyme B (S183A) for 4 hours at 37°C followed by SDS-PAGE separation and detection by fluorography. [<sup>35</sup>S]PARP alone was used as a negative control.

**B** - Inhibition of PARP-cleaving activity of COS cell lysates. Cytosolic lysates from COS cells expressing active granzyme B were incubated with [<sup>35</sup>S]PARP in the presence of the protease inhibitors indicated, or the synthetic tetrapeptide aldehyde inhibitor Ac-DEVD-CHO. Control samples were incubated either in the absence of COS cell lysate or in the presence of lysate but in the absence of inhibitor.



24 kDa-

### Cleavage of CPP32 in COS Cells

The results presented thus far suggest that pro-CPP32 is a cellular substrate for granzyme B. In addition, the presence of PARP-cleaving activity in COS cells expressing enzymatically active granzyme B (an activity which cannot be attributed to granzyme B itself, based on inhibitor studies) seems to suggest that expression of granzyme B in COS cells results in activation of their endogenous CPP32. Presence of active CPP32 in lysates from COS cells expressing granzyme B was confirmed using Western blot analysis with an antibody directed against the p17 subunit of CPP32 (Figure IV-5A). Again, active CPP32 (demonstrated by presence of the p17 subunit) was found only in lysates from COS cells expressing active granzyme B and not in lysates expressing the zymogen form of granzyme B or the active site mutant (S183A) (demonstrated by the presence of p32 only). These results suggest that expression of active granzyme B in COS cells results in activation of their endogenous CPP32, which is able to cleave PARP. Interestingly, the amount of CPP32 that was cleaved in the COS cell lysates increased following incubation at 37°C for one hour, as opposed to no pre-incubation (data not shown). CPP32 was isolated from cytosolic fractions of apoptotic cells (Nicholson et al., 1995), while granzyme B contains a signal sequence (Caputo et al., 1993) and is likely targeted to COS cell lysosomes by the mannose-6phosphate receptor pathway, similar to its targeting mechanism in vivo (Griffiths and Isaaz, 1993). Therefore, it is likely that the observed time dependence of cleavage is due to the separate localization of granzyme B and CPP32.

### Cleavage of CPP32 in Target Cells during Granule-Mediated Killing

Finally, it was determined whether CPP32 was cleaved in target cells following attack by CTLs. In these studies, the T cell line CTL21.9, which kills through the granzyme/perforin pathway (Garner *et al.*, 1994), was used as an effector cell. Effector cells and target cells (EL4 and YAC-1) were incubated together for 4 hours and then the effectors were selectively removed using an anti-CD8 antibody followed by magnetic separation with anti-IgG-coated Dynabeads. The remaining targets were lysed and the lysates were analyzed for CPP32 status by Western blotting. The results of this experiment are shown in Figure IV-5B. In both target cell types, full length CPP32 was present in untreated target cells (p32) but was completely processed to the active form following incubation with effector cells for 4 hours (p17). These results further confirm the above findings that granzyme B cleaves and activates CPP32 during CTL-mediated cytotoxicity.

### FIGURE IV-5: In vivo cleavage of CPP32.

A. Cleavage of CPP32 in COS cells expressing granzyme B. Lysates of COS cells expressing recombinant murine granzyme B, the inactive zymogen of granzyme B or an active site Ser-Ala mutant of granzyme B (S183A) were pre-incubated at 37°C for 1 hour prior to SDS-PAGE followed by Western blotting to detect CPP32.

**B. Cleavage of CPP32 in target cells following CTL attack.** CTL21.9 effector cells were incubated with YAC-1 or EL4 target cells at an effector-to-target ratio of 1:1 for 4 hours. CTLs were removed from the samples using Dynabeads and remaining target cells were lysed, lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and then CPP32 was detected by Western blotting.





In conclusion, the studies presented here have resulted in the identification of an intracellular substrate for granzyme B. FPLC-separated granzyme B, and COS cell lysates expressing active granzyme B (but not inactive forms of granzyme B) could cleave in vitro translated pro-CPP32 to produce a band at ~20-kDa (Figure IV-2; IV-3). This band would represent the p17 subunit with an intact pro-domain, and requires cleavage at a site with sequence IETD-S. The CPP32 generated by granzyme B cleavage possesses PARP-cleaving activity, as shown by the in vitro cleavage assay using radiolabeled PARP as substrate (Figure IV-4). When COS cell lysates expressing active granzyme B, but not inactive zymogen or an active site mutant, were incubated with radiolabeled PARP, PARP was cleaved to two fragments of 89kDa and 24-kDa - the same sizes as the fragments generated during apoptosis. An inhibitor study of the PARP cleaving activity of these lysates revealed that the mediator was an ICE/Ced-3 protease, identified as CPP32 by the use of the CPP32 inhibitor Ac-DEVD-CHO. Therefore, in this system, expression of granzyme B in COS cells resulted in the activation of their endogenous CPP32. Activation of CPP32 in active granzyme B-expressing COS cells was confirmed by Western blotting (Figure IV-5A).

Finally, a role for CPP32 activation in CTL-mediated cytotoxicity was suggested by the fact that CPP32 is cleaved in target cells following granule-mediated CTL attack (Figure IV-5B). A role for PARP activity in granule-mediated killing had previously been suggested by two groups (Redegeld *et al.*, 1992; Hayward and Herberger, 1988) who demonstrated that a PARP inhibitor could block cellular cytotoxicity. Again, it seems that PARP activity may be required for apoptosis, but activation of CPP32, which cleaves PARP and returns its activity to basal levels, is also required. Temporally, PARP activity may be required at the onset of apoptosis, perhaps to deplete NAD and ATP, but PARP must subsequently be inactivated for apoptosis to proceed.

These studies were the first to define the link between cell-mediated cytotoxicity and developmental or programmed cell death - that is, that a CTL (or NK cell) utilizes a cell's endogenous death program to cause a target cell to die. Although the role of PARP in apoptosis is controversial, CPP32 activity is responsible for the cleavage of a number of nuclear proteins during apoptosis and therefore may be involved in the induction of the nuclear events of apoptosis. This is intriguing since granzyme B has been linked primarily with DNA fragmentation during CTL-mediated cytotoxicity.

Identification of an intracellular substrate for granzyme B as a protease which is part of an enzymatic cascade implies that there may be numerous sites at which cell-mediated immunity can be inhibited within the target cell. This information is crucial to the design and development of novel immunosuppressants.

### Addendum

The results presented here were subsequently confirmed by other workers (Quan *et al.*, 1996; Martin *et al.*, 1996). Furthermore, granzyme B has recently been shown to cleave the precursors of Mch3 $\alpha$ /CMH-1/ICE-LAP3 (Gu *et al.*, 1996; Chinnaiyan *et al.*, 1996b) and FLICE/MACH (Muzio *et al.*, 1996) suggesting that multiple CPP32-related protease precursors serve as granzyme B targets. In each instance, granzyme B activates the protease by cleaving between the large and small subunits, as suggested by the data presented here. The prodomain is then removed by an autocatalytic mechanism, but its removal is not required for enzymatic activity (Gu *et al.*, 1996; Martin *et al.*, 1996).

One hypothesis resulting from these studies would be that granzyme B cleavage of CPP32 (and CPP32-related proteases) is somehow linked to the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation. Additional studies revealed that CPP32-proteases are indeed involved in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation, and that granzyme B is the only granzyme capable of cleaving pro-CPP32, suggesting that the nonredundant role proposed for granzyme B (Heusel *et al.*, 1994; Shresta *et al.*, 1995) is mediated by the CPP32 enzymes (Chapter V; Darmon *et al.*, 1996).

CHAPTER V - CPP32 CLEAVAGE REPRESENTS A CRITICAL ROLE FOR GRANZYME B

.

### CHAPTER V - CPP32 CLEAVAGE REPRESENTS A CRITICAL ROLE FOR GRANZYME B<sup>3</sup>

### INTRODUCTION

Cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) represent the body's primary defense against tumourigenic and virus-infected cells, and are responsible for organ transplant rejection and autoimmune disease (reviewed by Berke, 1995; Atkinson and Bleackley, 1995; Smyth, 1995). When the T cell receptor (TCR) recognizes foreign antigen, presented in the context of the major histocompatibility complex class I molecules, the CTL induces apoptotic cell death in the target cell through one of two distinct mechanisms - Fas-based and granule-mediated cytotoxicity. During granulemediated killing, TCR activation leads to the induction of function-related genes, including perforin and the granzymes. These are packaged into granules which are then mobilized to the surface of the CTL that is adjacent to the target cell. Exocytosis of CTL granule contents into the intercellular space between CTL and target cell allows perforin, a pore-forming protein found in the granules (Liu *et al.*, 1995), to polymerize in the target cell membrane, thereby facilitating the entry of the granzymes, a family of serine proteases (Atkinson and Bleackley, 1995; Lowin *et al.*, 1995) into the target cell, where they induce apoptosis.

Granzyme B (Cytotoxic Cell Proteinase-1/CCP1) represents a prototype of six of these serine proteases (granzymes B to G). Originally identified as a CTL-specific gene (Lobe *et al.*, 1986a, 1986b) whose expression correlated with the induction of cytotoxicity (Lobe *et al.*, 1986b), it was subsequently localized to the cytoplasmic granules of CTLs (Redmond *et al.*, 1987; Ojcius *et al.*, 1991). Quantitative PCR revealed that only granzyme B expression is correlated with the development of cytotoxicity in T cells in response to stimulation by mitogen, allogeneic cells or anti-CD3 (Prendergast *et al.*, 1992), suggesting that it may be a direct effector in the lytic process. Shi *et al.* (1992a, 1992b) have shown that fragmentin-2, a serine protease purified from rat natural killer cell granules and having homology to granzyme B, is able to induce rapid DNA fragmentation, a hallmark of apoptosis, in YAC-1 target cells in the presence of perforin. Additionally, Heusel *et al.* (1994) have shown that granzyme B is necessary for the early induction of DNA fragmentation and apoptosis in allogeneic target cells lysed by CTL (Heusel *et al.*, 1994; Shresta *et al.*, 1995),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>A version of this chapter has been accepted for publication: Darmon, A.J., Ley, T.J., Nicholson,

D.W., and Bleackley, R.C. (1996) J. Biol. Chem. in press

natural killer or lymphokine-activated killer cells (Shresta *et al.*, 1995) isolated from mice homozygous for a null mutation in the granzyme B gene.

Recent studies of apoptosis have shown that a family of cysteine proteases related to Interleukin-1 $\beta$  Converting Enzyme (ICE) play a key role. Originally identified as the protease responsible for producing biologically active IL-1 $\beta$  from the inactive precursor (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Cerretti *et al.*, 1992), a role for ICE in the induction of apoptotic cell death was suggested by the discovery that *ced-3*, a gene required for programmed cell death in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*, had homology to ICE (Yuan *et al.*, 1993). Indeed, overexpression of ICE or *ced-3* in Rat-1 fibroblasts resulted in apoptotic death of these cells (Miura *et al.*, 1993). However, studies of mice deficient in ICE seemed to suggest that ICE does not play a unique role in apoptosis, but rather that other related proteases may be critical (Li *et al.*, 1995).

Multiple ICE-like proteases have now been isolated (reviewed by Henkart, 1996; Martin and Green, 1995), including Ich1L/Nedd-2 (Wang et al., 1994b; Kumar et al., 1994), TX/Ich-2/ICE<sub>rel</sub>II (Fauchcu et al., 1995; Kamens et al., 1995; Munday et al., 1995), ICE<sub>rel</sub>III (Munday et al., 1995), Mch2α (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995a), Mch3a/CMH-1/ICE-LAP3 (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995b; Lippke et al., 1996; Duan et al., 1996), FLICE/MACH (Boldin et al., 1996; Muzio et al., 1996), and CPP32/Apopain/Yama (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1994; Nicholson et al., 1995; Tewari et al., 1995a). These enzymes can be divided into three subfamilies: the ICE-like enzymes (ICE, TX/Ich-2/ICE<sub>rel</sub>II, ICE<sub>rel</sub>III), the CPP32-like proteases (CPP32, Ced-3, Mch2a, Mch3a/CMH-1/ICE-LAP3, FLICE/MACH) and the Nedd-2 proteins (Nedd-2, Ich-1L). Each of these proteases is synthesized as an inactive precursor requiring cleavage after Asp residues for activation. CPP32 (putative cysteine protease of 32kDa) was identified as the protease responsible for cleavage of the nuclear protein poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) during the induction of apoptosis (Nicholson et al., 1995; Tewari et al., 1995a), as well as the catalytic subunit of DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK [Casciola-Rosen et al., 1996; Song et al., 1996]) and the 70kDa protein component of the U1 small ribonucleoprotein particle (U1-70kDa [Casciola-Rosen et al., 1996]). These enzymes play roles in DNA and RNA turnover within the cell - U1-70kDa is part of the complex involved in RNA splicing while DNA-PK and PARP are involved in activating DNA repair in response to strand breaks. The fact that CPP32 cleaves multiple nuclear proteins seems to suggest that CPP32 is involved in inducing some of the nuclear events associated with apoptosis. Indeed, treatment of apoptotic nuclei (Nicholson et al., 1995; Lazebnik et al., 1994) or

whole cells (Schlegel *et al.*, 1996) with the CPP32 inhibitor Ac-DEVD-CHO prevents the nuclear changes of apoptosis. In addition, cleavage of PARP, and its consequent inactivation, may result in the release of negative regulation of the Ca<sup>++</sup>/Mg<sup>++-</sup> dependent endonuclease implicated in DNA fragmentation (Tanaka *et al.*, 1984; Yoshihara *et al.*, 1974, 1975) further suggesting a link between CPP32 and apoptotic DNA fragmentation.

When the ICE proteases were first discovered, it was postulated that granzyme B, which has substrate specificity requiring an Asp at P1 (Murphy et al., 1988; Odake et al., 1991), could induce target cell apoptosis by cleaving and activating an ICE protease (Vaux et al., 1994). Although there is currently no evidence to suggest that granzyme B cleaves and activates ICE (Chapter III; Darmon et al., 1994), it has been demonstrated that CPP32 is an intracellular substrate both in vitro and in vivo for granzyme B (Chapter IV; Darmon et al., 1995; Quan et al., 1996; Martin et al., 1996). Other workers have shown that granzyme B can cleave the CPP32-related proteases CMH-1/Mch3a/ICE-LAP3 (Gu et al., 1996; Chinnaiyan et al., 1996b) and FLICE/MACH (Muzio et al., 1996) in vitro, suggesting that granzyme B may act by activating this family of proteases. The finding that CPP32 can be cleaved by granzyme B, while allowing a model for granzyme B activity to be proposed, does not prove that this is the pathway linking granzyme B to target cell DNA fragmentation. Granzyme B could have another substrate within the cell which accounts for the ability of this protease to induce fragmentation. In addition, other granzymes could also cleave and activate CPP32, although this seems unlikely since no other granzyme cleaves after Asp residues. The studies outlined in this chapter were designed to address the question of whether CPP32 is the link between granzyme B and target cell DNA fragmentation and to determine whether the defect in target cell DNA fragmentation induced by granzyme B-deficient effectors can be explained on the basis of failure to cleave CPP32 and related enzymes.

### RESULTS

### Generation of Cytolytic Cells Lacking Granzyme B

In these studies, cytolytic cells from C57BL/6J mice (haplotype H-2<sup>b</sup>) lacking granzyme B (GB KO) and from wild type control mice (GB WT) were generated from splenocytes using irradiated Balb/c (H-2<sup>d</sup>) splenocytes as stimulators, as outlined in Chapter II. These cytolytic cells were then tested for their ability to induce cytolysis (measured as <sup>51</sup>Cr release) and DNA fragmentation (measured as [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release) from a number of target cells in order to ensure that they behaved identically to the freshly isolated cytolytic cells described by previous workers (Heusel *et al.*, 1994; Shresta *et al.*, 1995). The results of this study are shown in Figure V-1. In panel A, <sup>51</sup>Cr release from labeled targets incubated with GB KO or GB WT effectors was measured. Four different cell lines were used, and in each case the levels of target cell cytolysis induced by the two effector cells was similar, although the GB WT cells seemed to induce slightly more <sup>51</sup>Cr release than the GB KO cells. In contrast, there is a substantial and consistent difference in target cell DNA fragmentation induced by these effectors (Figure V-1B). For three of the targets tested, the GB WT induced at least 3-fold more DNA fragmentation than the GB KO. Interestingly, the difference between the GB KO and GB WT effectors was less pronounced when YAC-1 cells were used as targets. These cells express higher levels of CPP32 than the other target cell lines used (Darmon and Bleackley, unpublished data), suggesting a correlation between CPP32 levels and the efficiency of DNA fragmentation during apoptosis.

To confirm that these cytolytic effectors utilized the granule exocytosis mechanism of killing, rather than Fas-mediated killing, calcium-dependency of cytolysis was determined. As outlined in Chapter I, the granule exocytosis mechanism requires calcium for both degranulation and perforin aggregation in the target cell membrane. In contrast, Fas-mediated cytotoxicity is calcium-independent. Therefore we performed cytotoxicity assays in the presence of a calcium chelator (EGTA). In these studies, four different <sup>51</sup>Cr-labeled target cells were incubated with the GB KO and GB WT effectors for 2 or 4 hours, in the presence or absence of EGTA. The results of these studies are shown in Figure V-2. In panel A, GB WT effectors were used, while panel B represents the GB KO effectors. In every case, the presence of EGTA suppressed cytotoxicity to less than 10% specific lysis, compared to 50-70% specific lysis in control samples. These results confirm that the cytolytic activity of the GB KO and GB WT cells is due primarily to granule exocytosis.

### CPP32 is Not Cleaved in the Absence of Granzyme B

The ability of the GB KO and GB WT cells, generated above, to induce CPP32 cleavage in target cells was then assessed. Effector and target cells were incubated together for 4 hours at 37°C, the cells were lysed, and lysates were assessed for CPP32 status by Western blotting using an antibody directed against the large subunit of CPP32. The results of this experiment (Figure V-3) show that GB KO cells were unable to induce CPP32 cleavage in YAC-1 and EL4 target cells. In contrast, CPP32 was completely cleaved to the active form (p17/p12) when targets were incubated with GB WT effectors. Similar results were obtained when P815 cells were used as largets

(data not shown). These results clearly demonstrate that granzyme B is required for cleavage and activation of CPP32 during CTL-mediated killing, and confirm the previous finding that CPP32 is a cellular substrate for granzyme B (Chapter IV; Darmon *et al.*, 1995). If the incubation time between effectors and targets was increased to 24 hours, CPP32 still was not cleaved in target cells incubated with GB KO effectors, suggesting that no other granzyme is capable of CPP32 activation following CTL attack.

### Inhibition of CPP32-like Enzymes Suppresses DNA Fragmentation

Together, the results thus far suggest that granzyme B is involved in inducing target cell DNA fragmentation through the cleavage and activation of CPP32 (and probably CPP32-like proteases). However, no functional relationship has been established between cleavage of CPP32-like enzymes and the induction of internucleosomal DNA cleavage. These final experiments were designed to study the possible role of CPP32 (and CPP32-like proteases) as a bridge between granzyme B and the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation.

In these experiments two peptide aldehyde inhibitors were used. Peptide aldehydes are potent, reversible inhibitors of cysteine proteases and undergo nucleophilic addition to the catalytic cysteine to form a thiohemiacetal. The potency of these inhibitors was originally attributed to their ability to mimic the transition state during amide bond hydrolysis (Westerik and Wolfenden, 1972), however, the crystal structure of ICE with its inhibitor Ac-YVAD-CHO shows that the inhibitor binds in a non-transition-state conformation with the oxyanion of the thiohemiacetal being stabilized by the active site histidine (Walker et al., 1994; Wilson et al., 1994). Ac-DEVD-CHO has previously been shown to inhibit CPP32 (Nicholson et al., 1995) CMH-1/Mch3a/ICE-LAP3 (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995b; Lippkc et al., 1996), FLICE (Muzio et al., 1996) and may inhibit Mch2 $\alpha$  (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995a), suggesting that it might inhibit all CPP32-like proteases. In contrast, Ac-DEVD-CHO cannot inhibit ICE (Nicholson et al., 1995). In these studies, <sup>51</sup>Cr and [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release from labeled L1210-Fas cells was measured in the presence or absence of this inhibitor, using the cytotoxic T cell clone CTL21.9 (which kills using the granule pathway) as effector. Results of this study are shown in Figure V-4. Similar results were obtained using EL4 and YAC-1 as targets (data not shown). Although Ac-DEVD-CHO had no apparent effect on <sup>51</sup>Cr release from labeled targets (Figure V-4A), it dramatically reduced [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release (Figure V-4B) from 75% to 8% in this study. These data suggest that CPP32 cleavage and activation by

granzyme B during CTL-mediated cytotoxicity plays a critical role in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation. These results cannot be due to inhibition of granzyme B itself. Using [ $^{35}$ S]Met-labeled CPP32 precursor as an indicator of granzyme B activity, it was found that the presence of 200  $\mu$ M of this inhibitor with granzyme B in an *in vitro* cleavage assay failed to suppress granzyme B activity (data not shown).

Having established that Ac-DEVD-CHO affects only [3H]thymidine release, and not <sup>51</sup>Cr release, we wondered whether ICE-like proteases also contribute to target cell DNA fragmentation and/or membrane damage. In these studies the prototypic ICE inhibitor Ac-YVAD-CHO was used. This inhibitor has been shown to inhibit ICE (Thornberry et al., 1992) and TX/Ich-2/ICErelII (Kamens et al., 1995) but does not inhibit CPP32-like proteases (Nicholson et al., 1995; Lippke et al., 1996). The results demonstrated that ICE-like proteases play no role in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation during granule-mediated killing. In a comparison between the effects of Ac-DEVD-CHO and Ac-YVAD-CHO on [3H]thymidine release from labeled targets, Ac-YVAD-CHO had no effect on [3H]thymidine release during granule-mediated killing, even at the highest concentration used (100  $\mu$ M, Figure V-5). However, Ac-DEVD-CHO had a striking effect on [3H]thymidine release, with maximal inhibition achieved by 50  $\mu$ M, but clear inhibition even at 5 µM (Figure V-5). These results suggest that ICE-like proteases play no role in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation, while CPP32-like proteases are required for this process. It was also found that ICE-like proteases play no role in the induction of target cell membrane damage. Ac-YVAD-CHO exerted no effect on <sup>51</sup>Cr release from labeled targets when added to the assay at a final concentration of 40 µM (data not shown). These results are consistent with those of other workers who showed that inhibition of macrophage ICE activity by YVADchloromethylketone, as demonstrated by suppression of mature IL-1ß release, had no effect on <sup>51</sup>Cr release in response to CTL attack (Nett-Fiordalisi et al., 1995). Taken together, these inhibitor studies suggest the involvement of CPP32-like, but not ICElike, proteases in the induction of DNA fragmentation during granule-mediated cytotoxicity. Furthermore, neither of these protease families appears to play a significant role in the induction of membrane damage following CTL attack.

# FIGURE V-1: Cytolytic activity of cell lines derived from granzyme B deficient mice and control mice.

Labeled target cells were incubated with cytolytic cells derived from mice lacking granzyme B (GB KO) or from control mice (GB WT) at an effector-to-target ratio of 5:1 in the presence of 2  $\mu$ g/ml ConA for 2 hours at 37°C, and then <sup>51</sup>Cr (A) or [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine (B) release was measured. Mean and standard deviation of triplicate samples is shown.



## FIGURE V-2: Calcium-dependency of cytolytic activity of GB KO and GB WT cells.

Labeled target cells were incubated with cytolytic cells derived from control mice (GB WT; A) or from mice lacking granzyme B (GB KO; B) at an effector-to-target ration of 5:1 in the presence of 2  $\mu$ g/ml ConA, with or without 2 mM EGTA and 4 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> at 37°C for 2 hours or 4 hours. Mean and standard deviation of triplicate samples is shown.





## FIGURE V-3: CPP32 is not cleaved in the absence of granzyme B.

YAC-1 or EL4 target cells (10<sup>6</sup>) were incubated with effector cells lacking granzyme B (GB KO) or control cells (GB WT) at an effector-to-target ratio of 5:1 for 4 hours at 37°C. Cells were then lysed and lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE. CPP32 was detected using an antibody directed against the large subunit of CPP32. p32 - full length CPP32; p17 - large subunit of active CPP32.



# FIGURE V-4: CPP32 is involved in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation.

Labeled L1210-Fas targets were incubated with CTL21.9 effectors at an effector-totarget ratio of 5:1 for 4 hours at 37°C in the presence of Ac-DEVD-CHO (40  $\mu$ M) or DMSO alone as a control, and then <sup>51</sup>Cr (A) or [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine (B) release was measured. Mean and standard deviation of triplicate samples is shown.



target



В



۴,



## Figure V-5: Inhibition of [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release during granule-mediated cytotoxicity by Ac-DEVD-CHO but not Ac-YVAD-CHO.

Labeled L1210-Fas target cells were incubated with GB WT effectors at an effectorto-target ratio of 5:1 for 4 hours at 37°C in the presence of the indicated concentration of Ac-YVAD-CHO (squares) or Ac-DEVD-CHO (circles), and then [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release was measured. ConA was included at a final concentration of 2  $\mu$ g/ml. Mean and standard deviation of triplicate samples is shown.

### DISCUSSION

The work presented in this chapter has defined a chain of events occurring during CTL-mediated killing and resulting in target cell DNA fragmentation. Using cytolytic cells derived from mice deficient in granzyme B, it has been shown that CPP32 is not cleaved during CTL-mediated cytotoxicity in the absence of granzyme B. This implies that no other granzymes are able to activate the CPP32 enzymes, a result which is not particularly surprising since other granzymes do not share granzyme B's substrate specificity and likely could not generate active protease. We have previously demonstrated results to this effect in Chapter IV (Darmon *et al.*, 1995). There it was shown that while FPLC fractions containing granzyme A could cleave pro-CPP32 in an *in vitro* assay, the fragment generated was not of correct size to generate active enzyme.

In addition, a functional relationship between activation of CPP32-like proteases and DNA fragmentation has been demonstrated through the use of the peptide aldehyde inhibitors Ac-DEVD-CHO and Ac-YVAD-CHO. Based on these studies, and work presented in the previous chapter, the current model for CTL-induced target cell DNA fragmentation suggests that granzyme B enters the target cell during CTL attack and cleaves the CPP32 precursor, as well as the precursors for CPP32-related enzymes, to produce active protease(s). The CPP32-like enzymes then go on to induce target cell DNA fragmentation by cleaving nuclear proteins through a mechanism which remains to be elucidated. Multiple substrates for CPP32 have been identified, including the nuclear proteins PARP (Nicholson et al., 1995; Tewari et al., 1995a), U1-70kDa, and DNA-PK (Casciola-Rosen et al., 1996; Song et al., 1996), and the cytoplasmic proteins D4-GDI (Na et al., 1996) and the SREBPs (Wang et al., 1995a, 1996). PARP may negatively regulate the Ca<sup>++</sup>/Mg<sup>++</sup>-dependent endonuclease involved in mediating DNA fragmentation, suggesting that PARP cleavage and inactivation by CPP32 may lead to activation of the Ca<sup>++</sup>/Mg<sup>++</sup>-dependent endonuclease, resulting in DNA fragmentation (Tanaka et al., 1984; Yoshihara et al., 1974, 1975). This model for linking CPP32 to DNA degradation remains to be confirmed. Alternatively, by cleaving PARP and DNA-PK, CPP32 could simply cripple a cell's DNA repair system, thereby allowing DNA fragmentation to proceed.

Interestingly, although no CPP32 cleavage occurred when target cells were incubated with GB KO effectors for up to 24 hours, DNA fragmentation still occurred, although at limited levels. This suggests that a second granule protein is capable of inducing target cell DNA fragmentation but that this protein, possibly a granzyme, is not as efficient as granzyme B. This protein does not appear to induce fragmentation through the activation of CPP32 since even after 24 hours no CPP32 was cleaved when GB KO cells were used as effectors, implying the existence of an alternate pathway to DNA fragmentation. Interestingly, after 24 hours, CPP32 appeared as a larger band (that is, larger even than pro-CPP32), suggesting that CPP32 may undergo post-translational modification during apoptosis, which limits its activity. Similar results were found upon incubating target cells with effectors which kill through the Fas pathway (Figure VI-1). Furthermore, this modification is not activation-dependent since it occurred in targets of both GB WT (active CPP32) and GB KO (inactive CPP32) cells. This implies that the posttranslational modification is not a result of negative feedback, but rather is a natural event during the course of apoptosis. Although the nature of this modification is unknown, it is not ubiquitinated (Darmon, Gwozd, Ellison, and Bleackley, unpublished data).

Granzyme B had previously been implicated as playing a role in cytolysis as well as DNA fragmentation. However, the difference in the induction on <sup>51</sup>Cr release from labeled target cells between GB KO and GB WT effectors is relatively small compared to the difference in ability to induce [3H]thymidine release. These results are similar to others found by Heusel et al. (1994) and Shresta et al. (1995). However, this does not suggest that granzyme B does not play a role in the induction of membrane damage, only that this role for granzyme B is not unique. Possibly granzyme B, as well as other granzymes, can induce membrane damage in target cells. In the absence of granzyme B, these other granzymes may be able to substitute for granzyme B activity, resulting in data which suggests no role for granzyme B in membrane events. A prime candidate for the granzyme inducing membrane damage is granzyme A. It is the other predominant granzyme, it is conserved between mice and humans, and it is found, along with granzyme B, in ex-vivo-derived murine CTL (Garcia-Sanz et al. 1990; Ebnet et al., 1991). Additionally, a role for granzyme A in cytolysis has previously been suggested by the results of Shiver et al. (1992) who showed that coexpression of granzyme A and perform in RBL mast cells increased target cytolysis induced by mast cells above the level seen when cells expressing perforin alone were used as effectors. It remains to be seen whether this represents an *in vivo* role for granzyme A, although it has been reported that CTLs from mice deficient in granzyme A are as cytolytic as CTLs from wild type mice (Ebnet et al., 1995). However, if both granzyme A and granzyme B are able to induce target cell cytolysis then granzyme B should substitute for granzyme A activity in this system. If granzyme A has no unique role in CTLmediated cytotoxicity then the granzyme A knockout mice would be expected to show no distinct phenotype, which has been demonstrated (Ebnet et al., 1995).

Interestingly, granzyme B has been shown to be necessary for cytolysis mediated by NK cells (Shresta *et al.*, 1995). It is possible that this difference between CTLs and NK cells is due to the presence of an additional component in CTL granules which is missing in NK granules. This hypothesis proposes that in CTLs, the lack of granzyme B has no dramatic effect on induction of membrane damage because the presence of this other component masks the requirement for granzyme B. However, in NK cells where this component is not present, the role of granzyme B in cytolysis is unveiled. The nature of this component, if it exists, is unknown.

The lack of effect of Ac-YVAD-CHO on either <sup>51</sup>Cr or [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release seems to suggest that ICE-like proteases are not required for granule-mediated cytotoxicity. It has recently been shown that during Fas-mediated killing, ICE-like proteases may be responsible for the activation of CPP32-like proteases (Enari *et al.*, 1996). It is therefore likely that during granule-mediated killing, granzyme B replaces the function of ICE-like proteases by directly activating the CPP32 proteins. This confirms the hypothesis first presented in Chapter III (Darmon *et al.*, 1994) suggesting that granzyme B and ICE share similar cellular substrates. ICE has previously been shown to be capable of generating active CPP32 from pro-CPP32 (Tewari *et al.*, 1995a).

The results presented here in Chapters IV and V have identified an intracellular substrate for granzyme B, and have demonstrated a functional relationship between cleavage of this substrate and the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation. This was the first identification of a granzyme B substrate which is relevant to cell death. Furthermore, the discovery that an ICE/Ced-3 protease is a substrate has demonstrated that a CTL utilizes a target cell's intrinsic death program to induce target cell death, and has united the fields of programmed cell death and cell-mediated cytotoxicity.

### CHAPTER VI - ICE-CED-3 PROTEASES IN FAS-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY

·

.

### CHAPTER VI - ICE/CED-3 PROTEASES IN FAS-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY<sup>4</sup>

### INTRODUCTION

Cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) represent the body's primary defense against tumourigenic and virus-infected cells, and are responsible for organ transplant rejection and autoimmune disease (reviewed by Berke, 1995; Atkinson and Bleackley, 1995; Smyth, 1995). Recognition of a target cell bearing a foreign antigen through the T cell receptor (TCR) results in the induction of apoptotic death in the target cell and can occur through two distinct mechanisms - granule- and Fasmediated cytotoxicity. During granule-mediated killing, TCR activation results in mobilization of lytic granules within the T cell cytoplasm toward the target cell. Exocytosis leads to the release of granule contents - including a family of serine proteases (the granzymes (Atkinson and Bleackley, 1995; Lowin et al., 1995)) and the porc-forming protein perforin (Liu et al., 1995) - into the intercellular space. Polymerization of perforin in the target cell membrane facilitates granzyme entry into the target cell, where they induce apoptosis. In Fas-mediated cytotoxicity, TCR engagement results in upregulation of Fas ligand (FasL) levels on the surface of the T cell. FasL then ligates the Fas receptor on the target cell thus setting in motion a series of events that results in death of the Fas-bearing cell (Nagata and Golstein, 1995). The exact nature of the signal generated is unknown although acidic sphingomyelinase, ceramide and protein phosphorylation are all believed to play a role (reviewed in Chapter I). Regardless of the signal involved, apoptosis is induced in the target cell.

Only recently have some of the mechanisms involved in apoptosis come to light. Much of this work has revolved around a family of cysteine proteases related to Interleukin-1 $\beta$  Converting Enzyme (ICE). Originally identified as the protease responsible for producing biologically active IL-1 $\beta$  from pro-IL-1 $\beta$  (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Cerretti *et al.*, 1992), a role for ICE in apoptosis was suggested by the discovery that *ced-3*, a gene isolated from the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* as being essential for programmed cell death during development, had homology to ICE (Yuan *et al.*, 1993). Multiple members of the ICE/Ced-3 family of cysteine proteases have since been isolated (reviewed by Henkart, 1996; Martin and Green, 1995), including Ich1 (Wang *et al.*, 1994b), the human homologue of the murine Nedd-2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>A version of this chapter has been accepted for publication: Darmon, A.J., and Bleackley, R.C. (1996) *J. Biol. Chem.* in press

(Kumar et al., 1994), TX/Ich-2/ICE<sub>rel</sub>II (Faucheu et al., 1995; Kamens et al., 1995; Munday et al., 1995), ICE<sub>rel</sub>III (Munday et al., 1995), Mch2a (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995a), Mch3a/CMH-1/ICE-LAP3 (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995b; Lippke et al., 1996; Duan et al., 1996), FLICE/MACH (Boldin et al., 1996; Muzio et al., 1996) and CPP32/Apopain/Yama (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1994; Nicholson et al., 1995; Tewari *et al.*, 1995a). These enzymes can be divided into three subfamilies based on sequence homology: the ICE-like enzymes (ICE, TX/Ich-2/ICE<sub>rel</sub>II, ICE<sub>rel</sub>III), the CPP32-like proteases (CPP32, Ced-3, Mch2a, Mch3a/CMH-1/ICE-LAP3, FLICE/MACH) and the Nedd-2 proteins (Nedd-2, Ich-IL). Each of these proteases is synthesized as an inactive precursor requiring cleavage after Asp residues for activation. CPP32 (putative cysteine protease of 32-kDa) was identified as the protease responsible for cleavage of the nuclear protein poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) during the induction of apoptosis (Nicholson et al., 1995; Tewari et al., 1995a). It has been shown that CPP32 is involved in granule-mediated cytotoxicity since it is an intracellular substrate for granzyme B (Chapter IV and V; Darmon et al., 1995, 1996), an enzyme critical for the early induction of DNA fragmentation in target cells (Shi et al., 1992a, 1992b; Heusel et al., 1994; Shresta et al., 1995).

Interest in ICE/Ced-3 proteases as mediators of Fas-induced apoptosis began when it was shown that the cowpox virus-encoded serpin CrmA, which had been shown to inhibit ICE (Komiyama *et al.*, 1994; Ray *et al.*, 1992), could suppress Fasinduced cell death (Tewari and Dixit, 1995; Enari *et al.*, 1995b; Los *et al.*, 1995). At this point, the inhibitory properties of CrmA were attributed to its ability to inhibit ICE. Subsequent studies of CTL-mediated cytotoxicity indicated that CrmA could inhibit cell-mediated killing when expressed in target cells, and that, although CrmA had previously been shown to inhibit granzyme B (Quan *et al.*, 1995), the inhibition during CTL-mediated killing was due to inhibition of the Fas pathway (Tewari *et al.*, 1995c). Using thymocytes derived from mice deficient in ICE, Kuida *et al.* (1995) showed that these cells were resistant to apoptosis induced by anti-Fas antibody.

Other studies using the potent tetrapeptide aldehyde inhibitor of ICE Ac-YVAD-CHO ( $K_{i,ICE} = 0.76$  nM [Thornberry *et al.*, 1992]) further suggested a role for ICE and related enzymes in Fas-induced apoptosis. Enari *et al.* (1995b) demonstrated that this peptide could suppress Fas-induced apoptosis on whole cells. Using other peptides based on this sequence, other workers have utilized a cell-free system to show that while cytosolic extracts from anti-Fas-treated cells can induce apoptotic changes in freshly-isolated non-apoptotic nuclei, this apoptotic activity could be suppressed by addition of the peptide (Enari *et al.*, 1995a; Martin *et al.*, 1995a). Other evidence supports a role for ICE/Ced-3 family members in Fas-induced cell death. In studies of cells expressing CrmA, it was found that CrmA could specifically inhibit cleavage of U1-70kDa, a CPP32 substrate (Casciola-Rosen *et al.*, 1996) during Fas-mediated apoptosis (Tewari *et al.*, 1995b). Interestingly, CrmA has much lower affinity for CPP32 than for ICE ( $K_{i,ICE} < 4$  pM [Komiyama *et al.*, 1994];  $K_{i,CPP32} = 0.56 \mu$ M [Fernandes-Alnemri *et al.*, 1995b]), suggesting that CrmA could not be acting directly on CPP32. Finally, it was recently reported that the ICE/Ced-3 proteases ICE-LAP3 and CPP32 are cleaved and activated during anti-Fas-induced apoptosis (Duan *et al.*, 1996; Schlegel *et al.*, 1996).

The final set of experiments reported here constitute work done to elucidate the role of ICE/Ced-3 proteases, particularly CPP32, during Fas-mediated cytotoxicity.

#### RESULTS

### CPP32 is Not Always Cleaved During Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity

Based on the previous studies demonstrating a role for ICE/Ced-3 proteases during granule-mediated killing (Darmon et al., 1994, 1995, 1996; Chapters III, IV, V) it was interesting to determine the roles of these proteases during Fas-mediated killing. The first question was whether CPP32 is cleaved during Fas-induced apoptosis. EL4 and YAC-1 (mouse lymphoma) target cells were incubated with activated PMM-1 cells (a T cell hybridoma derived from peritoneal exudate lymphocytes [Kaufmann et al., 1981]) for 4 or 24 hours. These effectors kill exclusively through the Fas mechanism, as demonstrated by the fact that killing is calcium-independent (Garner et al., 1994). Cell lysates generated following this incubation were then assessed for CPP32 status by SDS-PAGE separation followed by Western blotting using an antibody directed against the large subunit of CPP32. The results, shown in Figure VI-1A, indicated that when YAC-1 cells are incubated with effectors for 4 hours, a band appears at 17-kDa. This band was not present in the time zero sample and represents cleavage of the CPP32 precursor (p32) to the active form (p17/p12). This cleavage product was not apparent in ELA lysates, even after 24 hour incubation with effector cells, and the cleavage in YAC-1 lysates was partial at best. Similar studies using a variant of L1210 transfected with murine Fas cDNA (L1210-Fas [Rouvier et al., 1993]) as targets revealed that CPP32 was not cleaved during Fas-induced killing of these cells (data not shown). Concurrent with this study, DNA fragmentation (assessed as [3H]thymidine release) was measured from YAC-1 and EL4 targets incubated with PMM-1 effectors and was found to be normal

(Figure VI-1B). Taken together, these results suggest that CPP32 may be cleaved in some cells during Fas-mediated killing, but is not essential for DNA fragmentation since [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release is still apparent in the absence of CPP32 cleavage (EL4 and L1210-Fas cells). These results are in direct contrast to the studies of granule-mediated killing, where CPP32 was completely cleaved in both EL4 and YAC-1 cells exposed to effectors for 4 hours (Chapter IV; Darmon *et al.*, 1995). It should be noted that DNA fragmentation during Fas-mediated cytotoxicity is consistently more pronounced in YAC-1 cells, where CPP32 is partially cleaved, than in EL4, in which no cleavage of CPP32 is apparent (Darmon and Bleackley, unpublished data). Thus, cleavage of CPP32 may affect the efficiency of DNA fragmentation.

### Effect of Peptide Inhibitors on Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity

In the next series of experiments a battery of peptide inhibitors, which were synthesized for their ability to inhibit ICE/Ced-3 proteases, were used. The structures and properties of these inhibitors are summarized in Table VI-1. Briefly, inhibitor 1 consists of the sequence AD and is an inhibitor of ICE/Ced-3 proteases. Inhibitor 2 contains the prototypic sequence of an ICE/Ced-3 inhibitor, VAD, with a modified amino terminal phenylalanine residue which lacks an amino group. Inhibitors 3 and 4 are very good inhibitors of ICE itself and contain the YVAD sequence. Inhibitor 4 is the Ac-YVAD-CHO inhibitor often used to study ICE/Ced-3 proteases ( $K_{LICE}$  = 0.76nM [Thornberry et al., 1992]). Inhibitor 5 consists of the peptide YVKD with a biotinylated lysine residue. Inhibitor 6 was originally identified as a CPP32 inhibitor with the structure Ac-DEVD-CHO ( $K_{i,CPP32} = 0.2$  nM [Nicholson *et al.*, 1995]). Inhibitor 7 is the reduced aldehyde of inhibitor 4 and acts as a negative control. Although  $K_i$  values for inhibition of CPP32 by these peptide inhibitors were unavailable except for inhibitor 4 (Ac-YVAD-CHO) and inhibitor 6 (Ac-DEVD-CHO), and the lab is not equipped to determine these kinetic values, an estimate of the ability of these inhibitors to suppress CPP32 activity was produced. Purified human CPP32 was preincubated with varying concentrations of the inhibitors, and then assessed for its ability to cleave [35S]PARP. The results of this study are summarized in Table VI-2, and clearly indicate that none of the inhibitors used can suppress CPP32 activity at concentrations similar to inhibitor 6 ( $K_{i,CPP32} = 0.2$  nM [Nicholson et al., 1995]). The best inhibitor of CPP32 in this group, inhibitor 2, could only suppress CPP32 activity at a concentration of 100 nM, far above the  $K_i$  of inhibitor 6.
Initial studies using these inhibitors simply addressed their effect on <sup>51</sup>Cr release (as a measure of cytolysis) from labeled target cells, using PMM-1 cells (which kill through the Fas pathway) as effectors. The results using L1210-Fas as target cells are shown in Figure VI-2. Similar results were obtained using EL4 cells as targets (data not shown). In these experiments, only inhibitor 2 had any significant effect on target cell <sup>51</sup>Cr release induced by ligation of the Fas receptor. Inhibitor 6, the inhibitor of CPP32-like enzymes, had no effect on Fas-mediated killing of L1210-Fas. This is consistent with the data showing that CPP32 is not activated in these cells during Fas-mediated cytotoxicity (Figure VI-1). Likewise, the inhibitor of proteases related to ICE, inhibitor 4, also had no effect on <sup>51</sup>Cr release.

One possible explanation for the failure of some of these inhibitors to affect <sup>51</sup>Cr release is that they fail to enter the target cell. Previous studies using inhibitor 6 have reported poor membrane permeability (Nicholson *et al.*, 1995), although subsequent studies from this group indicated that inhibitor 6 could indeed enter the target cell (Schlegel *et al.*, 1996). Although membrane permeability of all the inhibitors could not be assessed, we have data which suggests that at least three of the inhibitors enter the target cell. In a whole cell assay for IL-1 $\beta$  release (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992), it has been found that although the IC<sub>50</sub> values for inhibitors 2 and 4 are relatively high compared to the *K<sub>i</sub>* value for ICE (IC<sub>50,#2</sub> = 3  $\mu$ M; IC<sub>50,#4</sub> = 2.5  $\mu$ M) they are still below the concentration used in these studies (40  $\mu$ M). In addition, our finding that inhibitor is also cell permeable. This is comparable with results of Schlegel *et al.* (1996) who have used this inhibitor in whole cells to inhibit apoptosis. Since we can only be certain that inhibitors 2, 4, and 6 can enter the target cell, only these inhibitors were used in subsequent studies.

Studies using these inhibitors addressed their effect on <sup>51</sup>Cr or [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release (as a measure of membrane integrity or DNA fragmentation, respectively) from labeled target cells, using PMM-1 cells (which kill through the Fas pathway) as effectors. The results using L1210-Fas as target cells are shown in Figure VI-3, A and B. Similar results were obtained using EL4 cells as targets (data not shown). In these experiments, only inhibitor 2 had a significant effect on target cell <sup>51</sup>Cr and [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release induced by ligation of the Fas receptor. Intriguingly, inhibitor 6, the CPP32 inhibitor, had no effect on either chromium or thymidine release, suggesting no role for CPP32 in cell death following ligation of Fas. This result is consistent with our finding that CPP32 is not cleaved efficiently in these cells during Fas-induced apoptosis (Figure VI-1A).

## FIGURE VI-1: Cleavage of CPP32 and [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine Release During Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity

**A.** EL4 and YAC-1 target cells were incubated with PMM-1 effector cells at an effector-to-target ratio of 5:1 at 37°C for 4 or 24 hours. CPP32 status in cell lysates was assessed by Western blotting using an antibody directed against the p17 subunit of CPP32.

**B**. EL4 and YAC-1 target cells were labeled and incubated with PMM-1 effectors at an E:T ratio of 5:1 for 4 or 24 hours at  $37^{\circ}$ C, at which point [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release was determined. Mean and standard deviation of triplicate samples is shown.







FAS-	
USED TO STUDY FAS	
то	
USED	
INHIBITORS	
TIES OF PEPTIDE	
OF	
PROPERTIES	
AND	
STRUCTURES	
Ý.	
SUMMARY OF YTOTOXICITY.	
TABLE VI-1: SUMMARY O MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY.	

Inhib. #	Structure	Inhibition of ICE <sup>a</sup>	Inhibition of CPP32 <sup>a</sup>	Features	Reference
şa <b>n</b> ı	i-C4H9C(=0)-Ala-AspC(=0)CH20-2.6- BTBz <sup>b</sup>	5000 M <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>	NDc	competitive. irreversible	N.A. Thornberry, unpublished
~1	Ph(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> C(=0)-Val-Ala-AspC(=0)CH <sub>2</sub> O- Ph(F) <sub>5</sub>	1,100,000 M <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>	QN	competitive. irreversible	Thornberry <i>ei al</i> , 1994
т	Ac-Tyr-Val-Ala-AspC(=0)CH <sub>2</sub> 0-2,4,6- TMBz <sup>d</sup>	1,200,000 M <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>	QN	competitive, irreversible	N.A. Thornberry. unpublished
4	Ac-Tyr-Val-Ala-AspC(=0)H	0.76 nM	>10,000 nM	competitive. reversible	Thornberry <i>et al</i> , 1992
ŝ	Ac-Tyr-Val-Lys(N <sub>E</sub> -biotinylated)- AspC(=0)CH <sub>2</sub> 0-2.6-DMBz <sup>e</sup>	500,000 M <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>	Q	competitive, irreversible	Thornberry <i>et al.</i> 1994
9	Ac-Asp-Glu-Val-AspC(=0)H	Q.	0.2 nM	competitive. reversible	Nicholson et al. 1995
5	Ac-Tyr-Val-Ala-AspCH2OH	>10.000 nM	QN	competitive. reversible	N.A. Thornberry. unpublished

<sup>a</sup> inhibition constants: k (second order rate constant) for inhibitors 1, 2, 3, 5;  $K_i$  for remaining inhibitors <sup>b</sup>2.6-BTBz = 2.6-bis-(trifluoromethyl)benzoyl <sup>c</sup>ND - not determined <sup>d</sup>2.4.6-TMB = 2.4.6-trimethylbenzoyl <sup>c</sup>2.6-DMBz = 2.6-dimethylbenzoyl

## TABLE VI-2: INHIBITION OF CPP32 ACTIVITYBY PEPTIDE INHIBITORS

Inhibitor	Concentration of Inhibitor <sup>1</sup>					
number	10 µM	l μM	100 nM	10 nM	l nM	
1	+	+	+/-	+/-	+/-	
2	÷	+	+	=	-	
3	+	+	-		-	
5	+	+	+/-	-	-	
7	-		_	-	24 	

<sup>1</sup> symbols used:

+ : inhibition of PARP cleavage

- : no inhibition of PARP cleavage

+/- : partial inhibition of PARP cleavage



## FIGURE VI-2: Effect of ICE Peptide Inhibitors on <sup>51</sup>Cr Release During Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity

Lysis of chromium-labeled L1210-Fas target cells by PMM-1 cells added at an E:T ratio of 2.5:1, in the a' sence and presence of peptide inhibitors. Inhibitors were used at final concentrations of 40  $\mu$ M and 5  $\mu$ M, DMSO alone was added to the cells as a control for this effect, - DMSO is in the absence of any additional component to the assay. After 4 h, the percentage of chromium released was determined. Mean and standard deviation of triplicate samples is indicated.

## FIGURE VI-3: Effect of Four Peptide Inhibitors on <sup>51</sup>Cr and [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine Release from L1210-Fas Cells During Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity

L1210-Fas target cells were labeled and incubated with PMM-1 effectors at an E:T ratio of 2.5:1 in the presence of the inhibitors indicated (final concentration 40  $\mu$ M) for 4 hours at 37°C, at which point <sup>51</sup>Cr release (A) or [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release (B) were determined. DMSO - in the presence of DMSO alone; control - nothing additional added to the assay. Mean and standard deviation of triplicate samples is indicated.





For comparison, the effect of these inhibitors on Fas-induced death of YAC-1 cells, in which CPP32 is cleaved following Fas ligation (Figure VI-1A) was studied. Again, labeled target cells were incubated with PMM-1 effectors in the presence or absence of the inhibitors, and then <sup>51</sup>Cr or [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release were measured. The data, presented in Figure VI-4, C and D, clearly shows that inhibitor 2 has a significant effect on both <sup>51</sup>Cr and [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release from these cells following Fas ligation. Additionally inhibitor 6 (the CPP32 inhibitor) also suppressed [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release from YAC-1 cells. This is in contrast to the results using inhibitor 6 with L1210-Fas cells (Figure VI-3, A and B). When taken together with the results from Figures VI-1 and VI-3, A and B, these studies lead to the conclusion that CPP32 is not essential for Fas-induced cell death since it is not always cleaved during Fas-mediated apoptosis. In cells which exhibit no CPP32 cleavage, the CPP32 inhibitor (inhibitor 6) affects neither <sup>51</sup>Cr nor [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release. However, there is a correlation between CPP32 cleavage and inhibition of DNA fragmentation by inhibitor 6, suggesting that CPP32 may be involved in Fas-induced cell death in some cells. Additionally, a second ICE/Ced-3 protease seems to play a significant role in inducing both cytolysis and DNA fragmentation in response to Fas ligation. This protease would be inhibited by inhibitor 2, since inhibitor 2 suppresses both <sup>51</sup>Cr and [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release from labeled EL4 and L1210-Fas cells treated with PMM-1 effectors. The identity of this protease is currently unknown.

#### ICE is Not Activated During Fas-Mediated Apoptosis

Although there was no apparent effect of inhibitor 4 (Ac-YVAD-CHO;  $K_{i,ICE}$  = 0.76 nM [Thornberry *et al.*, 1992]) on <sup>51</sup>Cr release during Fas-mediated killing, it was still possible that the results using inhibitor 2 could be explained by inhibition of ICE itself, since other investigators have previously found that an "ICE" activity is involved in Fas-mediated cytotoxicity (Enari *et al.*, 1995a, 1995b; Los *et al.*, 1995), a result which has been confirmed in this lab using lysates from anti-Fas treated cells in a fluorogenic assay (Darmon and Bleackley, unpublished data). To evaluate ICE activity, cell lysates from YAC-1 cells treated with anti-Fas antibody were tested for their ability to cleave radiolabeled pro-IL-1 $\beta$  to produce the 17.5-kDa IL-1 $\beta$ . To date, ICE is the only known ICE/Ced-3 protease capable of activating pro-IL-1 $\beta$ . [<sup>35</sup>S]pro-IL-1 $\beta$ , which translated as a doublet due to the use of an alternate initiation codon, was incubated overnight with lysates from YAC-1 cells treated with anti-Fas antibody for up to 8 hours. The results, shown in Figure VI-5A, revealed that treatment of YAC-1 cells with anti-Fas did not result in the appearance of any pro-IL-1 $\beta$ -cleaving

# **FIGURE VI-4:** Effect of Four Peptide Inhibitors on <sup>51</sup>Cr and [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine Release from YAC-1 Cells During Fas-Mediated Cytotoxicity.

YAC-1 target cells were labeled and incubated with PMM-1 effectors at an E:T ratio of 5:1 in the presence or absence of the inhibitors indicated (final concentration 40  $\mu$ M) for 4 hours at 37°C, at which point <sup>51</sup>Cr release (A) or [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release (B) were determined. DMSO - in the presence of DMSO alone, control - nothing additional added to the assay. Mean and standard deviation of triplicate samples is indicated.







#### FIGURE VI-5: ICE is not activated during Fas-mediated cytotoxicity.

A. Lysates from YAC-1 cells treated with anti-Fas antibody for 0 to 8 hours were tested for their ability to cleave  $[^{35}S]$ pro-IL-1 $\beta$  to produce 17.5-kDa IL-1 $\beta$ . Cleavage reactions were incubated at 37°C overnight, then analyzed by SDS-PAGE. ICE - incubation with 15 ng purified human recombinant ICE.

**B**. Lysates from L1210-Fas, YAC-1 and Jurkat cells treated with (+) or without (-) anti-Fas antibody for 8 hours were supplemented with 45 ng human recombinant ICE then tested for their ability to cleave [ $^{35}$ S]pro-IL-1 $\beta$  as above.





activity. Similar results were obtained using lysates from both L1210-Fas and human Jurkat cells treated with anti-Fas (data not shown). The lack of ICE activity was not due to the presence of a cellular inhibitor of ICE since supplementing the lysates with purified recombinant human ICE resulted in cleavage of pro-IL-1 $\beta$  (Figure VI-5B), detected by appearance of the 17.5-kDa mature IL-1 $\beta$ . Therefore, the increased "ICE" activity seen during Fas-mediated apoptosis is not due to activation of ICE itself, and the inhibitory action of inhibitor 2 cannot be explained by inhibition of ICE.

#### DISCUSSION

The experiments outlined in this chapter have shown that while CPP32 may be cleaved and activated in some cells during Fas-mediated cytotoxicity, this cleavage is not required for cell death since other cells, in which CPP32 is not cleaved, are able to undergo apoptosis in response to Fas ligation. However, it has been demonstrated that another ICE/Ced-3 protease involved in Fas-mediated cytotoxicity is critical for the induction of both the membrane and DNA events of Fas-induced apoptosis. The specific protease involved has not been identified, but does not appear to be ICE (since no ICE activity is detected in lysates from cells treated with anti-Fas antibody) or CPP32 (since inhibitor 2 cannot suppress CPP32 activity to a great extent, and inhibitor 6 cannot suppress <sup>51</sup>Cr release). It cannot be ruled out that inhibitor 2 suppresses multiple ICE/Ced-3 proteases however. Therefore, the identification of the target(s) of inhibitor 2 is essential to a further understanding of the induction of cell death following Fas ligation.

On the surface, these results seem to be in contrast to recent work suggesting that CPP32 is a key mediator of Fas-induced cell death (Schlegel *et al.*, 1996). However, the two studies are actually complementary. The data presented here has shown that CPP32 is cleaved in some cell types, and when cleaved, its activity is involved in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation. However, in other cell types CPP32 activity is not involved in the induction of apoptotic cell death. Schlegel *et al.* (1996) used Jurkat cells treated with anti-Fas antibody to show cleavage and activation of CPP32. However, Jurkat cells, like YAC-1 cells, may simply represent another cell line in which CPP32 is cleaved during Fas-mediated apoptosis. The use of one cell line does not suggest that CPP32 is cleaved in all cells and a more extensive survey of cell lines, like the one presented here, reveals that CPP32 cleavage is not a universal feature of Fas-induced apoptosis. Another difference between these two studies is the mechanism of induction of apoptosis - while Schlegel *et al.* cross-linked the Fas receptor using an antibody, the studies presented here utilized CTLs which kill through the Fas pathway. Obviously, when whole cells are used to induce death, other cell surface receptors besides Fas may also be cross-linked and transduce signals. These additional signals may modulate a cell's response to cell death induced by Fas ligation, in much the same way that TCR/CD3 recognition of a target cell also requires CD4 or CD8 recognition of the MHC. Therefore, studies utilizing only anti-Fas antibody should be interpreted with caution because, physiologically, other cell surface receptors may also be involved in transducing the death signal. The studies presented here, using whole cells to induce Fas killing, are likely more physiologically relevant than studies utilizing anti-Fas.

One intriguing result of this study is that DNA fragmentation occurs in the absence of CPP32 and related protease activity. This suggests that other ICE/Ced-3 proteases may be able to substitute for CPP32 activity during Fas-mediated cytotoxicity. Alternatively, CPP32-like activity may be a consequence rather than a requirement for DNA fragmentation. This CPP32-independent pathway to DNA fragmentation has previously been revealed in the studies of granule-mediated cytotoxicity (Chapter V: Darmon *et al.*, 1996). In these studies it was found that DNA fragmentation could still proceed in the absence of granzyme B (which activates CPP32 and related enzymes) or in the presence of Ac-DEVD-CHO (inhibitor 6 in this study), although with reduced efficiency. Therefore, it seems that the CPP32 proteases are involved solely in the induction of rapid DNA fragmentation, but DNA fragmentation can still occur in the absence of these enzymes.

Interestingly, Enari *et al.* (1996) have recently shown that ICE-like proteases are activated prior to CPP32-like proteases during Fas-mediated apoptosis. These results suggest that ICE-like proteases are responsible for the activation of CPP32like enzymes. These data confirm the hypothesis presented here regarding the existence of an ICE/Ced-3 protease which controls both cytolytic and nucleolytic events of apoptosis. Combining the two studies results in a model for Fas-medi-ted cytotoxicity in which a protease related to ICE (but not ICE) activates CPP32 (and related enzymes) to induce rapid DNA fragmentation, and also cleaves substrates required for membrane damage. The identification of this central mediator will therefore be essential to a further understanding of Fas-mediated killing.

#### Addendum

Recently, two groups have reported the identification of an ICE/Ced-3 protease, named FLICE/MACH, which is able to associate with FADD/MORT1, which in turn associates with Fas (Boldin *et al.*, 1996; Muzio *et al.*, 1996). The suggestion is that this protease represents the "top" of the proteolytic cascade activated by Fas ligation. That is, Fas ligation leads to activation of FLICE/MACH, which proceeds to induce the nuclear and cytoplasmic events of apoptosis. Although it is currently unknown whether this is indeed the case, FLICE/MACH represents an excellent candidate for the protease inhibited by inhibitor 2 in the studies here. Further studies of FLICE/MACH and its inhibition profile are therefore crucial to a better understanding of the proteases activated during Fas-mediated apoptosis.

CHAPTER VII - SUMMARY, DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

### CHAPTER VII - SUMMARY, DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

#### I. SUMMARY

#### A. GRANULE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY

The studies outlined here have greatly expanded our understanding of CTLmediated cytotoxicity via the granule exocytosis mechanism. At the outset, it was unknown how granzyme B, a key mediator of CTL cytotoxicity, could induce target cell DNA fragmentation, and it was presumed that this protease activated an endonuclease (Smyth *et al.*, 1994). Our studies have shown that granzyme B cleaves and activates one ICE/Ced-3 protease (CPP32; Chapter IV) but not another (ICE; Chapter III) during CTL-mediated cytotoxicity. CPP32 in turn cleaves the nuclear proteins PARP, DNA-PK, and U1-70kDa as well as other substrates (such as the SREBPs and D4-GDI) and induces DNA fragmentation (Chapter V). Thus, the mechanism of action of granzyme B has been much more clearly defined, and while not completely understood, it is now known that CTLs utilize a cell's endogenous death program in the induction of apoptosis.

#### **B. FAS-MEDIATED KILLING**

The work outlined here has also expanded our knowledge of the role of ICE/Ced-3 proteases during Fas-mediated cytotoxicity. Like granule-mediated killing, ICE does not seem to play a role in Fas-induced apoptosis (Chapter VI). In contrast to granule-mediated killing, CPP32 does not appear to be involved in Fas-induced cell death in all target cells. However, the evidence presented here suggests a critical role for another ICE/Ced-3 protease, which is neither ICE nor CPP32, in the induction of both the cytoplasmic and nuclear events of apoptosis (Chapter VI). The identification of this protease will be critical to a further understanding of Fas-mediated cytotoxicity, and apoptosis in general.

#### **II. DISCUSSION**

#### A. ICE/Ced-3 PROTEASES AND CTL-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY

The fields of apoptosis and CTL-mediated cytotoxicity have progressed in leaps and bounds in the past few years. The demonstration that the ICE/Ced-3 proteases are key apoptotic mediators has led to the identification of multiple substrates for these enzymes, and has explained multiple facets of immunology, from CTL-mediated cytotoxicity (cleavage of these proteases during induction of target cell

death) to autoimmunity (exposure of cryptic determinants of autoantigens due to proteolysis). As more and more of these proteases are being identified, the mechanisms involved in mammalian apoptosis are becoming increasingly complex multiple proteases are able to cleave the same substrates making identification of the role of a particular protease extremely difficult. In addition, there is evidence of hetero-oligomerization between family members. With the added fact that some family members are alternately spliced to generate inactive proteins, and the knowledge that multiple family members are expressed within the same cell, this suggests a number of mechanisms by which ICE/Ced-3 protease activity may be regulated in vivo. Firstly, different hetero-oligomers may have differing substrate specificities or affinities. For example, an active tetramer derived from Mch3a/CMH-1/ICE-LAP3 and CPP32 precursors may have a slightly different activity than a tetramer derived solely from CPP32 precursors. Secondly, alternately spliced, inactive isoforms may differentially regulate the activity of active family members - Mch3a may have a greater affinity for, and therefore be better regulated by, Mch3ß than CPP32, for example. Thirdly, the ability of ICE/Ced-3 proteases to autoactivate may differ between family members - ICE may be more autocatalytic than CPP32. In addition, a proteolytic cascade may be in effect - some ICE/Ced-3 family members can activate other family members and thereby amplify a diversity of apoptotic stimuli.

The other key apoptotic mediators which have been identified, those proteins related to Bcl-2, undergo similar types of regulation - there is hetero-oligomerization between family members, and different proteins are alternately spliced to generate differentially active forms - Bcl-xL is a protector while Bcl-xS is a "killer".

Given all of the above, it is extremely difficult to decipher the role of any one protein - ICE/Ced-3 protease or Bcl-2 family member - in any particular form of apoptosis. In order to draw conclusions, therefore, it seems that both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies must be performed. Such is the case with the work presented here on granule-mediated killing. It has been shown that granzyme B can cleave the precursor of CPP32 in *in vitro* studies using granzyme B derived from a "real" source (MTL 2.8.2) and recombinant granzyme B expressed in COS cells. In addition, using cytolytic effectors lacking granzyme B, it has been shown that granzyme B is the only granzyme capable of cleaving pro-CPP32 during granule-mediated killing, and that this cleavage by granzyme B is functionally related to the ability to induce rapid DNA fragmentation. Therefore, based on both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies, it is safe to conclude that CPP32 represents an intracellular granzyme B substrate.

Two other members of the CPP32 family add complexity to the study of this protease - both Mch2a and Mch3a/CMH-I/ICE-LAP3 have been shown to cleave PARP to fragments of sizes similar to those generated by CPP32, suggesting that the PARP-cleaving activity seen during apoptosis may not be attributable solely to CPP32 (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995a, 1995b; Duan et al., 1996; Lippke et al., 1996). Indeed, both CPP32 and Mch3 $\alpha$  have similar kinetic constants for cleaving a synthetic substrate containing the DEVD sequence, and both are equivalently inhibited by Ac-DEVD-CHO ( $K_{i,CPP32} = 0.2 \text{ nM}$ ;  $K_{i,Mch3\alpha} = 1.8 \text{ nM}$  [Nicholson et al., 1995; Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995b]) suggesting that both CPP32 and Mch3α may cleave PARP during apoptosis. Interestingly, CPP32 is able to cleave and activate the Mch3a precursor, but not vice versa, suggesting that Mch3a activity may depend, at least in part, on the activity of CPP32, and further suggesting the existence of a proteolytic cascade. Therefore, in vivo, an apoptotic stimulus may result in activation of CPP32 and/or Mch3a and both of these proteases may cleave PARP (and other cellular substrates). The demonstration that Mch3 $\alpha$  subunits can form active complexes with CPP32 subunits (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995b) further complicates this picture. The high homology between these two proteases suggests that pro-Mch3 $\alpha$  may also act as a granzyme B substrate, as well as pro-CPP32, a hypothesis which has recently been confirmed (Gu et al., 1996; Chinnaiyan et al., 1996b). Interestingly, granzyme B appears to cleave pro-Mch3 $\alpha$  more efficiently than it cleaves pro-CPP32, implying that Mch3 $\alpha$  may represent a "better" substrate than pro-CPP32. In addition, granzyme B has also been found to cleave and activate the related protease FLICE/MACH (Muzio et al., 1996). Taken together, these studies suggest that the precursors of proteases related to CPP32 are the primary targets of granzyme B during granule-mediated cytotoxicity.

Interestingly, while granzyme B seems uniquely involved in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation, it does not appear to play a unique role in the induction of membrane damage. However, the demonstration of synergy between granzymes A and B (Nakajima *et al.*, 1995a) has suggested that these proteases act coordinately to induce membrane damage. Therefore, in the absence of granzyme B, granzyme A may mediate all the membrane damage seen and thereby mask the role of granzyme B. Indeed, this seems to be the case since GB KO effectors were initially reported to have substantially reduced DNA fragmentation but only slightly reduced cytolysis (Heusel *et al.*, 1994), suggesting that granzyme B plays no autonomous role in inducing membrane damage. In contrast, in NK cells granzyme B seems to play a unique role in the induction of membrane damage (Shresta *et al.*, 1995).

Furthermore, CTLs derived from granzyme A deficient mice are reported to be indistinguishable from CTLs derived from control mice (Ebnet *et al.*, 1995). In this instance, if granzyme B and granzyme A share common cellular substrates for inducing membrane damage then granzyme B activity could mask the effect of knocking out granzyme A activity. In order to confirm this hypothesis, mice deficient in both granzyme A and granzyme B should be generated. If granzymes A and B share common substrates then it would be likely that CTLs derived from the double knock-out mice would be unable to induce both <sup>51</sup>Cr and [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine release. Of course, a role for perforin, or other granule proteins, in the induction of the cytoplasmic events of apoptotic death cannot be ruled out.

Any role for granzyme A in the induction of DNA fragmentation and/or membrane damage is not likely to be mediated by the ICE/Ced-3 proteases, however, since granzyme A does not have the correct substrate specificity for activation of these enzymes (granzyme A cleaves after Arg/Lys). Indeed, our data using granzyme A revealed that although granzyme A can cleave pro-CPP32, the fragment generated is not of correct size to yield active enzyme (Chapter IV, Darmon *et al.*, 1995). However, the results of Chapter V have revealed the existence of a pathway to DNA fragmentation which is independent of both granzyme B and CPP32-like activity. It is therefore likely that this could represent a pathway regulated by granzyme A.

Unfortunately, the studies of Fas-mediated cytotoxicity are less clear cut than those of granule-mediated killing - only *in vivo* data is available and is somewhat confusing. In some cell lines, no evidence of CPP32 cleavage was seen, while in others, partial cleavage was seen. In no cell line was CPP32 completely cleaved as it is in granule-mediated killing. However, it is possible that Mch3 $\alpha$ /CMH-1/ICE-LAP3 or a related protease was activated in these cells and was responsible for DNA fragmentation. This is unlikely however, since in cells in which CPP32 was not cleaved the DEVD-CHO inhibitor (inhibitor 6; Chapter VI; Darmon and Bleackley, 1996) had no effect on DNA fragmentation. Since Mch3 $\alpha$ /CMH-1-ICE-LAP3 and CPP32 are equivalently sensitive to this peptide aldehyde (Fernandes-Alnemri *et al.*, 1995b), this suggests that neither CPP32 nor Mch3 $\alpha$  are involved in the induction of DNA fragmentation during Fas-mediated cytotoxicity. Therefore, in cells in which CPP32 is not cleaved, another pathway seems to be responsible for the induction of DNA fragmentation, which is independent of these enzymes. Obviously further work is required to resolve this second mechanism.

One intriguing result from the Fas experiments was the finding that an ICE/Ced-3 protease is involved in the induction of both the cytoplasmic and nuclear

events of apoptosis in response to Fas ligation. Although the identification of this protease is unknown, this data suggests that this protease may be at the top of the cascade which culminates in target cell DNA fragmentation (possibly through activation of CPP32/Mch2 $\alpha$ /Mch3 $\alpha$ /CMH-1/ICE-LAP3) and the cytoplasmic changes (possibly through cleavage of a cytoplasmic protein) seen during target cell apoptosis. Identification of this protease is therefore critical to further elucidating the individual roles of the ICE/Ced-3 proteases during apoptosis, as well as the mechanisms involved in Fas-mediated cytotoxicity.

Importantly, two groups have recently reported the identification of an ICE/Ced-3 protease, named FLICE/MACH, which interacts with activated Fas as part of the death-inducing signaling complex (Boldin *et al.*, 1996; Muzio *et al.*, 1996). This protease contains a domain homologous to a domain found in FADD/MORT1, a protein which also contains a death domain through which it interacts with Fas. Therefore, FADD/MORT1 seems to act as an adaptor molecule, allowing FLICE/MACH to interact with Fas. Since FLICE/MACH associates with the Fas protein following Fas ligation, it is ideally suited to being an initiator of apoptosis. It remains to be seen whether FLICE/MACH subsequently activates other ICE/Ced-3 proteases and whether it is inhibited by inhibitor 2, but its discovery is very exciting given our studies using inhibitors which demonstrate the existence of a central ICE/Ced-3 protease.

#### **B. A MODEL FOR CTL-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY**

The results outlined above lead to the following model for CTL-mediated cytotoxicity, shown in Figure VII-1. During granule-mediated cytotoxicity, granzymes A and B enter the target cell, probably through channels formed by perforin. Granzyme B cleaves and activates CPP32, and probably other related family members, which then go on to cleave PARP, DNA-PK, U1-70kDa, SREBPs, D4-GDI, and possibly other cellular substrates. CPP32 may also be able to activate other family members in a proteolytic cascade. Granzyme B may also have other cellular substrates involved in the induction of target cell membrane damage. Identical or similar substrates may be cleaved by granzyme A. Together these cleavages result in the induction of cell death, it seems that granzyme A and B may be the primary mediators of granule-mediated killing. In addition to the pathway regulated by granzyme B, an alternate pathway to DNA fragmentation exists

which is independent of granzyme B/CPP32-like activity, and may be regulated by granzyme A.

During Fas-mediated cytotoxicity, a key ICE/Ced-3 protease, possibly FLICE/MACH, is activated and seems responsible for inducing both DNA and membrane damage. This protease may proceed to cleave and activate a CPP32 family member and induce DNA fragmentation. This protease likely also cleaves other cellular substrates and induces the morphological changes of apoptosis. Additionally, the alternate pathway to DNA fragmentation which is apparent in granule-mediated killing also seems to be involved during Fas-mediated killing and does not require the CPP32 proteases.

One intriguing possibility for regulating the CPP32-independent pathway to DNA fragmentation are the RNA-binding proteins TIA-1 and TIAR. The 15-kDa isoform of TIA-1 is localized to the lytic granules of CTLs (Anderson *et al.*, 1990; Cesano *et al.*, 1993) and has been found to induce DNA fragmentation in digitoninpermeabilized cells (Tian *et al.*, 1991), while TIAR translocates from the nucleus to the cytoplasm during Fas-mediated killing (Taupin *et al.*, 1995). Furthermore, a kinase activated following Fas ligation specifically phosphorylates the 40- and 53-kDa isoforms of TIA-1 (Tian *et al.*, 1995). Thus, one idea is that these proteins could initiate a chain of events during apoptosis which results in target cell DNA fragmentation. Alternatively, these proteins may interfere with a cell's splicing and/or translation reactions and therefore selectively produce apoptosis-inducing forms of the ICE/Ced-3 proteases and the Bcl-2 family. Thus, a critical question in determining the role of these proteins will be the identification of the RNA sequences to which they bind.

#### FIGURE VII-1: Model for CTL-Mediated Cytotoxicity.

Pathways which are based on experimental evidence are indicated by solid lines, proposed pathways by dashed lines.

During granule-mediated cytotoxicity, the granule proteins enter the target cell through perforin pores. Granzyme B cleaves CPP32 (and possibly related family members), which may or may not activate other ICE/Ced-3 family members, and eventually leads to cleavage of PARP, U1-70kDa and DNA-PK. Granzyme A may induce membrane damage by cleaving an as-yet-unidentified cellular substrate. Granzyme B may also be able to induce membrane damage. There is also an alternate pathway to DNA fragmentation which is granzyme B and CPP32 independent.

During Fas-mediated apoptosis, ligation of Fas results in initiation of a death signal, leading to the activation of an ICE/Ced-3 protease, possibly FLICE/MACH. This protease is involved in the induction of both the nuclear and cytoplasmic changes of apoptosis. The protease may cleave and activate members of the CPP32 family of ICE/Ced-3 proteases, and may have cellular substrates which are involved in the induction of membrane damage. In addition, a pathway which is independent of the CPP32 proteases exists, which results in DNA fragmentation.



#### C. IMPLICATIONS OF ACTIVATION OF CPP32-LIKE PROTEASES

One important area of investigation in the future will be how activation of CPP32 (and related proteases) is related to the induction of DNA fragmentation and apoptosis. Although this functional relationship has been demonstrated in both granule- and Fas-based cytotoxicity, and a number of substrates for the CPP32 proteases have been identified, the mechanism of induction of DNA fragmentation, and relationship to apoptosis, is unknown. The following is a summary of some of the potential consequences of cleavage and activation of the CPP32 proteases during apoptosis, by examining the roles of cleavage of proteins which have been identified as substrates for these enzymes.

#### 1. PARP

The first substrate identified for CPP32 was poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP). PARP is a 113-kDa nuclear protein which transfers the ADP-ribose moiety from nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) in a DNA-dependent manner to a selected number of protein acceptors involved in chromatin architecture and DNA metabolism (heteromodification) as well as to itself (automodification) (reviewed by Lindahl *et al.*, 1995; de Murcia and Ménissier de Murcia, 1994). In this capacity, PARP is involved in the maintenance of genome integrity and chromatin structure (Ding *et al.*, 1992; Smulson *et al.*, 1994; Ding and Smulson, 1994) as well as in DNA repair (Satoh and Lindahl, 1992).

PARP itself is a multifunctional enzyme and can be divided into three domains (Kameshita *et al.*, 1984): a 46-kDa amino terminal domain containing two zinc-fingerlike motifs (Ménissier de Murcia *et al.*, 1989; Gradwohl *et al.*, 1990) and a nuclear localization signal (Schreiber *et al.*, 1992); a 22-kDa central automodification domain containing the glutamic acid residues which act as acceptors of poly(ADP-ribose); and a 54-kDa carboxy terminal NAD-binding domain which contains all the sequences required for PARP catalytic activity.

During "normal" cellular proliferation, PARP scans the cellular DNA through its DNA binding domain in order to mair ain genome stability. Upon finding strand breaks, PARP binds the DNA through its zinc-fingers. This results in the activation of PARP through a conformational change (Ohgushi *et al.*, 1980). PARP proceeds to ADP-ribosylate surrounding proteins, especially histones, as well as itself. It is currently believed that the key acceptor of ADP-ribose is actually PARP itself, however, it is unknown whether one PARP molecule ADP-ribosylates autocatalytically, or whether a second PARP molecule is recruited to act as acceptor (Lindahl *et al.*, 1995). The accumulation of negative charges on PARP and the chromosomal acceptor proteins, due to ADP-ribosylation, reduces the affinity of these proteins for the DNA. PARP and the chromosomal proteins fall off the DNA, allowing the DNA repair machinery access to the damaged site (Satoh and Lindahl, 1992). The binding of PARP to DNA strand breaks could also slow down the progress of the DNA replication fork causing DNA polymerases to stall close to strand breaks occupied by PARP. It is also possible that PARP could interact with components of the replication machinery since PARP has been found to copurify with DNA replicative forks, topoisomerase I (Ferro *et al.*, 1983) and DNA polymerase  $\alpha$  (Simbulan *et al.*, 1993). By stalling the replication process, PARP enables a cell to repair damaged DNA before it is transmitted to future generations.

During apoptosis, PARP is activated, presumably as a consequence of the DNA strand breaks generated during DNA fragmentation. It has been proposed that the activation of PARP by DNA strand breaks contributes to the cellular depletion of NAD and ATP which occurs during apoptosis (Berger *et al.*, 1987; Wielckens *et al.*, 1987; Tanizawa *et al.*, 1989; Denisenko *et al.*, 1989; Wielckens and Delfs, 1986). However, Kaufmann *et al.* (1993) found that in cells undergoing chemotherapy-induced apoptosis, PARP was proteolytically processed to two fragments of Mr 89-kDa and 24-kDa. The 89-kDa fragment, which contains the catalytic domain, retains only basal level activity. To reconcile this apparent paradox - that is, that PARP activation contributes to NAD depletion and that PARP is cleaved to a less active form during apoptosis. They found that the majority of cellular NAD was depleted prior to PARP cleavage, that is, while PARP was still in the active 113-kDa form. Thus, it seems that PARP is initially activated at the onset of apoptosis.

PARP activity may also be linked to the regulation of DNA fragmentation occurring during apoptosis. In 1980, Wyllie reported that treatment of rat thymocytes *in vitro* with glucocorticoid could induce DNA fragmentation. Unlike the "smear" of DNA seen during necrosis, DNA from apoptotic cells had a unique appearance - the DNA fragmented into segments whose sizes were multiples of 180-200 bp, suggesting cleavage only of the linker DNA between nucleosomes. DNA fragmentation has since become a hallmark of apoptosis and is found under almost all conditions, suggesting the presence of an endogenous endonuclease found in multiple cell types (Shimizu *et al.*, 1990; Cohen and Duke, 1984; Odaka *et al.*, 1990).

The earliest detectable change in an apoptotic cell is a rapid, sustained increase in intracellular calcium which suggested that the endonuclease may be calcium-dependent. Hewish and Burgoyne (1973a, 1973b) described an endogenous endonuclease requiring calcium and magnesium for activity and cleaving DNA internucleosomally. This Ca<sup>++</sup>/Mg<sup>++</sup>-dependent endonuclease is constitutively present within the cell (Cohen and Duke, 1984; McConkey *et al.*, 1989) but maintained in an inactive state. Although several attempts have been made, the endonuclease(s) responsible for DNA fragmentation are yet to be identified although one intriguing report attributes nuclease activity to the amino acid isomerases, the cyclophilins (Montague *et al.*, 1994). A recent report has revealed the isolation of an inducible Ca<sup>++</sup>/Mg<sup>++</sup>-dependent endonuclease from lymphocytes (Khodarev and Ashwell, 1996), but it is unclear whether this endonuclease is constitutively expressed.

Earlier studies have found that the Ca++/Mg++-dependent endonuclease is maintained in a repressed state by ADP-ribosylation (Yoshihara et al., 1974, 1975; Tanaka et al., 1984; Rice et al., 1992; Nelipovich et al., 1988). Cleavage of PARP during apoptosis, resulting in decreased levels of activity, may therefore release the inhibition of this endonuclease, since the ADP-ribose moleties on the endonuclease could be rapidly removed by poly(ADP-ribose) glycohydrolase. However, if PARP activation maintains the Ca<sup>++</sup>/Mg<sup>++</sup>-dependent endonuclease in an inactive state, how is this endonuclease initially activated to cause the strand breaks which activate PARP? It now seems that DNA fragmentation occurs in two distinct phases - initially, the DNA is cleaved to produce large (50-300 kb) molecular weight fragments. This cleavage occurs by excision of chromosomal DNA loops (Lagarkova et al., 1995). Subsequently, these large fragments are broken down into oligonucleosomal sized pieces. It is therefore likely that the initial endonuclease activated, which produces the large fragments, is Ca<sup>++</sup>-dependent (Zhivotovsky et al., 1994) but is not regulated by ADP-ribosylation. A likely candidate is DNase  $\gamma$  (Peitsch et al., 1993a; Tanuma and Shiokawa, 1994; Shiokawa et al., 1994) although it has recently been suggested that the DNA fragmentation observed during apoptosis is actually due to the accumulation of frequent single-strand breaks rather than due to double strand breaks (Peitsch et al., 1993b). The strand breaks generated by the endonuclease could lead to activation of PARP. PARP could deplete the cell's NAD and ATP levels, prior to being proteolytically processed. Proteolytic processing of PARP would allow activation of the Ca++/Mg++-dependent nuclease, which then allows internucleosomal DNA fragmentation to proceed.

It has also been proposed that modification of histone H1 by PARP may alter chromatin structure by either altering nucleosome structure or by opening up the chromatin (by having PARP preferentially bind histone H1) (Poirier *et al.*, 1982). Indeed, poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation of histone H1 has been found to correlate with DNA fragmentation during apoptosis (Yoon *et al.*, 1996) suggesting that this may indeed be a second role for PARP activation during apoptosis, although the effect of proteolysis on this role is currently unknown. One possibility is that the proteolysis which releases the zinc fingers from the automodification and catalytic domains allows the zinc fingers to remain bound to the DNA and thereby maintain the chromatin in an open conformation.

Alternatively, inactivation of PARP by proteolysis, mediated by CPP32 and its related proteases, may simply cripple a cell's DNA repair system, thereby allowing DNA fragmentation to proceed.

#### 2. DNA-PK

DNA-dependent protein kinase is actually a heterotrimer consisting of the Ku heterodimer (p70 and p80 subunits) and the catalytic subunit, DNA-PK<sub>CS</sub> (p350). The catalytic subunit contains a region of homology to phosphatidylinositol kinases (Hartley *et al.*, 1995; Poltoratsky *et al.*, 1995) and is a serine/threonine kinase whose activity is regulated by association with Ku.

The function of DNA-PK has recently become evident through the merging of two distinct fields - those studying DNA double-strand-break (DSB) repair and those studying V(D)J recombination, the process by which B and T lymphocytes are able to generate antigen receptors with diverse specificity. These fields are common in that both processes require the repair of DSBs through a process of recombination. Indeed, the necessity of DNA-PK in these diverse processes is evidenced by mice with severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID). These mice lack functional B and T lymphocytes due to the inability to carry out V(D)J recombination. It is now believed that a mutation in the p350 subunit of DNA-PK is responsible for the SCID phenotype (Kirchgessner *et al.*, 1995; Blunt *et al.*, 1995; Boubnov and Weaver 1995; Peterson *et al.*, 1995; Miller *et al.*, 1995; reviewed by Jackson and Jeggo, 1995).

When DSBs occur in DNA, these are recognized by the Ku heterodimer. The Ku70 subunit actually recognizes the DNA ends (Zhang and Yaneva, 1992), while Ku80 possesses DNA helicase activity, and may assist in unwinding DNA in preparation for repair by recombination (Tuteja *et al.*, 1994). Once the Ku heterodimer is bound to the DNA, it forms a p350 binding site. The p350 catalytic

subunit then joins the complex and is activated (Suwa *et al.*, 1994). Active, heterotrimeric DNA-PK then phosphorylates surrounding DNA-bound proteins, including transcription factors (such as Fos and Jun [Abate *et al.*, 1993; reviewed by Finnie *et al.*, 1993]), and RNA polymerase I. Phosphorylation of RNA polymerase I specifically represses promoter-directed transcription initiation (Labhart *et al.*, 1995; Kuhn *et al.*, 1995). In this manner, DNA-PK may regulate gene expression by regulation of transcriptional activity thereby ensuring DNA repair prior to gene expression. DNA-PK is also able to autophosphorylate, an event which leads to its inactivation (Chan and Lees-Miller, 1996). In this regard, DNA-PK is similar to PARP. Its activity is activated by DNA strand breaks, and its activity is responsible for its subsequent inactivation (much the same way that PARP binding to DNA activates the enzyme, it ADP-ribosylates itself, and then falls off the DNA as a result).

DNA-PK also appears to be directly involved in the repair of DSBs. Although the exact mechanism of action is currently unknown, one possibility is that DNA-PK functions by maintaining the ends of a strand break in close association until they can be religated (Jeggo *et al.*, 1995). In addition to this structural role, DNA-PK may phosphorylate and activate enzymes involved in the repair/recombination processes. Finally, recombination/repair may be enhanced by the inhibition of transcription factors in the area.

During apoptosis, DNA-PK is proteolytically processed by CPP32 (and probably related proteases [Casciola-Rosen *et al.*, 1995; 1996; Song *et al.*, 1996]). The target of this proteolytic event is the p350 subunit and proteolysis removes the amino terminal domains containing a leucine zipper motif from the carboxy terminal kinase domain.

The role of proteolysis of p350 during apoptosis is currently unknown although it is interesting to note that proteolysis separates key functional domains, as it does in PARP cleavage. It is known that proteolysis reduces the kinase activity of DNA-PK<sub>CS</sub> rendering it inefficient at DSB repair (Casciola-Rosen *et al.*, 1996). Thus, this may represent a second mechanism by which the CPP32 enzymes cripple a cell's DNA repair system, thereby allowing DNA fragmentation to proceed. Further studies should help illuminate the role of this proteolysis in the induction of apoptosis.

#### 3. U1-70kDa

The U1 small nuclear ribonucleoprotein is essential for the splicing of premRNA and functions by recognizing the 5' splice site in conjunction with a family of Ser/Arg rich proteins (the SR proteins) which may bridge the 5' and 3' splice sites (Tarn and Steitz, 1995). Individual SR proteins have distinct abilities to promote the interaction of U1 with alternative 5' splice sites suggesting they play a distinct role in regulating 5' splice site selection (Zahler and Roth, 1995). The activity of U1 depends on both the RNA and protein components of the particle (reviewed by Lamond, 1993). U1-70kDa is functionally important in the splicing reaction, and its activity depends upon its state of phosphorylation. Thus, when U1-70kDa is thiophosphorylated, its activity is inhibited and splicing cannot occur (Tazi et al., 1993). Like PARP and DNA-PK, U1-70kDa is one of a series of autoantigens which are proteolytically processed during apoptosis by CPP32 (Casciola-Rosen et al., 1994b, 1995), and possibly other, related proteases. Proteolysis releases the RNAbinding domain of U1-70kDa from the distal Arg-rich region (Query et al., 1989; Casciola-Rosen et al., 1996), again resulting in the separation of key functional domains.

The effect of proteolytic cleavage of U1-70kDa on its activity, and splicing in general, is currently unknown. Overexpression of the carboxy terminal domain of U1-70kDa has been shown to have a dominant negative effect on mRNA splicing and transport to the cytoplasm (Romac and Keene, 1995). This carboxy terminal region contains Ser/Arg-rich regions. Interestingly, one of the fragments generated by CPP32 cleavage of U1-70kDa contains a Ser/Arg-rich region and therefore release of this fragment would likely have similar effects to overexpression of the carboxy terminus. Since repair pathways depend on new mRNA synthesis, cleavage of U1-70kDa during apoptosis may cripple repair by inhibiting RNA splicing. Additionally, five members of the SR family of proteins contain a DXXD sequence, which is potentially recognized by CPP32, just upstream of their SR domains (Casciola-Rosen *et al.*, 1996). These proteins may also be cleaved by CPP32 resulting in the liberation of multiple SR domains during apoptosis which could abolish RNA splicing. Further work is required to more clearly define the role of proteolysis of U1-70kDa in apoptosis.

#### 4. SREBPs

Sterol-regulated proteolytic cleavage of SREBPs represents a central mechanism of control of cholesterol levels in animal cells. These membrane-bound

transcription factors consist of an amino terminal domain containing sequences of a transcription factor belonging to the basic helix-loop-helix-leucine zipper family (Yokoyama *et al.*, 1993; Hua *et al.*, 1993). Following this domain are two hydrophobic sequences which are responsible for membrane attachment to the nuclear and ER membranes. Finally, the proteins have long carboxy terminal extensions (Sato *et al.*, 1994; Hua *et al.*, 1995). In the cell, the protein is oriented such that both the amino and carboxy termini are in the cell's cytoplasm, and the loop between the transmembrane domains is found in the lumon of the ER.

In sterol-depleted cells a protease cleaves the SREBPs at a site just prior to the first transmembrane domain, thereby releasing the amino terminus (transcription factor domain). The freed transcription factor can then translocate to the nucleus, where it activates transcription of the low density lipoprotein receptor (Yokoyama *et al.*, 1993), farnesyl diphosphate synthase (Ericsson *et al.*, 1996), 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase (Vallet *et al.*, 1996) and acetyl coenzyme A carboxylase (Lopez *et al.*, 1996) genes. As sterols accumulate within the cell, cleavage of the SREBPs is reduced and any active SREBP in the nucleus is degraded.

Although the protease responsible for SREBP activation under normal conditions is unknown, recent data has shown that both CPP32 and Mch3 $\alpha$ /CMH-1/ICE-LAP3 cleave the SREBPs at a similar site to that used by the natural activator of SREBPs during apoptosis induced by staurosporine, etoposide or anti-Fas antibody (Wang *et al.*, 1996; Pai *et al.*, 1996). The site has the sequence  $D_{\rm S}$ EPD-S which is quite similar to the cleavage site recognized in PARP (DEVD). The role of this cleavage, if any, during apoptosis is unknown. One possibility is that this represents a fortuitous coincidence. That is, following CPP32 activation in the cytosol, CPP32 travels to the nucleus. If SREBPs are at the nuclear membrane, and contain a putative cleavage site for CPP32, it could be that they are cleaved by CPP32 as it enters the nucleus, and cleavage plays no role in apoptosis. Alternatively, sterols may play an as yet undetermined role in apoptosis, and CPP32 may facilitate this role by activating genes (by cleaving SREBPs) which control sterol metabolism. Further work in this area will hopefully shed some light on this intriguing discovery.

#### **III. FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Of critical importance in the future will be the determination of the commitment step during apoptosis. Numerous events during apoptosis have been identified, but the truly essential event remains elusive. Although a number of reports have detailed activation of CPP32 (and related proteases) during apoptosis in a

variety of systems, the work outlined here has demonstrated that CPP32 activation may not be critical to all forms of cell death although it clearly plays a role in granulemediated cytotoxicity. The results have shown that both membrane damage and, to some extent, DNA fragmentation can occur in the absence of granzyme B (which activates the CPP32 proteases during granule-mediated killing) and in the presence of an inhibitor of CPP32 proteases. Additionally, the data have shown that CPP32 is not activated during Fas-mediated killing in all target cells, and represents the first example of a system where CPP32 is not active during apoptosis. Based on these studies, it seems safe to say that while CPP32 activation may be required for the rapid induction of DNA fragmentation during apoptosis, both DNA fragmentation and apoptosis can occur in the absence of CPP32. Thus, the identification of the "commitment" event is essential to a further understanding of both apoptosis and CTL-mediated cytotoxicity. One approach to this problem is the study of cells in which proteins implicated in cell death have been knocked out. For example, if inhibition of DNA repair processes is a critical event in apoptosis, then studies of cells lacking certain repair pathways shoudl reveal this. A PARP "knockout" mouse has already been generated (Wang et al., 1995b) and the SCID mouse lacks DNA-PKcs. If inhibition of repair is critical, and cleavage of PARP and DNA-PKcs by CPP32-like proteases contributes to this, then cells derived from these mice should be more susceptible to death since one of their repair pathways is already deficient. As more "knockout" mice are generated, the role of ICE/Ced-3 protease cleavages can be easily tested.

Alternatively, a cell may possess multiple, parallel pathways which culminate in cell death rather than one central death pathway. This stands to reason when the importance of programmed cell death is considered. After all, this is the mechanism by which organisms get rid of unwanted cells, cells which have developed improperly, viral-infected cells, tumourigenic cells, and is also involved in the maintenance of tissue homeostasis. In this regard, cell death is as important to an organism as cell division. Therefore, it is likely that any one cell can undergo cell death through a number of pathways rather than one. As an example, consider the removal of viral-infected cells, mediated by CTLs. If only one cell death pathway exists, a virus would simply need to overcome that one pathway in order to circumvent a host's immune system. However, if the host possesses multiple mediators of cell death then it can ensure that viral infection can be dealt with. Indeed, although some viruses are able to synthesize inhibitors of ICE (and related enzymes), CTLs may be able to bypass the viral inhibition by possessing multiple lytic mediators with multiple cellular targets. If there are actually parallel pathways to apoptosis, which seems likely given the importance of this process, then a crucial area of future research will be to determine which mediators belong to which pathway, and how the various pathways intersect. Again, the use of knockout mice will contribute to these studies.

Another important aspect to consider would be the identification of the initial event during Fas-mediated apoptosis. Although much effort has been expended on the role of ICE/Ced-3 proteases during Fas-mediated killing, it remains unclear how the protease cascade becomes activated. A likely candidate is FLICE/MACH, but further studies are required to more clearly define the role of this protease. The death signal generated by Fas ligation is also known to contain a number of components, including protein kinases and ceramide, and seems to be initiated by a signaling complex associated with Fas. How are these mediators linked to Fas ligation and ICE/Ced-3 protease activity? The finding that an ICE-like enzyme is responsible for the generation of ceramide during death induced by the *Drosophila* death domain-containing protein REAPER (Pronk *et al.*, 1996) suggests that an ICE-like activity may initiate ceramide release but the mechanism involved here remains to be determined.

The studies presented here have shown that a second pathway to DNA fragmentation exists, which is not mediated by CPP32 proteases. This pathway is utilized in both granule- and Fas-mediated cytotoxicity and may be a characteristic of apoptosis in general. The elucidation of the nature of this pathway, and the proteins involved, will be crucial not only to the study of CTL-mediated cytotoxicity, but also to apoptosis.

Finally, further elucidation of the individual roles of the ICE/Ced-3 and Bcl-2 family members will need to be carried out. One problem with the study of these proteins is the nature of their interaction - within the families there are numerous oligomerizations possible, with the result that overexpression or knock-out studies may only indicate the result of disrupting cellular equilibrium rather than the actual role of the family member of interest. In addition, the use of peptide aldehyde inhibitors cannot distinguish between individual family members - both Mch3/CMH-1/ICE-LAP3 and CPP32 are equivalently inhibited by Ac-DEVD-CHO. Thus, an alternate method of studying these proteins must be developed before further elucidation of the events involved in apoptosis is possible. One possibility is to study these enzymes in isolation in yeast. Studies have reported that overexpression of BAK in yeast results in cell cycle arrest (S.N. Farrow, personal communication),

suggesting that this may be a mechanism of studying these proteins. However, further characterization of yeast cell biology is required before this becomes a general technique.

#### **IV. CONCLUSIONS**

In conclusion, in a few short years, it has been demonstrated that the mechanisms used by CTLs to induce target cell death are identical to those used during physiological cell death. These findings hold exciting potential for the isolation of novel immunosuppressants, however, the mechanisms involved during CTL-mediated cytotoxicity and target cell apoptosis must first be more extensively characterized.

## **CHAPTER VIII - BIBLIOGRAPHY**

,
## **CHAPTER VIII - BIBLIOGRAPHY**

Abate, C., Baker, S.J., Lees-Miller, S.P., Anderson, C.W., Marshak, D.R., and Curran, T. (1993) Dimerization and DNA binding alter phosphorylation of Fos and Jun. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 6766-6770

Abbas, A.K., Lichtman, A.H., and Pober, J.S. Cellular and Molecular Immunology, second edition. (Philadelphia, PA: W.B. Saunders Company, 1994)

Abdelhaleem, M.M., Hatskelzon, L., Dalal, B.I., Gerrard, J.M., and Greenberg, A.H. (1991) Leukophysin: A 28-kDa granule member protein of leukocytes. *J. Immunol.* **147**, 3053-3059

Abdelhaleem, M.M., Hameed, S., Klassen, D., and Greenberg, A.H. (1996) Leukophysin: An RNA helicase A-related molecule identified in cytotoxic T cell granules and vesicles. J. Immunol. **156**, 2026-2035

Albrecht, H. Tschopp, J., and Jongeneel, C.V. (1994) Bel-2 protects from oxidative damage and apoptotic cell death without interfering with activation of NF- $\kappa$ B by TNF. *FEBS Lett.* **351**, 45-48

Alderson, M.R., Tough, T.W., Davis-Smith, T., Braddy, S., Falk, B., Schooley, K.A., Goodwin, R.G., Smith, C.A., Ramsdell, F., and Lynch, D.H. (1995) Fas ligand mediated activation-induced cell death in human T lymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* **181**, 71-77

Allbritton, N.L., Verret, C.R., Wolley, R.C. and Eisen, H.N. (1988a) Calcium ion concentrations and DNA fragmentation in target cell destruction by murine cloned cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 167, 514-527

Allbritton, N.L., Nagler-Anderson, C., Elliot, T.J., Verret, C.R., and Eisen, H.N. (1988b) Target cell lysis by cytotoxic T lymphocytes that lack detectable hemolytic perform activity. *J. Immunol.* **141**, 3243-3248

Alnemri, E.S., Fernandes-Alnemri, T., and Litwack, G. (1995) Cloning and expression of four novel isoforms of human interleukin-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme with different apoptotic activities. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**, 4312-4317

Anderson, P., Nagler-Anderson, C., O'Brien, C., Levine, H., Watkins, S., Slayter, H.S., Blue, M.-L. and Schlossman, S.F. (1990) A monoclonal antibody reactive with a 15-kDa cytoplasmic granule-associated protein defines a subpopulation of CD8+ T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 144, 574-582

Anel, A., Richleri, G.V., and Kleinfeld, A.M. (1994a) A tyrosine phosphorylation requirement for cytotoxic T lymphocyte degranulation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 9506-9513

Anel, A., Buferne, M., Boyer, C., Schmitt-Verhulst, A.M., and Golstein, P. (1994b) T cell receptor-induced Fas ligand expression in cytotoxic T lymphocyte clones is blocked by protein tyrosine kinase inhibitors and cyclosporin A. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **24**, 2469-2476

Atkinson, E.A. and Bleackley, R.C. (1995) Mechanisms of lysis by cytotoxic T cells. *Crit, Rev. Immunol.* **15**, 359-384

Atkinson, E.A., Ostergaard, H., Kane, K., Pinkoski, M.J., Caputo, A., Olszowy, M.W., and Bleackley, R.C. (1996) A physical interaction between the cell death protein Fas and the tyrosine kinase p59<sup>fynT</sup>. J. Biol. Chem. **271**, 5968-5971

Banner, D.W., D'Arcy, A., Janes, W., Gentz, R., Schoenfeld, H.J., Broger, C., Loetscher, H., and Lesslauer, W. (1993) Crystal structure of the soluble human 55 kd TNF receptor-human TNF $\beta$  complex: Implications for TNF receptor activation. *Cell* **73**, 431-445

Barber, L.D., and Parham, P. (1993) Peptide binding to major histocompatibility complex molecules. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 9, 163-206

Beidler, D.R., Tewari, M., Friesen, P.D., Poirier, G., and Dixit, V.M. (1995) The baculovirus p35 protein inhibits Fas- and Tumor Necrosis Factor-induced apoptosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 16526-16528

Bellgrau, D., Gold, D., Selawry, H., Moore, J., Franzusoff, A., and Duke, R.C. (1995) A role for CD95 in preventing graft rejection. *Nature* 377, 630-632

Bentley, G.A., and Mariuzza, R.A. (1996) The structure of the T cell antigen receptor. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 14, 563-590

Berger, N.A., Berger, S.J., Sudar, D.C., and Distelhorst, C.W. (1987) Role of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide and adenosine triphosphate in glucocorticoid-induced cytotoxicity in susceptible lymphoid cells. *J. Clin. Invest.* **79**, 1558-1563

Berke, G. (1995) The CTL's kiss of death. Cell 81, 9-12

Berke, G., and Rosen, D. (1988) Highly lytic *in vivo* primed cytolytic T lymphocytes devoid of lytic granules and BLT-esterase activity acquire these constituents in the presence of T cell growth factors upon blast transformation *in vitro*. *J. Immunol.* **141**, 1429-1436

Blakely, A., Gorman, K., Ostergaard, H., Svoboda, K., Liu, C.-C., Young, J.D.-E., and Clark, W.R. (1987) Resistance of cloned cytotoxic T lymphocytes to cell-mediated cytotoxicty. *J. Exp. Med.* **166**, 1070-1083

Bleackley, R.C., Duggan, B., Ehrman, N., and Lobe, C.G. (1988a) Isolation of two cDNA sequences which encode cytotoxic cell proteases. *FEBS Lett.* **234**, 153-159

Bleackley, R.C., Lobe, C.G., Duggan, B., Ehrman, N., Fregeau, C., Meier, M., Letellier, M., Havele, C., Shaw, J., and Paetkau, V. (1988b) The isolation and characterization of a family of serine protease genes expressed in activated cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Immunol. Rev.* **103**, 6-19

Bleackley, R.C., Paetkau, V., and Havele, C. (1982) Cellular and molecular properties of an antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte line. *J. Immunol.* **128**, 758-767

Blumenthal, R., Millard, P.J., Henkart, M.P., Reynolds, C.W., and Henkart P.A. (1984) Liposomes as targets for granule cytolysin from cytotoxic large granular lymphocyte tumors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **81**, 5551-5555.

Blunt, T., Finnie, N.J., Taccioli, G.E., Smith, G.C.M., Demengeot, J., Gottlieb, T.M., Mizuta, R., Varghese, A.J., Alt, F.W., Jeggo, P.A., and Jackson, S.P. (1995) Defective DNA-dependent protein kinase activity is linked to V(D)J recombination and DNA repair defects associated with the murine *scid* mutation. *Cell* **80**, 813-823

Bochan, M.R., Goebel, W.S., and Brahmi, Z. (1995) Stably transfected antisense granzyme B and perforin constructs inhibit human granule-mediated lytic ability. *Cell. Immunol.* **164**, 234-239

Boise, L.H., González-Garcia, M., Postema, C.E., Ding, L., Lindsten, T., Turka, L.A., Mao, X., Nuñez, G., and Thompson, C.B. (1993) *bcl-x*, a *bcl-2*-related gene that functions as a dominant regulator of apoptotic cell death. *Cell* **74**, 597-608

Boldin, M.P., Mett, I.L., Varfolomeev, E.E., Chumakov, I., Shemer-Avin, Y., Camonis, J.H., and Wallach, D. (1995a) Self-association of the 'death domains' of the p55 tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor and the Fas/APO-1 prompts signaling for TNF and Fas/APO-1 effects. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 387-391

Boldin, M.P., Varfolomeev, E.E., Pancer, Z., Mett, I.L., Camonis, J.H., and Wallach, D. (1995b) A novel protein that interacts with the death domain of Fas/APO1 contains a sequence motif related to the death domain. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 7795-7798

Boldin, M.P., Goncharov, T.M., Goltsev, Y.V., and Wallach, D. (1996) Involvement of MACH, a novel MORT1/FADD-interacting protease, in Fas/APO-1 and TNF receptor-induced cell death. *Cell* **85**, 803-815

Boubnov, N.V. and Weaver, D.T. (1995) SCID cells are deficient in Ku and replication protein A phosphorylation by the DNA-dependent protein kinase. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15**, 5700-5706

Boulakia, C.A., Chen, G., Ng, F.W.H., Teodoro, J.G., Branton, P.E., Nicholson, D.W., Poirier, G.G., and Shore, G.C. (1996) Bcl-2 and adenovirus E1B 19 kDA protein prevent E1A-induced processing of CPP32 and cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. *Oncogene* 12, 529-535

Boyd, J.M., Gallo, G.J., Elangovan, B., Houghton, A.B., Malstrom, S., Avery, B.J., Ebb, R.G., Subramanian, T., Chittenden, T., Lutz, R.J., and Chinnadurai, G. (1995) Bik1, a novel death-inducing protein shares a distinct sequence motif with Bcl-2 family proteins and interacts with viral and cellular survival-promoting proteins. *Oncogene* 11, 1921-1927

Brancolini, C., Benedetti, M., and Schneider, C. (1995) Microfilament reorganization during apoptosis: The role of Gas2, a possible substrate for ICE-like proteases. *EMBO J.* 14, 5179-5190

Brogan, M. and Targan, S. (1986) Evidence for involvement of serine proteases in the late stages of the natural killer cell lytic reaction. *Cell. Immunol.* **103**, 426-433

Brunet, J.F., Dosseto, M., Denizot, F., Mattei, M.-G., Clark, W.R., Haqqi, T.M., Ferrier, P., Nabholz, M., Schmitt-Verhulst, A.-M., Luciani, M.-F., and Golstein, P. (1986) The inducible cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated gene transcript CTLA-1 sequence and gene localization to mouse chromosome 14. *Nature* 322, 268-271

Brunner, T., Mogil, R.J., LaFace, D., Yoo, N.J., Mahboubi, A., Echeverri, F., Martin, S.J., Force, W.R., Lynch, D.H., Ware, C.F., and Green, D.R. (1995) Cellautonomous Fas (CD95)/Fas-ligand interaction mediates activation-induced apoptosis in T-cell hybridomas. *Nature* **373**, 441-444

Bump, N.J., Hackett, M., Hugunin, M., Seshagiri, S., Brady, K., Chen, P., Ferenz, C., Franklin, S., Ghayur, T., Li, P., Licari, P., Mankovich, J., Shi, L., Greenberg, A.H., Miller, L.K., and Wong, W.W. (1995) Inhibition of ICE family proteases by baculovirus antiapoptotic protein p35. *Science* **269**, 1885-1888

Burgoyne, R.D. and Morgan, A. (1993) Regulated exocytosis. *Biochem. J.* 293, 305-316

Burkhardt, J.K., Hester, S., and Argon, Y. (1989) Two proteins targeted to the same lytic granule compartment undergo very different posttranslational processing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **86**, 7128-7132

Burkhardt, J.K., Hester, S., Lapham, C.K., and Argon, Y. (1990) The lytic granules of natural killer cells are dual-function organelles combining secretory and prelysosomal compartments. *J. Cell Biol.* **111**, 2327-2340

Burkhardt, J.K., McIlvain, J. Jr., Sheetz, M.P., and Argon, Y (1993) Lytic granules from cytotoxic T cells exhibit kinesin-dependent motility on microtubules *in vitro*. J. Cell Sci. **104**, 151-162

Burns, K., Helgason, C.D., Bleackley, R.C., and Michalak, M. (1992) Calreticulin in T-lymphocytes: Identification of calreticulin in T-lymphocytes and demonstration that activation of T cells correlates with increased levels of calreticulin mRNA and protein. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 19039-19042

Bustelo, X.R., Ledbetter, J.A., and Barbacid, M. (1992) Product of vav protooncogene defines a new class of tyrosine protein kinase substrates. *Nature* 356, 68-71

Cantrell, D. (1996) T cell antigen receptor signal transduction pathways. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 14, 259-274

Caputo, A., Fahey, D., Lloyd, C., Vozab, R., McCairns, E., and Rowe, P.B. (1988) Structure and differential mechanisms of regulation of expression of a serine esterase gene in activated human T lymphocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 6363-6369

Caputo, A., Sauer, D.E.F., and Rowe, P.B. (1990) Nucleotide sequence and genomic organization of a human T lymphocyte serine protease gene. J. Immunol. 145, 737-744

Caputo, A., Garner, R.S., Winkler, U., Hudig, D., and Bleackley, R.C. (1993). Activation of recombinant murine cytotoxic cell proteinase-1 requires deletion of an amino-terminal dipeptide. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 17672-17675

Caputo, A., James, M.N.G., Powers, J.C., Hudig, D., and Bleackley, R.C. (1994). Conversion of the substrate specificity of mouse proteinase granzyme B. *Nature Struct. Biol.* 1, 364-367

Cascino, I., Fiucci, G., Papoff, G., and Ruberti, G. (1995) Three functional soluble forms of the human apoptosis-inducing Fas molecule are produced by alternate splicing. *J. Immunol.* **154**, 2706-2713

Casciola-Rosen, L.A., Anhalt, G., and Rosen, A. (1994a) Autoantigens targeted in systemic lupus erythrematosus are clusetered in two populations of surface structures on apoptotic keratinocytes. J. Exp. Med. 179, 1317-1330

Casciola-Rosen, L.A., Miller, D.K., Anhalt, G.J., and Rosen, A. (1994b) Specific cleavage of the 70-kDa protein component of the U1 small nuclear ribonucleoprotein is a characteristic biochemical feature of apoptotic cell death. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 30757-30760

Casciola-Rosen, L.A., Anhalt, G.J., and Rosen, A. (1995) DNA-dependent protein kinase is one of a subset of autoantigens specifically cleaved early during apoptosis. *J. Exp. Med.* **182**, 1625-1634

Casciola-Rosen, L., Nicholson, D.W., Chong, T., Rowan, K.R., Thornberry, N.A., Miller, D.K., and Rosen, A. (1996) Apopain/CPP32 cleaves proteins that are essential for cellular repair: A fundamental principle of apoptotic death. J. Exp. Med. **183**, 1957-1964

Cerretti, D.P., Kozlosky, C.J., Mosley, B., Nelson, N., Van Ness, K., Greenstreet, T.A., March, C.J., Kronheim, S.R., Druck, T., Cannizzaro, L.A., Huebner, K., and Black, R.A. (1992). Molecular cloning of the interleukin-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme. *Science* **256**, 97-100

Cesano, A., Visonneau, S., Clark, S.C., and Santoli, D. (1993) Cellular and molecular mechanisms of activation of MHC nonrestricted cytotoxic cells by IL-2. *J. Immunol.* **151**, 2943-2957

Chan, A.C., Irving, B.A., Fraser, J.D., and Weiss, A. (1991) The  $\zeta$ -chain is associated with a tyrosine kinase and upon T cell antigen receptor stimulation associates with ZAP-70, a 70 kilodalton tyrosine phosphoprotein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **88**, 9166-9170

Chan, A.C., Iwashima, M., Turck, C.W., and Weiss, A. (1992) ZAP-70: A 70kd protein-tyrosine kinase that associates with the TCR ζ chain. *Cell***71**, 649-662

Chan, D.W., and Lees-Miller, S.P. (1996) The DNA-depen ent protein kinase is inactivated by autophosphorylation of the catalytic subunit. *J. Biol. Chem.* **271**, 8936-8941

Chang, D.J., Ringold, G.M., and Heller, R.A. (1992) Cell killing and induction of manganese superoxide dismutase by tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  is mediated by lipoxygenase metabolites of arachidonic acid. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **188**, 538-546

Chao, D.T., Linette, G.P., Boise, L.H., White, L.S., Thompson, C.B., and Korsmeyer, S.J. (1995) Bcl-xL and Bcl-2 repress a common pathway of cell death. *J. Exp. Med.* **182**, 821-828

Chen, G., Shi, L., Litchfield, D.W., and Greenberg, A.H. (1995) Rescue from granzyme B-induced apoptosis by *Weel* kinase. J. Exp. Med. 181, 2295-2300

Chinnaiyan, A.M., O'Rourke, K., Tewari, M., and Dixit, V.M. (1995). FADD, a novel death domain-containing protein, interacts with the death domain of Fas and initiates apoptosis. *Cell* **81**, 505-512

Chinnaiyan, A.M., Tepper, C.G., Seldin, M.F., O'Rourke, K., Kischkel, F.C., Hellbardt, S., Krammer, P.H., Peter, M.E., and Dixit, V.M. (1996a) FADD/MORT1 is a common mediator of CD95 (Fas/APO-1) and tumor necrosis factor receptor-induced apoptosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* **271**, 4961-4965

Chinnaiyan, A.M., Hanna, W.L., Orth, K., Duan, H., Poirier, G.G., Froelich, C.J., and Dixit, V.M. (1996b) Cytotoxic T-cell-derived granzyme B activates the apoptotic protease ICE-LAP3. *Current Biol.* **6**, 897-899

Chinnaiyan, A.M., Orth, K., O'Rourke, K., Duan, H., Poirier, G.G., and Dixit, V.M. (1996c) Molecular ordering of the cell death pathway: Bel-2 and Bel-xt. function upstream of the CED-3-like apoptotic proteases. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 4573-4576

Chiou, S.K., Tseng, C.C., Rao, L., and White, E. (1994) Functional complementation of the adenovirus E1B 19-kilodalton protein with Bcl-2 in the inhibition of apoptosis in infected cells. *J. Virol.* **68**, 6553-6566

Chirgwin, J.M., Przybyla, A.E., MacDonald, R.J., and Rutter, W.J. (1979). Isolation of biologically active ribonucleic acid from sources enriched in ribonuclease. *Biochemistry* **18**, 5294-5299

Chittenden, T., Harrington, E.A., O'Connor, R., Flemington, C., Lutz, R.J., Evan, G.I., and Guild, B.C. (1995) Induction of apoptosis by the Bel-2 homologue Bak. *Nature* **374**, 733-736

Chiu, V.K., Walsh, C.M., Liu, C.-C., Reed, J.C., and Clark, W.R. (1995) *Bcl-2* blocks degranulation but not *fas*-based cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *J. Immunol.* **154**, 2023-2032

Chow, S.C., Weis, M., Kass, G.E.N., Holmström, T.H., Eriksson, J.E. and Orrenius, S. (1995) Involvement of multiple proteases during Fas-mediated apoptosis in T lymphocytes. *FEBS Lett.* **364**, 134-138

Chu, K., Niu, X., and Williams, L.T. (1995) A Fas-associated protein factor, FAF1, potentiates Fas-mediated apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92, 11894-11898

Cibotti, R., Kanellopoulos, J.M., Cabaniols, J.-P., Halle-Panenko, O., Kosmatopoulos, K., Sercarz, E., and Kourilsky, P. (1992) Tolerance of a self-protein involves its immunodominant but does not involve its subdominant determinants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **89**, 416-420

Cifone, M.G., De Maria, R., Roncaioli, P., Rippo, M.R., Azuma, M., Lanier, L.L., Santoni, A., and Testi, R. (1993) Apoptotic signaling through CD95 (Fas/APO-1) activates an acidic sphingomyelinase. *J. Exp. Med.* **177**, 1547-1552

Cifone, M.G., Roncaioli, R., De Maria, R., Camarda, G., Santoni, A., Ruberti, G., and Testi, R. (1995) Multiple pathways originate at the Fas/APO-1 (CD95) receptor: Sequential involvement of phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C and acidic sphingomyclinase in the propagation of the apoptotic signal. *EMBO J.* **14**, 5859-5868

Cleary, M.L., Smith, S.D., and Sklar, J. (1986) Cloning and structural analysis of cDNAs for bcl-2 and a hybrid bcl-2/immunoglobulin transcript resulting from the t(14;18) translocation. *Cell* 47, 19-28

Clem, R.J., Fechheimer, M., and Miller, L.K. (1991) Prevention of apoptosis by a baculovirus gene during infection of insect cells. *Science* **254**, 1388-1390

Clem, R.J. and Miller, L.K. (1994) Control of programmed cell death by the baculovirus genes *p35* and *iap. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14, 5212-5222

Cleveland, J.L., and Ihle, J.N. (1995) Contenders in FasL/TNF death signaling. Cell 81, 479-482

Clipstone, N.A., and Crabtree, G.R. (1992) Identification of calcineurin as a key signaling enzyme in T-lymphocyte activation. *Nature* **357**, 695-697

Cohen, J.J. (1991) Programmed cell death in the immune system. Adv. Immunol. 50, 55-85

Cohen, J.J., and Duke, R.C. (1984) Glucocorticoid activation of a calcium-dependent endonuclease in thymocyte nuclei leads to cell death. J. Immunol. 132, 38-42

Cohen, J.J., Duke, R.C., Chervenak, R., Sellins, K.S., and Olson, L.K. (1985) DNA fragmentation in targets of CTL: An example of programmed cell death in the immune system. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* **184**, 493-508

Coleman, T.R., Tang, Z., and Dunphy, W.G. (1993) Negative regulation of the weel protein kinase by direct action of the nim1/cdr1 mitotic inducer. *Cell* **72**, 919-929

Cooke, M.P., Abraham, K.M., Forbush, K.A., and Perlmutter, R.M. (1991) Regulation of T cell receptor signaling by a *src* family protein-tyrosine kinase (p59<sup>fyn</sup>). *Cell* **65**, 281-291

Crews, C.M., and Erikson, R.L. (1993) Extracellular signals and reversible protein phosphorylation: what to Mek of it all. *Cell* 74, 215-217

Darmon, A.J., Ehrman, N., Caputo, A., Fujinaga, J., and Bleackley, R.C. (1994) The cytotoxic T cell proteinase granzyme B does not activate interleukin-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme. J. Biol. Chem. **269**, 32043-32046

Darmon, A.J., Nicholson, D.W., and Bleackley, R.C. (1995) Activation of the apoptotic protease CPP32 by cytotoxic T-cell-derived granzyme B. *Nature* **377**, 446-448

Darmon, A.J., Ley. T.J., Nicholson, D.W., and Bleackley, R.C. (1996) Cleavage of CPP32 by granzyme B represents a critical role for granzyme B in the induction of target cell DNA fragmentation. *J. Biol. Chem.*, in press

Darmon, A.J. and Bleackley, R.C. (1996) An ICE-like protease is a key component of Fas-mediated apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem., in press

de Murcia, G. and Ménissier de Murcia, J. (1994) Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase: A molecular nick sensor. *Trends Biol. Sci.* **19**, 172-176

Denisenko, M.F., Soldatenkov, V.A., Belovskaya, L.N., and Filipovich, I.V. (1989) Is the NAD-poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase system the trigger in radiation-induced death of mouse thymocytes? *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.* **56**, 277-285

Dennert, G., and Podack, E.R. (1983) Cytolysis by H-2-specific T killer cells: Assembly of tubular complexes on target membranes. J. Exp. Med. 157, 1483-1495

Dhein, J., Daniel, P.T., Trauth, B.C., Ochm, A., Möller, P., and Krammer, P.H. (1992) Induction of apoptosis by monoclonal antibody anti-APO-1 class switch variants is dependent on cross-linking of APO-1 cell surface antigens. *J. Immunol.* **149**, 3166-3176

Dhein, J., Walczak, H., Bäumler, C., Debatin, K.-M., and Krammer, P.H. (1995) Autocrine T-cell suicide mediated by APO-1/(Fas/CD95). *Nature* 373, 438-441

Ding, R., Pommier, Y., Kang, V.H., and Smulson, M. (1992) Depletion of poly(ADPribose) polymerase by antisense RNA expression results in a delay in DNA strand break rejoining. *J. Biol. Chem.* **267**, 12804-12812

Ding, R. and Smulson, M. (1994) Depletion of nuclear poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase by antisense RNA expression: Influences on genomic stability, chromatin organization, and carcinogen cytotoxicity. *Cancer Res.* 54, 4627-4634

Donaldson, K.L., Goolsby, G., Keiner, P.A., and Wahl, A.F. (1994) Activation of p34<sup>cdc2</sup> coincident with taxol-induced apoptosis. *Cell Growth Differ.* 5, 1041-1050

Dourmashkin, R.R., Deteix, P., Simone, C.B., and Henkart, P. (1980) Electron microscopic demonstration of lesions in target cell membranes associated with antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **43**, 554-560

Dressler, K.A., Mathias, S., and Kolesnick, P.N. (1992) Tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  activates the sphingomyelin signal transduction pathway in a cell-free system. *Science* **255**, 1715-1718

Duan, H., Chinnaiyan, A.M., Hudson, P.L., Wing, J.P., He, W.-W., and Dixit, V.M. (1996) ICE-LAP3, a novel mammalian homologue of the *Caenorhabditis elegans* cell death protein Ced-3 is activated during Fas- and tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 1621-1625

Duke, R.C., Chervenak, R., and Cohen, J.J. (1983) Endogenous endonuclease-induced DNA fragmentation: An early event in cell-mediated cytolysis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **80**, 6361-6365

Duke, R.C., Persechini, P.M., Chang, S., Liu, C.-C., Cohen, J.J., and Young, J.D.-E. (1989) Purified perform induces target cell lysis but not DNA fragmentation. J. Exp. Med. 170, 1451-1456

Dupuis, M., Schaerer, E., Krause, K.-H., and Tschopp, J. (1993) The calciumbinding protein calreticulin is a major constituent of lytic granules in cytolytic T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 177, 1-7

Ebnet, K., Chluba-deTapia, J., Hurtenbach, U., Kramer, M.D., and Simon, M.M. (1991) *In vivo* primed mouse T cells selectively express T cell-specific serine proteinase-1 and proteinase-like molecules granzyme B and C. *Int. Immunol.* **3**, 9-19

Ebnet, K., Hausmann, M., Lehmann-Grube, F., Müllbacher, A., Kopf, M., Lamers, M., and Simon, M.M. (1995) Granzyme A-deficient mice retain potent cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *EMBO J.* 14, 4230-4239

Ehl, S., Hoffmann-Rohrer, U., Nagata, S., Hengartner, H., and Zinkernagel, R. (1996) Different susceptibility of cytotoxic T cells to CD95 (Fas/Apo-1) ligand-mediated cell death after activation in vitro versus in vivo. *J. Immunol.* **156**, 2357-2360

Eischen, C.M., Dick, C.J., and Leibson, P.J. (1994) Tyrosine kinase activation provides an early and requisite signal for Fas-induced apoptosis. *J. Immunol.* **153**, 1947-1954

Eischen, C.M., Schilling, J.D., Lynch, D.H., Krammer, P.H., and Leibson, P.J. (1996) Fc receptor-induced expression of Fas ligand on activated NK cells facilitates cellmediated cytotoxicity and subsequent autocrine NK cell apoptosis. *J. Immunol.* **156**, 2693-2699

Ellis, H.M., and Horvitz, H.R. (1986) Genetic control of programmed cell death in the nematode *C. elegans. Cell* 44, 817-829

Emoto, Y., Manome, Y., Meinhardt, G., Kisaki, H., Kharbanda, S., Robertson, M., Ghayur, T., Wong, W.W., Kamen, R., Weichselbaum, R., and Kufe, D. (1995) Proteolytic activation of protein kinase C  $\delta$  by an ICE-like protease in apoptotic cells. *EMBO J.* **14**, 6148-6156

Enari, M., Hase, A., and Nagata, S. (1995a) Apoptosis by a cytosolic extract from Fas-activated cells. *EMBO J.* 14, 5201-5208

Enari, M., Hug, H., and Nagata, S. (1995b) Involvement of an ICE-like protease in Fas-mediated apoptosis. *Nature* **375**, 78-81

Enari, M., Talanian, R.V., Wong, W.W., and Nagata, S. (1996) Sequential activation of ICE-like and CPP32-like proteases during Fas-mediated apoptosis. *Nature* **380**, 723-726

Ericsson, J., Jackson, S.M., Lee, B.C., and Edwards, P.A. (1996) Sterol regulatory element binding protein binds to a cis element in the promoter of the farnesyl diphosphate synthase gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **93**, 945-950

Farrow, S.N. and Brown, R. (1996) New members of the Bcl-2 family and their protein partners. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Devel.* 6, 45-49

Farrow, S.N., White, J.H.M., Martinou, I., Raven, T., Pun, K.-T., Grinham, C.J., Martinou, J.-C., and Brown, R. (1995) Cloning of a *bcl-2* homologue by interaction with adenovirus E1B 19K. *Nature* **374**, 731-733

Faucheu, C., Diu, A., Chan, A.W.E., Blanchet, A.-M., Miossee, C., Hervé, F., Collard-Dutilleul, V., Gu, Y., Aldape, R.A., Lippke, J.A., Rocher, C., Su, M.S.-S., Livingston, D.J., Hercend, T., and Lalanne, J.-L. (1995) A novel human protease similar to interleukin-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme induces apoptosis in transfected cells. *EMBO J* 14, 1914-1922

Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Litwack, G., and Alnemri, E.S. (1994) CPP32, a novel human apoptotic protein with homology to *Caenorhabditis elegans* cell death protein Ced-3 and mammalian interleukin-1β-converting enzyme. J. Biol. Chem. **269**, 30761-30764

Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Litwack, G., and Alnemri, E.S. (1995a) *Mch2*, a new member of the apoptotic *Ced-3/lce* cysteine protease gene family. *Cancer Res.* 55, 2737-2742

Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Takahashi, A., Armstrong, R., Krebs, J., Fritz, L., Tomaselli, K.J., Wang, L., Yu, Z., Croce, C.M., Salveson, G., Earnshaw, W.C., Litwack, G., and Alnemri. E.S. (1995b) Mch3, a novel human apoptotic cysteine protease highly related to CPP32. *Cancer Res.* 55, 6045-6052

Ferro, A.M., Higgins, N.P., and Olivera, B.M. (1983) Poly(ADP-ribosylation) of a DNA topoisomerase. J. Biol. Chem. 258, 6000-6003

Finnie, N., Gottlieb, T., Hartley, K., and Jackson, S.P. (1993) Transcription factor phosphorylation by the DNA-dependent protein kinase. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 21, 930-935

Fisher, G.H., Rosenberg, F.J., Straus, S.E., Dale, J.K., Middleton, L.A., Lin, A.Y., Strober, W., Lenardo, M.J., and Puck, J.M. (1995) Dominant interfering Fas gene mutations impair apoptosis in human autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome. *Cell* **81**, 935-946

Fotedar, R., Flatt, J. Gupta, S., Margolis, R.L., Fitzgerald, P., Messier, H., and Fotedar, A. (1995) Activation-induced T-cell death is cell cycle dependent and regulated by cyclin B. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15**, 932-942

Fraser, A., and Evan, G. (1996) A license to kill. Cell 85, 781-784

Freeman, R.S., Estus, S., and Johnson, E.M. Jr. (1994) Analysis of cell cycle-related gene expression in postmitotic neurons: Selective induction of cyclin D1 during programmed cell death. *Neuron* **12**, 343-355

French, L.E., Hahne, M., Viard, I., Radlgruber, G., Zanone, R., Becker, K., Müller, C., and Tschopp, J. (1996) Fas and Fas ligand in embryos and adult mice: Ligand expression in several immune-privileged tisses and coexpression in adult tissues characterized by apoptotic cell turnover. *J. Cell. Biol.* **133**, 335-343

Froelich, C.J., Zhang, X., Turbov, J., Hudig, D., Winkler, U., and Hanna, W.L. (1993) Human granzyme B degrades aggrecan proteoglycan in matrix synthesized by chondrocytes. J. Immunol. 151, 7161-7171 Gagliardini, V., Fernandez, P.-A., Lee, R.K.K., Drexler, H.C.A., Rotello, R.J., Fishman, M.C., and Yuan, J. (1994) Prevention of vertebrate neuronal death by the *crmA* gene. *Science* **263**, 826-828

Gammon, G., and Sercarz, E. (1989) How some T cells escape tolerance induction. *Nature* **342**, 183-185

Garcia-Sanz, J.A., MacDonald, H.R., Jenne, D.E., Tschopp, J., and Nabholz, M. (199()) Cell specificity of granzyme gene expression. *J. Immunol.* **145**, 3111-3118

Garner, R., Helgason, C.D., Atkinson, E.A., Pinkoski, M.J., Ostergaard, H.L., Sorensen, O., Fu, A., Lapchak, P.H., Rabinovitch, A., McElhaney, J.E., Berke, G., and Bleackley, R.C. (1994) Characterization of a granule-independent lytic mechanism used by CTL hybridomas. J. Immunol. 153, 5413-5421

Gauen, L.K.T., Kong, A.-N.T., Samelson, L.E., and Shaw, A.S. (1992) p59<sup>fyn</sup> tyrosine kinase associates with multiple T-cell receptor subunits through its unique amino-terminal domain. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **12**, 5438-5446

Geiger, B., Rosen, D., and Berke G. (1982) Spatial relationships of microtubuleorganizing centers and the contact area of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J. Cell Biol.* **95**, 137-143

Germain, R.N. (1994) MHC-dependent antigen processing and peptide presentation: Providing ligands for T lymphocyte activation. *Cell* **76**, 287-299

Germain, R.N., and Margulies, D.H. (1993) The biochemistry and cell biology of antigen processing and presentation. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **11**, 403-450

Gershenfeld, H.K., Hershberger, R.J., Shows, T.B., and Weissman, I.L. (1988) Cloning and chromosomal assignment of a human cDNA encoding a T cell and natural killer cell-specific trypsin-like serine protease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85, 1184-1188

Gershenfeld, H.K., and Weissman, I.L. (1986) Cloning of a cDNA for a T cellspecific serine protease from a cytotoxic T lymphocyte. *Science* 232, 854-858

Glass, A., Walsh, C.M., Lynch, D.H., and Clark, W.R. (1996) Regulation of the Fas lytic pathway in cloned CTL. J. Immunol. 156, 3638-3644

Golstein, P. (1974) Sensitivity of cytotoxic T cells to T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Nature* 252, 81-86

Golstein, P., Ojcius, D.M., and Young, J.D.-E. (1991) Cell death mechanisms and the immune system. *Immunol. Rev.* **121**, 29-65

Golstein, P., Marguet, D., and Depraetere, V. (1995) Homology between reaper and the cell death domains of Fas and TNFR1. *Cell* 81, 185-186

Gould, K.L., Moreno, S., Tonks, N.K., and Nurse, P. (1990) Complementation of the mitotic activator, p80<sup>cdc25</sup>, by a human protein-tyrosine phosphatase. *Science* 250, 1573-1576

Graber, M., June, C.H., Samelson, L.E., and Weiss, A. (1992) The protein-tyrosine kinase inhibitor herbimycin A, but not genestein, specifically inhibits signal transduction by the T cell antigen receptor. *Int. Immunol.* **4**, 1201-121()

Gradwohl, G., Ménissier de Murcia, J.M., Molinete, M., Simonin, F., Koken, M., Hoeijmakers, J.H., and de Murcia, G. (1990) The second zinc-finger domain of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase determines specificity for single-stranded breaks in DNA. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* 87, 2990-2994

Graninger, W.B., Seto, M., Boutain, B., Goldman, P. and Korsmeyer, S.J. (1987) Expression of Bcl-2 and Bcl-2-Ig fusion transcripts in normal and neoplastic cells. *J. Clin. Invest.* **80**, 1512-1515

Griffith, T.S., Brunner, T., Fletcher, S.M., Green, D.R., and Ferguson, T.A. (1995) Fas ligand-induced apoptosis as a mechanism of immune privilege. *Science* 270, 1189-1192

Griffiths, G.M. (1995) The cell biology of CTL killing. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 7, 343-348

Griffiths, G.M. and Isaaz, S. (1993) Granzymes A and B are targeted to the lytic granules of lymphocytes by the mannose-6-phosphate receptor. J. Cell Biol. 120, 885-896

Groscurth, P., Qiao, B.Y., Podack, E.R., and Hengartner, H. (1987) Cellular localization of perform 1 in murine cloned cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* **138**, 2749-2752

Gu, Y., Wu, J., Faucheu, C., Lalanne, J.-L., Diu, A., Livingston, D.J., and Su, M.S.-S. (1995a) Interleukin-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme requires oligomerization for activity of processed forms *in vivo*. *EMBO J.* 14, 1923-1931

Gu, Y., Sarnecki, C., Aldape, R.A., Livingston, D.J., and Su, M.S.-S. (1995b) Cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase by interleukin-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme and its homologs TX and Nedd-2. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 18715-18718

Gu, Y., Sarnecki, C., Fleming, M.A., Lippke, J.A., Bleackley, R.C., and Su, M.S.-S. (1996) Processing and activation of CMH-1 by granzyme B. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 10816-10820

Guadagno, T.M. and Newport, J.W. (1996) Cdk2 kinase is required for entry into mitosis as a positive regulator of cdc2-cyclin B kinase activity. *Cell* 84, 73-82

Gulbins, E., Coggeshall, K.M., Baier, G., Katzav, S., Burn, P., and Altman, A. (1993) Tyrosine kinase-stimulated guanine nucleotide exchange activity of vav in T cell activation. *Science* **260**, 822-825

Gulbins, E., Bissonnette, R., Mahboubi, A., Martin, S., Nishioka, W., Brunner, T., Baier, G., Bitterlich-Baier, G., Byrd, C., Lang, F., Kolesnick, R., Altman, A., and Green, D. (1995) FAS-induced apoptosis is mediated via a ceramide-initiated RAS signaling pathway. *Immunity* **2**, 341-351

Haddad, P., Jenne, D., Tschopp, J., Clement, M.V., Mathieumahul, D., and Sasportes, M. (1991) Structure and evolutionary origin of the human granzyme-H gene. *Int. Immunol.* **3**, 57-66

Hameed, A., Lowrey, D.M., Lichtenheld, M., and Podack, E.R. (1988) Characterization of three serine esterases isolated from human IL-2 activated killer cells. J. Immunol. 141, 3142-3147

Hanna, W.L., Zhang, X., Turbov, J., Winkler, U., Hudig, D., and Froelich, C.J. (1993) Rapid purification of cationic granule proteases: Application to human granzymes. *Prot. Express. Purif.* **4**, 398-404

Hannun, Y.A., and Obeid, L.M. (1995) Ceramide: An intracellular signal for apoptosis. *Trends Biol. Sci.* 20, 73-77

Hartley, K.O., Gell, D., Smith, G.C.M., Zhang, H., Divecha, N., Connelly, M.A., Admon, A., Lees-Miller, S.P., Anderson, C.W., and Jackson, S.P. (1995) DNAdependent protein kinase catalytic subunit: A relative of phosphatidylinositol 3kinase and the Ataxia Telangiectasia gene product. *Cell* 82, 849-856

Hawkins, C.J. and Vaux, D.L. (1994) Analysis of the role of *bcl-2* in apoptosis. *Immunol. Rev.* 142, 127-139

Hayes, M.P., Berrebi, G.A., and Henkart, P.A. (1989) Induction of target cell DNA release by the cytotoxic T lymphocyte granule protease granzyme A. J. Exp. Med. 170, 933-946

Hayward, A.R., and Herberger, M. (1988) Nicotinamide protects target cells from cellmediated lysis. *Cell. Immunol.* **113**, 414-422

Heald, R., McLoughlin, M., and McKeon, F. (1993) Human Wee1 maintains mitotic timing by protecting the nucleus from cytoplasmically activated Cdc2 kinase. *Cell* **74**, 463-474

Hedgecock, E., Sulston, J.E., and Thomson, N. (1983) Mutations affecting programmed cell deaths in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Science **220**, 1277-1280

Helgason, C.D., Prendergast, J.A., Berke, G., and Bleackley, R.C. (1992) Peritoneal exudate lymphocyte and mixed lymphocyte culture hybridomas are cytolytic in the absence of cytotoxic cell proteinases and perforin. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **22**, 3187-3190

Helgason, C.D., Atkinson, E.A., Pinkoski, M.J., and Bleackley, R.C. (1995) Proteinases are involved in both DNA fragmentation and membrane damage during CTL-mediated target cell killing. *Exp. Cell Res.* **218**, 50-56

Henderson, S., Huen, D., Rowe, M., Dawson, C., Johnson, G., and Rickinson, A. (1993) Epstein-Barr virus-coded BHRF1 protein, a viral homologue of Bcl-2, protects human B cells from programmed cell death. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 8479-8483

Hengartner, M.O. and Horvitz, H.R. (1994) C. elegans cell survival gene ced-9 encodes a functional homolog of the mammalian proto-oncogene bcl-2. Cell 76, 665-676

Hengartner, M.O., Ellis, R.E., and Horvitz, H.R. (1992) *Caenorhabditis elegans* gene *ced-9* protects cells from programmed cell death. *Nature* **356**, 494-499

Henkart, P.A. (1985) Mechanism of lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 3, 31-58

Henkart, P.A. (1996) ICE family proteases: Mediato of all apoptotic cell death? *Immunity* **4**, 195-201

Henkart, P.A., Berrebi, G.A., Takayama, H., Munger, W.E., and Sitkovsky, M.V. (1987) Biochemical and functional properties of serine esterases in acidic cytoplasmic granules of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* **139**, 2398-2405

Heusel, J.W., Wesselschmidt, R.L., Shresta, S., Russell, J.H., and Ley, T.J. (1994) Cytotoxic lymphocytes require granzyme B for the rapid induction of DNA fragmentation and apoptosis in allogeneic target cells. *Cell* **76**, 977-987

Hewish, D.R., and Burgoyne, L.A. (1973a) The calcium-dependent endonuclease activity of isolated nuclear preparations: Relationships between its occurrence and the occurrence of other classes of enzymes found in nuclear preparations. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **52**, 475-481

Hewish, D.R. and Burgoyne, L.A. (1973b) Chromatin substructure: The digestion of chromatin DNA at regularly spaced sites by a nuclear deoxyribonuclease. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 52, 504-510

Hockenberry, D., Nuñez, G., Milliman, C., Schreiber, R.D., and Korsmeyer, S. (1990) Bcl-2 is an inner mitochondrial membrane protein that blocks programmed cell death. *Nature* **348**, 334-336

Hockenberry, D.M., Oltvai, Z.N., Yin, X.-M., Milliman, C.L., and Korsmeyer, S.J. (1993) Bcl-2 functions in an antioxidant pathway to prevent apoptosis. *Cell* **75**, 241-251

Howard, A.D., Kostura, M.J., Thornberry, N., Ding, G.J.F., Limjuco, G., Weidner, J., Salley, J.P., Hogquist, K.A., Chaplin, D.D., Mumford, R.A., Schmidt, J.A., and Tocci, M.J. (1991). IL-1 converting enzyme requires aspartic acid residues for processing of the IL-1 $\beta$  precursor at two distinct sites and does not cleave 31-kDa IL-1 $\alpha$ . J. Immunol. 147, 2964-2969

Howard, A.D., Palyha, O.C., Griffin, P.R., Peterson, E.P., Lenny, A.B., Ding, G.J.-F., Pickup, D.J., Thornberry, N.A., Schmidt, J.A., and Tocci, M.J. (1995) Human IL-1 $\beta$  processing and secretion in recombinant baculovirus-infected *Sf9* cells is blocked by the cowpox virus serpin *crmA*. *J. Immunol.* **154**, 2321-2332

Howe, L.R. and Weiss, A. (1995) Multiple kinases mediate T-cell-receptor signaling. *Trends Biol. Sci.* **20**, 59-64

Hsu, H., Xiong, J., and Goeddel, D.V. (1995) The TNF receptor 1-associated protein TRADD signals cell death and NF- $\kappa$ B activation. *Cell* **81**, 495-504

Hsu, H., Shu, H.-B., Pan, M.-G., and Goeddel, D.V. (1996a) TRADD-TRAF2 and TRADD-FADD interactions define two distinct TNF receptor 1 signal transduction pathways. *Cell* 84, 299-308

Hsu, H., Huang, J., Shu, H.-B., Baichwal, V., and Goeddel, D.V. (1996b) TNFdependent recruitment of the protein kinase RIP to the TNF receptor 1-signaling complex. *Immunity* **4**, 387-396

Hsu, H.-L. and Yeh, N.-H. (1996c) Dynamic changes in NuMA during the cell cycle and possible appearance of a truncated form of NuMA during apoptosis. *J. Cell Sci.* **109**, 277-288

Hua, X., Yokoyama, C., Wu, J., Briggs, M.R., Brown, M.S., Goldstein, J.L., and Wang, X. (1993) SREBP-2, a second basic-helix-loop-helix-leucine zipper protein that stimulates transcription by binding to a sterol regulatory element. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 11603-11607

Hua, X., Sakai, J., Ho, Y.K., Goldstein, J.L., and Brown, M.S. (1995) Hairpin orientation of sterol regulatory element-binding protein-2 in cell membranes as determined by protease protection. J. *Biol. Chem.* **270**, 29422-29427

Hudig, D., Allison, N.J., Pickett, T.M., Winkler, U., Kam, C.-M., and Powers, J.C. (1991) The function of lymphocyte proteases: Inhibition and restoration of granulemediated lysis with isocoumarin serine protease inhibitors. *J. Immunol.* 147, 1360-1368

Hughes, D.P., and Crispe, I.N. (1995) A naturally occurring soluble isoform of murine Fas generated by alternative splicing. J. Exp. Med. 182, 1395-1401

Irmler, M., Hertig, S., MacDonald, H.R., Sadoul, R., Becherer, J.D., Proudfoot, A., Solari, R., and Tschopp, J. (1995) Granzyme A is an interleukin-1β converting enzyme. J. Exp. Med. 181, 1917-1922

Irving, B.A., Chan, A.C., and Weiss, A. (1993) Functional characterization of a signal transducing motif present in the T cell receptor  $\zeta$  chain. J. Exp. Med. 177, 1093-1103

Isaaz, S., Baetz, K., Olsen, K., Podack, E., and Griffiths, G.M. (1995) Serial killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes: T cell receptor triggers degranulation, re-filling of the lytic granules and secretion of lytic proteins via a non-granule pathway. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **25**, 1071-1079

Ishiura, S., Matsuda, K., Koizumi, H., Tsukahara, T., Arahata, K., and Sugita, H. (1990) Calcium is essential for both the membrane binding and lytic activity of poreforming protein (perforin) from cytotoxic T-lymphocytes. *Mol. Immunol.* 27, 803-807

Itoh, N, Yonehara, S., Ishii, A., Yonehara, N., Mizushima, S.-I., Sameshima, M., Hase, A., Seto, Y., and Nagata, S. (1991) The polypeptide encoded by the cDNA for human cell surface antigen Fas can mediate apoptosis. *Cell* **66**, 233-243

Itoh, N., and Nagata, S. (1993) A novel protein domain required for apoptosis: Mutational analysis of human Fas antigen. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 10932-10937 Itoh, N., Tsujimoto, Y., and Nagata, S. (1993) Effect of bcl-2 on Fas antigenmediated cell death. J. Immunol. 151, 621-627

Jaattela, M., Benedict, M., Tewari, M., Shayman, J.A., and Dixit, V.M. (1995) Bcl-x and Bcl-2 inhibit TNF and Fas-induced apoptosis and activation of phopholipase A<sub>2</sub> in breast carcinoma cells. *Oncogene* **10**, 2297-2305

Jackson, S.P., and Jeggo, P.A. (1995) DNA double-strand break repair and V(D)J recombination: Involvement of DNA-PK. *Trends Biol. Sci.* **20**, 412-415

Jacobson, M.D., Burne, J.F., King, M.P., Miyashita, T., Reed, J.C., and Raff, M.C. (1993) Bcl-2 blocks apoptosis in cells lacking mitochondrial DNA. *Nature* **361**, 365-369

Jacobson, M.D. and Raff, M.C. (1995) Programmed cell death and Bcl-2 protection in very low oxygen. *Nature* 374, 814-816

Jain, J., McCaffrey, P.G., Miner, Z., Kerppola, T.K., Lambert, J.N., Verdine, G.L., Curran, T., and Rao, A. (1993a) The T-cell transcription factor NFATp is a substrate for calcineurin and interacts with Fos and Jun. *Nature* **365**, 352-355

Jain, J., McCaffrey, P.G., Valge-Archer, V.E., and Rao, A. (1993b) Nuclear factor of activated T cells contains Fos and Jun. *Nature* **356**, 801-804

Jameson, S.C., Hogquist, K.A., and Bevan, M.J. (1995) Positive selection of thymocytes. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 13, 93-126

Janeway, C.A. Jr., and Bottomly, K. (1994) Signals and signs for lymphocyte responses. Cell 76, 275-285

Jeggo, P.A., Taccioli, G.E., and Jackson, S.P. (1995) Menage à trois: Double strand break repair, V(D)J recombination and DNA-PK. *BioEssays* 17, 949-957

Jenne, D., Rey, C., Masson, D., Stanley, K.K., Herz, H., Plaetink, G., and Tschopp, J. (1988a) cDNA cloning of granzyme C, a granule-associated serine protease of cytolytic T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* **140**, 318-323

Jenne, D., Rey, C., Haefliger, J.-A., Qiao, B.-Y., Groscurth, P., and Tschopp, J. (1988b) Identification and sequencing of cDNA clones encoding the granuleassociated serine proteases D, E, and F of cytolytic T lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **85**, 4814-4818

Jenne, D., Masson, D., Zimmer, M., Haefliger, J.-A., Li, W.-H., and Tschopp, J. (1989) Isolation and complete structure of the lymphocyte serine protease granzyme G, a novel member of the granzyme multigene family in murine cytolytic T lymphocytes: Evolutionary origin of lymphocyte proteases. *Biochemistry* 28, 7953-7961

Jenne, D.E., Zimmer, M., Garcia-Sanz, J.A., Tschopp, J., and Lichter, P. (1991) Genomic organization and subchromosomal in situ localization of the murine granzyme F, a serine protease expressed in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. *J. Immunol.* **147**, 1045-1052 Jiang, S.B., Ojcius, D.M., Persechini, P.M., and Young, J.D.-E. (1990) Resistance of cytolytic lymphocytes to perforin-mediated killing: Inhibition of perforin binding activity by surface membrane proteins. *J. Immunol.* **144**, 998-1003

Ju, S.-T., Panka, D.J., Cui, H., Ettinger, R., El-Khatib, M., Sherr, D.H., Stanger, B.Z., and Marshak-Rothstein, A. (1995) Fas (CD95)/FasL interactions required for programmed cell death after T-cell activation. *Nature* **373**, 444-448

June, C.H., Fletcher, M.C., Ledbetter, J.A., and Samelson, L.E. (1990a) Increases in tyrosine phosphorylation are detectable before phospholipase C activation after T cell receptor stimulation *J. Immunol.* **144**, 1591-1599

June, C.H., Fletcher, M.C., Ledbetter, J.A., Schieven, G.L., Siegel, J.N., Phillips, A.F., and Samelson, L.E. (1990b) Inhibition of tyrosine phosphorylation prevents T-cell receptor-mediated signal transduction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **87**, 7722-7726

Kägi, D., Ledermann, B., Bürki, K., Seiler, P., Odermatt, B., Olsen, K.J., Podack, E.R., Zinkernagel, R.M., and Hengartner, H. (1994a) Cytotoxicity mediated by T cells and natural killer cells is greatly impaired in perforin-deficient mice. *Nature* **369**, 31-37

Kägi, D., Vignaux, F., Ledermann, B., Bürki, K., Depraetere, V., Nagata, S., Hengartner, H, and Golstein, P. (1994b) Fas and perforin pathways as major mechanisms of T-cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Science* **265**, 528-530

Kägi, D., Ledermann, B., Burki, Z., Zinkernagel, R.M., and Hengartner, H. (1996) Molecular mechanisms of lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity and their role in immunological protection and pathogenesis in vivo. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 14, 207-232

Kaiser, M. and Hoskin, D.W. (1992) Expression and utilization of chymotrypsin-like but not trypsin-like serine protease enzymes by nonspecific T killer cells activated by anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody. *Cell. Immunol.* **141**, 84-98

Kamens, J., Paskind, M., Hugunin, M., Talanian, R.V., Allen, H., Banach, D., Bump, N., Hackett, M., Johnston, C.G., Li, P., Mankovich, J.A., Terranova, M., and Ghayur, T. (1995) Identification and characterization of ICH-2, a novel member of the interleukin-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme family of cysteine proteases. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**, 15250-15256

Kameshita, I., Matsuda, Z., Taniguchi, T., and Shizuta, Y. (1984) Poly(ADP-ribose) synthetase: Separation and identification of three proteolytic fragments as the substrate-binding domain, the DNA-binding domain, and the automodification domain. J. Biol. Chem. 259, 4770-4776.

Kataoka, T., Takaku, K., Magae, J., Shinohara, N., Takayama, H., Kondo, S., and Nagai, K. (1994) Acidification is essential for maintaining the structure and function of lytic granules of CTL: Effect of concanamycin A, an inhibitor of vacuolar type H+-ATPase, on CTL-mediated cytotoxicity. J. Immunol. 153, 3938-3947

Kaufmann, Y., Berke, G., and Eshhar, Z. (1981) Cytotoxic T lymphocyte hybridomas that mediate specific tumor-cell lysis *in vitro*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **78**, 2502-2506

Kaufmann, S.H., Desnoyers, S., Ottaviano, Y., Davidson, N.E., and Poirier, G.G. (1993) Specific proteolytic cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase: An early marker of chemotherapy-induced apoptosis. *Cancer Res.* 53, 3976-3985

Kaufmann, S.H. (1996)  $\gamma/\delta$  and other nonconventional T lymphocytes: What do they see and what do they do? *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **93**, 2272-2279

Kay, R., and Humphries, R.K. (1991) New vectors and procedures for isolating cDNAs encoding cell surface proteins by expression cloning in COS cells. *Methods Mol. Cell. Biol.* **2**, 254-265

Kayalar, C., Örd, T., testa, M.P., Zhong, L.-T., and Bredesen, D.E. (1996) Cleavage of actin by interleukin 1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme to reverse DNaseI inhibition. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **93**, 2234-2238

Kearse, K.P., Roberts, J.L., and Singer, A. (1995) TCR $\alpha$ -CD3 $\delta\epsilon$  association is the initial step in  $\alpha\beta$  dimer formation in murine T cells and is limiting in immature CD4+CD8+ thymocytes. *Immunity* **2**, 391-399

Kelly, R.B. (1985) Pathways of protein secretion in eukaryotes. Science 230, 25-32

Kerr, J.F.R., Wyllie, A.H., and Currie, A.R. (1972). Apoptosis: A basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. *Br. J. Cancer* 26, 239-257

Khodarev, N.N. and Ashwell, J.D. (1996) An inducible lymphocyte nuclear  $Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+}$ -dependent endonuclease associated with apoptosis. *J. Immunol.* **156**, 922-931

Kiefer, M.C., Brauer, M.J., Powers, V.C., Wu, J.J., Umansky, SR., Tomei, L.D., and Barr, P.J. (1995) Modulation of apoptosis by the widely-distributed Bcl-2 homologue Bak. *Nature* **374**, 736-739

Kirchgessner, C.U., Patil, C.K., Evans, J.W., Cuomo, C.A., Fried, L.M., Carter, T., Oettinger, M.A., and Brown, J.M. (1995) DNA-dependent kinase (p350) as a candidate gene for the murine SCID defect. *Science* **267**, 1178-1183

Kischkel, F.C., Hellbardt, S., Behrmann, I., Germer, M., Pawlita, M., Krammer, P.H., and Peter, M.E. (1995) Cytotoxicity-dependent APO-1 (Fas/CD95)-associated proteins form a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) with the receptor. *EMBO* J. 14, 5579-5588

Kojima, H., Shinohara, N., Hanaoka, S., Someya-Shirota, Y., Takagaki, Y., Ohno, H., Saito, T., Katayama, T., Yagita, H., Okumura, K., Shinkai, Y., Alt, F.W., Matsuzawa, A., Yonehara, S., and Takayama, H. (1994) Two distinct pathways of specific killing revealed by perform mutant cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Immunity* 1, 357-364

Komiyama, T., Ray, C.A., Pickup, D.J., Howard, A.D., Thornberry, N.A., Peterson, E.P., and Salvesen, G. (1994) Inhibition of interleukin-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme by the cowpox virus serpin CrmA: An example of cross-class inhibition. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 19331-19337

Korsmeyer, S.J., Yin, X.-M., Oltvai, Z.N., Veis-Novack, D.J., and Linette, G.P. (1995) Reactive oxygen species and the regulation of cell death by the Bel-2 gene family. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* **1271**, 63-66

Kozopas, K.M., Yang, T., Buchan, H.L., Zhou, P., and Craig, R.W. (1993) MCL-1, a gene expressed in programmed myeloid cell differentiation has sequence homology to BCL-2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 3516-3520

Krajewski, S., Tanaka, S., Takayama, S., Schibler, M.J., Fenton, W., and Reed, J.C. (1993) Investigation of the subcellular distribution of the bel-2 oncoprotein: Residence in the nuclear envelope, endoplasmic reticulum, and outer mitochondrial membranes. *Cancer Res.* 53, 4701-4714

Kranenburg, O., van der Eb, A.J. and Zantema A. (1996) Cyclin D1 is an essential mediator of apoptotic neuronal cell death. *EMBO J.* **15**, 46-54

Kranz, D.M., and Eisen, H.N. (1987) Resistance of cytotoxic T lymphocytes to lysis by a clone of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84, 3375-3379

Krek, W. and Nigg, E.A. (1991) Mutations of  $p34^{cdc2}$  phosphorylation sites induce premature mitotic events in HeLa cells: Evidence for a double block to  $p34^{cdc2}$  kinase activation in vertebrates. *EMBO J.* **10**, 3331-3341

Kroehmer, G., Petit, P., Zamzami, N., Vayssiere, J.L., and Mignotte, B. (1995) The biochemistry of programmed cell death. *FASEB J.* 9, 1277-1287

Kuhn, A., Gottlieb, T.M., Jackson, S.P., and Grummt, I. (1995) DNA-dependent protein kinase: A potent inhibitor of transcription by RNA polymerase I. *Genes Develop.* **9**, 193-203

Kuida, K., Lippke, J.A., Ku, G., Harding, M.W., Livingston, D.J., Su, M.S.-S., and Flavell, R.A. (1995) Altered cytokine export and apoptosis in mice deficient in interleukin-1β converting enzyme. *Science* **267**, 2000-2003

Kumar, S., Tomooka, Y., and Noda, M. (1992) Identification of a set of genes with developmentally down-regulated expression in the mouse brain. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 185, 1155-1161

Kumar, S., Kinoshita, M., Noda, M., Copeland, N.G., and Jenkins N.A. (1994) Induction of apoptosis by the mouse *Nedd2* gene, which encodes a protein similar to the product of the *Caenorhabditis elegans* cell death gene *ced-3* and the mammalian IL-1β-converting enzyme. *Genes Develop.* **8**, 1613-1626

Kummer, J.A., Kamp, A.M., Citarella, F., Horrevoets, A.J.G., and Hack, C.E. (1996) Expression of human recombinant granzyme A zymogen and its activation by the cysteine proteinase cathepsin C. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 9281-9286

Kupfer, A. and Dennert, G. (1984) Reorientation of the microtubule-organizing center and the Golgi apparatus in cloned cytotoxic lymphocytes triggered by binding to lysable target cells. J. Immunol. 133, 2762-2766

Kupfer, A., Dennert, G., and Singer, S.J. (1985) The reorientation of the Golgi apparatus and the microtubule-organizing center in the cytotoxic effector cell is a prerequisite in the lysis of bound target cells. J. Mol. Cell. Immunol. 2, 37-49

Kwon, B.S., Kestler, D., Lee, E., Wakulchik, M., and Young, J.D.-E. (1988) Isolation and sequence analysis of serine protease cDNAs from mouse cytolytic T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 168, 1839-1854

Kyprianou, N., and Isaacs, J.T. (1988) Activation of programmed cell death in the rat ventral prostate after castration. *Endocrinology* **122**, 552-562

Labhart, P. (1995) DNA-dependent protein kinase specifically represses promoterdirected transcription initiation by RNA polymerase I. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92, 2934-2938

Lagarkova, M.A., Iarovaia, O.V., and Razin, S.V. (1995) Large-scale fragmentation of mammalian DNA in the course of apoptosis proceeds via excision of chromosomal DNA loops and their oligomers. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 20239-20241

Lahti, J.M., Xiang, J., Heath, L.S., Campana, D., and Kidd, V.J. (1995) PITSLRE protein kinase activity is associated with apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15**, 1-11

Lamond, A.I. (1993) The spliceosome. BioEssays 15, 595-603

Lang, P., Guizani, I., Vitte-Monyl, Stanccou, R., Dorseuil, O., Gacon, G. and Bertoglio, J. (1992) ADP-ribosylation of the ras-related, GTP-binding protein RhoA inhibits lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxocity. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 1167-1168

Lazebnik, Y.A., Kaufmann, S.H., Desnoyers, S., Poirier, G.G., and Earnshaw, W.C. (1994) Cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase by a proteinase with properties like ICE. *Nature* **371**, 346-347

Lazebnik, Y.A., Takahashi, A., Moir, R.D., Goldman, R.D., Poirier, G.G., Kaufmann, S.H., and Earnshaw, W.C. (1995) Studies of the lamin proteinase reveal multiple parallel biochemical pathways during apoptotic execution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **92**, 9042-9046

Lenardo, M.J. (1996) Fas and the art of lymophocyte maintenance. J. Exp. Med. 183, 721-724

Li, P., Allen, H., Banerjee, S., Franklin, S., Herzog, L., Johnston, C., McDowell, <sup>\*</sup>., Paskind, M., Rodman, L., Salfeld, J., Towne, E., Tracey, D., Wardwell, S., Wei, F.-Y., Wong, W., Kamen, R., and Seshadri, T. (1995) Mice deficient in IL-1 $\beta$ converting enzyme are defective in production of mature IL-1 $\beta$  and resistant to endotoxic shock. *Cell* 80, 401-411

Lin, E.Y., Orlofsky, A., Bergar, M., and Prystowsky, M.B. (1993) Characterization of A1, a novel hemopoietic-specific early-response gene with sequence similarity to *bcl-2*. J. Immunol. **151**, 1979-1988

Lindahl, T., Satoh, M.S., Poirier, G.G., and Klungland, A. (1995) Post-translational modification of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase induced by DNA strand breaks. *Trends Biol. Sci.* **20**, 405-411

Lipham, W.J., Redmond, T.M., Takahashi, H., Berzofsky, J.A., Wiggert, B., Chader, G.J., and Gery, I. (1991) Recognition of peptides that are immunopathogenic but cryptic: Mechanisms that allow lymphocytes sensitized against cryptic peptides to initiate pathogenic autoimmune processes. *J. Immunol.* **146**, 3757-3762

Lippke, J.A., Gu, Y., Sarnecki, C., Caron, P.R., and Su, M.S.-S. (1996) Identification and characterization of CPP32/*Mch2* homolog 1, a novel cysteine protease similar to CPP32. *J. Biol. Chem.* **271**, 1825-1828

Lithgow, T., Van Driel, R., Bertram, J.F., and Strasser, A. (1994) The protein product of the oncogene bcl-2 is a component of the nuclear envelope, the endoplasmic reticulum, and the outer mitochondrial membrane. *Cell Growth Differ.* 5, 411-417

Liu, C.-C., Perussia, B., Cohn, Z.A., and Young, J.D.-E. (1986) Identification and characterization of a pore-forming protein of human peripheral blood natural killer cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **164**, 2061-2076

Liu, C.-C., Steffen, M., King, F., and Young, J.D.-E. (1987) Identification, isolation and characterization of a novel cytotoxin in murine cytolytic lymphocytes. *Cell* **51**, 393-403

Liu, C.-C., Jiang, S., Persechini, P.M., Zychlinsky, A., Kaufmann, Y, and Young, J.D.-E. (1989) Resistance of cytolytic lymphocytes to perforin-mediated killing: Induction of resistance correlates with increase in cytotoxicity. *J. Exp. Med.* **169**, 2211-2225

Liu, C.-C., Walsh, C.M., and Young, J. D.-E. (1995) Perforin: Structure and function. *Immunol Today* 16, 194-201

Lobe, C.G., Finlay, B.B., Paranchych, W., Paetkau, V.H. and Bleackley, R.C. (1986a) Novel serine proteases encoded by two cytotoxic T lymphocyte-specific genes. *Science* 232, 858-861

Lobe, C.G., Havele, C., and Bleackley, R.C. (1986b) Cloning of two genes that are specifically expressed in activated cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83, 1448-1452

Lobe, C.G., Upton, C., Duggan, B., Ehrman, N., Letellier, M., Bell, J., McFadden, G., and Bleackley, R.C. (1988) Organization of two genes encoding cytotoxic T lymphocyte-specific serine proteases CCPI and CCPII. *Biochemistry* 27, 6941-6946

Lopez, J.M., Bennett, M.K., Sanchez, H.B., Rosenfeld, J.M., and Osborne, T.F. (1996) Sterol regulation of acetyl coenzyme A carboxylase: A mechanism for coordinate control of cellular lipid. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **93**, 1049-1053

Los, M., Van de Craen, M., Penning, L.C., Schenk, H., Westendorp, M., Bacuerle, P.A., Dröge, W., Krammer, P.H., Fiers, W., and Schulze-Osthoff, K. (1995)

Requirement of an ICE/CED-3 protease for Fas/APO-1-mediated apoptosis. *Nature* 375, 81-83

Lowin, B., Hahne, M., Mattmann, C., and Tschopp, J. (1994) Cytolytic T-cell cytotoxicity is mediated through perform and Fas lytic pathways. *Nature* **370**, 650-652

Lowin, B., Peitsch, M.C., and Tschopp, J. (1995) Perforin and granzymes: Crucial effector molecules in cytolytic T lymphocyte and natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* **198**, 1-24

Lundgren, K., Walworth, N., Booher, R., Dembski, M., Kirshner, M., and Beach, D. (1991) mik1 and weel cooperate in the inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation of cdc2. *Cell* 64, 1111-1122

Lynch, D.H., Watson, M.L., Alderson, M.R., Baum, P.R., Miller, R.E., Tough, T., Gibson, M., Davis-Smith, T., Smith, C.A., Hunter, K., Bhat, D., Din, W., Goodwin, R.G., and Seldin, M.F. (1994) The mouse Fas-ligand gene is mutated in *gl.l* mice and is part of a TNF family gene cluster. *Immunity* 1, 131-136

Lynch, D.H., Ramsdell, F., and Alderson, M.R. (1995) Fas and FasL in the homeostatic regulation of immune responses. *Immunol. Today* 16, 569-574

Mamula, M.J. (1993) The inability to process a self-peptide allows autoreactive T cells to escape tolerance. J. Exp. Med. 177, 567-571

Mamula, M.J., Lin, R.H., Janeway, C.A. Jr., and Hardin, J.A. (1992) Breaking T cell tolerance with foreign and self co-immunogens: A study of autoimmune B and T cell epitopes of cytochrome c. J. Immunol. 149, 789-795

Martin, S.J., and Green, D.R. (1995) Protease activation during apoptosis: Death by a thousand cuts? *Cell* 82, 349-352

Martin, D.E., Zalman, L.S., and Müller-Eberhard, H.J. (1988) Induction of expression of a cell-surface homologous restriction factor upon anti-CD3 stimulation of human peripheral lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **85**, 213-217

Martin, S.J., Newmeyer, D.D., Mathias, S., Farschon, D.M., Wang, H.-G., Reed, J.C., Kolesnick, R.N., and Green, D.R. (1995a) Cell-free reconstitution of Fas-, UV radiation- and ceramide-induced apoptosis. *EMBO J.*, **14**, 5191-5200

Martin, S.J., O'Brien, G.A., Nishioka, W.K., McGahon, A.J., Mahboubi, A., Saido, T.C., and Green, D.R. (1995b) Proteolysis of fodrin (non-erythroid spectrin) during apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 6425-6428

Martin, S.J., Amarante-Mendes, G.P., Shi, L., Chuang, T.H., Casiano, C.A., Brien, G.A., Fitzgerald, P., Tan, E.M., Bokoch, G.M., Greenberg, A.H., and Green, D.R. (1996) The cytotoxic cell protease granzyme B initiates apoptosis in a cell-free system by proteolytic processing and activation of the ICE/CED-3 family protease CPP32, via a novel two-step mechanism. *EMBO J.* **15**, 2407-2416

Mashima, T., Naito, M., Fujita, N., Noguchi, K., and Tsuruo, T. (1995) Identification of actin as a substrate of ICE and an ICE-like protease and involvement of an ICE-

like protease but not ICE in VP-16-induced U937 apoptosis. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 217, 1185-1192

Masson, D., and Tschopp, J. (1985) Isolation of a lytic, pore-forming protein (perform) from cytolytic T-lymphocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 9069-9072

Masson, D. and Tschopp, J. (1987) A family of serine esterases in lytic granules of cytolytic T lymphocytes. *Cell* 49, 679-685.

Masson, D., Nabholz, M., Estrade, C., and Tschopp, J. (1986a) Granules of cytolytic T-lymphocytes contain two serine esterases. *EMBO J* **5**, 1595-1600

Masson, D., Zamai, M., and Tschopp, J. (1986b) Identification of granzyme A isolated from cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-granules as one of the proteases encoded by CTL-specific genes. *FEBS Lett.* **208**, 84-88

Masson, D., Peters, P.J., Geuze, H.J., Borst, J. and Tschopp, J. (1990) Interaction of chondroitin sulfate with perforin and granzymes of cytolytic T-cells is dependent on pH. *Biochemistry* **29**, 11229-11235

Mayer, M. and Noble, M. (1994) *N*-acetyl-L-cysteine is a pluripotent protector against cell death and enhancer of trophic factor-mediated cell survival in vitro. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91**, 7496-7500

McConkey, D.J., Hartzell, P., Nicotera, P. and Orrenius, S. (1989) Calcium-activated DNA fragmentation kills immature thymocytes. *FASEB J.* **3**, 1843-1849

McFarland, T.A., Ardman, B., Manjunath, N., Fabry, J.A., and Lieberman, J. (1995) CD43 diminishes susceptibility to T lymphocyte-mediated lysis. *J. Immunol.* **154**, 1097-1104

McGowan, C.H. and Russell, P. (1993) Human Wee1 kinase inhibits cell division by phosphorylating p34<sup>cdc2</sup> exclusively on tyr<sup>15</sup>. *EMBO J.* **12**, 75-85

McGuire, M.J., Lipsky, P.E., and Thiele, D.L. (1993) Generation of active myeloid and lymphoid granule serine proteases requires processing by the granule thiol protease dipeptidyl peptidase I. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 2458-2467

McIlvain, J.M. Burkhardt, J., Hamm-Alvarez, S., Argon, Y., and Sheetz, M. (1994) Regulation of kinesin activity by phosphorylation of kinesin-associated proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 19176-19182

Meier, M., Kwong, P.C., Frégeau, C.J., Atkinson, E.A., Burrington, M, Ehrman, N., Sorenson, O., Lin, C.C., Wilkins, J., and Bleackley, R.C. (1990) Cloning of a gene that encodes a new member of the human cytotoxic cell protease family. *Biochemistry* 29, 4042-4049

Meikrantz, W., Gisselbrecht, S., Tam, S.W., and Schlegel, R. (1994) Activation of cyclin A-dependent protein kinases during apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91, 3754-3758

Meikrantz, W. and Schlegel, R. (1996) Suppression of apoptosis by dominant negative mutants of cyclin-dependent protein kinases. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 10205-10209

Memon, S.A., Moreno, M.B., Petrak, D., and Zacharchuk, C.M. (1995) Bel-2 blocks glucocorticoid- but not Fas- or activation-induced apoptosis in a T cell hybridoma. *J. Immunol.* **155**, 4644-4652

Ménissier de Murcia, J., Molinete, M., Gradwohl, G., Simonin, F., and de Murcia, G. (1989) Zinc-binding domain of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase participates in the recognition of single strand breaks on DNA. J. Mol. Biol. 210, 229-233

Michalak, M., Milner, R.E., Burns, K., and Opas, M. (1992) Calreticulin. *Biochem. J.* 285, 681-692

Miller, D.K., Ayala, J.M., Egger, L.A., Raju, S.M., Yamin, T.-T., Ding, G.J.-F., Gaffney, E.P., Howard, A.D., Palyha, O.C., Rolando, A.M., Salley, J.P., Thornberry, N.A., Weidner, J.R., Williams, J.H., Chapman, K.T., Jackson, J., Kostura, M.J., Limjuco, G., Molineaux, S.M., Mumford, R.A., and Calaycay, J.R. (1993) Purification and characterization of active human interleukin-1β-converting enzyme from THP.1 monocytic cells. J. Biol. Chem. **268**, 18062-18069

Miller, R.D., Hogg, J., Ozaki, J.H., Gell, D., Jackson, S.P., and Riblet, R. (1995) Gene for the catalytic subunit of mouse DNA-dependent protein kinase maps to the scid locus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **92**, 10792-10795

Milligan, C.E., Prevette, D., Yaginuma, H., Homma, S., Cardwell, C., Fritz, L.C., Tomaselli, K.J., Oppenheim, R.W., and Schwartz, L.M. (1995) Peptide inhibitors of the ICE protease family arrest programmed cell death of motoneurons in vivo and in vitro. *Neuron* **15**, 385-393

Miura, M., Zhu, H., Rotello, R., Hartwieg, E.A., and Yuan, J. (1993) Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by IL-1 $\beta$ -Converting Enzyme, a mammalian homolog of the C. elegans cell death gene *ced-3*. *Cell* **75**, 653-660

Molineaux, S.M., Casano, F.J., Rolando, A.M., Peterson, E.P., Limjuco, G., Chin, J., Griffin, P.R., Calaycay, J.R., Ding, G.J.-F., Yamin, T.-T., Palyha, O.C., Luell, S., Fletcher, D., Miller, D.K., Howard, A.D., Thornberry, N.A., and Kostura, M.J. (1993) Interleukin 1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ) processing in murine macrophages requires a structurally conserved homologue of human IL-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 1809-1813

Mollereau, B., Deckert, M., Déas, O., Rieux-Laucat, F., Hirsch, F., Bernard, A., Fischer, A., Lynch, D.H., Charpentier, B., Le Deist, F., and Senik, A. (1996) CD2-induced apoptosis in activated human peripheral T cells: A Fas-independent pathway that requires early protein tyrosine phosphorylation. *J. Immunol.* **156**, 3184-3190

Montague, J.W., Gaido, M.L., Frye, C., and Cidlowski, J.A. (1994) A calciumdependent nuclease from apoptotic rat thymocytes is homologous with cyclophilin: Recombinant cyclophilins A, B, and C have nuclease activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269, 18877-18880

Montel, A.H., Bochan, M.R., Hobbs, J.A., Lynch, D.H., and Brahmi, Z. (1995) Fas involvement in cytotoxicity mediated by human NK cells. *Cell. Immunol.* **166**, 236-246

Müller, C. and Tschopp, J. (1994) Resistance of CTL to perforin-mediated lysis: Evidence for a lymphocyte membrane protein interacting with perforin. *J. Immunol.* **153**, 2470-2478

Munday, N.A., Vaillancourt, J.P., Ali, A., Casano, F.J., Miller, D.K., Molineaux, S.M., Yamin, T.-T., Yu, V.L., and Nicholson, D.W. (1995) Molecular cloning and pro-apoptotic activity of ICE<sub>rel</sub>II and ICE<sub>rel</sub>III, members of the ICE/CED-3 family of cysteine proteases. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**, 15870-15876

Munger, W.E., Berrebi, G.A., and Henkart, P.A. (1988) Possible involvement of CTL granule proteases in target cell DNA breakdown. *Immunol. Rev.* **103**, 99-109

Murphy, M.E.P., Moult, J., Bleackley, R.C., Gershenfeld, H., Weissman, I.L., and James, M.N.G. (1988) Comparative molecular model building of two serine proteinases from cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Proteins Struct. Function Genet.* **4**, 190-204

Muzio, M., Chinnaiyan, A.M., Kischkel, F.C., O'Rourke, K., Shevchenko, A., Scaffidi, C., Bretz, J.D., Zhang, M., Ni, J., Gentz, R., Mann, M., Krammer, P.H., Peter, M.E., and Dixit, V.M. (1996) FLICE, a novel FADD homologous ICE/CED-3-like protease, is recruited to the CD95 (Fas/Apo1) death-inducing signaling complex. *Cell* **85**, 817-827

Na, S., Chuang, T.-H., Cunningham, A., Turi, T.G., Hanke, J.H., Bokoch, G.M., and Danley, D.E. (1996) D4-GDI, a substrate of CPP32, is proteolyzed during Fasinduced apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 11209-11213

Nagata, S. and Golstein, P. (1995) The Fas death factor. Science 267, 1449-1455

Nagata S. and Suda, T. (1995) Fas and Fas ligand: *lpr* and *gld* mutations. *Immunol. Today* **16**, 39-43

Nagler-Anderson, C., Verret, C.R., Firmenich, A.A., Berne, N., and Eisen, H.N. (1988) Resistance of primary CD8 cytotoxic T lymphocytes to lysis by cytotoxic granules from cloned T cell lines. *J. Immunol.* **141**, 3299-3305

Neilan, J.G., Lu, Z., Afonzo, C.L., Kutish, G.F., Sussman, M.D., and Rock, D.L. (1993) An African swine fever virus gene with similarity to the proto-oncogene *bcl-2* and the Epstein-Barr virus gene BHRF1. J. Virol. 67, 4391-4394

Nakajima, H. and Henkart, P.A. (1994) Cytotoxic lymphocyte granzymes trigger a target cell internal disintegration pathway leading to cytolysis and DNA breakdown. J. *Immunol.* **152**, 1057-1063

Nakajima, H., Park, H.L., and Henkart, P.A. (1995a) Synergistic roles of granzymes A and B in mediating target cell death by rat basophilic leukemia mast cell tumors also expressing cytolysin/perforin. J. Exp. Med. 181, 1037-1046

Nakajima, H., Golstein, P and Henkart, P.A. (1995b) The target cell nucleus is not required for cell-mediated granzyme- or Fas-based cytotoxicity. J. Exp. Med. 181, 1905-1909

Nel, A.E., Hanckom, C., Rheeder, A., Williams, K., Pollack, S., Katz, R., and Landreth, G.E. (1990) Stimulation of map-2 kinase activity in T lymphocytes by anti-CD3 or anti-Ti monoclonal antibody is partially dependent on protein kinase C. J. Immunol. 144, 2683-2689

Nelipovich, P.A., Nikonava, L.V., and Umansky, S.R. (1988) Inhibition of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase as a possible reason for activation of  $Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+}$ -dependent endonuclease in thymocytes of irradiated rats. *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.* 53, 749-765

Nett, M.A., Cerretti, D.P., Berson, D.R., Seavitt, J., Gilbert, D.J., Jenkins, N.A., Copeland, N.G., Black, R.A., and Chaplin, D.D. (1992) Molecular cloning of the murine IL-1ß converting enzyme cDNA. J. Immunol. 149, 3254-3259

Nett-Fiordalisi, M., Tomaselli, K., Russell, J.H., and Chaplin, D.D. (1995) Macrophage apoptosis in the absence of active interleukin-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme. J. Leuk, Biol. 58, 717-724

Nicholson, D.W., Ali, A., Thornberry, N.A., Vaillancourt, J.P., Ding, C.K., Gallant, M., Gareau, Y., Griffin, P.R., Labelle, M., Lazebnik, Y.A., Munday, N.A., Raju, S.M., Smulson, M.E., Yamin, T.-T., Yu, V.L., and Miller, D.K. (1995) Identification and inhibition of the ICE/CED-3 protease necessary for mammalian apoptosis. *Nature* **376**, 37-43

Nishioka, W.K. and Welsh, R.M. (1994) Susceptibility to cytotoxic T lymphocyteinduced apoptosis is a function of the proliferative status of the target. J. Exp. Med. 179, 769-774

Norbury, C., MacFarlane, M., Fearnhead, H., and Cohen, G.M. (1994) CDC2 activation is not required for thymocyte apoptosis. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **202**, 1400-1406

Norman, J.C., Price, L.S., Ridley, A.J., Hall, A. and Koffer, A. (1994) Actin filament organization in activated mast cells is regulated by heterotrimeric and small GTP-binding proteins. J. Cell. Biol. 126, 1005-1015

Nossal, G.J.V. (1994) Negative selection of lymphocytes. Cell 76, 229-239

Nurse, P. (1990) Universal control mechanism regulating onset of M-phase. *Nature* 344, 503-508

Odaka, C., Kizaki, H. and Tadakuma, T. (1990) T cell receptor-mediated DNA fragmentation and cell death in T cell hybridomas. J. Immunol. 144, 2096-2101

Odake, S., Kam, C.-M., Narasimhan, L., Poe, M., Blake, J.T., Krahenbuhl, O., Tschopp, J., and Powers, J.C. (1991) Human and murine cytotoxic T lymphocyte serine proteases: Subsite mapping with peptide thioester substrates and inhibition of enzyme activity and cytolysis by isocoumarins. *Biochemistry* **30**, 2217-2227

Oehm, A., Behrmann, I., Falk, W., Pawlita, M., Maier, G., Klas, C., Li-Weber, M., Richards, S., Dhein, J., Trauth, B.C., Postingl, H., and Krammer, P.H. (1992) Purification and molecular cloning of the APO-1 cell surface antigen, a member of the tumor necrosis factor/nerve growth factor receptor superfamily: Sequence identity with the Fas antigen. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 10709-10715 Ohgushi, H., Yoshihara, K., and Kamiya, T. (1980) Bovine thymus poly(adenosine diphosphate ribose) polymerase: Physical properties and binding to DNA. J. Biol. Chem. 255, 6205-6211

Ojcius, D.M., Zheng, L.M., Sphicas, E.C., and Young, J.D.-E. (1991) Subcellular localization of perform and serine esterase in lymphokine-activated killer cells and cytotoxic T cells by immunogold labeling. *J. Immunol.* **146**, 4427-4432.

Oltvai, Z.N., Milliman, C.L., and Korsmeyer, S.J. (1993) Bcl-2 heterodimerizes in vivo with a conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. *Cell* **74**, 609-619

Orth, K., Chinnaiyan, A.M., Garg, M., Froelich, C.J., and Dixit, V.M. (1996) The CED-3/ICE-like protease Mch2 is activated during apoptosis and cleaves the death substrate lamin A. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 16443-446

Oshimi, Y., and Miyazaki, S. (1995) Fas antigen-mediated DNA fragmentation and apoptotic morphologic changes are regulated by elevated cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  level. J. Immunol. **154**, 599-609

Ostergaard, H.L., Kane, K.P., Mescher, M.F., and Clarke, W.R. (1987) Cytotoxic T lymphocyte mediated lysis without release of serine esterase. *Nature* **330**, 71-72

Owen-Schaub, L.B., Yonehara, S.L., Crump, W.L., and Grimm, E.A. (1992) DNA fragmentation and cell death is selectively triggered in activated human lymphocytes by Fas antigen engagement. *Cell. Immunol.* **140**, 197-205

Pai, J.-T., Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (1996) Purification and cDNA cloning of a second apoptosis-related cysteine protease that cleaves and activates sterol regulatory element binding proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **93**, 5437-5442

Parker, L.L. and Piwnica-Worms, H. (1992) Inactivation of the p34<sup>cdc2</sup>-cyclin B complex by the human Weel tyrosine kinase. *Science* **257**, 1955-1957

Parker, L.L., Walter, S.A., Young, P.G., and Piwnica-Worms, H. (1993) Phosphorylation and inactivation of the mitotic inhibitor weel by the nim1/cdr1 kinase. *Nature* **363**, 736-738

Pasternack, M.S., and Eisen, H.N. (1985) A novel serine esterase expressed by cytotoxic Tlymphocytes. *Nature* **314**, 743-745

Pasternack, M.S., Bleier, K.J., and McInerney, T.N. (1991) Granzyme A binding to target cell proteins: Granzyme A binds to and cleaves nucleolin *in vitro*. J. Biol. Chem. **56**, 14703-14708

Peitsch, M.C., and Tschopp, J. (1995) Comparative molecular modelling of the Fasligand and other members of the TNF family. *Mol. Immunol.* **32**, 761-772

Peitsch, M.C., Polzar, B., Stephan, H., Crompton, T., MacDonald, H.R., Mannherz, H.G., and Tschopp, J. (1993a) Characterization of the endogenous deoxyribonuclease involved in nuclear DNA degradation during apoptosis (programmed cell death). *EMBO J* **12**, 371-377

Peitsch, M.C., Müller, C., and Tschopp, J. (1993b) DNA fragmentation during apoptosis is caused by frequent single-strand cuts. *Nucl. Acids Res.* **21**, 4206-4209

Persechini, P.M., Liu, C.-C., Jiang, S., and Young, J.D.-E. (1989) The lymphocyte pore-forming protein perform is associated with granules by a pH-dependent mechanism. *Immunol. Lett.* 22, 23-27

Peter, M.E., Hellbardt, S., Schwartz-Albiez, R., Westendorp, M.O., Walczak, H., Moldenhauer, G., Grell, M., and Krammer, P.H. (1995) Cell surface sialylation plays a role in modulating sensitivity towards APO-1-mediated apoptotic cell death. *Cell Death Differ.* 2, 163-171

Peters, P.J., Borst, J., Oorschot, V., Fukuda, M., Krähenbühl, O., Tschopp, J., Slot, J.W., and Geuze, H.J. (1991) Cytotoxic T lymphocyte granules are secretory lysosomes containing perform and granzymes. *J. Exp. Med.* **173**, 1099-1109

Peterson, S.R., Kurimasa, A., Oshimura, M., Dynan, W.S., Bradbury, E.M., and Chen, D.J. (1995) Loss of the catalytic subunit of the DNA-dependent protein kinase in DNA double-strand-break-repair mutant mammalian cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **92**, 3171-3174

Pinkoski, M.J., Winkler, U., Hudig, D., and Bleackley. R.C. (1996) Binding of granzyme B in the nucleus of target cells: Recognition of an 80-kilodalton protein. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 10225-10229

Pitti, R.M., Marsters, S.A., Ruppert, S., Donahue, C.J., Moore, A., and Ashkenazi, A. (1996) Induction of apoptosis by Apo-2 ligand, a new member of the tumor necrosis factor cytokine family, *J. Biol. Chem.* **271**, 12687-12690

Podack, E.R., Young, J.D.-E., and Cohn, Z.A. (1985) Isolation and biochemical and functional characterization of perform 1 from cytolytic T-cell granules. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **82**, 8629-8633

Poe, M., Blake, J.T., Boulton, D.A., Gammon, M., Sigal, N.H., Wu, J.K., and Zweerink, H.J. (1991) Human cytotoxic lymphocyte granzyme B: Its purification from granules and the characterization of substrate and inhibitor specificity. *J. Biol. Chem.* **266**, 98-103

Poirier, G.G., de Murcia, G., Jongstra-Bilen, J., Niedergang, C., and Mandel, P. (1982) Poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation of polynucleosomes causes relaxation of chromatin structure. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **79**, 3423-3427

Poltoratsky, V.P., Shi, X., York, J.D., Lieber, M.R., and Carter, T.H. (1995) Human DNA-activated protein kinase (DNA-PK) is homologous to phosphatidylinositol kinases. J. Immunol. 155, 4529-4533

Prendergast, J.A., Pinkoski, M., Wolfenden, A., and Bleackley, R.C. (1991) Structure and evolution of the cytotoxic cell proteinase genes CCP3, CCP4 and CCP5. *J. Mol. Biol.* **220**, 867-875

Prendergast, J.A., Helgason, C.D., and Bleackley, R.C. (1992) Quantitative polymerase chain reaction analysis of cytotoxic cell proteinase gene transcripts in T

cells: Pattern of expression is dependent on the nature of the stimulus. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 5090-5095

Price, L.S., Norman, J.C., Ridley, A.J. and Koffer, A. (1994) The small GTPases Rac and Rho as regulators of secretion in mast cells. *Curr. Biol.* 5, 68-73

Pronk, G.J., Ramer, K., Amiri, P., and Williams, L.T. (1996) Requirement of an ICElike protease for induction of apoptosis and ceramide generation by REAPER. *Science* 271, 808-810

Pushkareva, M., Obeid, L.M., and Hannun, Y.A. (1995) Ceramide: An endogenous regulator of apoptosis and growth suppression. *Immunol. Today* **16**, 294-297

Quan, L.T., Caputo, A., Bleackley, R.C., Pickup, D.J., and Salvesen, G.S. (1995) Granzyme B is inhibited by the cowpox virus serpin cytokine response modifier A. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 10377-10379

Quan, L.T., Tewari, M., O'Rourke, K., Dixit, V., Snipas, S.J., Poirier, G.G., Ray, C., Pickup, D.J., and Salvesen, G.S. (1996) Proteolytic activation of the cell death protease Yama/CPP32 by granzyme B. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **93**, 1972-1976

Query, C.C., Bentley, R.C., and Keene, J.D. (1989) A common recognition motif identified within a defined U1 RNA-binding domain of the 70K U1 snRNP protein. *Cell* 57, 89-101

Ramsdell, F., Seaman, M.S., Miller, R.E., Tough, T.W., Alderson, M.R., and Lynch, D.H. (1994) gld/gld mice are unable to express a functional ligand for Fas. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **24**, 928-933

Ray, C.A., Black, R.A., Kronheim, S.R., Greenstreet, T.A., Sleath, P.R., Salvesen, G.S., and Pickup, D.J. (1992) Viral inhibition of inflammation: Cowpox virus encodes an inhibitor of the interleukin-1β converting enzyme. *Cell* **69**, 597-604

Redegeld, F.A., Chatterjee, S., Berger, N.A., and Sitkovsky, M.V. (1992) Poly-(ADPribose) polymerase partially contributes to target cell death triggered by cytolytic T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* **149**, 3509-3516

Redmond, M.J., Letellier, M., Parker, J.M.R., Lobe, C., Havele, C., Paetkau, V., and Bleackley, R.C. (1987) A serine protease (CCP1) is sequestered in the cytoplasmic granules of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* **139**, 3184-3188

Reibel, L., Dorseuil, O., Stancou, R., Bertoglio, T., and Gacon, G. (1991) A hemopoietic specific gene encoding a small GTP binding protein is overexpressed during T cell activation. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 175, 451-458

Reynolds, J.E., Yang, T., Qian, L.P., Jenkinson, J.D., Zhou, P., Eastman, A., and Craig, R.W. (1994) MCL-1, a member of the bcl-2 family, delays apoptosis induced by cmyc overexpression in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Cancer Res.* 54, 6348-6352

Rice, W.G., Hillyer, C.D., Harten, B., Schaeffer, C.A., Dorminy, M., Lackey, D.A. III., Kirsten, E., Mendeleyev, J., Buki, K.G., Hakam, A., and Kin, E. (1992) Induction of endonuclease-mediated apoptosis in tumor cells by C-nitroso-substituted ligands of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA* **89**, 7703-7707 Rieux-Laucat, F., Le Deist, F., Hivroz, C., Roberts, I.A.G., Debatin, K.M., Fischer, A., and de Villartay, J.P. (1995) Mutations in Fas associated with human lymphoproliferative syndrome and autoimmunity. *Science* **268**, 1347-1349

Robey, E., and Fowlkes, B.J. (1994) Selective events in T cell development. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 12, 675-705

Romac, J.M.-J., and Keene, J.D. (1995) Overexpression of the arginine-rich carboxyterminal region of U1 snRNP 70K inhibits both splicing and nucleocytoplasmic transport of mRNA. *Genes Develop.* 9, 1400-1410

Rotello, R.J., Lieberman, R.C., Lepoff, R.B. and Gerschenson, L.E. (1992) Characterization of uterine epithelium apoptotic cell death kinetics and regulation by progesterone and RU486. Am. J. Pathol. 140, 449-456

Rouvier, E., Luciani, M.-F., and Golstein, P. (1993) Fas involvement in Ca<sup>2+-</sup>independent T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. J. Exp. Med. 177, 195-200

Rudd, C.E. (1990) CD4, CD8 and the TCR-CD3 complex: A novel class of proteintyrosine kinase receptor. *Immunol. Today* 11, 400-406

Sanger, F., Nicklen, S., and Coulson, A.R. (1977) DNA sequencing with chainterminating inhibitors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 74, 5463-5467

Sato, R., Yang, J., Wang, X., Evans, M.J., Ho, Y.K., Goldstein, J.L., and Brown, M.S. (1994) Assignment of the membrane attachment, DNA binding, and transcriptional activation domains of sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1 (SREBP-1). J. Biol. Chem. 269, 17267-17273

Sato, T., Irie, S., Kitada, S., and Reed, J.C. (1995) FAP-1: A protein tyrosine phosphatase that associates with Fas. *Science* 268, 411-415

Satoh, M.S. and Lindahl, T. (1992) Role of poly(ADP-ribose) formation in DNA repair. *Nature* **356**, 356-358

Savill, J., Fadok, V., Henson, P., and Haslett, C. (1993) Phagocyte recognition of cells undergoing apoptosis. *Immunol. Today* 14, 131-136

Schlegel, J., Peters, I., and Orrenius, S. (1995) Isolation and partial characterization of a protease involved in Fas-induced apoptosis. *FEBS Lett.* **364**, 139-142

Schlegel, J., Peters, I., Orrenius, S., Miller, D.K., Thonrberry, N.A., Yamin, T.-T., and Nicholson, D.W. (1996) CPP32/Apopain is a key interleukin 1 $\beta$  converting enzyme-like protease involved in Fas-mediated apoptosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, 1841-1844

Schmid, J., and Weissman, C. (1987) Induction of mRNA for a serine protease and a B-thromboglobulin-like protein in mitogen-stimulated human leukocytes. J. *Immunol.* **139**, 250-256

Schmidt, R.E., MacDermott, R.P., Bartley, G., Bertovich, M., Amato, D.A., Austen, K.F., Schlossman, S.F., Stevens, R.L. and Ritz, J. (1985) Specific release of proteoglycans from human natural killer cells during target lysis. *Nature* **318**, 289-291

Schraven, B., and Peter, M.E. (1995) APO-1 (CD95)-mediated apoptosis in Jurkat cells does not involve src kinases or CD45. *FEBS Lett.* **368**, 491-494

Schreiber, V., Molinete, M., Boeuf, H., de Murcia, G., and Ménissier de Murcia, J. (1992) The human poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase nuclear localization signal is a bipartite element functionally separate from DNA binding and catalytic activity. *EMBO J.* **11**, 3263-3269

Schröter, M., Lowin, B., Borner, C., and Tschopp, J. (1995) Regulation of Fas(APO-I/CD95)- and perforin-mediated lytic pathways of primary cytotoxic T lymphocytes by the protooncogene bcl-2. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **25**, 3509-3513

Schröter, M., Peitsch, M.C., and Tschopp, J. (1996) Increased p34<sup>cdc2</sup>-dependent kinase activity during apoptosis: A possible activation mechanism of DNase I leading to DNA breakdown. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* **69**, 143-150

Schulze-Osthoff, K., Beyaert, R., Vandevoorde, V., Haegeman, G., and Fiers, W. (1993) Depletion of the mitochondrial electron transport abrogates the cytotoxic and gene-inductive effects of TNF. *EMBO J.* **12**, 3095-3104

Schulze-Osthoff, K., Walczak, H., Dröge, W., and Krammer, P.H. (1994) Cell nucleus and DNA fragmentation are not required for apoptosis. *J. Cell Biol*, **127**, 15-20

Schwartzman, R. A. and Cidlowski, J.A. (1993) Apoptosis: The biochemistry and molecular biology of programmed cell death. *Endocrine Rev.* 14, 133-151

Secrist, J.P., Karnitz, L., and Abraham, R.T. (1991) T-cell antigen receptor ligation induces tyrosine phosphorylation of phospholipase C-γ1. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 12135-12139

Serafin, W.E., Katz, H.R., Austen, K.F., and Stevens, R.L. (1986) Complexes of heparin proteoglycans, chondroitin sulfate E proteoglycans, and [<sup>3</sup>H]diisopropyl fluorophosphate-binding proteins are exocytosed from activated mouse bone marrow-derived mast cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **261**, 15017-15021

Sercarz, E.E., Lehmann, P.V., Ametani, A., Benichou, G., Miller, A., and Moudgil, K. (1993) Dominance and crypticity of T cell antigenic determinants. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **11**, 729-766

Shaham, S., and Horvitz, H.R. (1996) Developing *Caunorhabditis elegans* neurons may contain both cell-death protective and killer activities. *Genes Develop.* **10**, 578-591

Shi, L., Kraut, R.P., Aebersold, R., and Greenberg, A.H. (1992a) A natural killer cell granule protein that induces DNA fragmentation and apoptosis. *J. Exp. Med.* **175**, 553-566

Shi, L., Kam, C.-M., Powers, J.C., Aebersold, R., and Greenberg, A.H. (1992b) Purification of three cytotoxic lymphocyte granule serine proteases that induce apoptosis through distinct substrate and target cell interactions. *J. Exp. Med.* **176**, 1521-1529

Shi, L., Nishioka, W.K., Th'ng, J., Bradbury, E.M., Litchfield, D.W., and Greenberg, A.H. (1994) Premature p34<sup>cdc2</sup> activation required for apoptosis. *Science* **263**, 1143-1145

Shimizu, T., Kubota, M., Tanizawa, H., Sano, H., Kasai, Y., Hashimoto, H., Akima, Y. and Mikawa, H (1990) Inhibition of both etoposide-induced DNA fragmentation and activation of poly(ADP-ribosc) synthesis by zinc ion. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 169, 1172-1177

Shimizu, S., Eguchi, Y., Kosaka, H., Kamilke, W., Matsuda, H., and Tsujimoto, Y. (1995) Prevention of hypoxia-induced cell death by Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL. *Nature* **374**, 811-813

Shiokawa, D., Ohyama, H., Yamada, T., Takahashi, K., and Tanuma, S. (1994) Identification of an endonuclease responsible for apoptosis in rat thymocytes. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 226, 23-30

Shiver, J.W., and Henkart, P.A. (1991) A noncytotoxic mast cell tumor line exhibits potent IgE-dependent cytotoxicity after transfection with the cytolysin/perforin gene. *Cell* 64, 1175-1181

Shiver, J.W., Su, L., and Henkart, P.A. (1992) Cytotoxicity with target DNA breakdown by rat basophilic leukemia cells expressing both cytolysin and granzyme A. *Cell* **71**, 315-322

Shortman, K., and Wu, L. (1996) Early T lymphocyte progenitors. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 14, 29-47

Shresta, S., MacIvor, D.M., Heusel, J.W., Russell, J.H., and Ley, T.J. (1995) Natural killer and lymphokine-activated killer cells require granzyme B for the rapid induction of apoptosis in susceptible target cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **92**, 5679-5683

Siegel, J.N., Klausner, R.D., Rapp. U.R., and Samelson, L.E. (1990) T cell antigen receptor engagement stimulates c-raf phosphorylation and induces c-raf-associated kinase activity via a protein kinase C-dependent pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 18472-18480

Simbulan, C.M., Suzuki, M., Izuta, S., Sakurai, T., Savoysky, E., Kojima, K., Miyahara, K., Shizuta, Y., and Yoshida, S. (1993) Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase stimulates DNA polymerase  $\alpha$  by physical association. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 93-99

Simon, M.M., Hoschutzky, H., Fruth, U., Simon, H.G., and Kramer, M.D. (1986) Purification and characterization of a T cell specific serine proteinase (TSP-1) from cloned cytolytic T lymphocytes. *EMBO J.* 5, 3267-3274

Simon, M.M., Kramer, M.D., Prester, M., and Gay, S. (1991) Mouse T-cell associated serine proteinase 1 degrades collagen type IV: A structural basis for the migration of lymphocytes through vascular basement membranes. *Immunology* **73**, 117-119

Slater, A.F.G., Nobel, S.I., and Orrenius, S. (1995) The role of intracellular oxidants in apoptosis. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* **1271**, 59-62

Sleath, P.R., Hendrickson, R.C., Kronheim, S.R., March, C.J., and Black, R.A. (1990) Substrate specificity of the protease that processes human interleukin-1β. *J. Biol. Chem.* **265**, 14526-14528

Smith, C.A., Farrah, T., and Goodwin, R.G. (1994) The TNF receptor superfamily of cellular and viral proteins: Activation, costimulation, and death. *Cell* **76**, 959-962

Smulson, M., Istock, N., Ding, R., and Cherney, B. (1994) Deletion mutants of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase support a model of cyclic association and dissociation of enzyme from DNA ends during DNA repair. *Biochemistry* 33, 6186-6191

Smyth, M.J. (1995) Dual mechanisms of lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity serve to control and deliver the immune response. *BioEssays* 17, 891-898

Smyth, M.J. and Trapani, J.A. (1995) Granzymes: Exogenous proteinases that induce target cell apoptosis. *Immunol. Today* **16**, 202-206

Smyth, M.J., Browne, K.A., Thia, K.Y.T., Apostolidis, V.A., Kershaw, M.H., and Trapani, J.A. (1994) Hypothesis: Cytotoxic lymphocyte granule serine proteases activate target cell endonucleases to trigger apoptosis. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* **21**, 67-70

Smyth, M.J., McGuire, M.J., and Thia, K.Y.T. (1995) Expression of recombinant human granzyme B: A processing and activation role for dipeptidyl peptidase 1, *J. Immunol.* **154**, 6299-6305

Song, Q., Lees-Miller, S.P., Kumar, S., Zhang, N., Chan, D.W., Smith, G.C.M., Jackson, S.P., Alnemri, E.S., Litwack, G., Khanna, K.K., and Lavin, M.F. (1996) DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit: A target for an ICE-like protease in apoptosis. *EMBO J.* **15**, 3238-3246

Sower, L.E., Froelich, C.J., Allegretto, N., Rose, P.M., Hanna, W.D., and Klimpel, G.R. (1996) Extracellular activities of human granzyme A: Monocyte activation by granzyme A versus  $\alpha$ -thrombin. J. Immunol. **156**, 2585-2590

Stalder, T., Hahn, S., and Erb, P. (1994) Fas antigen is the major target molecule for CD4+T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *J. Immunol.* **152**, 1127-1133

Stanger, B.Z., Leder, P., Lee, T.-H., Kim, E., and Seed, B. (1995). RIP: A novel protein containing a death domain that interacts with Fas/APO-1 (CD95) in yeast and causes cell death. *Cell* 81, 513-523

Stevens, R.L., Otsu, O., Weis, J.H., Tantravahi, R.V., Austen, K.F., Henkart, P.A., Galli, M.C., and Reynolds, C.W. (1987) Cosedimentation of chondroitin sulfate A glycosaminoglycans and proteoglycans with the cytolytic secretory granules of rat large granular lymphocyte (LGL) tumor cells, and identification of an mRNA in normal and transformed LGL that encodes proteoglycans. J. Immunol. 139, 863-868

Stevens, R.L., Kamada, M.M., and Serafin, W.E. (1989) Structure and function of the family of proteoglycans that reside in the secretory granules of natural killer cells and other effectors cells of the immune response. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* **140**, 93-108

Strasser, A., Harris, A.W., Huang, D.C.S., Krammer, P.H., and Cory, S. (1995) Bcl-2 and Fas/APO-1 regulate distinct pathways to lymphocyte apoptosis. *EMBO J.* 14, 6136-6147

Straus, D.B., and Weiss, A. (1993) The CD3 chains of the T cell antigen receptor associate with the ZAP-70 tyrosine kinase and are tyrosine phosphorylated after receptor stimulation. J. Exp. Med. 178, 1523-1530

Su, B., Bochan, M.R., Hanna, W.L., Froelich, C.J., and Brahmi, Z. (1994) Human granzyme B is essential for DNA fragmentation of susceptible target cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24, 2073-2080

Su, X., Zhou, T., Wang, Z., Yang, P., Jope, R.S., and Mountz, J.D. (1995) Defective expression of hematopoietic cell protein tyrosine phosphatase (HCP) in lymphoid cells blocks Fas-mediated apoptosis. *Immunity* **2**, 353-362

Suda, T., Takahashi, T., Golstein, P., and Nagata, S. (1993) Molecular cloning and expression of the Fas ligand, a novel member of the tumor necrosis factor family. *Cell* **75**, 1169-1178

Suda, T., Okazaki, T., Naito, Y., Arai, N., Ozaki, S., Nakao, K., and Nagata, S. (1995) Expression of the Fas ligand in cells of T cell lineage. *J. Immunol.* **154**, 3806-3813

Suidan, H.S., Bouvier, J., Schaerer, E., Stone, S.R., Monard, D., and Tschopp, J. (1994) Granzyme A released upon stimulation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes activates the thrombin receptor on neuronal cells and astrocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91**, 8112-8116

Surh, C.D. and Sprent, J. (1994) T-cell apoptosis detected in situ during positive and negative selection in the thymus. *Nature* 372, 100-108

Suwa, A., Hirakata, M., Takeda, Y., Jesch, S.A., Mimori, T., and Hardin, J.A. (1994) DNA-dependent protein kinase (Ku protein-p350 complex) assembles on double-stranded DNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91**, 6904-6908

Takahashi, T., Tanaka, M., Brannan, C.I., Jenkins, N.A., Copeland, N.G., Suda, T., and Nagata, S. (1994) Generalized lymphoproliferative disease in mice, caused by a point mutation in the Fas ligand. *Cell* **76**, 969-976

Takayama, S., Sato, T., Krajewski, S., Kochel, K., Irie, S., Millan, J.A., and Reed, J.C. (1995) Cloning and functional analysis of BAG-1: A novel Bcl-2-binding protein with anti-cell death activity. *Cell* **80**, 279-284

Talento, A., Nguyen, M., Law, S., Wu, J.K., Poe, M., Blake, J.T., Patel, M., Wu, T.-J., Manyak, C.L., Silberklang, M., Mark, G., Springer, M., Sigal, N.H., Weissman, I.L., Bleackley, R.C., Podack, E.R., Tykocinski, M.L., and Koo, G.C. (1992) Transfection of mouse cytotoxic T lymphocyte with an antisense granzyme A vector reduces lytic activity. *J. Immunol.* **149**, 4009-4015 Talley, A.K., Dewhurst, S., Perry, S.W., Dollard, S.C., Gummuluru, S., Fine, S.M., New, D., Epstein, L.G., Gendelman, H.E., and Gelbard, H.A. (1995) Tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis in human neuronal cells: Protection by the antioxidant *N*-acetylcysteine and the genes *bcl-2* and *crmA*. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15**, 2359-2366

Tanaka, Y., Yoshihara, K., Itaya, A., Kamiya, T., and Koide, S.S. (1984) Mechanism of the inhibition of  $Ca^{2+}$ ,  $Mg^{2+}$ -dependent endonuclease of bull seminal plasma induced by ADP-ribosylation. J. Biol. Chem. 259, 6579-6585

Tanaka, M., Suda, T., Takahashi, T., and Nagata, S. (1995) Expression of the functional soluble form of human Fas ligand in activated lymphocytes. *EMBO J.* 14, 1129-1135

Tanizawa, A., Kubota, M., Hashimoto, H., Shimizu, T., Takimoto, T., Kitoh, T., Akiyama, Y., and Mikawa, H. (1989) VP-16-induced nucleotide pool changes and poly(ADP-ribose) synthesis: The role of VP-16 in interphase death. *Exp. Cell Res.* **185**, 237-246

Tanuma, S., and Shiokawa, D. (1994) Multiple forms of nuclear deoxyribonuclease in rat thymocytes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **203**, 789-797

Tarn, W.Y., and Steitz, J.A. (1995) Modulation of 5' splice site choice in premessenger RNA by two distinct steps. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92, 2504-2508

Tartaglia, L.A., Ayres, T.M., Wong, G.H.W., and Goeddel, D.V. (1993) A novel domain within the 55 kd TNF receptor signals cell death. *Cell* **74**, 845-853

Taupin, J.-L., Tian, Q., Kedersha, N., Robertson, M., and Anderson, P. (1995) The RNA-binding protein TIAR is translocated from the nucleus to the cytoplasm during Fas-mediated apoptotic cell death. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **92**, 1629-1633

Tazi, J., Kornstadt, U., Rossi, F., Jeanteur, P., Cathala, G., Brunel, C., and Luhrmann, R. (1993) Thiophosphorylation of U1-70K protein inhibits pre-mRNA splicing. *Nature* **363**, 283-286

Tewari, M. and Dixit, V.M. (1995) Fas- and tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis is inhibited by the poxvirus *crmA* gene product. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**, 3255-3260

Tewari, M., Quan, L.T., O'Rourke, K., Desnoyers, S., Zeng, Z., Beidler, D.R., Poirier, G.G., Salvesen, G.S., and Dixit, V.M. (1995a) Yama/CPP32 $\beta$ , a mammalian homolog of CED-3, is a CrmA-inhibitable protease that cleaves the death substrate poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. *Cell* **81**, 801-809

Tewari, M., Beidler, D.R., and Dixit, V.M. (1995b) CrmA-inhibitable cleavage of the 70-kDa protein component of the U1 small nuclear ribonucleoprotein during Fas- and Tumor Necrosis Factor-induced apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 18738-18741

Tewari, M., Telford, W.G., Miller, R.A., and Dixit, V.M. (1995c) CrmA, a poxvirusencoded serpin, inhibits cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-mediated apoptosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**, 22705-22708

Thornberry, N.A., Bull, H.G., Calaycay, J.R., Chapman, K.T., Howard, A.D., Kostura, M.J., Miller, D.K., Molineaux, S.M., Weidner, J.R., Aunins, J., Elliston,

K.O., Ayala, J.M., Casano, F.J., Chin, J., Ding, G.J.-F., Egger, L.A., Gaffney, E.P., Limjuco, G., Palyha, O.C., Raju, S.M., Rolando, A.M., Salley, J.P., Yamin, T.-T., Lee, T.D., Shively, J.E., MacCross, M., Mumford, R.A., Schmidt, J.A., and Tocci. M.J. (1992) A novel heterodimeric cysteine protease is required for interleukin-1β processing in monocytes. *Nature* **356**, 768-774

Thornberry, N.A., Peterson, E.P., Zhao, J.J., Howard, A.D., Griffin, P.R., and Chapman, K.T. (1994) Inactivation of interleukin-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme by peptide (acyloxy)methyl ketones. *Biochemistry* **33**, 3934-3940

Tian, Q., Strculi, M., Saito, H., Schlossman, S.F., and Anderson, P. (1991) A polyadenylate binding protein localized to the granules of cytolytic lymphocytes induces DNA fragmentation in target cells. *Cell* **67**, 629-639

Tian, Q., Taupin, J.-L., Elledge, S., Robertson, M., and Anderson, P. (1995) Fasactivated serine/threonine kinase (FAST) phosphorylates TIA-1 during Fas-mediated apoptosis. J. Exp. Med. 182, 865-874

Torigoe, T., Millan, J.A., Takayama, S., Taichman, R., Miyashita, T., and Reed, J.C. (1994) Bcl-2 inhibits T-cell-mediated cytolysis of a leukemia cell line. *Cancer Res.* 54, 4851-4854

Trapani, J.A., Klein, J.L., White, P.C., and Dupont, B. (1988) Molecular cloning of an inducible serine esterase gene from human cytotoxic lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **85**, 6924-6928

Trapani, J.A., Browne, K.A., Smyth, M.J., and Jans, D.A. (1996) Localization of granzyme B in the nucleus: A putative role in the mechanism of cytotoxic lymphocyte-mediated apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 4127-4133

Trauth, B.C., Klas, C., Peters, A.M.J., Matzku, S., Möller, P., Falk, W., Debatin, K.-M., and Krammer, P.H. (1989) Monoclonal antibody-mediated tumor regression by induction of apoptosis. *Science* **245**, 301-304

Trenn, G., Takayama, H., and Sitkovsky, M.V. (1987) Exocytosis of cytolytic granules may not be required for target cell lysis by cytotoxic T-lymphocytes. *Nature* **330**, 72-74

Tschopp, J., and Masson, D. (1987) Inhibition of the lytic activity of perform (cytolysin) and of late complement components by proteoglycans. *Mol. Immunol.* 24, 907-913

Tschopp, J. and Nabholz, M. (1990) Perforin-mediated target cell lysis by cytolytic T lymphocytes. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 8, 279-302

Tschopp, J., Masson, D., and Schäfer, S. (1986) Inhibition of the lytic activity of perforin by lipoproteins. J. Immunol. 137, 1950-1953

Tschopp, J., Schäfer, S., Masson, D., Peitsch, M.C. and Heusser, C. (1989) Phosphorylcholine acts as a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent receptor molecule for lymphocyte perforin. *Nature* **337**, 272-274 Tsujimoto, Y., Finger, L.R., Yunis, J., Nowell, P.C., and Croce, C.M. (1984) Cloning of the chromosome breakpoint of neoplastic B cells with the t(14;18) chromosome translocation. *Science* **226**, 1097-1099

Tucek-Szabo, C.L., Andjelie, S., Lacy, E., Elkon, K.B., and Nikolie-Zugie, J. (1996) Surface T cell Fas receptor/CD95 regulation, in vivo activation, and apoptosis: Activation-induced death can occur without Fas receptor. *J. Immunol.* **156**, 192-200

Turner, J.M., Brodsky, M.H., Irving, B.A., Levin, S.D., Perlmutter, R.M., and Littman, D.R. (1990) Interaction of the unique N-terminal region of tyrosine kinase p56<sup>lck</sup> with cytoplasmic domains of CD4 and CD8 is mediated by cysteine motifs. *Cell* **60**, 755-765

Tuteja, N., Tuteja, R., Ochem, A., Taneja, P., Huang, N.W., Simoncsits, A., Susic, S., Rahman, K., Marusic, L., Chen, J., Zhang, J., Wang, S., Pongor, S., and Falaschi, A. (1994) Human DNA helicase II: A novel DNA unwinding enzyme identified as the Ku autoantigen. *EMBO J.* **13**, 4991-5001

Ucker, D.S., Obermiller, P.S., Eckhart, W., Apgar, J.R., Berger, N.A., and Meyers, J. (1992) Genome digestion is a dispensable consequence of physiological cell death mediated by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Mol. Cell Biol.* **12**, 3060-3069

Um, H.-D., Orenstein, J.M., and Wahl, S.M. (1996) Fas mediates apoptosis in human monocytes by a reactive oxygen intermediate dependent pathway. *J. Immunol.* **156**, 3469-3477

Vallet, S.M., Sanchez, H.B., Rosenfeld, J.M., and Osborne, T.F. (1996) A direct role for sterol regulatory element binding protein in activation of 3-hydroxyl-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase gene. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 12247-12253

van Oers, N.S.C., Killeen, N., and Weiss, A. (1994) ZAP-70 is constitutively associated with tyrosine-phosphorylated TCR  $\zeta$  in murine thymocytes and lymph node T cells. *Immunity* 1, 675-685

Varfolomeev, E.E., Boldin, M.P., Goncharov, T.M., and Wallach, D. (1996) A potential mechanism of "cross-talk" between the p55 tumor necrosis factor receptor and Fas/APO-1: Proteins binding to the death domains of the two receptors also bind to each other. J. Exp. Med. 183, 1271-1275

Vaux, D.L., Cory, S. and Adams, T.M. (1988) Bcl-2 promotes the survuival of haemopoietic cells and cooperates with *c-myc* to immortalize pre-B cells. *Nature* 335, 440-442

Vaux, D.L., Weissman, I.L., and Kim, S.K. (1992a) Prevention of programmed cell death in *Caenorhabditis elegans* by human *bcl-2*. *Science* **258**, 1955-1957

Vaux, D.L., Aguila, H.L., and Weissman, I.L. (1992b) Bcl-2 prevents death of factordeprived cells but fails to prevent apoptosis in targets of cell mediated killing. *Int. Immunol.* **4**, 821-824

Vaux, D.L., Haecker, G., and Strasser, A. (1994) An evolutionary perspective on apoptosis. *Cell* **76**, 777-779

Vignaux, F., and Golstein, P. (1994) Fas-based lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity against syngeneic activated lymphocytes: A regulatory pathway? *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24, 923-927

Vignaux, F., Vivier, E., Malissen, B., Depraetere, V., Nagata, S., and Golstein, P. (1995) TCR/CD3 coupling to Fas-based cytotoxicity. J. Exp. Med. 181, 781-786

von Bochmer, H. (1994) Positive selection of lymphocytes. Cell 76, 219-228

Walker, N.P.C., Talanian, R.V., Brady, K.D., Dang, L.C., Bump, N.J., Ferenz, C.R., Franklin, S., Ghayur, T., Hackett, M.C., Hammill, L.D., Herzog, L., Hugunin, M., Houy, W., Mankovich, J.A., McGuiness, L., Orlewicz, E., Paskind, M., Pratt, C.A., Reis, P., Summani, A., Terranova, M., Welch, J.P., Xiong, L., Möller, A., Tracey, D.E., Kamen, R., and Wong, W.W. (1994) Crystal structure of the cysteine protease interleukin-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme: A (p20/p10)<sub>2</sub> homodimer. *Cell* **78**, 343-352

Walsh, C.M., Glass, A.A., Chiu, V., and Clark, W.R. (1994a) The role of the Fas lytic pathway in a perforin-less CTL hybridoma. *J. Immunol.* **153**, 2506-2514

Walsh, C.M., Matloubian, M., Liu, C.-C., Ueda, R., Kurahara, C.G., Christensen, J.L., Huang, M.T.F., Young, J.D.-E., Ahmed, R., and Clark, W.R. (1994b) Immune function in mice lacking the perforin gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91**, 10854-10858

Wang, X.-M., Helaszek, C.T., Winter, L.A., Lirette, R.P., Dixon, D.C., Ciccarelli, R.B., Kelley, M.M., Malinowski, J.J., Simmons, S.J., Huston, E.E., Koehn, J.A., Kratz, D., Bruckner, R.C., Graybill, T., Ator, M.A., Lehr, R.V., and Stevis, P.E. (1994a) Production of active human interleukin-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme in a baculovirus expression system. *Gene* **145**, 273-277

Wang, L., Miura, M., Bergeron, L., Zhu, H., and Yuan, J. (1994b) *Ich-1*, an *Ice/ced-3*-related gene, encodes both positive and negative regulators of programmed cell death. *Cell* **78**, 739-750

Wang, X., Pai, J.-T., Wiedenfeld, E.A., Medina, J.C., Slaughter, C.A., Goldstein, J.L., and Brown, M.S. (1995a) Purification of an interleukin-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme-related cysteine protease that cleaves sterol regulatory element-binding proteins between the leucine zipper and transmembrane domains. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 18044-18050

Wang, Z.-Q., Auer, B., Stingl, L., Berghammer, H., Haidacher, D., Schweiger, M., and Wagner, E.F. (1995b) Mice lacking ADPRT and poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation develop normally but are susceptible to skin disease. *Genes Develop*. **9**, 509-520

Wang, X., Zelenski, N.G., Yang, J., Sakai, J., Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (1996) Cleavage of sterol regulatory element binding proteins (SREBPs) by CPP32 during apoptosis. *EMBO J.* **15**, 1012-1020

Watanabe-Fukunaga, R., Brannan, C.I., Itoh, N., Yonehara, S., Copeland, N.G., Jenkins, N.A., and Nagata, S. (1992a) The cDNA structure, expression, and chromosomal assignment of the mouse Fas antigen. J. Immunol. 148, 1274-1279

Watanabe-Fukunaga, R., Brannan, C., Copeland, N.G., Jenkins, N.A., and Nagata, S. (1992b) Lymphoproliferation disorder in mice explained by defects in Fas antigen that mediates apoptosis. *Nature* **356**, 314-317

Weaver, V.M., Carson, C.E., Walker, P.R., Chaly, N., Lach, B., Raymond, Y., Brown, D.L., and Sikorska, M. (1996) Degradation of nuclear matrix and DNA cleavage in apoptotic thymocytes. *J. Cell Sci.* **109**, 45-56

Weiss, A. and Littman, D.R. (1994) Signal transduction by lymphocyte antigen receptors. Cell 76, 263-274

Weissman, I.L. (1994) Developmental switches in the immune system. Cell 76, 207-218

Westerik, J.O. and Wolfenden, R. (1972) Aldehydes as inhibitors of papain. J. Biol. Chem. 247, 8195-8197

White, E. (1996) Life, death, and the pursuit of apoptosis. Genes Develop. 10, 1-15

White, E., Sabbatini, P., Debbas, M., Wold, W.S., Kusher, D.I., and Gooding, L.R. (1992) The 19-kilodalton adenovirus E1B transforming protein inhibits programmed cell death and prevents cytolysis by tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12, 2570-2580

White, K., Grether, M.E., Abrams, J.M., Young, L., Farrell, K., and Steller, H. (1994) Genetic control of programmed cell death in *Drosophila*. *Science* **264**, 677-683

Wielckens, K. and Delfs, T. (1986) Glucocorticoid-induced cell death and poly[adenosine phosphate (ADP)-ribosyl]ation: Increased toxicity of dexamethasone on mouse S49.1 lymphoma cells with the poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation inhibitor benzamide. *Endocrinology* **119**, 2383-2392

Wielckens, K., Delfs, T., Muth, A., Freese, V., and Kleeberg, H.-J. (1987) Glucocorticoid-induced lymphoma cell death: The good and the evil. J. Steroid Biochem. 27, 413-419

Wiley, S.R., Schooley, K., Smolak, P.J., Din, W.S., Huang, C.-P., Nicholl, J.K., Sutherland, G.R., Smith, T.D., Rauch, C., Smith, C.A., and Goodwin, R.G. (1995) Identification and characterization of a new member of the TNF family that induces apoptosis. *Immunity* **3**, 673-682

Williams, M.S. and Henkart, P.A. (1994) Apoptotic cell death induced by intracellular proteolysis. J. Immunol. 153, 4247-4255

Wilson, K.P., Black, J.F., Thomson, J.A., Kim, E.E., Griffith, J.P., Navia, M.A., Murcko, M.A., Chambers, S.P., Aldape, R.A., Raybuck, S.A., and Livingston, D.J. (1994) Structure and mechanism of interleukin-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme. *Nature* **370**, 270-275

Wolf, P.R., and Ploegh, H.L. (1995) How MHC class II molecules acquire peptide cargo: Biosynthesis and trafficking through the endocytic pathway. *Annu. Rev. Cell Biol.* **11**, 267-306

Wu, L., and Russell, P. (1993) Nim1 kinase promotes mitosis by inactivating Weel tyrosine kinase. *Nature* **363**, 738-741

Wyllie, A.H. (1980) Glucocorticoid-induced thymocyte apoptosis is associated with endogenous endonuclease activation. *Nature* 284, 555-556

Xuc, D. and Horvitz, H.R. (1995) Inhibition of the *Caenorhabditis elegans* cell-death protease CED-3 by a CED-3 cleavage site in baculovirus p35 protein. *Nature* **377**, 248-251

Yanelli, J.R., Sullivan, J.A., Mandell, G.L., and Engelhard, V.H. (1986) Reorientation and fusion of cytotoxic T lymphocyte granules after interaction with target cells as determined by high resolution cinemicrography. *J. Immunol.* **136**, 377-382

Yang, E., Zha, J., Jockel, J., Boise, L.H., Thompson, C.B., and Korsmeyer, S.J. (1995) Bad, a heterodimeric partner for Bcl-xL and Bcl-2, displaces Bax and promotes cell death. *Cell* 80, 285-291

Yokoyama, C., Wang, X., Briggs, M.R., Admon, A., Wu, J., Hua, X., Goldstein, J.L., and Brown, M.S. (1993) SREBP-1, a basic-helix-loop-helix-leucine zipper protein that controls transcription of the low density lipoprotein receptor gene. *Cell* **75**, 187-197

Yonchara, S., Ishii, A, and Yonchara, M. (1989) A cell-killing monoclonal antibody (anti-Fas) to a cell surface antigen co-downregulated with the receptor of tumor necrosis factor. J. Exp. Med. 169, 1747-1756

Yoon, Y.S., Kim, J.W., Kang, K.W., Kim, Y.S., Choi, K.H., and Joe, C.O. (1996) Poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation of histone H1 correlates with internucleosomal DNA fragmentation during apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 9129-9134

Yoshihara, K., Tanigawa, Y., and Koide, S.S. (1974) Inhibition of rat liver  $Ca^{2+}$ ,  $Mg^{2+}$ -dependent endonuclease activity by nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide and poly(adenosine diphosphate ribose) synthetase. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **59**, 658-665

Yoshihara, K., Tanigawa, Y., Burzio, L., and Koide, S.S. (1975) Evidence for adenosine diphosphate ribosylation of Ca<sup>2+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup>.dependent endonuclease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **72**, 289-293

Young, J.D.-E., Hengartner, H., Podack, E.R, and Cohn, Z.A. (1986a) Purification and characterization of a cytolytic pore-forming protein from granules of cloned lymphocytes with natural killer activity. *Cell* **44**, 849-859

You.ig, J.D.-E., Leong, L.G., Liu, C.-C., Damiano, A., Wall, D.A., and Cohn, Z.A. (1986b) Isolation and characterization of a serine esterase from cytolytic T cell granules. *Cell* 47, 183-194

Young, J.D.-E., Clark, W.R. Liu, C.-C., and Cohn, Z.A. (1987) A calcium- and perforin-independent pathway of killing mediated by murine cytolytic lymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* **166**, 1894-1899

Yuan, J., and Horvitz, H.R. (1990) Genetic mosaic analysis of *ced-3* and *ced-4*, two genes that control programmed cell death in the nematode *C. elegans. Dev. Biol.* **138**, 33-41

Yuan, J., Shaham, S., Ledoux, S., Ellis, H.M., and Horvitz, H.R. (1993) The C. elegans cell death gene *ced-3* encodes a protein similar to mammalian interleukin-1β-converting enzyme. *Cell* **75**, 641-652

Yue, C.C., Reynolds, C.W., and Henkart, P.A. (1987) Inhibition of cytolysin activity in large granular lymphocyte granules by lipids: Evidence for a membrane insertion mechanism of lysis. *Mol. Immunol.* 24, 647-653

Zahler, A.M., and Roth, M.B. (1995) Distinct functions of SR proteins in recruitment of U1 small nuclear ribonucleoprotein to alternative 5' splice sites. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **92**, 2642-2646

Zalman, L.S., Martin, D.E., Jung, G., and Müller-Eberhard, H.J. (1987) The cytolytic protein of human lymphocytes related to the ninth component (C9) of human complement: Isolation from anti-CD3-activated peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **84**, 2426-2429

Zalman, L.S., Brothers, M.A., Müller-Eberhard, H.J. (1988) Self-protection of cytotoxic lymphocytes: A soluble form of homologous restriction factor in cytoplasmic granules. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. ISA* **85**, 4827-4831

Zenner, G., Dirk zur Hausen, J., Burn, P., and Mustelin, T. (1995) Towards unraveling the complexity of T cell signal transduction. *BioEssays* 17, 967-975

Zhang, W.W., and Yaneva, M. (1992) On the mechanism of Ku protein binding to DNA. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **186**, 574-579

Zheng, L., Fisher, G., Miller, R.E., Peschon, J., Lynch, D.H., and Lenardo, M.J. (1995) Induction of apoptosis in mature T cells by tumour necrosis factor. *Nature* 377, 348-351

Zhivotovsky, B., Cedervall, B., Jiang, S., Nicotera, P., and Orrenius, S. (1994) Involvement of Ca<sup>2+</sup> in the formation of high molecular weight DNA fragments in thymocyte apoptosis. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **202**, 120-127

Zhou, T., Edwards, C.K.III., Yang, P., Wang, Z., Bluethmann, H., and Mountz, J.D. (1996) Greatly accelerated lymphadenopathy and autoimmune disease in *lpr* mice lacking tumor necrosis factor receptor I. *J. Immunol.* **156**, 2661-2665